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Stratedic report

Our purpose

Here at WHSmith

our purpose is simple:
to make every one of
life’s journeys better

Supporting our customers’ journeys
has been key since 1792.”

As we celebrate 230 years since the Company was founded, we continue
to support the many journeys our colleagues, customers and shareholders
make. Supporting the journey of our people is our top priorty. We're a
diversa team of over 12,000 colleagues across 30 countries and we're
cammitted ta championing their career journey with us while also
promoting a culture where everyone can be their best self. We're all on
the same journey - to create a better business.

Supporting our customers’ journeys has been key since 1792. Whether a
visit to one of our stares while travelling through an airport in the UK or
overseas, to a hospital, or through a railway station. Or supporting the many
communities we serve on the high street; purchasing a first book, back to
school stationery, revisicn guides. We're there for every journey, and with
more than 1,700 stores across the globe, we're proud to have evolved into
the global travel retailer we are today.

For our shareholders, value ¢reation remains central to our journey and
we will continue to invest for the longer term where we see attractive
opportunities for profitable growth.

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Find out more about WHSmith at: whsmithplc.co.uk

@whsmith @whsmithofficial
voutube.com/\WHSmith linkedincom/company/whsmith
Pisclaimer

This Annuai report has been prepared for, and only for, the members of the Company, as a body, and nc cther persons. The Cornpany, its directors, employees, agents or
advisers do not accept or assume responsibility ta any other parson to whom this document is shown orinto whose hands it may come and any such responsibility or hakifity
is expiessly disclaimed, By their nature, the staternents cancerning the risks and uncertainties facing the Group in this Annual report involve uncertainty since future events and
circumstances can cause results and deveiopments to differ materially from those anticipated. The forward-laoking statements reflect knowledge and infarmation available at
the date of preparation of this Annual report and the Company undertakes no obligation to update these forward-tooking statements. Mothing in this Annual report shauld be
construed as a profit forecast
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About us

WH Smith PLC is a leading global travel retailer
for travel essentials with a smaller business on
the UK high street. At the heart of both our
businesses are our people, customers and
partners. We aim to deliver our vision through
our strategic priorities and our forensic approach
to retailing by: constantly innovating, expanding
globally, improving our profitability and delivering
sustainable returns.
+ WHSmiith is a global travel retailer wilh a presence in 30 countries,
mainly in airports
* We are present in a wide range of locations including airports,
hospitals, railway stations and motorway service areas

Our smaller UK High Street business is present on most significant
high streets and shopping centres, mainly in prime locations
* As WHSmith continues on its journey to be a better business,

we have a strong commitment to the principles of sustainability
* WHSmith employs over 12,000 colleagues
* WH Smith PLC is listed on the London Stock Exchange ("SMWH™)
and is included in the FTSE 250 Index
WHSmiIth has a growing online presence and reaches customers
online via: whsmith.co.uk, funkypigeon.com, cuitpens.com,
treecthearts.co.uk and dottyaboutpaperco.uk

Financial and operational highlights

Revenue Group profit before tax
£1.4bn £63m
Headline Group profit before tax Headline diluted earnings per share
and non-underlying items' before non-underlying items’
£73m 41.7p
Total number of stores Dividend per share

1,723 9.1p

1 Alternalive perforimance measure described and explained in the Glossary on page 173
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Group at a glance - Travel

Travel UK

Travel UK is the largest division in the Group and has a presence in a wide range of
locations, including airports, hospitals, railway stations and motorway service areas

across the UK.

Making our customers' journeys easier is our passion,
whether they're travelling by air, by foot, by road or by
tran. As one of the world's leading travel retailers, we are
the trusted home for travel essentials in the UK and it's
how we support the millions of journeys made each year.

Our customers nead convenience and have less time to
browse, so we have tailored ranges providing a one-stop-
shop solution, with a wide range of products, including food
and drink, bocks, magazines, digital accessories, health and
heauty products and souvenirs.

With WHSmith for trave!l essentials, and InMotion - our
world-leading technology retailer - at UK airports, we're
continuing to grow our presence around the UK, providing
aur custormers with the essentials we know make their
journey just that little bit better. We also partner with some
of the UK's most ponular retailers, such as Marks and
Spencer Simply Food (M&S), Costa Coffee, Weli Pharmacy
ancl the Post Office. This allows us to tailor the product and
service proposition to meet the needs of ocur customers
and landlord partners in all the locations we operate in
throughout the UK.

In the UK, we operate over 580 stores in travel locations
and haspitals, with stores ranging in size frorm 90 square
feet to more than 6.000 square feet, and we're constantly
evolving the way we do things; opening new world-leading
stores, transforming our customers’ experience, increasing
our category ranges and continuing to grow our network
of third-party partnerships. Explore our current UK Travel
channels on pages 20 ta 22 to see how we aim to make
avery one of life's journeys better.

Stores

580+

Revenue

£521m

Scan here for an overview
of our Travel UK business.

2 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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North America
and Rest of the World

As a global travel retailer with a presence in 30 countries and more than 100 airp_orts
around the world, our brand and tailored customer proposition is synonymous with the
travelling experience, having exposure to millions of travellers every year.

From the United States to Australia, the Middle East, Asia Stores

and Europe, we've welcomed many new customers since our
journey began in London in 1792, and we continue to grow. 6 O 0 +
We have over 600 stores outside of the UK, We are

continually looking for new store locations, while working Countries
hard to ensure our existing stores are providing outstanding

customer service, operating successfully and delivering
strong returns.

We are constantly innovating and adapting to ensure our
customers receive the best experience possible. Whether itis  Revenue

through sourcing the latest digital accessories and bestselling
books or food to go in each territery, or through the expansion
and distinct style of our US retail business, MRG, or the first-

class customer experience we provide under our technology
brand, InMoticn,
5can here for an overview of our North

Wilh a small market share across the globe, the opportunities
America and Rest of the World businesses.

are substantial and we're committed to our future as a global
travel retailer.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Our journey to
a better business

We recognise we have an obligation to grow our business sustainably, providing financial
returns for our shareholders whilst maintaining high standards of environmental stewardship
and social equity to create value for all stakeholders, Working with our business partners,
suppliers and customers, we are looking forward to delivering the step-changes that are
needed for sustainable living.

3 Read more about our sustainability strategy on pages 37 to 43,

4 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Group at a glance ~ High Street

High Street

For generations, WHSmith has supported the UK high street with an extensive
reach across the UK and a presence on nearly every significant high street and

shopping centre.

We are proud to be a familiar and trusted brand that
customers expect on their journey through life; from learning
Lo read, going to school, revising for exams to finding a great
bonk. As the hub of the high street, we are also committed
Lo supporting every generation of customers to come.

Acress our diverse estate of over 525 stores on UK high
streets, with our wide-ranging store sizes and formats,

we sell a wide range of producls in the following categories:
Stationery (including greeting cards, general stationery,

art and craft, and gifting), News and Impulse {including
newspapers, magazines, confectionery and drinks) and
Books. Our High Street stores are afso home to ¢. 200 Post
Offices, further cementing our position on the high street
and at the heart of the communitios we serve.

Scan here for an overview
of our High Street business.

We are also growing as a multichannel retailer.

WHSmith High Street includes our online businesses:
whsmith.co.uk, which sells a range of books, stationery,
magazines and gifts, providing a convenient online

service to complement our High Street stores; our online
personalised greeting cards site, funkypigeon.com: leading
onling specialist pen retailer, cultpens.comn; and personalised
stationery sites treeofhearts.co.uk and dottyabautpaperco.uk
complement our existing Stationery ranges to enhance our
customer offer.

Stores

525+

Revenue

£473m

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 5
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Business model

Creating value
for our stakeholders

Our unique combination How we create value:
of strengths:

Understanding customers

We understand and meet the needs of the Format and
travelling customer better than anyone else. Store design

Landlord parthers

Our market leading store design, range
breadth and forensic approach to retailing
allows us to deliver superior economics and
innovative formats for landlord partners.

Our people
We have over 12,000 dedicated colleagues

across our stores, distribution centres and
head offices.

Store locations

We have a network of over 1,Y00 Travel
stores in premium, high footfall locations in
30 countries, and over 525 stores in prime
locations on UK high streets.

Product range

We work closely with a number of strategic
partners (e.g. M&S Simply Food, Costa Coffee .
and the Post Office) to provide relevant growing our
products and services to our customers business
and landlords. ..

Reinvest in

e
Service offering

We work closely with our strategic partners to
service the needs of the traveliing customer.

Operational efficiency

We maintain an ongaing focus on efficiency,
productivity and cash generation in each
channel and territory.

U nderpinned by: A commitment to operating responsibly

You can read more about our approach ta Environmentai,
Social and Corporate Governance throughout the report.

3 Read more on page 37.
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Creating value for:

Our customers

We bring our custemers the best products
and services for whichever of life's journeys
they're on.

Our people
We provide an inclusive and rewarding place
for our colleagues to build @ career,

Our investors

We focus on providing consistent, profitable
and sustainable growth, returning surplus cash
to shareholders through a clear dividend pohcy
and share buybacks.

Our landlord partners

We are proud of our strong landlotd

H relaticnships and we work collaboratively
journeys with them to ensure flexibility and that we
meet customer needs.

Our suppliers and business partners

We work collaboratively with our suppliers
and business partners to provide customers
with a wide range of products and to grow

Forensic approach our business and theirs.

to retailin .

‘ g Our community groups
We operate a responsible business that
contributes Lo the communities in which
we operate.

& Read about how we engage with
our stakeholders on page 30.

Our culture and vaiues

You can read more about cur colleagues,
values and diversity throughout the report.

2 Read more on page 40.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Chairman’s statement

we’re committed
to our future as a
global travel retailer

The Group has made excellent progress throughout 2022 and we are now in the
strongest ever position as a global travel retailer. Passenger numbers are recovering
well and the growth oppartunities for the Group are substantial. The resumption of
the dividend reflects the strength of current trading and a high level of confidence
in the future and, as we enter 2023, the Group is extremely well positioned to make

significant progress.

The resumption of the dividend
reflects the strength of current
trading and a high level of
confidence in the future.”

Henry Staunton
Chairman

8 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

During the year, we have won some important strategic
tenders across the globe and we now have a store cpening
pipeline of 150 stores won and scheduled to open over the
next three years. While there is a good geodgraphic spread of
new store openings, 7C of these are in North America where
we continue to see plentiful opportunity to grow our North
America business further.

In our UK High Street business, we have continued to
implement the strategy that has served us well; focusing on
costs, increasing margins and generating cash. This ensures
that the cash flow and profits of this business are robust
and sustainable.

It has previcusly been announced that | will be retiring from
the Board on 3Q November 2022, and this is therefore my
last staternent as Chairman of the Company. | am immensaly
proud to have been part of the WHSmith success story

for aver a decade. The Group has gone from strength to
strength and we are now in our strongest ever position

as a global Travel retaller with over 1,700 stores across

30 countries. WHSmith is a great company and working
with the Board and Executive teams has been a hugely
enjoyable and rewarding experience. | also rermain humbled
by the extraordinary effort and commitment of our entire
team across our distribution centres, head offices and
stores and, in particular, how everyone responded to the
Covid-19 pandemic.
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We have an exceptionally

strong team at WHSmith,

led by an outstanding leadership
team, and 1 would like to

take this opportunity to wish
everyone at the Company

the very best for the future.”

I 'will be succeeded as Chair by Annette Court. Annette
was appointed by the Board in September this year as a
non-executive director and Chair Designate. Annette has

a proven track record as a Chair of a publicly qucted
company and brings a wealth of experience from her Board
appointments and has a strong background in financial
services and technoiogy. Annette will oversee the next
exciting phase for the Company working with the Board
and Executive teams to deliver our global growth strategy
and | wish her every success,

I am also pleased that Marion Sears has joined us as a
non-executive director during the year. Marion has extensive
financial and retail expertise and replaces Annemarie Durbin
as Chair of the Remuneration Committee. | would like to
Lalee this opportunity to thank Annemarie for her valued
contribution to the Board over the past nine years.

Corporate governance

Corporate governance remains an important area of focus
for the Board and underpins the sustainability of our business
and the achievement of our strategy. A more detailed
explanation of our approach to corporate governance can be
found in our Corporate governance report on pages 66 to 73,

Sustainability

We are committed to adopting a market -leading position
on responsible business practices, and seek to make a
positive impact on the planet, the lives of our people and the
cornmunities in which we operate. This yvear, we were the top
performing speciatty retailer in Morningstar's Sustainalytics
ESG Benchmark and we were, once again, included in the
Dow Jones World Sustainability Index. During the year, we
have also committed to target net zero emissions by 2050.
Further inforrmation on all aspects of our sustainability
programimes can be found on pages 37 to 43,

Financial statements Additional information

People

We have had a year of intense activity across all our divisions
and none of this would have been possilzle without the
significant contribution of all our colleagues, We have an
exceptionally strong team at WHSmith, led by an outstanding
leadership team, and | weuld like to take this opportunity to
wish everyone at the Company the very best for the future.

Outlook

Whilst there is economic uncertainty, we are financially strong
and with the return to a normalised travel environment, and
the strength of the Group’s growth opportunities, the Group
is very well positioned for a year of significant progress in
2023, Value creation remains central to our plans and the
Group will continue to invest for the longer term where it
sees attractive opportunities for profitable growth,

£1.4bn

Revenue

O.1p

Dividend per share

Henry Staunton
Chairman

1C November 2022

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 9



Strategic report

Qe&A

with
Group Chief Executive
Carl Cowling

Leoking back at the 2021/22
financial year, what has been
the highlight?

2022 has been a really strong year of recavery
for the Group and | am pleased to report that
the mornentum is continuing. We delivered
revenue of E14bn, ahead of 2019, and Headline
trading profit' of £73m, We are trading ahead
of 2019 levels and, impartantiy, the Group

is in its strongest ever position as a global
Travel retailer.

Though the pandemic was very challenging,
we used the time well to strengthen our Travel
business internationally. We have had another
really strong year in winning new business and
now have 150 stores won and due to open
across North America, Rest of the World and
the UK over the next three years, Thisis in
addition to the 98 stores we opened in the
financial year.

We have also reinstated the dividend,
proposing a final dividend of 91p per share.

None of this would be possibie without the
unwavering support of our colleagues across
the globe for which | am sincerely grateful.

What is driving the
Group’s success?

The Group has made excellent progress in the
year. The key driver of our success continues
to be our forensic approach to retailing across
each of our businesses and initiatives that
position us well for the future:

Space growth: We have opened 98 stores
during the year and now have a new store
pipeline of 150 stores to open across the
globe over the next three years.

ATV growth: We have continued to focus
oh re-engineering our ranges and this is
delivering good results.

Category development: We have focused on
identifying further opportunities where we
can reposition our traditional news, bocks and
convenience format to a one-stop-shop travel
essentials format.

Cost and cash management: We remain
focused on cost control and minimising our
cost base, particularly given our significant
investment programme.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained on page 173
2 As reported (excludes pro forma North America adjustment)
3 Constant currency
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As the growth engine of the
Group, to what extent have you
seen a rebound in revenue and
profitability in Travel?

In Travel, while the first half was impacted

by the Crnicron variant of Covid-19 from
Decernber 2021 to February 2022, thereafter
we saw a robust recovery across all our travel
rmarkets and a strong rebound in profitability.

Total Travel revenue was £927m, up 131

per cent cormpared to the previcus year
generating a Total Travel Headline trading
profit! of £89m, This momentum has
continued into the new financial year and

in the 10 week period to 5 November 2022,
Travel revenue has been 148 per cent of 20192
(141 per cent on constant currencies).

Have you seeh a consistent
recovery across the Group
versus 20197

The Group saw a strong recovery during the
year which has continued into the current
financial year.

All our channels in Trave| UK have seen a
sustained and strong recovery across the year
with the division delivering sales of 113 per cent
of 2019 in G4 and 118 per cent in the first 10
weeks of the current financial year.

We saw a strong performance from North
America. Given its domestic focus, the North
America market recovered the quickest
from the pandemic. Transportation Security
Administration ('TSA") data and visitor
nurmbers in Las Vegas have continued to
improve during the year.

Across our Rest of the Worid division,

as anticipated, the pace of recovery has

varied by geography with the strongest
recovery in Europe and, maore recently.

notable improverments in Australia and Asia.
Revenue in the first 10 weeks of the current
financial year was at 131 per cent of 20192 levels
reflecting the ongoing recovery and opening
of new stores.

We saw a consistently good performance
in High Street throughout the year with the
impottant December 2021 trading period at
90 per cont of Z019.

Financial statements Additional information

Q What progress have you made
to become more sustainable?

Qur sustainability commitments remain as

o important as ever and | am pleasaed by the
progress we are making, however there is still
more to be done.

We set our target to achieve net zero and we
are in the process of collaborating with cur
suppliers, landlords and custormers to work
towards this goal,

We were delighted to be ranked the highest
performing specialty retailer in Morningstar's
ESG Sustainatytics benchmark in the year and
be included, once agan, N the Dow Jones
Sustainability index as one of only 12

retailers globally.

We were delighted to be ranked
the highest performing specialty
retailer in Morningstar’s ESG
Sustainalytics benchmark in

the year.”

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Key market drivers

Travel

Our Travel stores around the world experience high levels
of seasonal feotfall, driven by teisure travel and in particular,
during the summer.

Footfall in airports is driven by the global demand for flights
and during the Covid-19 pandemic, passenger numbers in all
geographies were impacted by government-imposed travel
restrictions. As these restrictions have been relaxed, we have
seen a robust recovery in passenger tevels, primarily driven
by pent up demand for leisure travel. However, recovery has
been uneven and a gap exists between markets, especially
where travel restrictions are still in place and where Covid-19
vaccine availability and uptake has been more limited.

Domestic travel, especially in North America and short-haul
leisure have been the fastest to recover, with business travel
and long-haul recovering more slowly, particutarly in Asia.

The Airports Council International (ACI) expects passenger
numbers to recover to 2019 levels by 2024,

Hotels and resorts in North America have seen a strong
rel>ound in visitors, Visitors to Las Vegas had recovered to
96 per cent of 2019 levels in Septermber 2022.

In the UK, Rail passenger numbers have also been impacted
by government restrictions during the Covid-13 pandemic
and shifts towards more flexible working patterns.

Metwork Rail concourse data suggests rail passengers were
down 20 per cent in October 2022 vs 2019

The UK Gavernment continues to invest in the National
Health Service and in building new and extended hospitals.

Our markets are impacted by macro economic conditions.
As we enter a pericd of uncertainty in global economies as a
consequence of interest rates, inflation and conflict, footfall
and costs could be impacted.

How we respond:

« Cur markel leading store formats and breadth of product
range ensure we maximise the number of passengers
shopping in our stores

» We are growing our average transaction value by offering
customers a breadth of travel essentials products at a
variety of price points

« Qur aperational expertise and agility allow us to rapidly
adapt to changing market conditions and volatility in
passenger numbers

» We remain extremely disciplined in focusing on
controlling costs

« We plan to offset inflation through productivity savings,
simplifying our operating model and price increases,
where appropriate

» We continue to ensure that we offer consumers great
quality products and vaiue for money througft our
promotional offering

High Street

High Street’s performance is dependent upon overall growth
in consurmer spending and the levels of footfall on the UK
high street. There is a wide disparity in store performance
depending on location, with smaller rnarket towns and

more affluent catchments tending to perform better than
city centre locations. Like Travel, High Street is impacted by
macroeconomic trends including factors such as levels of
employment. interest rates and consumer spending.

How we respond:

= We continue to invest in growing our onling businesses to
complement our in store proposition

» We continue to ensure we have profitable stores in the
right locations through regular review of our store estate
and keeping leases short and flexible

« We maintain a forensic approach to store space in order
to maximise returns from our core categories

+ We maintain a forensic approach to productivity and
efficiency in our operations

12 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Expanding our
global reach

We continue to grow our North America and Rest of the

World businesses, welcoming more customers across 1 70 0 +
new countries and territories. Qur brand is synonymous ,

with the travelling experience, with exposure to millions stores across

of international travellers every year. We know that when

journeying through an airport, it's the destination that

matters to our customers and the journey that matters to us. 3 O

= For more information on our North America and Rest of the World

businesses, please refer to pages 22 and 23. countties

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 13
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Our strategy

A strong and focused strategy

We measure our performance against our strategy using our KPIs on pages 16 and 17.

Our purpose
To make every
one of life's
journeys better

n
;&-’ Space growth ATV growth r
- . 5 « Opening new stores * Space management
our vision .E_ « Winning new business = Refitting stores
To be the world’s L + New, better quality space « Range deveiopment !
number one travel E + Extending contracts
essentials retailer © + Developing formats and brands
n
98
] new stores opened (¢)
2 during the year Over 10 A) |
5‘ 1 50 increase in ATV !
a across our channels
new store pipeline
through to 2024
" Forensic approach to retail  Innovative store formats
3 « Space management * Format developrnent
% = In-store execution + Portfolio of world class brands
I.|=.I « Tight cost control « Forensic approach to maximising

- Industry leading returns sales density

Profit growth. Strong cash generation.

14 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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WHSmith
Group

Travel

Category
development

+ One-stop-shop travel
essentials format

» Developing the InMotion brand
« Improving ranges

Expand

food to go, tech accessories,
health and beauty

Low cost operations
« Efficient, nimble supply chain
» Simplification

+ Focus on cost control

Corporate governance

Cost and Cash
management

» Flexible rent model

v Investing for growth

* Productivity and efficiencies

Invest

for future growth
and sustainable returns

High performing teams
« Attract, retain and develop the

best talent

« Diverse and inclusive workplace

Financlal statements

Additional information

High Street

Maintain
profitability and
cash generation

of High Street
and grow our
digital businesses

£33m

Headline trading profit

£42m

of cost savings delivered
across the business

Driving sustainability

« Minimising our impact on the planet
+ Engaging our people

+ Contributing to communities

Focused capital allocation. Shareholder returns.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 15
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Key performance indicators

Cur key performance indicators ("KPIs™) comprise a number of financial and non-financial metrics that enable us to evaluate
our performance against our strategic goals. Certain KPIs are Alternative performance measures, which are defined and
explained on page 173. These measures are used by the Board as they provide additional useful information on the underlying
performance of the Group. Statutory equivalents are provided where relevant,

Financial
Revenue (Em) Profit/¢loss) (Em)

The below profit/(loss) measures are stated
on a pre-IFRS 16 basis

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173

16 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Acgounts 2022
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Free cash flow' (Em)

Free cash flow is defined as net cash inflow from
operating activities before the cash flow effect of
nen-underlying items and pension funding, less capital
expenditure {see page 28).

Financial statements Additional information

Non-financial

1 Alternative perfarmance measure defined and explained in the Glossary
on page 173

2 2018 comparative number not avallable

WH Smith PLC Anpual Report and Accounts 2022
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18

Growing our
UK presence

As one of the world's leading travel retailers, we are the
trusted home for travel essentials in the UK supporting the
millions of journeys made each year. We're continuing to grow
our presence, providing our customers with the essentials we
know make their journey just that little bit better, whether
they're travelling by air, on foot, by road or by train.

@ For more information on our Travel UK business, please refer
to pages 20 te 22.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Review of operations

Financial statements

Additional information

The strong momentum that we saw in Q4 has
’ continued into the new financial year with the

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Travel

Total Travel revenue

Total Travel Headline trading profit’

Group now in its strongest ever position as a
global travel retailer.”

Total Travel revenue (year on year)

£927m £89m +131%

(2021: £401m)

Performance review

I am pleased to report that our Travel business has had a
strong year of recovery. Daspite the pandemic, the Travel
clivision is now in an even strenger position. Though the
pandemic was very challenging, we used the time well to
strengthen our business both in the UK and internationally.

Total revenue was £927m (2021 £4CTm), up 131 per
cent compared to the previous year resulting in a Total
Travel Headline trading profitl in the period of £89m
(2021 |oss of £39m).

Trading profit/y Headline trading Revenue

(loss) profit/(loss)'

(IFR516) (pre-IFRS 16)
£m 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 202
Travel Uik 60 (290 54 (32 521 195
North America 33 2 31 6 288 166
Rest of the World 3 an 4 (13 N8 40
Total Travel 86 (44) 89 (39 927 401

We continue to capitalise on the multiple growth
opportunities across the globe and to focus on initiatives
that position us well for future growth. These include:

Business development and winning nhew business
Through building and managing relationships with all our
landlord partners, we look to win new space, improve the
qauality and amount of space, develop new formats and
extend contracts. Going forward, we expect to win around
50 to 60 new stores a year.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173
2 Travel stores inclucle motorway and international joint ventures and franchise units

(2021: loss of £(39)m)

(2021 (273%)

ATV growth and spend per passenger

We aim to grow ATV through our forensic analysis of
the return on our space, cross category promotions,
merchandising, store layouts and store refits.

Category development

We do this by developing adjacent product categories
relevant for our customers, such as health and beauty
and tech ranges; and expanding existing categories, e.y.
premium food ranges.

Minimising costs
We rermain focused on cost efficiency and productivity,
and making value creabing nvestments.

The strong momentumn that we saw in Q4 has continued
into the new financial year with the Group now in its strongest
position ever as a global travel retailer. Passenger numbers
have recovered strongly albeit with further recovery and we
are very well positioned to capitalise on the signiticant space
growth opportunities across each of our markets.

As at 31 August 2022, our glcbal Travel business operated
from 1196 units? (31 August 2021 1166 units). As at 31 August
2022, we are present in over 100 airports anc 30 countries
with 298 stores in North America, 109 stores in Europe,

84 in the Middle East and India and 118 in Asia Pacific.
Excluding franchise units, Travel occupies 1.0m sguare feet,
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Review of operations continued

Travel UK

All our channels in Travel UK have seen a sustained and
strong recovery across the yvear with the division delivering
revenue of 113 per cent of 2019% in Q4 and 118 per cent in the
first 10 weeks of the current financial year.

Total revenue in the year was £521m which, together with
improved margins, resulted in a Headline trading profit!

of £54m (2021 loss of £32m). We have seen a consistent
double digit increase in ATV versus 2019 across our Alr,
Hospital and Rail channels during the period as a resuit of
our work to broaden our categories and extend our ranges.

Per cent of 2019 Revenue?

Ar Hospitals Rail Total
HI Fy22 60% 90% 70% 71%
Q3IFY22 % 102% 87% 102%
Q4 FY22 124% Nno% 0% N3%
Year to 31 August 2022 93% 28% 79% 20%
10 weeks to 132% 4% 92% 18%

5 Novermnber 2022

As at 31 August 2022, Travel UK had 587 stores. In addition,
aver the next three years, we expect to win and open an
additional 10 to 15 stores each year in UK Travel, with the
majority of the new stores in the Hospitals channel.

Air

In Air, we saw a significant step up in revenue over the
key summer trading period, with sales in July and August
2022 at 121 per cent and 126 per cent respectively of 2019.
This was during a pericd of disruption and passenger
caps at some UK airports which limited the number of
passengers travelling.

As was the case pre-pandemic, leisure passengers are our
most impertant customer segment. We continue to focus
on expanding our proposition and identifying opportunities
where we can repasition our traditional news, books and
convenience (NBC) forrmat to a unique one-stop-shop for
travel essentials. By extending our categories, such as health
and beauty, tech, food to go and pharmacy products, we
are able to provide time-pressed travelling customers with
a fast and convenient shopping experience, under one roof.
This enables us to expose customers to a broager range

of categories which has resulted in an increase in sales

per sgquare metre, a higher ATV and spend per passenger.
This delivers good returns for us with improved margins
and attractive economics for our landlords. Customer and
lanctlord feedback has been very positive.

1 Akernative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary o page 173
2 Equivalent month in 2019
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We have now opened 30 of the 33 InMotion stores that we
racently won in UK Air, positioning us as the market-leading
technology retailer in travel locations globally, We are
pleased with the performance of our new InMction stores
in UK Air, which are trading above our initial expectations.
Combining the learnings and expertise from our InMotion
stores in the US, as well as the results of extensive customer
research In the UK, these stares provide a first-ciass
customer service experience and showcase a range of
premium brands, such as Apple, Bose, Sony and Sarmsunag,
as well as an extensive range of tech accessories.

Hospitals

The Hospital channe! is an important channel for us and

is our second largest channel by revenue in Travel UK.
During the year, we have seen a consistent improvement in
revenue as restrictions eased.

Qur Hospital channet is a good example of how we continue
to innovate with a strong propasition tailored to each
location. We are able to offer hospital trusts a broad suite of
formats and brands including WHSmith, M&S Simply Food,
Costa Coffee and the Post Office. We now have 49 M&S
Simply Food or shared space stores across our hospital
estate, 11 Costa Coffee shops and three Post Offices.

In addition, there are considerable opportunities for us to
open new space in hospitals, As at 31 August 2022, we
operated from 136 stores in arcund 100 hospitals and we
believe there are a further 200 hospitals which could support
at least one of our four store formats. The UK Government
continues to invest in both infrastructure and staff numbers
in the health sector as the sector emerges from Covid-19

Over the medium-term, we would expect to open on
average 8 to 10 new stores each year in the Hospital channel.

Rail

Rail remains an attractive channel with cpportunities to
grow. According to the Departmment for Transport, pre-
pandemic rail had approximately 1.7bn passenger journeys
per year with leisure passengers accounting for around 40
per cent of these journeys.

During the year, we have seen a steady improvement in
revenue as travel restrictions eased and this mormentum has
continued into the new financial year, despite the disruption
caused by the recent rail strikes. Passenger numbers are
now at 8O per cent of 2012 levels with leisure and weekend
passenger numbers recovering the fastest. We know from
our segmentation and return on space analysis in Rail that
this customer segment is the most valuable to us.
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Going big in the US

The US is the largest travel retail market in the world and

the growth opportunities are substantial. Through our +
rapid expansion programme and the distinct style of our

US retail business, MRG, together with the excitement of a stores across North America

first-class customer experience under the inMotion brand,
we're committed to our future as a giobal travel retailer.

(3 Read more about our North America business on page 22,

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

21



Strategic report

Review of operations continued

As with our other channels in Travel, we continue to invest
in re-engineering our ranges and broadening our categaries
to meet customer and landlord needs. In the first half of the
year, we opened our first one-stop-shop format in Rail at
London’s Euston Station. This store combines our traditional
news, books and convenience offer with tech, health and
Leauty products and a pharrnacy. We have received positive
feedbaclk from customers and the store is performing
strangly. During the current financial vear, we will be trialling
our one-stop-shop for travel essentials format in Rail across
a further eight major Network Rail locations, including
London Paddington, London Victoria and Londen Liverpool
Street stations. Across these stores, we will be investing

N new store layouts and enhancing the space afforded to
categories such as heaith and beauty,

In addition, we have opened a new standalcne bookshop at
Edinburgh Waverley Station and our first Rail store with a
combined M&S food offer at Bristal Temple Meads Station.
Early customer and landlord reaction has been positive.

North America

We saw a strong performance from MNorth America. Given
its cdlomestic focus, the North Armerica market recovered the
fastest from the pandernic. T5A (Transportation Security
Adhministration) data and visitor numbers in Las Vegas have
continued to improve during the year Total revenue for the
year in North America was £288m (2021; Elo6m), an increase
of 73 per cent of which 10 per cent was due to changes in
exchange rates. Headline trading profit' of £31m (2021: £6m),
reflects the recovery in passenger numbers and improved
margins. In the current financial vear, we expect our North
America business to become an increasingly significant

part of the Group and the second largest in profit terms,
after Travel UK. The Croup is exposed to movements in the
GRBPUSD exchange rate. A 10 cent move in this rate results
ina c.E3m movement in annual profit, Current consensus
suggests an average exchange rate of GBP:USD of 1.30.

The growth opportunities in North America are substantial.
The US is the largest travel retail market in the world with
annual sales, pre-pandemic, at $3.2bn. Approximately 85 per
cent of passengers are domestic, with leisure passengers
being the largest segment. TSA data continues to show a
gradlual recovery in passenger numbers week on week, with
passenger numbers at the end of October 2022 at 95 per
cent of 2012 levels.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173

2 B8ased on store numbers, including storgs won, hot yet open
3 Includes pro forma MRG for 2019
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Given the similar customer dynamic and high footfall
environments to our Travel UK business, we have applied
our forensic approach to retailing from the UK to the US
market and we are seeing good results. This includes: space
management; category development to higher margin
products such as health and beauty and tech; enhanced
promotional activity; and, increased operational efficiencies,
for example by introducing self-scan tills which we
introduced in Septermber 2022.

Including the 22 store openings in the year, MRG now have
78 and InMgtion N8 stores trading in airports. We continue
to grow our North America business at pace and we have

a very strong pipaline of new store openings, including

some significant tender wins at Los Angeles and Salt Lake
City airports. During the year, we have won an additional 22
stores and we expect to open 49 in the current financial year.
So far this financial year, we have won a further five stores
including Jacksonville and Boston airports. Our analysis of
the North American market pre-pandemic shows that there
were a total of 2,004 news and gift and specially retail stores
in the top 70 airports, giving cur North Arnerica business

a market share of ¢l2 per cent? With MRG's continued
success rate of winning new tenders and our expectation of
the amount of space likely to come to the market for tender
over the medium-term, we are well placed to grow our North
America business,

Cutside of the airport business, the Resorts channel
continues to be attractive. MRG is a leading player in this
channel in Las Vegas with stores Iccated on the key visitor
locations of the Strip and Fremont Street. MRG has very
longstanding relationships with resort landlords and a
significant amount of expertise built up cver an extended
period. The Resorts channel has similar dynamics to our
Travel LIK business with a high number of short stay visitors
who tend to remain close to their hotel, Visitors to Las Vegas
were approximately 3.4m in the month of September 2022,
c¢. four per cent below 2019,

In addition, we have won and opened our first store in Rail
in North America. This store opened in February 2022 at
Moynihan Train Hall, New York, While it is still early days, this
store is performing well and in line with our expectations.
We have also won a further store at neighbouring

Penn Station.

Qur revenue performance in the current year has reflected
these trends with overall revenue in North America at 130
per cent? of 2019 levels for the 10 weeks to 5 November 2022
(of which 13 per cent relates to currency maovements, giving
growth of 17 per cent at constant currencies)
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Rest of the World

Total revenue for the year in ROW was £118m {2021: £40m).
Headline trading profit' was £4m (2021 10ss of £13m).

As anticipated, the pace of recovery has varied by
geography with the strongest recavery in Europe and, more
recently, notable improvements in Australia and Asia, As we
have done in Travel UK, we have remained focused on areas
within our control, including increasing ATV. Revenue in the
first 10 weeks of the current financial year was at 131 per
cent to 20197 reflecting the ongoing recovery and opening
new storgs.

As this rmarket continues to recover, we expect to see

maore space become available. Our strong and compelling
proposition and our very low market share currently means
there is significant opportunity to grow this business in new
and existing territories through our traditional convenience
retail proposition and with technology tenders under the
InMotion brand. We continue to use our three operating
modlels of directly run, franchise and joint-venture in order
to create vaiue and win new business.

We have made good progress in the year opening 38 new
stores, and winning 63 stores, with significant tender wins

in Spain, Belgium, Italy, Sweden, Norway and Australia.
Uitilising our experience from our North America business,
we have created a localised store design concept for each
airport, drawing on local landmarks and popular cultural
references. This has been well received by landlords and
gives us confidence in winning mare stores in new territories
as space becomes available.

In addition, we continue to build on areas where we already
have stores, for example, in Spain which is one of the most
popular destinations for the UK leisure traveller, In the first
half of the financial year, we won an additionat 31 stores
across Spanish airports, of which we have cpened 23 to date.
These stores are performing well and we know from our
prior experiehce of operating in the country that our brand
and offer resonates well in this market. We successfully
executed this store opening programme at pace to ensure
over half the stores were trading throughout the peak
summer periogd.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173
2 Constant currency

Financial statements Additional information

We also continue to see good opportunities to win new
business in the technology market under our InMotion
brand. During the year, we have won seven InMotion stores
in Dubiin, Milan, Stockholm and Gothenburg. We now have
a total of 1 InMotion stores outside of the UK and Narth
Arnerica of which six are cpen. We rermain well positioned
to benefit from further opportunities as more space
becomes availabie.

wWe have 31 stores open and a further 76 won and yet Lo
open. Of the 311 stores open, 45 per cent are directly-run,
4 per cent are joint venture and 4/ per cent are franchise.

Number of stores

Reglon

Europe 09
Middie East and india 84
Asia Pacific s
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Review of operations continued

High Street

Revenue

Headline trading profit’

Total revepue {year on year)

£473m £33m (2)%

(2021: £485m) (2021: £19m)

Performance review

During the year, High Street delivered a resilient performance
with Headline trading profit! of £33m (2021 £19m - which
included £30m of UK Government support on rates) as
expected, with revenue of £473m (2021: £485m). On an IFRS
16 basis trading profit' was £45m (2021 £36m). We managed
the business tightly, focusing on costs and cash generation.
We are pleased with the start to the new financial year with
LFL revenue up 2 per cent on the prior year for the 10 weeks
to 5 Novemiber 2022,

The strategy we have in place in our High Street business
remains as relevant today as it has ever been and ensures
that the cash flow and profits of this business are robust
and sustainable.

We cansider retail space as a strategic asset and we utilise
our space to maximise returns in the current year, in ways
that are sustainable over the longer-term. We have extensive
and detailed space and range elasticity data for every

store, built up over many years and we utilise our space to
maximise the return on every metre drop of display space in
avery store.

Driving efficiencies remains a core part of our strategy and
we continue to focus on all areas of cost in the business.
During the year, we have delivered savings of £42m and

we are on track to deliver savings of £24m over the next
three years, of which £12m will be detivered in the current
financial vear. These savings come from right across the
business, including rent savings at lease renewal (on average
53 per cent) which continue to be a significant proportion,
rmarketing efficiencies and productivity gains from our
distribution centres, We have, for many years, actively fixed
our energy costs in stores well in advance of consuming the
energy. We have currently fixed our energy costs to August
2023 at rates that were put in place 12 months ago.

Ower the years, we have actively looked to put as much
flexibility into cur store leases as we can, and this leaves

us well positioned in the current environment. The average
lease length in our High Street business, including where we
are currently holding over at lease end, is under two years.

I Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173

2 Including branches in Guernsey and the Isle of Man
3 Company estimates/OC&C 2019
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(2027; +4%)

We only renew a lease where we are canfident of delivering |
economic value over the life of that lease. We have c.460

leases due for renewal over the next three years, including

over 150 where we are holding over and in negotiation with

our landlord. The store closure process is cash neutrat.

As at 3] August 2022, the High Street business operated

from 527 WH Smith stores? (2021: 544) which occupy 2.5m \
square feet (2021; 2.6m square feet). 17 WH Smith stores

were closed in the period (2021: 24).

Specialist websites |

Funkypigeon.com delivered, as expected, total revenue

of £35m (2021 £54m) and Headline EBITDA' of £8rmn
(2021 E14m) reflecting the cyber incident in April.
Funkypigean.com is recovering well and we are confident
of the substantial opportunities to grow the platform
further, and significantly grow revenue and profits over the
medium-term,

The market for greeting cards in the UK is substantial and
estimated at £1.6bn® with online penetration continuing to
grow. The UK greeting card market has been stable with
adults sending on average 202 greeting cards per person
each year.

We have redeveioped the funkypigeon.corn app to improve
customer conversion and we have also launched a next day
delivery service which operates seven days a week to further
enhance our customer proposition. This has received very
positive customer feedback.

During the year, we increased our investrent and focus

on whsrith.co.uk. This has included focusing on customer
conversion, product presentation and broadening our
approach to marketing. Our specialist ben website, cultpens.
com, has continued to outperform the UK market with
growing sales internationally. We have extended our ranges
to broaden our customer offer and, during the year, we
launched product personalisation to further develop the
gifting category This includes laser engraving of pens and
notebook embossing. We are seeing good results.
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Outlook

2022 has heen a successful year for the Group and we enter
the new financial year in the strongest ever position as a
global travel retaller with rultiple growth opportunities
across the world.

We have opened 98 new stores in the year and we have a
pipeline of 150 new stores vet to open across 16 countries
and in airports as varied as Los Angeles, Salt Lake City,
Brussels, Oslo and Melbourne.

We continue to grow our North America business at pace
and we have a very strong pipetine of new store openings.

In the current financial year, our North America business s
set to become larger than our UK High Street business and
we see significant opportunities to grow this business further.

This coming year, we have an extensive investrment
programme and expect capex to be around £150m.

Our InMotion technology stores have had a very good year,
We now have over 150 InMotion stores open including 36
outside of the US. Our recently opened stores in the UK
are trading ahead of our initial expectations and we have
received excellent feedback from customers and landlords.
We see significant scope to grow the brand globally.

Qur High Street division, including our online businesses,
delivered another resitient and profitable performance.
These businesses continue to generate strong cash flow
allowing us to invest across the Group.

The resumption of the dividend refiects our strong current
trading and the Board's confidence in the future prospects of
the Group.

We have started the year well and, while there is economic
uncertainty, travel patterns globally continue to improve
and this, combined with the strength of the Group's growth
oppaortunities, means that we are well pesitioned for a year
of significant progress in 2023.

Carl Cowling

Group Chief Executive

10 November 2022
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Financial review

Robert Moorhead

The Board has announced that it will be reinstating
the dividend of 9.1p per share in respect of the
financial year ended 31 August 2022.”

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Group

Total Group revenue at £1,400m (2021, £886m) was up 58
per cent compared to the prior year and slightly ahead of
2019, 't was the highest annual revenue generated by the
Group since its creation in its current form in 2006,

The Group saw a strong recovery during the year which has
continued into the current financial year. Total Group revenue
as a percentage of 2019 total revenue by guarter has been:

Per cent of 2019 Revenue®

FY2022 FY2023

a1 @2 a3 04 10 weeksto

5 November

2022

Travel UK 69% 72% 102% 113% 8%
North America® 9% Q1%  N0% N6% 7%
Rest of the World* A% 48% 87% 6% 131%
Total Travel® 83% B1% 122% 135% 148%7
High Streets 87% 84% T79% 81% 87%
Group 85% 83% 106% N7% 125%

Second half revenue for the Group was 113 per cent of 2019
on a total basis and 83 per cent on a like-for-lika! (“"LFL")
hasis as shown in the table below. LFL revenue in Travel was
92 per cent of 2019,

H2 FYZ022 per cent of

2018 revenus?

Totat LFL
Travel UK 109% 94%
Morth America® N3% 94%
Rest of the World? 103% 82%
Total Travel® 130% 92%
High Street® 82% 83%
Group 3% 89%

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary
on page 173

Equivalent month in 2019

Pra forma, constant currency

Constant currency

As reported (exciudes pro farma North America adjustment)
Includes internet businesses

e B¢ BT R - N PN N

141 per cent on constant currency basis
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In Travel, while the first half was impacted by the Omicron
variant from December 2021 to February 2022, we saw
thereafter a robust recovery across all our travel markets
and a strong rebound in profitability. Travel revenue for the
second half was at 130 per cent® of 2019 (92 per cent on a
LFL'basis) and over the key surmmer trading period from
June to August, Travel revenue was at 135 per cent of 2019
(96 per cent on a LFL basis).

In the 10 week period to 5 November 2022, Travel revenue
has been 148 per cent” of 2019 which demonstrates the
intrinsic strength of our business and the markets in which
we operate.

We saw a consistently good performance in High Street
throughout the year with the important December 2021
trading period at 90 per cent of 2019

The Headline Group profit from trading operations! for the
year was £122m (2021; loss of £20m) with Headline Group
profit before tax and non-underlying items' at £73m (2021:
loss of £55m). After non-underlying items, the Headline
Group profit before tax! was £61m (2021 ioss of £104m).

The Group profit before tax including non-underlying items
and on an IFRS 16 basis, was £63m (2021: loss of £116rm).

IFRS Headllne
{pre-IFRS 16)

£m 2022 2021 2022 202
Travel UK trading profit/(loss)’ 60 (29 54 (3
North America trading profit! 33 2 31 6
Rest of the World trading ) 3 a7 4 (133
profit/(Joss)
Total Travel tracling profit/(lossy 96 (44 89 (39
High Street tracling profit! 45 36 33 19
Group profit/(loss} from 141 & 122 (20)
trading operations'
Unallocated central costs 24y (9 Q4 (0%
Group operating profit/(loss) n @ 98 (G9D
befare non-underlying items’
Net finance costs 34y (24) (25) (16)
Group profit/(loss) before tax 83 G 73 5%
and non-undertying items’
Non-underlying items! (20) (65) (12) (49)
Group profit/(loss) before tax 63 (K 61 (104
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Unallocated central costs increased in the year due to

higher share-based payment charges and £2m costs in
relation to a new payroll system which previously would
have been treated as capex and now 15 reated as opex under
the new accounting guidelines for software as a service.

The Group has a strong balance sheet, is very cash
generative and has substantial liquidity. In addition to
£327m of convertible bonds which mature in 2026 and
£133m of term loan with a maturity in 2025, the Group has
an undrawn £250m Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) which
rmatures in 20275,

The Group has the following cash, cammitted facilities and
drawn debt as at 31 August 2022;

£m 3t August 2022 Maturity
Cash and cash equivalents? £132m

Revolving Credit Facility? £250m  April 2025
Term Loan £133m  April 2025
Convertible bonds £327m  May 2026

As at 31 August 2022, Headline net debt' was £296m

(2021 £291m) with access to over £350m of liguidity (F107Tm
cash on deposit and £250m undrawn RCF). We continued to
focus on cash. Group free cash flow' was £41m (2021 £14m),
reflecting the strong trading performance as well as our
nvestment in growth opportunities with capital investment
In the year of £83m (2021: £44m).

The Group pays a fixed coupon at 1.625 per cent on the
convertible bonds and the term loan is interest bearing at

a margin over SONIA. As a conseguence, around 70 per
cent of our debt is at fixed interest rates. The Group places
surplus cash in overnight interest bearing accounts ensuring
immecliate liquidity. As at 31 August 2022, the Group had
£101m placed in interest bearing deposit accounts.

The Board has announced that it will be reinstating the
dividend and is proposing a final dividend of 9p per share
in respect of the financial year ended 31 August 2022 which
is payable on 26 January 2023, This reflects our strong start
to the vear and our confidence in the future prospects of the
Graup. Assuming a one third/two third split between interim
and final dividends, this implies a cover ratio of 3 times
earnings for the full year. Our intention is to return, in time,
to a cover ratio of around 2.5 times normalised earnings paid
on an interim and final basis on a one third/two thirds split.

The Group's disciplined approach to capital allocation
remains unchanged:

= investing in our existing business and in new opportunities
where we see attractive rates of return ahead of the cost
of capilal;

paying a dividend far our shareholders;

undertaking attractive value-creating acquisitions in strong
and growing markets;

returning surplus cash to shareholders.

8 Cash and Cash squivalents comprises cash on depasit ot £10Tm and cash in
transit of £31m

9 Undrawn as at 31 August 2022 and 9 Navember 2022

Financial statements Additional information

Leverage at 31 August 2022 was 2.0x EBITDA. We have a
leverage target of between 0.75 and 1.25 times EBITDA andl we
anticipate achieving this level within the next 12 to 18 rmonths,
including this year's significant investment programme.

Non-underlying items’

iterns which are not considerad part of the normal
operating costs of the Business, are non-rocurming aridd are
exceptional because of their size, nature or incidence, are
treated as non-underlying tems and disclosed separately.
Non-underlying items in the year are detailed in the table
below, and most do not impact cash.

The cash spend relating to non-underlying items in the
2022 financial year was F16m and mainly related Lo activity
announced in 2020 and 2021,

IFRS Headline
(pre-IFRS 16)'

£m 2022 2021 2022 200
Impairment of Property, 13 42 5 18
plant and equiprent and
Right-of-use assets
Amortisation of acquired 3 3 3 3
intangible assets
Costs related to cyber incident 4 - 4 -
Oneraus leases - - - 5
Stock provisions, write-offs - 3 ~ &
and other costs
Restructuring costs - 9 - 9
Costs associated with refinancing - 6 ~ G
Cost relating to - 2 - 2

business combinations

20 65 12 49

Impairment of Property, plant and equipment and
Right-of-use assets

The Group has carried out an assessment for indicators

of impairment across the store portfolio. This assessment
has identified a number of stores where experience and
expectations of the longer-term impact of Cavid-19 is more
negative than previously assumed, primarily driven by the
impact of Covid-19 on consumer shopping patterns.

The impairment review compared the value-in-use

of indiviclual store cash-generating units, based on
managements’ assurnptions regarding likely future trading
performance, taking into account the effect of Covid-19, to
the carrying values at 31 August 2022. Following this review,
a non-cash charge of E5m (2021 £18m) was recorded for
impairment of retail store assets on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, and
E13m (202% £42m) on an IFRS 16 basis which includes an
impairment of right-of-use assets of £8m (2021: £28m).

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates
to the MRG and InMotien brands. This is a non-cash charge.
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Financial review continued

Costs related to cyber incident

Costs of £4m were incurred in relation to the Funky Pigeon
cyber security incident and include impairment of software
assels, third party consultancy support and legal and
other costs.

Other nen-underlying items in the prior year included

stock provisioning and impairment refating to the impact

of Covid-19, restructuring costs following a review of store
operations across our High Street business, costs associated
with the refinancing activity in April 2021 and further
integration costs in relation to the acquisition of MRG which
completed in December 2012,

A tax credit of £4m (2021 £12m) has been recognised in
relation to the above items (E3m pre-IFRS 16' (2021: £9m)).

Net finance costs

IFRS Headline
{pre-IFRS 16)'

£m 2022 2021 2022 2021
Inlerest payable on bank loans 9 10 9 0
and overclrafts
Interest on convertible bonds 14 4 14 4
Unwind of discount on anerous - - 2 2
lease provisions (pre-IFRS 16)
Interast on lease liabilities mn 10 - -
Net finance costs 24 24 25 6

Pre-IFRS 16" net finance costs for the year were £25m
(2021 £16m) with the year an year increase reflecting the
refinancing undertaken in the prior year. Cash costs in
relation to this were £10m lower at £15m,

The interest on the convertible bonds includes the accrued
coupon (a fixed coupon of 1.625 per cent) and ¢.£8m of the
non-cash debt accretion charge.

The £2m non-cash unwind of discount on onerous lease
provisions relates to onerous lease provisions recognised in
the prior year as a result of Covid-19. This relates to pre-IFRS
16 only and does not exist under IFRS 16.

Lease interest of £11m arises on lease liabilities recognised
under IFRS 16, bringing the total net finance costs under
IFRS 16 to £34m (2021 £24m).

Tax

The effective tax rate' was 17 per cent (2021: 47 per cent) on
the profit for the year. Corporation tax payiments in the year
were £6m after all possible loss relief for the current year had
been used (2021 refunds of £10m following the carry back
of 2021 losses against prior year profits). Based on legislation
n place as at 10 Novembaer, we expect the tax rate in the
current year to be 23 per cent.

1 Alternative performance measura defined and explained in the Glossary
on page 173

2 Excluges cash flow impact of non-underlying items

3 Headline Group operating profit/(loss) before depreciation, amartisation
and inparment (pre-IFRS 16) and other non-cash items
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Fixed charges cover

pre-IFRS 18’
£m 2022 2021
Headline net finance costs! 25 16
Net operating lease charges 241 151
(pre-IFRS 16)
Total fixed charges 266 67
Headline profit/{loss) before tax 73 (55)
and non-underlying items'
Headline profit before tax, non- 339 iz
underlying items and fixed charges
Fixed charges cover - times 1.3x 0.7%

Fixed charges, comprising property operating lease charges
and net finance costs, were covered 1.3 times (2021 0.7
times) by Headline profit/loss before tax, non-underlying
iterns and fixed charges, reflecting the return to profitability
of the Group.

Cash flow
Free cash flow' reconciliation

pra-IERS 16!
£m 2022 2021
Headline Group operating profit/(0ss) 98 (39}
before non-underlying items'
Depreciation, amortisation and 49 50
impairment (pre-iFRS 16)?
Non-cash items 8 2
Qperating cash flow® 155 1@
Capital expenditure 83 (44)
Working capital (pre-IFRS 1637 10 37
Net tax (paid) / refunded 6) 10
Net finance costs paid (pre-IFRS 16) (15) &)
Free cash flow' 41 14

The free cash inflow' for the year was £41m. This mainly
reflects the return to profit of the business with the
operating cash inflow increasing by £136m to £155m andl
continued investrent in the Group as we recover from the
impact of the pandemic and open new stores.

We had a working capital outflow of £10m in the year
reflecting the launch of InMotion in the UK and investment
to support the recovery of trading in Travel.

Net corporation tax payments in the period were £6m,
compared to refunds of £10m last year.

Capital expenditure was £83m (2021 £44m), which includes
the additional spend from opening 98 stores around
the world.

2022 200
New stores and store developmenit 37 17
Refurbished stores 22 17
Systems 13 9
Other n 1
Total capital expenditure 83 a4
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Reconciliation of Headline net debt'

Headline net deibt is presented on a pre-IFRS 16 basis.
See Note 18 of the Financial statements for the impact of
IFRS 16 on net debt.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had Headline nel debt' of
£296m comprising convertible bonds of £292m, term loans
of £132m (net of fees), £4m of finance jease liabilities and net
cash of £132m (2021: £291m, convertible bonds of £283m,
term foans of £132m (net of fees), £6rm of finance lease
liabilities and net cash of £130m).

Headlne

tpre-FRS 163
£m 2022 2021
Opening Headline net debt! (291) (300
Movement in year
Free cash flow . 41 14
Pensions 2) 33
Non-underlying items Q16) (38)
Net purchase of own shares for (7)) (2
ernpioyee share schemes
Equity compenent of convertible bond - 41
Other (21) ()]
Closing Headline net debt’ (296) (2913
Cash 132 130
Term Loans {net of fees) (132) (132>
Corvartible bond €292) (2833
Finarice leases (pre-iFRS 16) 4) (6)

(296) (291)

I addition to the free cash fiow, the Group paid defined
berefit persion funding of £2m (see Note 5 on pensions),
and £16m of non-underlying items which mainly relate to
restructuring following the review of store and head office
operations, as previously reported and charged to the
incorme statement in prior years.

On an IFRS 16 basis, net debt was £869m, which includes an
additional £573m of lease labilities.

Pensions

On 8 August 2022, the Group announced that the Trustee

of the WH Smith Pension Trust, (the “Trust™), had purchased
a bulk annuity insurance policy from Standard Life, insuring
al! liabilities to pay all future defined benefit pensions to

the Trust’s 12,950 members and any eligible dependants,

The insurance policy was purchased using most of the
existing assets held within the Trust, without the need for the
Group to make any additional cash contributions.

Financial statements Additional information

The bulk annuity policy matches the Trust's cash flow
benefit obiigations ta its members, removing longevity and
other dermnographic risks as well as investment, interest rate
and inflation risks. As a result of this comprehensive risk-
removal, the Group will not be required to make any future
cash contributions into the Trust regarding defined benefit
liabilities, therefore the previously recognised minimum
fundling liability (£2m as at 31 August 2021) has been
derecognised. During the year ended 31 August 2022, prior
to the compietion of the buy-in transaction, the Group made
a contribution of £2m to the scheme (2021 £3m).

As at 31 August 2022, the scheme had an 1AS 19 surplus of
£120m (2021; surplus of £284m), representing the remaining
assets of the scheme after the bulk annuity policy purchase
above. The Group has continued not to recognise this
surplus under the requirements of IFRS 14,

The I1AS 19 pension deficit on the relatively small UNS defined
henefit pension scherme was £nil (2021: £1m).

Balance sheet

The Graup had Headline net assets of £404m, an inCrease
of £138m on last year end reflecting the investrnent in
store openings and exchange differences on translation of
goodwill, Under IFRS the Group had net assets of £311m.

IFRS Headline
(pre-IFRS 16)!
£m 2022 2021 2022 2021
Goodwill and other 543 473 544 474

intangible assets

Property, plant and equipmernt 219 174 211 67

Right-of-use assets 446 328 -
Investments in joint ventures 2 2 2 2
1,210 977 757 643
Inventories 198 135 198 135
Payables less receivables (269) (214) (284) (237
Working capital 1)  (79)  (86) (102
Derivative financial assets 1 - 1 -
Net current and deferred 54 56 54 46
tax assets
Provisions a4 (14 @6y (28
Operating assets empioyed 1180 G840 700 559
Net debt (B69) (755) (296) (291
Net assets excluding N 185 404 268
pension liability
Pension fiability - 3 - (3)
Deferred tax asset - 1 - 1
on pension liability
Total net assets 3 183 404 266

Robert Mocrhead
Chief Financigl Officer and Chief Operating Officer
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Section 172(1) statement

Moving forward
with our stakeholders

Stakeholders can be impacted in different ways by decisions which are taken by the

Board. Regular stakeholder engagement enables us to operate in a balanced and

responsible way and ensures that the Board is aware of stakeholder views and interests.

These stakeholder views and concerns are integral to ensuring a considered and \
balanced approach to the Board’s decision-making processes.

The Board accesses information from stakeholders through
a number of methods including direct engagement, such
as in-person meetings, participation in listening groups and
store visits: and indirectly through the review of reports and
updlates from senior executives who meet regularly with
stakeholder groups.

20

WHSmith is required to provide information on how the
directors have performed their duty under section 172 of
the Companies Act 2006 to promote the success of the
Cornpany and in doing so to have regard to the interasts
of its stakehoiders. Cur interactions with key stakeholders
and the ways in which their interests have been taken

into account by the directors in their decision-making
are summarised on the following pages.

Our people

Suppliers
and business
partners Our purpose:
To make every
one of life’s
journeys better
Community
groups

Landlord
partners

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Customers

Investors
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Corporate governance

Our people

Financlal statements

Additional information

The success of WHSmith depends on the 12,000 colleagues who work for the
Company. It is essential that they feel engaged, motivated and appreciated.

What they care about

To feel valued
To be rewarded fairly
Ta be treated with respect and dignity

To have opportunities for personal growth and
Career development

How did we engage?

.

Our designated non-executive director for workforce
engagement, Simon Emeny, provided oversight for
the Board

Simon Emeny and Marion Sears, Remuneration Committee
Chair, attended employee forums to discuss, amongst
other topics, the Company’s approach to remuneration,
including executive rermuneration and how this aligns to
wider Company pay policy

The Group People Director updated the Board

on employee-related matters, including employee
engagement, staff retention rates, learning and
development, gender pay gap, diversity and inclusion,

and workforce rermuneration

The Group Chief Executive and other senior executives
hosted fortnightly webinars with Head Office colieagues
to provide strategy and performance updates and answer
any questions

Senior executives attended business mectings throughout
the year, including leadership meetings, trading updates
and risk committee meetings

Our annual employee engagement survey was followed
up with insight: meetings Lo gain further understanding
Employeas raised issues, questions and concerns through
direct mailboxes for senior executives

The Group Chief Executive and the CFQ/COQ engaged
with employees whe are members of the Company's
defined benefits pension scheme to explain the rationaie
for the purchase by the Trustee of the WH Smith Pension
Trust of an insurance policy from Standard Life to pay all
future benefits to the members of the scheme

What were the key topics raised?

Opportunities for career development

Cost of living impacts

New ways of working and return to the office
wWork-life balance and wellbeing

Difficulties in accessing internal communications and
learning and developrnent matetials

Diversity and inclusion in Head Offices

How did we respond?

We launched a new e-learning platform to make it easier
for all colleagues 10 access career development materials

Senior managers provided more regular and freguent
career development talks

Irs addition to annual pay rises, wa brought forward next
year's pay increase for store colleagues to help with the
cost of living crisis

We refined flexible working arrangements to allow staff to
choose more days when they are able to work from home
wWe launched a new internal communications platform,
accessible online for all employees, at a time of

their choosing

We introduced a reciprocal mentoring scheme to increase
the diversity of feedback to senior management, and
create greater opportunities for under-represented Head
Office colleagues

The Board approved an action plan to address actions
from the employee survey and monitored implementation
throughout the year
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Section 172(1) statement continued

Customers

Customer loyalty and enthusiasm for our brands are critical {to our success.
Understanding the needs of our customers ensures that we provide the products

and service levels that they need.

What they care about

Availabitity and range of products
Convenience

Customer service

Value for money

Safe and responsibly sourced products

How did we engage?

+

32

Board members visited stores in the UK, US and Europe
to assess and review the customer experience and
service standards

We commissioned customer engagement surveys and
focus groups to understand customer perceptions of
WHSmith and what else they would like to see

The Managing Directors of each business unit updated
the Board on custorner engagement, market trends and
commercial responses

Quantitative and qualitative analysis of customer feedback
at the point of sale, online surveys and focus groups have
provicled additional customer insights this year

Store teams and customer service teams are in constant
dialogue with customers

The Board received regular updates on customer feedback
and service standarcls and ensured systems were in place
to comply with all relevant product safety fegislation

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

What were the Key topics raised?

-

Nature of store environments
Product availakility

Pricing

Customer service levels
Environmental footprints of products

How did we respond?

.

The Board received strategy updates from the Managing
Directors of each business unit and approved the
commercial customer-facing strategies

We continued to invest in existing and new stores

We extended our categories and ranges, including

a greater focus on food, health and beauty and
technology products

Customer feedback was communicated to the

relevant parts of the business for implementation

where appropriate

We continued to reduce environmental footprints where
possible and have evolved product environmental labeliing
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Investors

Financial statements

Additional information

Our investors include individual and institutional shareholders, and providers of
debt and financial capital, such as banks and bondholders. We maintain an active
dialogue with our investors through an extensive investor relations programme.

What they care about

Lony Llerm value creation and growth opportunities
High-performing board and senior executives

High standards of business conduct and good
environmental, social and corporate governance

Transparency

How did we engage?

Individual meetings, virtual presentations and investor
roadshows with members of the Board

The Board receives reports and updates on shareholder
relations at each meeting to ensure that the Board and its
Cormmittees are kept informed of investors’ and advisers'
views on strategy and corporate governance

Direct engagement for investors via our investor

relations team

Annual report and interim trading updates with investor
presentations by the Group Chief Executive and CFQ/COQ
Investor website providing information to al! shareholders
Anncuncements and presentaticns on our interim and
preliminary end-of-year financial results, interspersed by
more regular trading updates

Stock Exchange Regulatory News Service announcements
An online portal, operated by our registrar, Computershare,

which provides sharehclders with the ability to manage
their shareholdings

Our annual general meeting which was again held in
person for the first time since 2019

What were the key topics raised?
= Strategy for growth following Covid-1d

+ Operaticnal delivery

« Corporate governance practices

» Succession planning

+ Remuneration policy

« ESG strategy, targets and reporting

How did we respond?

+ The Remuneration Committee developed the new
remuneration policy for shareholder approval at the 2022
AGM, including ESG performance metrics in short-term
benus plans and Long-term incentive Plan

» We appointed Marion Sears as the new Chair of the
Remuneration Committee and Annette Court as a
non-executive director and Chair designate

» The ESG Committee incorporated investor feediack into
the ESG strategy
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Section 172(1) statement continued

Landlord partners

Our landlerd partners own the buildings where our retail units are located.

They include airport operators, rail infrastructure partners, hospital trusts and other
retail estate landlords. Our business success is dependent on retaining and winning
new space and in order to do so, we must understand what considerations are

important for them.

What they care about

« Store formats and product ranges that are appealing to
their customers

= Value of sales per square metre of retail space
» Effective operational implementation
» Compliance with their sustainability requirements

How did we engage?
* Board, executive and senior management level meetings
with landiords
« Regular dialogue with landlord representatives
on performance levels in existing stores and
future gpportunities
» Maetings, webinars and written engagement as part of
tender submissions for new contracts
Participation in various landlord-hosted working groups to
collaborate on different issues
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What were the key topics raised?

« Board approval for tenders in Spain, Norway, Belgiumn,
Salt Lake City and Los Angeles

Opening plans for stores post Covid-12

+ Commercial terms for lease agreerments for High
Street stores

* Operational impacts of staffing levels in European airports
and the impact on availability of goods

« Environmental clauses as part of lease agreements

How did we respond?
New stores opened in 13 countries

»

.

Maintaining high levels of store opening hours as
passenger numbers recovered

+ Dialogue with landlords to ensure flexibility

« On-going dialogue with airport operators on ways to worlk
together to ensure that we meet customer needs

« Joint working initiatives with landlords to develop green
lease agreements
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Community groups

Financial statements

Additional information

The relationship we have with the communities where our stores and distribution
centres are located is key to the sustainability of our business. We want to serve
our local communities, be that in a town, hospital or travel hub. We also want to
provide jobs and help iocal economies where we are based.

What they care about

.

A retail presence that may attract other retailers
to the locality

Availabilty of core products and services such as
convenience offerings in hospitals and Post Office
services i Figh Strect stores

Support for local and nationa! charities

High standards of corporate responsibility for
environmental and social issues

How did we engage?

*

The Board’'s ESG Committee met three times during the
financial year and received briefings from the Sustainability
Director on environmental and social issues, including
interactions with stakeholders

Participation in sustainability-focused working groups for
trade organisations such as the British Retail Consortium
and Ethical Trading Initiative

Regular meetings with key charity partners

Participation in ESG surveys run by organisations such as
the not-for-profit disclosure organisation, CDP
Stakeholders can raise questions, views and concerns
through the sustainability@whsmith.co.uk inbox

What were the key topics raised?

+ The need to preserve core services provided by
Post Offices embadded in WHSmiLh stores

- Opportunities for working with partners to bridge the
divide in children's literacy levels which has widened as
a result of Covid-19

« Upholding of warkers' rights in the supply chain during
on-going Covid-12 outlreaks and the situation in Ukraine

How did we respond?

» The ESG Committee approved the Sustainability Strategy,
with revised action plans and targets under the three
pillars of Planet, People and Community

« We continued out long-term partnership with the National
Literacy Trust, and provided financial and in-kind support
to a number of other charities and community causes

+ Participation in industry working groups on key
environmental and social issues
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Section 172(1) statement continued

Suppliers and business partners

We rely upon over 3,000 suppliers to provide products, gocds not for resale and
services which are critical for the smooth running of our business. They range from
large multi-national companies to small and medium sized enterprises. We also
have agreements with a number of partners to run franchised stores on our behalf.

What they care about

Fair trading and prompt payment in line with terms
Opportunities for growth in their businass
A business partner that treats them fairly

Responsible sourcing and high ethical standards
in the supply chain

How did we engage?

-

k1]

Board overview of information on key suppliers where
material, for example when approval of major supplier

or franchise contracts is required

Ovearview by the Audit and ESG Commuttees of labour and
environmental standards in the supply chain via quarterly
and annual updates

Direct engagement with suppliers and franchise partners
via individual meetings

Supplier conferences for major groups of suppliers such as
trade suppliers for individual businesses or geographies,
or supplicrs of goocts not for resale

Supplier feedback surveys

Programime of audit and supplier engagement on

labour standards

Anonymised survey of workers in aur own-brand

supply chain

What were the key topics raised?
* Supplier and product inncvaticn

» Strategies for science based carbon targets and net zero
emission strategies

« Compliance requirements for emerging legislation
« Barder entry trade controls

How did we respond?

« The Board, through the Audit Committee, received
updates on the risk and resilience of our supply chains

« The ESG Committee approved a new Scope 3 target for
75% of our value chain to be covered by science based
targets by 2027

+ We engaged with 20 of our top suppliers to ensure they

had a roadmap in place for net zero emissions and had
set science based targets
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Sustainability

“ontinuing our journey to

WHSmith has a long-standing commitment to high standards of environmental, social
and corporate governance. As an international retailer what we do, and how we do it,
can impact the people and the world around us. We operate and source from countries
all over the world, and our activities and the production, packaging and disposal of the
products we sell can have wider consequences. We interact with many thousands of
customers every day, and our activities can make a real difference to the local
communities where we operate.

Our sustainability strategy concentrates on those areas way. We developed our strategy in 2020, and over the last
that our stakeholders have told us are impartant to them financial year, we have refined our objectives for each area,
and where we believe our scale and influence can bring to provide direction for our activities until at least 2025,

about positive change. Minirmising our impact on the
planet, engaging our peopie, and contributing to our
communities, provide the framework for our activities and
reporting. Our sustainability strategy is underpinned by a
strong foundation of responsible business principles and
practices to make sure we operate our business in the right

Scan here for an overview of
our approach to Sustainability

Delivering value to our investors, customers and landlord partners

Our journey to a sustainable business

Minimising our Iimpact Engaging Contributing
on the planet our people to communities
Topic Aim Toplc Alm Topic Aim
Climate Net zero GHG Health, Create an Literacy Help all children
action emissions by 2050 safety and envirecnment that to develop a love
wellbeing supports physical, of reading
Cutting Reduce mental and financial
waste environmental wellbeing Supporting  Make a positive
impact from charities and 1mpact throcugh
packaging Diversity Increase local causes fundraising,
and materials and inclusion diversity of senior cdonations
managernent and volunteering
Protecting Net rero "
natural deforestation Human rights Protect worker
resources and our rights in our

supply chain  supply chains

S Read more about how we ® Read more about how & Read more about how
will minimise our impact on we will engage our we will contribute to
the planet on page 39 people on pages 40 to 42 communities on page 43
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Sustainability continued

We are looking forward to working with our

—

Carl Cowling

Group Chief Executive

Goverhance

Qur Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Committee, a subcommittee of the Board. leads and
oversees delivery of our sustainability strategy, setting our
ambition and rmonitoring progress. The Beard receives
updates on performance against our strategy and
sustainability risks at least three times a year. The work

of the commiittee is detailed on pages 81 to 82. The ESG
Steering Group chaired by the Group Chief Executive has
responsibility for leading the delivery of our sustainability
cormnmitments and meets once per month to review progress
against aur objectives. The ESG Steering Group provides a
report for each ESG Committee rmeeting. We include ESG
metrics in incentive plans for senior managerment and for
2022, ESG metrics formed part of the annual bonus plan for
our Chief Executive and CFO/COO. For the 2023 financial
year, we are integrating ESG measures into the Long-Term
Incentive Plan and Performance Share Plan for senior
executives. Further details are provided on pages 90 and 98.

We continue to rank highly in external benchrnarks and
indices, including (as at 31 August 2022

= Dow Jones Sustainability Inclex: for the last two
years, WHSmith has been included in the Dow Jones
Sustainability World Index, one of only twelve retailers to
be recognised globally in this way
Sustainalytics: WHSmith received an ESG Risk Rating of
10.3 and was assessed by Sustainalytics to be at low risk of
experiencing material financial impacts from ESG factors.
WHSmith's ESG Risk Rating places it first in the speciality
retail sector
* 1SS ESG Corporate Rating: WHSmith currently ranks
in the top ten per cent of retait companies, with an
Environmental and Social Quality Score of 1, representing
the highest level of disclosure
= MSCl: WHSmith has a rating of AA in the MSCIESG
Ratings assessment
» FTSE4Good: WHSmith is a constituent of the FTSE4Good
Index Series
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business partners, suppliers and customers to
deliver the step-changes that are needed for
sustainable living.”

Materiality ~ how we decide what to
measure and report

We listen to the view of our stakeholders in a numider of
different ways, which we set out in more detail on pages
30 to 36, We use the information they provide to iclentify
the issues that are most important to themn and which are
therefore significant for our business, Our £5G Comrnittee
and other relevant governance bodies regularly discuss
new and existing themes and issues that matter to our
stakeholders. Qur management team then uses this insight
to choose what we measure and include within our Annual
Report and our Sustainability Report, based on the ESG
issues which are important to our investors, customers,
colleagues and other stakeholders. Our reporting is informed
by stock exchange listing and disclosure rules.

Responsible business

We aim to always act with integrity, making the right decisions
and demonstrating the appropriate behaviours to earn the
respect of our customers and all those with whom we do
business. Our Code of Business Conduct sets out how our
business operates, and what is expected of every person

who works for ang on behalf of WHSmith. It includes policies
relating to individual conduct, such as for anti-bribery and anti-
corruption measures, conflicts of interest, and data protection,
as well as those relating to how we work tegether, such as

for diversity and inclusion, anti-harassment and bullying, and
health and safety. It also sets out our business standards in
relation to fair trading practices, such as pricing and marketing,
quality and product safety, trade controls, competition and
supply chain practices. All employees are required to confirm
that they have read and are working in accordance with

our Cede of Business Conduct on an annual basis and are
encouraged to report any suspected breaches using our
independently operated and confidential Speak Up helpline.

Qur Code of Business Conduct sets out in detail how those
working for us should behave and what they should do if
they are confronted with bribery or corruption, We require
all employees and anyone working for us in any capacity

to comply with the UK Bribery Act, in addition to any local
anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. Our Code of Business
Conduct states that employees or others working on our
behalf rust never offer or accept any kind of bribe, and
that our subcontractors, consultants, agents and others we
work with must have similar anti-britzery and anti-corruption
measures in place.
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Minimising our impact
on the planet

Urgent and sustained action is needed to address
the threat to the health of our planet. The impacts of
climate change are being felt around the world, and
businesses are both responsible for, and dependent
on, a healthy and sustainable environment.

Our Epvironmental Policy, sets out our commitments
ro minimising owr business impacts on the planet,
including those relating to climate change. reducing
waste and protecting natural resources. We regularly
review progress against our objectives and targets
and aim for continual iImproverent year on year.

Targets

Net zero GHG emissions by 2050

* By 2030C: reduce absolute Scope 1and 2
Graenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions by 80 per cent
from a 2020 base year.”

« By 2027: 75 per cent of suppliers by emissions
cavering purchased goods and services and
upstream transportation and distribution will
have science based targets.”

“‘Both of these near-term targets have been validated
by the Science Based Targets initiative.

Cutting waste

* By 2025 reduce waste material, minimise plastic
packaging and remove lcose plastic glitter from
WHSmith-brand products.

Protecting natural resources
» By 2025: ensure forestry materials in own-brand

products and core nan-tracde goods come from
recycled or certified sourceas.

Financial statements Additional information

Climate action

Climate change remains one of the most pressing,
challenging issues facing our world and we acknowledge we
need to play our part. We have a long-standing cornmitment
to reduce emissions from our operations and have been
improving energy efficiency and minimising fuel use for
neariy two decades. More information on our strategy 1o
reduce emissions and manage climate-related risks and
opportunities are included in our climate-related disclosures
on pages 44 to 56.

Cutting waste

Waste is not only damaging to the environment but adds
additional cost to our business. We are focused on reducing
excess materials and maximising recycling wherever we

can. In our High Street stores, we operate a recycling

systern which enables us to recycle most forms of waste,
inciuding cardboard, paper, plastics and metals. Waste is also
segregated in cur distribution centres and offices. 99 per
cent (2021: 93) of our waste was diverted from fandfill during
this financial year.

It is stili a relatively small component of our overall waste
volumes, but as the number of food lines that we sell
continues to grow, we are working hard to eliminate food
waste, One of the main sources of this type of waste is
from unsold sandwiches which have reached their use-by
date. We have implemented a number of initiatives, such

as better stock control systems to improve forecasting

of chilled food sales, so that we only stock food that we
expect to sell. We also operate a discounting strategy in all
of our stores, with processes in place to reduce the price

of any sandwiches that are approaching, but have not yet
exceeded, their use-by date. This year, we partnered with the
food redistribution organisation Too Good to Go, to pilot an
online application to connect customers to our stores that
have surplus unsold food. This application allows customers
to reserve a bag of food which is approaching its use by
date to purchase later in the day from a WHSmith store at a
significant discount. The results of the pilct showed that the
solution worked well for some tocations, particularly those
that couid be accessed by a larger customer base late in
the day. We are now working to extend the trial to stores in
hospital locations.

Operational waste

2022 2021 2020
Total waste (tonnes) 3,247 3623 3449
Percentage diverted . 99 93 88

from landfll

Packaging rmaterials are designed to protect items, to
maintain quality and to enhance product sheif life. However,
the manufacturing of packaging uses resources, and the
inappropriate disposal of packaging can impact air, land and
marine environments when no longer needed. We regularly
review the type and quantities of packaging we use,
including primary packaging for our own-brand products
and the secondary packaging used to protect goods during
transit and distribution. We seek to identify opportunities to
minimise packaging where possible and use better solutions
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Sustainability continued

such as cardboard for products, easier to recycle forms of
plastic and re-usable skips for the internal transfer of stack.
This year we have improved our management informaticn
systerns to be able to record and track over time the types
and volumes of different types of packaging associated
with our own-brand products. We have now removed laose
plastic glitter from all WHSmith-branded products, including
stationery items and seasonal items such as cards and

gift wrap.

Protecting natural resources

Paper-based products are a core part of WHSmith's
product offering and we are committed to minimising

the environmental impacts from paper sourcing for our
owri-rand products. As part of our work towards this
objective, and in line with the requirements of national and
international timber regulations, we carry out an in-depth
and rigorous assessment of supplier timber-sourcing
systems, We have set as a minimum standard, recycled

or certified timber materials from known, legal, and weli-
managed sources. Qur Sustainable Forests Policy sets out
our standards and requirements for our supply chain.

Qur sourcing teams work with our suppliers to help them
understand our reaquirements and how the data they provide
is needed to demonstrate that any paper, card or wood used
in a WHSmith product is sourced from a certified or recycled
source. We can now demonstrate through certification

that more than 99.7 per cent (2021: 99.3) of our WHSMmith-
branded products contain materials originating from
certified and recycled material.
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Engaging our people

Our employees and those who work for us in our
supply chain and for our business partners are critical
to our customers’ experiences and perceptions and
vital to our success. We want to attract, motivate and
retain the best people ta deliver a great cuslomer
service and help our business to grow. The Group
employs approximately 12,000 people and is proud
of its long history of being regarded as a responsible
and respected employer. We have a full suite of
employee policies and our Code of Business Conduct
sets out the behaviours we expect from those
working for us and on our behalf.

Targets

Create an environment that supports

physical, mental and financial wellbeing

« By 2025 improve our employee engagement
score from a 2021 base year.

» On-going: ensure all managers receive mental
wellbeing training.

« Op-going; maintain equal numbers of mental health
and physical first aiders,

increase diversity of senior management

« By 2025 increase gender and ethnic diversity of
the Board, Group Executive Committee and Senior
Manager populations.

Protect worker rights in our supply chains

+« On-going: ensure we audit our own brand suppliers
at ieast every two years.

= By 2023: develop an audit and engagernent
programme for our tier two suppliers.

Employee engagement

To help us te understand more about how our colleagues
feel about working for WHSmIth, we appointed a third-
party research organisation to carry out cur first UK wide
employee engagement survey in October 2021 The survey
asked 22 questions and covered a wide range of topics,
including communication, environment, custemer focus
and culture. The results of the survey were presented to
the Board by the Group People Director in December 2021
and highlighted & number of opportunities for change that
could improve the employee experience. The Board agreed
an action plan to improve the working environment in head
offices and stores; improve dialogue and engagement;

and build collaboration across teams. More targeted

pulse survays throughout the year allowed us 1o rmonitor
the effectiveness of these actions. A second employee
engagement survey was undertaken in October 2022, and
was sent to all employees across the Group. The action plan
resulted in an improvement in the employee engagerment



Strategic report Corporate governance

score over the 12 manth pericd, Continuing to improve the
cuiture of the business is impartant to the long-term success
of the Group and employee engagement has now been
included as a performance measure within the Company's
Long-Term Incentive Plan and Perfarmance Share Plan.

Healith, safety and wellbeing

We are committed to maintaining high standards of

hiealth, safety and wellbeing and the Board monitors the
Company policies, processes and practices on an annual
basis. The Group has a Health and Safety Committee that
comprises employee representatives and professional health
and safety advisers, Colleagues receive health, safety and
weilbeing training appropriate to their role, including in
relation to fire safety, manual handling, how to prevent slips,
trips and falls and how to recognise and help colleagues who
rnay be affected by poor mental health. The Group Health
and Safety at Work Policy is the basis for our health and
safety managernent systerm which sets out our procedures
and processes. This year, there were 27 reportable accidents
in the UK involving employees, contractors and members of
the public and no fatalities.

Accidents and injuries

2022 2021 2020
Major injuries 2 2 2
Other reportable accidents 25 28 27
Total reportabie Injurias 27 30 29

and accidlents

We believe that supporting the mental wellbeing of our
employees is equally as important as looking after their
physical health and safety, Our strategy to promote mental
wellbeing has three main objectives: to improve awareness
and reduce stigma; to raise the level of mental health
support across the business; and to develop a culture which
promotes good mental health. We work in partnership with
accredited organisations, such as Time to Change, and
mental health charities including MQ, the mental health
research charity; Place?Be, the leading national childrer's
rnental health charity; and CALM, a movement against male
suicide. More than 1,200 line managers have now received a
half-cdlay Mental Health First Aid England awareness course
and we have an equal number of mental and physical health
first alders across the Group. We recognise the importance
of financial wellbeing on mental health and colleagues have
access to a number of schemes that provide assistance.

The WHSmith Benevolent Fund is a registered charity
established in 1925 for the benefit of current and retired
employees and their families who are in financial difficulty
or hardship and in need, Over the past two years, we have
added a partnership with Salary Finance, to allow colleagues
to access free financial education and loans at lower interest
rates than those offered by traditional lenders.

Diversity and inclusion

WHSmith recognisas that each one of our employees is core
to the success of our business, whatever their age, race,
religion, gender, sexual orientation or physical ability, We are
cormmitted to promoting a culture of equality, diversity and

Financial statements Additional information

inclusion through our policies, procedures and working
practices. We want to ensure that all our ernployees receive
equal and fair treatrnent, and this applies to recruitment and
selection, terms and conditions of employment, promotion,
training, development opportunities and employment
benefits. We believe in creating a culture throughout the
Group that is free from discrimination and harassment and
we will not permit or tolerate discrimination in any form.,

Our diversity and inclusion action plan sets out how we

are working towards our goal of creating an environment
where everybody is welcome and feels they can belony,

It is focused on three themes: improving awareness and
education through better communication and colleague
engagement; improving data guality, processes and systems;
and widening external partnerships and collaborations,

This year, we have introduced diversity and inclusion training
materials as part of our new onling portal. More detailed
face-to-face training sessicns were also provided for the
senior executive team. Our Diversity and Inclusion Working
Committee and divisional listening groups with senior
management have enabled colleagues to engage directly
with leadership and work collaboratively on improvarnents.
This year, we have aiso introduced one-to-one reciprocal
mentoring between senior management and colleagues
from across the business to increase the diversity of
feedback to senior management and create greater
opportunities for under-represented groups. We have
continued to improve the guality of data and information
that we holid in relation to employee diversity and extended
our use of balanced shortlists for senicr-level recruitment
to a larger number of roles, with the aim of identifying and
accessing a mare diverse pool of talent.

We run regular internal engagement campaigns linked with
key events during the year, including International Women's
Day, Pride, Black History Month, International Day of Persons
with Disabilities and a variety of religious celebrations.

We have sighed several industry charters, committing to
making progress on improving diversity and inclusion in
our business. We are one of eight founding mernbers of a
collaberation community called Diversity in Retail, which

is dedicated to increasing diversity and inclusion at all

levels within organisations in the retail sector. We are also
signatories to the British Retail Consortium's Diversity and
Inclusion Charter and have joined the Women In Hospitality,
Travel and Leisure collaboration comimunity.

We remain committed to improving the gender balance in
our senior staff populations and the proportion of women
at Group Executive and senior manager level has increased
this year. Activities designed to promote more women into
senior positions include a balanced succession planning
process and mentoring schemes. We continue to work with
Everywoman who provide a host of personal developrnent
tools aimed mainly at women, including monthly wabinars,
warkbooks and relevant career deveiopment articles.

The partnership also provides our employees with links

to an external network of professional wemen in other
organisations so that contact, connections and relationships
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Male and female representation across the Group (as at 31 August 2022)

2022 2021

Male Famale Male Female

Number  Percent  Number  Percent Nummber  Percent MNumber | Percent

5 63 3 37 5 63 3 37

Board'
Group Executive Committes Members?

7 70 3 30 7 78 2 22

Senior managers?

53 65 29 35 46 88 22 32

Managers*

349 48 N 52 315 48 345 52

All erployees

5,143 37 8,876 63 4052 35 7688 65

Board includes all stalutory directors

1

2 Group Executive Committee Members are thase whao have responsibility Far planning, directing or controlling the activities of the Company
3 Includes Group Executive Committee Members and colleagues graded at levels one and two below

4 Includes head office colleagues graded at the leval beiow 3 plus Store Managers, Cluster Managers and Past Gffice Managers

can be made easily. We have also enhanced our maternity
policy for senior women, expanding provision for the first six
months of maternity leave, supported by a flexible return to
work policy

We are continuing to build a better understanding of
diversity and inclusion across the Group and are looking

at ways to increase ethnic diversity at senior levels in our
organisation. We have signed the Race at Work Charter and
our Diversity Forum, chaired by our Group Chief Executive,
provides an opportunity for colleagues to meet, provide
feedback for senior management and suggestions for
improving diversity and inclusion in WHSmith.

We benchimark our diversity profile versus our peers and
the national average to ensure that our ernployee profile and
that of our management team reflect cur commitment to
diversity, Our latest Gender Pay Report can be found on our
website. In terms of equal opportunities, the Company gives
full and fair consideration to applications for employment
when these are received from disabled people. Should an
ermplayee become disabled when working for the Company,
we will endeavour to adapt the work environment and
provide retraining if appropriate so that they may continue
their employment. Training, career development and
promotion opportunities are equally applied for all our
emplayees, regardless of disability.

Human rights and our supply chain

One of our key social risks is the need for us o source
products sustainably, ensuring that workers in our supply
chain are treated well, and that their human rights are
respected, We are committed to ensuring full respect for the
human rights of anyone working for us in any capacity and
we are comynitted to ensuring there is fair and safe work for
all workers throughout our supply chain. We have developed
a due diligence process to make sure we are identifying and
assessing any potential and actual risks, and that we are
providing appropriate risk control, mitigation and remedy
where needed. Our approach to human rights is laid out in
our Huyman Rights Policy.

We have iclentified six pricrity areas for protecting human
rights in our supply chain: health and safety; freedom of
association and collective bargaining; access to grievance
mechanisims; working hours and overtime; preventing
modern slavery; and gender equality. We work with
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suppliers and other third partias Lo develop and progress
targets and action plans for improvements across these
areas. We take a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavety.
Our latest Modern Slavery Statement sets out the steps we
have taken to prevent maodern slavery in cur own operations
and supply chain.

WHSmith is a member of the Ethical Trading Initiative

(ETI), an alliance of companies, trade unions and non-
governmental organisations that promotes respect for
workers' rights around the globe, Cur Responsible Sourcing
Standards are based on tha ETI Base Code and underpin
our strategy and sustainable sourcing activities. We will only
place orders with suppliers who are committed to working
towards compliance with these standards, and we endeavour
to bring about continual improvement through a programme
of factory audits and ongoing engagement.

Our in-house audit and engagement team conducts

audits of our own-brand suppliers at least every two years,
assessing compliance with our standards and grading
suppliers as gold, silver, bronze and unacceptabie. We use
a mix of announced and unannounced audits and a factory
must be graded bronze or above if we are to work with
them. Our ESG Committee reviews our responsible sourcing
strategy annually, locking at our audit and engagement
programres, emerging trends and risks, targets and
performance. This year, we identified two potential new
suppliers and one existing supplier who were unable

to provide the necessary levels of documentation and
assurance, even after on-going dialogue and engagement
As a result, no further orders were placed with them.

To suppiement the information we gain from supplier audits,
our team also spends a significant part of its time engaging
with suppliers on an ongaing basis to build stronger and
maore transparent relationships. The team's engagement
focuses on resolving specific issues identified during audits
and on delivering wider projects to help suppliars deliver

on key areas such as worker representation or health and
safety. We have an independent hotline for workers to report
issues they are concerned about, which we then investigate
and follow up with suppliers to ensure they are addressed.
This year, we have extended our audit and engagement
focus to begin to look at some of the key suppliers providing
components to our direct suppliers and the results for these
tier two suppliers are now incorporated into our reporting.
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Contributing to communities

WHSrmith is at the heart of communities across

the UK, whether in travel hubs, hospitals or high
streets. We are committed to making a positive
impact wheraver we operate. As a major retailer of
lbooks and stationery, we are particularly passionate
about literacy and iife-long learning, We are a long-
ternt advocate for the development of reading

anc writing skills and we have provided help over
many years to children and young people who need
additional support.

Targets

Help all children to develop a love of reading

= By 2025: work with the National Literacy Trust to
provide a hook to every child in the UK who does
nat own one of their own.

Make a positive impact through fundraising,

donations and volunteering

+ By 2025 Increase the number of ernployees
involved in supporting charities through fundraising
and volunteering,

Financial statements Aciditional infermation

Literacy

We have a long-term partnership with the National Literacy
Trust, and this year we continued our support for their Young
Readers’ Programme, providing books and other matenals
for schools in socio-econcrically disadvantaged areas of
the country. In addition, the WHSmith Group Charitable
Trust (the WHSmith Trust) provided financial support for

the programime, supported by donations from WHSmith
customers and employees.

Research by the National Literacy Trust shows that
approximately 410,000 children in the United Kingdom do
not own a book of their own. Covid-19 has widened the gap
in children's literacy between affluent parts of the country
and areas of greater sacio-economic deprivation. We are
working with the National Literacy Trust to ensure every
child in the country can awn a book of their own. To date we
have donated the equivalent of 321,000 books. through book
donations and financial contributions to provide the support
that is needed.

WHSmith continues to take a leading role in the delivery of
the World Book Day initiative, which is the biggest annual
celebration of books and reading in the UK. Many of our
High Street stores participated, redeeming book vouchers
enabling children to choose cne of the special World Book
Day books or offset the cost against any of our children's
ranges of books, We also partnered with the WHSmith Trust
to donate WHSmith vouchers to schools across the UK

for them to choose books to increase their school library
resources. Over 305,000 World Book Day vouchers were
redeerned and WHSmith vouchers totalling £25.000 were
denated to aver 200 schools.

Supporting charities and locat causes

As part of the celebrations for our 230th anniversary,
colieagues participated in fundraising on behalf of the
WHSmith Trust. We also provided opportunities for
customers to donate to local charities via collection points
in store. To support and encourage empioyee involvement
with charities, the WHSMmith Trust matches funds raised by
employees for charities of their choosing and recognises
employees who volunteer through a financial denation to
the charily equivalent to the value of the Lme spent.

This year, through cur charity partnerships, colleague
and customer fundraising and in-kind donations we have
donated £868,000 to charities and other good causes.
The full extent of our community investment activity is
outlined in our Sustainability Report 2022 and details of
how we engage with charities and other good causes are
set out in our Code of Business Conduct.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 43



Strategic report

Sustainability continued

Climate-related

Introduction
The Financial Stability Board's Task Force on Climate-related

each of the TCFD recommendations and recommended
disclosures, except for the following:

Financial Disclosures ("TCFD™) established a framework « Strategy (¢): Describe the resilience of the organisation’s

for understanding and analysing climate-related risks and
opportunities. WHSmMith recognises that climate change
presents a number of potential risks and opportunities for
our business and we have been working towards alignment
of our internal processes with TCFD recommendations

over the last three years. Our target is to be net zero across business strategy.

strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario. This was the
first year that we have undertaken quantitative scenario
analysis and work is on-going to fully interpret the

results and fully understand the impacts on our future

our value chain by 2050 and we are committed to regular, + Metrics and Targets (a): Disclose the metrics used by

transparant reporting to communicate our progress,

We have considered cur TCFD-related reporting obligations
under the UK’s Financial Conduct Authority Listing Rules
and the table below details where we have included
information which is either fully or partially consistent with
TCFD recommendations and recommended disclosures,
taking into account the ali-sector guidance published by the
Task Force. Our approach to materiality for TCFD reporting
is the same as for other cornponents of ESG and is set out
on page 38. We consider that we are fully consistent with

TCFD recommendations and recommended disclosures

Level of
Consistency

the organisation to assess climate-related risks and
opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management
process. Having canducted quantitative scenario analysis,
we are now evaluating further the metrics and indicators
we use to assess risks and opportunities and considering
whether we need to develop additional measures te be
fully consistent with the all-sector guidance.

We plan to complete the additional work necessary to be
fully consistent with these two recommended disclosures in
the next 12 months and will report against them in the 2023
Annual Report and Accounts.

Disclosure lacation
(page)

Governance

(ay Describe the board's oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities 9 45

() Describe managemeant’'s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks 9 45
andd opportunities

Strategy

(a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation has identified over [ ] 46 to 50
the short. medum and fong term

(k) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organisation’s @ 47 10 50
businesses, strategy and financial planning

() Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking inte cansideration different . Sl
climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario

Risk management

{a) Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks [ ) 51

(1) Describe the organisation’s processes for managing climate-related risks @ 52

(c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks 9 52
ara integrated into the organisation’s overall risk management

Metrics and targets

(@) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climate-related risks and 9 53
opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process

(I Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate. Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, ] 54t0 55
and the related risks

(c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climate-related risks and [ ) 55 to 56

opportunities and performance against targets

@ Fully consistent
@ Partially consistent
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Ultimate responsibility for afl aspects of ESG, including strategy, risk management and prioritisation of key issues

7 1

1l

ESG Committee Audit Committee Remuneration Committee

Provides oversight of the ESG Provides oversight of risk Ensures remuneration policies

strategy and monitors progress management of ESG, including and plans support ESG targets
against objectives and targets internal controls and external

reporting requirements

l l

Group Executive

|

Committee

Defines and monitors business strategy and financial plans, including those related to ESG

Business Risk Committees
Provide oversight of the ESG strategy and monitor
progress against objectives and targets

Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks

and opportunities

The Beard has ultimate responsibility for ensuring climate
change is embedded into the Company’s strategy, risk
manaoeiment and financial planning processes. The Board
has delegated oversight of certain climate-related activities
to the following committees and any issues of material
significance are brought back to the Board for discussion
as they occur;

+ The Audit Committee has responsibility for ensuring that
the Company has identified climate-related risks and
oppartunities, that they have been adequately assessed
and that appropriate risk management, monitoring and
mitigation plans are in place. The Committee also oversees
the Cormpany’s obligations in relation to non-financial
reporting. The Committee receives guarterly climate
updates from the Group Audit and Risk Director as part
of the Company’s wider risk management processes, and

ESG Steering Group
Responsible for developing ESG action plans and
delivering progress against objectives and targets

Director on net zero, TCFD requiremeants and the work

of the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTD. Skills and
experience of Committee members are set out on pages
64 to 65 including details of those directors who have
experience on climate change. Decisions taken by the
Committee this year included sign-off on a new net

zero commitment, near-term targets for Scope 1and 2
reductions and supplier engagernent plans to tackle Scope
% emissions. The work of the ESG Commillee is delailed
on pages 81to 82.

The Remuneration Committee ensures that the Company
incentive plans are aligned with targets relating to climate-
change. Climate-related performance indicators form

part of the Annual Bonus scorecard for the Group Chief
Executive and CFQ/COO0 and for awards to be made in
FY23, climate-related targets will alse be included in the
LTIP as set cut on page 98, Incentives associated with
cecarbonisation targets were discussed in two of the
Committee meetings this year.

this year climate risks and opportunities were included Management’s role in assessing and managing

in the consideration and approval of principai risks and climate-related risks and opportunities
gncertair1ties, non-financiai reporting disclosures and The Group Chief Executive has the delegated authority from
integration with financial reporting. the Board to manage WHSmith's actions in relation to the

The ESG Committee has responsibility for ensuring the
Company has appropriate climate policies, action plans

Company's strategy, including climate change. He is assisted
by a number of senior managers in the assessment and

and targets that are part of a wider sustainability strategy. ~ Management of climate-related matters:

Thus includes the development of short, medium and
long-term goals and targets in relation to climate change,
and monitoring progress against those commitments.
This year, the ESG Committee discussed climate change
in three meetings. The Cornmittee received dedicated
briefings on climate change from the Sustainability

The Group Sustainability Director supports the Group
Chief Executive in progressing WHSmMith's net zero
transition strategy, including the development of ciimate
scenarios, embedding decarbonisation plans into
business activitias and ensuring progress is appropriately
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monitored. She is responsible for updating the Board and
the ESG Committee on climate-related matters at least
three times a year.

= The Managing Directors of each business identify, manage
and mitigate climate-related risks and opportunities
associated with their activities. They are also responsible
for ensuring the defivery of plans to reduce emissions
and capitalise on carbon-related opportunities within
their businesses.

= The CFQ/COO is respensible for monitoring the effective
application of the Company's processes for managing
material risks, including those related to climate change.
He is also responsible for providing assurance over
financial information and climate-related disclosures.

There are a number of governance bodies and reporting
processes to ensure management is informed about climate-
ralated issues. The ESG Steering Group chaired by the Group
Chief Executive has responsibility for leading the delivery of
our sustainability comimitments including those retating to
climate change. It meets once per month to review progress
against targets and this provides the basis for areport to
the ESG Committee three times per year, The Business Risk
Committees are responsible for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks and opportunities and ensuring
appropriate due diligence and mitigation. They meet once
per guarter and provide input to the Group risk report to

Lhe Audit Cornmitlee four times per year,

Climate strategy

Earlier this year we announced a target to transition to a net
zero armissions business by 2050 (see "Metrics and targets”
on page 55 for more detail). The majority of our emissions
come from our wider value chain, and we will need to
collaborate with suppliers, landlords and customers if we are
to meet this goal.

Climate-related risks and opportunities identified
over the short, medium and long term

Qur processes for identifying and assessing climate-related
risks and opportunities are set out under “Climate risk
management” (page 51) We consider Erwvironrment and
Sustainability, which includes climate-related issues, to be a
principal risk based on stakeholder expectations that we will
conduct our business in a responsible and sustainable way
and that failing to deliver our sustainability agenda could
damage our reputation, introduce higher costs and impact
our ability to meet our strategic objectives.

Impact of climate-related risks

and opportunities

We have incorporated climate-related risks and opportunities
into our business strategy as described on pages 14 to 15
The Group's risks and opportunities do not vary significantly
across the different sectors and geographies in which
WHSmith operates. We have started to incorporate the
financial impacts frorn climate risks and opportunities into
our financial planning processes and will continue to evolve
our approach as our understanding develops of the outputs
from modelling different climate scenarios.
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We consider climate-related risks and opportunities
across the short-, medium-, and long-term which we
define as:

« Short-term - up to three years: we develop financial
plans and use thern to manage perfarmance on a
three-year cycle. We assess the Group's viahility
under the requirernents of the UK Corporate
Governance Code over a three-year pericd and
our financial plans incorporate decarbonisation
measures required to meet our near-term targets
and address short-term risks.

« Medium-term - three to ten years: many of our
financial commitments, such as store leases,
contractual agreements with landiord partners, and
the useful economic life of our assets cften exceed
three-years. Medium-term climate-related risks are
considered in all investrent decisicns involving
longer term commitments and many of our
climate-refated opportunities are often materialisec
within this time scale,

« Long term - beyond ten years: it is expected that
the product mix in our stores could look very
different to the current offering, addressing the
societal changes that will come with transitioning
to a net zero world, This timescale is beyond our
financial planning and investment period horizons,
but we recognise that longer-term risks need to
be incorporated into our future business strategy
and planning.

Climate-related risks and opportunities

The following tables set out the climate-related risks and
opportunities which have been identified, the potential
impact they may have on WHSmith and the resitience of
the business to respond. Transiticn risks are associated with
societal changes in public sector policies, technologies,
markets or stakeholder expectations as the world moves
to a low-carbon economy. Physical risks arise from the
increasing severity and freauency of acute climate-related
weather events, or longer-term chronic changes to the
climate. Mitigation and adaptation to climate change can
also produce opportunities for business.

The business and financial impacts from the risks and
opportunities detailed in these tables have been described
assuming no mitigation or control measures are in place
and are subject to uncertainties attributed to the underlying
scenario models, impact pathways and assumptions made.
These assumptions include that our business activities
remain largely unchanged throughout and that we do not
change our sourcing strategy or the nature of our store
portfolio, They also assume that any increases in costs are
fully absorbed by WHSmith and not passed on to customers
In reality, costs are likely to be shared with others in the
value chain. The financial impacts quoted are not forecasts,
but are outputs derived using different data inputs and
plausible modelled scenarios which are subject to a range
of uncertainties.
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Transition risks
Potential financial impact (pre-mitigation)

@ <F10m . £10-30m >E£30m

*These financial ranges align with our other risk management processes

Potential financial impact, strategic response
and business resllience”

Sumimary description Business impact Short-term Medium-term Long-term
Policy Increased costs for energy  Carbon pricing could result in increased @ @ @
and legal and fuel from carbon costs for energy for our buildings and for

jaricing and associated vehicle fual primarity in the UK and to a

We closely rmonitor any changes

in legislation and have a balanced
purchasing strategy for energy to hedge
price volatility. We continue to reduce
energy consumpation and switch to low
carbon alternatives wherever feasibie,
We have included potential future cost
increases for energy and fuel in our
financial pians.

regulatory changes. lesser extent in other markets. Carbon
pricing could also be feft through the
supply chain increasing the cost of trade
and non-trade products and for increasing
costs for distribution from more onerous
compiiance and policy reguirements such
as low emission zones.

Introduction of plastics The introduction of taxes on plastic @ @ @

tax, extended producer packaging in the UK, italy and Spain is

responsibility reform and an additional cost. Changes to extended ] . .
extension of single use producer responsibility legistation are We closely monitor any potential poficy

changes and have implemeantation

plastic restrictions. increasing costs for operational waste | dy " it
disposal and packaging costs for goods ~ Pons ready for compliance with any
new legisiation and costs are included
far sale. L - o
in financial plans. We are minimising
packaging and increasing the amount
of recycled content in our own-brand
packaging and encouraging our wider
supply chain to do the same.
Technology Increased costs associated  In the UK, our Swindon distribution @ @ @
with building efficiency centre and some of our High Street
standards. stores are heated by natural gas. As the

Capital expenditure on gas control
systems is reducing our reliance on
natural gas. We continue to invest in
lower-carbon alternatives for heating
and ar conditioning during store refits
and building upgrades, and these costs
are included in aur financial plans. We
have also investad in more energy
efficient chiller units with cdoors and
aerofail technofogy to minimise cold
4w losses.

UK transitions to a low-carbon economy,
there will be a need to invest in newer
technology to replace gas-fired heating
and air-conditioning systerns. Any delay
may result in increased energy and
maintenance costs.
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Transition risks continued
Potential financial impact {pre-mitigation)

@ <FlOm

£10-20m

>E30m

"These financial ranges align with our other risk management processes

Summary description

Business impact

IS 1at §i Jal Impact, g
and business resilience*
Short-term Medium-term Long-term

Market Risk of increasing fuel Changes in energy pricing could @ @ @
costs because of changing  result in increased costs for energy
market dynamics, for our buildings and for vehicle fuel
S ! X = Our energy procurement tearn are
g(e)[ci)gggt;a (; i: j&%; in all markets. constantly looking at ways of minimising
decarbonisation tre?’;ds the costs that we pay for electricity and
- ' gas, through a balanced procurement
strategy. Over the past decade we
have reduced our UK electricity and
gas consumption by 34 per cent,
driving down ¢osts and emissions. We
will continue to upgrade our energy
managernent systems and deliver
energy managemeant prograrmmes to
drive further reductions.
Sentiment towards air Sales in WHSmith's airport @ @ @
travel may become more stores are an important revenue
negative resulting in stream. A recluction in passenger S . .
consumers and business numbers would impact footfall i\;\t(ﬁ;?;lth 'asrtcn(iLasbc?r:antggzggllggg;agg
custorners preferring to and reduce revenue in some of to pl oSr 2t in dermonstratin toJ
take fewer flights. our most important stores. The UK cusﬁgr{ﬁers iE\ dustnr s intent for greener
Government has recently published formes of travel Wghave A divevrgse
its Jet Zero_ strategy which sets O; t partfolio of stdres aCross air, réil
i cl ; . e
22;”2222 i:?titcl)?_ﬁ Zifztgoiz:nﬁ?ent hospitals, shopping centre and high
intervention to limit aviation growth. ?_E:gt ;ﬁ??&i;ﬂ;h dvevl?"uL;S dn?lctlrg;:e
The UK Climate Change Committee’s s Igformat b4
Sixth Carbon Budget published in gle '
December 2020 also predicts that air
travel will continue to grow, and we
therefore think the likelihood of this
risk being realised is low.
Increased demand for WHSmith sells a range of products @ @ @
more sustainable materials  manufactured from sustainably
{recycled, recyclable sourced materials, inciuding forestry e ) o
and sustainably certified products and food ingredients for x;szahsfst%m%ge:enaq;(;???wf&% q
s0Urces) may outstrip which certification schemes are o Vi < to find Vlvtler “ative se liers in
supply and increase costs.  becoming increasingly necessary. the chage of any Zisrdptéon v@gzé il 2 very
::\:;:32: ég;or’:r?gféis;?;ﬂgﬁe broac range of products which means
Py mean th?ere is Hrmited supply that even if certain categories of product
for increased demand, resulting in are impacted by supply chain challenges,
higher raw material costs, revenues can be prote;ted via sales of
other product categories.
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Transition risks continued

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Potential financial impact {pre-mitigation)

@ <E10m @ £10-30m

>£30m

*These financial ranges align with our other risk management processes

Summary description

Buginass impact

Additional information

Potential finantial impact, strategic response
and business resilience®

Short-term Medium-term Long-term

Reputation  Cur reputation with
investors, customers
and employees could
be harmed if we fail
to decarbonise our
business in ling with

Lher expactations.

All of our key stakeholder groups.,
including investors, our customers and
our empioyees expect us to act with
integrity and play our part in reducing
emissions and minimising global
warming. Failure to transition to net
zero could make it difficult to attract
and maintain investment and access to
¢apital, maintain customer loyalty for
our brand and attract and retain the
best employees.

© ®© ©

We have set a target to reach net zero
emissions by 2050 and have reduced
Scope 1 and 2 emissions in line with

the trajectory needed to lirnit glabal
warming 1o 15°C. We have a plan of
action to tackle Scope 3 emissions
through engagement with suppliers,
landlord partners and business partners
in the retail sector.

Physical risks

Surmmary description

Business impact

Potential financial impact and business resilience®

Short-term Medium-term Long-term

Extreme weather events could cause
disruption to transport routes affecting
our distribution networks and our abitity
to transport stock to where it is needed.
More frequent periods of heavy rainfall
could lead to flooding at one of mare
of aur stores or distribution centres.

® © ®

Qur stock is held across WHSIMiIth-
operated distribution centres, by
suppliers at their sites and over 1,700
stores in 30 different countries. The
impact of a fiood event in cur retail
estate would therefore be limited.
Our three distribution centres are N
lacations not deemed to be at risk of
flooding. We have a diverse product
range with a limited number of fast-
moving goods, and therefore the
majority of our fogistics operations
are resilient to any short-term impacts

Acute Extreme weather events,
including storms and
flooding, are becoming
more frequent.

Chronic Climate change is likely

to result in chrosnuc
changes in precipitation
patterns with some arcas
of the world experiencing
droughts, and other
areas experiencing
cireater rainfall,

Chronic changes in precipitation
patterns couid affect the supply and
availability of raw Imaterials for scme
of our product lines such as statichery
and food and drink, with a resulting
increase in the cost of supply.

from major weather events.

©, ®

We sell a broad range of products
which means that even if cerlain
categories of product are impacted by
supply chain challenges, revenues can
be maintained through sales of other
oroduct categories. We will continue
to evaluate our product offering in
the context of medium and long-
term climate change and the impacts
that this could have on different raw
materials N our supply chain.
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Sustainability continued

Opportunities

Potential financial impact (pre-mitigation)

(&) «clom (&) £10-30m €D >£30m

*These financial ranges align with our other risk management processes

Summary description

Business impact

£ 1al and .

Short-term Medium-term Long-term

Products Opportunities 1o win

and services more tenders from
landlords because of
strong sustainability
creclantials.

WHSMmith bids for retail space in
prime locations such as airports,

rail stations and hospitals. Landiord
partners are including sustainability
requirements in tender docurnents on
a more frequent basis, and a strong
sustainability offering can improve
the chances of a successiul bicl,

® © ©

WHSmith has a well-established
sustainability progranirne with defined
targets and action plans against key
areas, underpinned by responsible
business policies and processes, We

bhenchmark well against our competitors,

being the top placed speciality retailer
in Sustainalytics ESG benchmark and a
member of the DJS| World Index for the
second year running

Opportunities for
inCreased revenues as
a result of changing
consumer trends to
puRlic transpart.

A switch to lower-carbon intensity
forms of transport by business
travellers and consumers could result
in an increase in footfzll and therefore
sales in some of cur channels such
as rail terminals and electric vehicle
charging stations.

@ &) €

WHSmith is collaborating with our travel
landlord partners on net zero strategies
to play our part in demonstrating to
customers industry’s intent for greener
forms of travel We have a diverse

portfolio of stores across air, rall, hospitats,
shopping centre and high street locations
which would maximise the opportunities

from growth in any of these formats.

Oppoertunities from an
increase in sales in new
and existing product
categories.

As the climate changes, there is
likely to be an increase in customer
cdemand for same of our existing lines
and for new products. These include
products that have the potential

to mitigate the impacts of climate
change, because they have a lower
envircnmental footprint, or prodiucts
that help consumers to adapt to a
changing climate, particularly for
those who are travelling.

© © ©

Cur commercial teams are constantly
assessing consumer trends and the
potential for new products and can
guickly adapt to any devefopments in
the market place to capitalise on new
opportunities. For example, N response

to a warmer climate, we are ensuring our
ranges of travel products are meeting the

needs of travellers.
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Resilience of WHSmIth’s strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-related scenarios
To help evaluate the climate-related risks and opportunities
described on the previous pages and how resilient our
strategy is to them. we engaged external consultants to help
us to understand how our business could be affected under
two different climate scenarios:

* A current policies scenaric which assumes that the
climate change policies currently in place across the
globe are preserved, and no new policies are developed.
This would result in the world warming by 2.5°C by 2050
and more than 4°C by 2100 bringing irreversible change.
Transition risks would be limited, but physical risks
would become increasingly frequent and severe in the
longer term. This scenaric was chosen as it provides an
indication of possible cutcomes under a business as usual
scenario where current policies and climate trajectories
are maintained. Intergovernmental Panal on Climate
Change (IPPC) Representative Concentration Pathway
8.5 (a climate pathway which assumes gas emissions will
continue to rise throughout this century) and the Network
for Greening the Financial System (NGFS) Current Policies
Scenario (which assumes only currently implemented
policies are preserved) were used as inputs. The outputs
from this scenaric are shown in the "Climate-related risks
and opportunities” table on pages 47 to 50.

A net zero 2050 scenario that limits global warming

to 1.5°C by 2100 through stringent climate policies and
innovation which are introduced irmmediately. Under this
scenario net zero emissions are reached by around 2050,
Transition risks are greater in the short-term, but physicat
risks are less severe than under the current policies
scenario. This scenario was chosen because it allows us
to model the impacts on our business that could occur
under a policy environment introduced to limit global
warming to 1.5°C. IPPC Representative Concentration
Pathway 2.6 (which assumes a rapid decline in greenhouse
gas emissions and zero emissions by 2100), International
Energy Authority's ("IEA'S™) World Energy Outlook Net
Zero Energy 2050 (which assumes the global energy
sector will achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions

by 20503 and the NGFS Nel Zero 2050 Scenarios (which
assumes global warming is limited to 1.5°C through
stringent climate policies and innovation) were used as
nputs. We do not anticipate that the new policies and
innovations reqguired in this scenario will be introduced
rapidly enough to have a malerial impact on our business
over the period covered by our three-year financial plans.
We will be undertaking further work over the next twelve
months to understand longer-term climate-related impacts
under this scenario.

*

Financial statements Additicnal information

Climate risk management

WHSmith's processes for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks and opportunities
WHSmith has & defined framework for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks which is integrated into cur
company-wide processes for risk identification, prioritisation
and management. We identify and assess risks associated
with climate change across all transition risks (policy and
legal, technology, market changes and reputation) and
physical risks (both acute and chronic). Processes that help
identify climate-related risks and opportunities include:

+ Monitoring changes in the external policy environment,
including existing and emerging legislation, and nationai
and international government anncuncements such as
those made at COP26 in November 2021;

Observing market developrments, such as advances

in technology that may reduce cur operating costs,

or changes in consumer behaviour that may impact

sales of particular products or customer footfall in

certain locations;

» Evatuating changes in our cost base related to properties,
logistics or supply of goods that may ke linked! to climate-
related impacts.

We use these and other processes to identify risks relating
to climate change, and to determine their significance,

both individually and relative to other risks. A detailed
register is produced annually for climate-related risks and
opportunities, across short, medium and long-term time
horizons. This register then forms an integral part of the risk
registers and summary risk maps prepared by all business
functions as described in “Principal risks and uncertainties”
on pages 57 to 63.

Risks are assessed in relation to the severity of potential
usiness impact (on a scale from one to six) and the
likelihood of the business being impacted (low, rmedium or
high). This scoring is in line with other risks included in the
Group's risk register. We consider business impact on the
basis of both financial impact and other less guantifiable
impacts such as those relating to our reputation, our
ability to respond to a particular risk, or the impact on the
wider environment or other stakeholders. In assessing the
likelihood of the business being impacted, we consider
factors such as whether similar risks have materialised in
the past and our ability to prevent the risk from happening.
This allows us to identify the more significant potential
risks, for more detailed financial assessment, as described
in “Climate strategy” (pages 46 to 50) and as included in
“Principal risks and uncertainties” (pages 57 to 63).
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Sustainability continued

WHSmith’s processes for managing
climate-related risks and opportunities
Clirnate-related risks are managed in line with our overal! risk
appetite to ensure appropriate responses are in place for
those risks. These responses may include accepting a risk
without any further action, mitigating or reducing the risk
with appropriate controls, transferring the risk (for example
to insurance providers) or stopping or modifying the activity
that gives rise to the risk, The decision as to which response
is appropriate depends on a number of factors, including the
size of the risk (in terms of impact and likelihood), the tevel
of resource that would be required for different responses,
the time frame over which a risk is likely to materialise and
the extent to which the risk level could be reduced by a
response. An integrated approach ensures we manage
clirmate-related risks within our overall risk appetite over
different time horizons.

Our pracesses for managing climate-related risks and
opportunities are undertaken at Group, business function
and individual property level. They include:

« A Group-wide policy framework which includes our
Environment Policy, Cade of Business Conduct and
Responsible Sourcing Requirements for Suppliers;

+ QOperational procedures covering, for example, processes
relating to energy and fuel managément;

* Emergency response plans, for example, for flood
manadgement or for disruption to supply networks;

+ Internal audit and investigation; and

« Annual attestation processes by senior managers of
business functions, joint ventures and franchise partners.

Senior management and the Beard undertake reqular
reviews of risk and opportunities relating to climate change
to ensure that any emerging issues that might impact

our strategy are appropriately identified and evaluated.
Significant climate-related issues form part of risk reports
to the Audit Committee, and the ESG Committee also
evaluates the annual update of the climate risk and
opportunity register and ensures appropriate responses
are in place, At an operational level, each business function
reviews its risk profile and risk responses throughout the
year to ensure climate-related risks and opportunities are
managed effectively.

Our intermal audit team provides independent assurance of
the controls in place for significant risks across the business,
and this includes advice to senior management and the
Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of climate-related
risk management. For example, this year climate risk was
included in the internal audit of supply chain operaticens.
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Integration of the climate-related risk
management process into WHSmith’s

overall risk management

Qur climate-related risk management processes follow
the overall approach for Group-wide risk management.
Climate-related risks and opportunities are considered
from a strategic and operational perspective to ensure we
maintain a comprehensive view of the different types of
climate-related impacts that we face and the different time
horizons in which they may affect us. Senior management
and the Board regularly review climate-related risks and
opportunities in line with other risks, to ensure a holistic
view and optimisation of risk mitigation responses that are
properly integrated into the relevant business activities.
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Metrics and targets

Metrics used by WHSmith to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with Its strategy
and risk management process

We Use a number of different metrics to measure our climate-related impacts, evaluate progress against our targets and
monitor risks and opportunities. The metrics currently used are included below. We continue to evaluate the wider suite
of metrics recormmended by TCFD in its guidance for ail sectors and will report progress in next year's report.

Metric 2022 value Uink to risk or opportunity

Absolute Scope 1 emissions 1609 tonnes COz2 Reputation and rmarket opportunities

Absolute Scope 2 emissions 8,758 tonnes COwe

Abstiute Seope 3 ermissions 292,000 tonnes CO»e

GHG emissions intensity 7.4 Tonnes COue / £ revenue Reputation and market opportunities

- 2,352 Tonnes COye / sq foot

Electricity and gas consumption 82,581 MwWh Increased costs for enargy and fuel

Electricity from renewable sources 53231 MWh Increased costs for energy and (uel
Reputation and market opportunities

Suphkliers with science based 20 suppliers Reputation and market opportunities

targets in place

GHG emissions from 8.5 tonnes COe / pallet Reputation and market opportunities

third-party distribution

Fuel consumption 154 million litres Increased costs for enargy and fuel

Own brand wood and paper-based 99.7 percent Increased demand for sustainable materials

products from sustainabie sources

Waste diverted from fandfil| 99 percent Reputation and market opportunities

Remuneration: Climate-related performance indicators formed part of this year's Annual Bonus scorecard for the Group CI.1|ef
Executive and CFO/COO and will form part of the Long-Term Incentive Plan awards to be granted in the financial year ending
31 August 2023 (see "Remuneration Committee Report” on pages 83 to 104).

Carbon pricing: The main carbon taxes affecting our business are the UK Climate Change Levy which is included in the cost
of gas and electricity used to power our buildings and the UK Fuel Duty which is included in the cost of diesel and petrol
used for the distribution of cur goods. These carbon taxes are part of energy and fuel costs which we menitor on an ongoing
basis. We have also included carbon pricing in our scenario analysis, using projections from models by the IEA and NGFS as
described in “Climate strategy” on page 51.

Energy and fuel consumption

We use energy Lo light and heat our stores, distribution centres and head offices. We have been working for marny years to
reduce the amount of energy we use, recognising opportunities to reduce our overall GHG emissions and operating costs
for the business. Our energy consumption in 2022 was 82,581 MWh (2021: 78,449, a small increase rise of 5 per cent over
the previous year, A decrease in gas consumption at our Swindon site was offset by an increase in electricity consurnption in
stores as a result of our business returning to normal activity levels following Covid-19.

Energy reduction measures over the past few years have included:

+ Further development of our building management system to monitor energy consumiption across stores and adjustrment of
energy settings for lighting, heating and air conditioning to minimise energy;

* Replacement of LED lights coming to the end of their life, with new more energy-efficient cnes;

* Installation of new boiler controls for gas heating systems to further reduce consumption; and

* The introduction of new fridges into our Travel stores with doors which prevent cold air losses, increasing energy efficiency.

Our tuel consumption increased this year as operations returned to normal post Covid-19, but carben efficiency has improved
ovar the past decade to 18.5 kg COze / pallet for this financial year.
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Energy and fuel use

2022 2021 2020
Energy use (buildings) MWh
UK 62,048 64737 86,782
Non-UK 20,533 13,712 12301*
Total 82,581 78449* 104.083%
Energy use (buildings) Mwh
Gas 8817 14,673 32,765
Grid electric (renewable) 53,231 50064 0
Grid electric (non-renewable) 20,533 13.712* 71318*
Total 82,581 78,449* 104,083*
Fuel use (litres) 1.94 million  1.08 milion 148 million
Scope 1, Scope 2, and Scope 3 GHG emissions, and the related risks
Global Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tonnes CQO,e)

2022 2021 2020
Scope 1 emissions
From natural gas to heat stores, offices and distribution centres. 1,609 2687 6,025
Percentage of emissions frem UK-based operations. 100% 100% 100%
Scope 2 emissions (market based)
From electricity purchased to power stores, offices and distribution centres. 8,758 5,528 27047
Parcentage of emissions from UK-based operations. 0% 0% 68%"*
Total Scope 1and 2 emissions {market based) 10,367 9.215* 33,072
Percentage of emissions from UK-based operations. 16% 29%" 4% "
Market based carhon intensity metric (revenue)
{tonnes COye per £m revenue) 7.4 10.4* 324"
Market based carbon intensity metric (floorspace)
(tonnes CO,e per sq foot) 2,352 2014 FAYES
Scope 2 emissions (location based)
From electricity purchased to power stores, offices and distribution centres. 18,625 17.013* 21005*

Energy cansumed from activities for which the company is responsible, including combustion of fuel, comprises only gas which is calculated from metered illing clata. Energy
censumed from purchased electricity is calculated from metered billing data.

Ermissions have heen calculated using the methodology defined in the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard. We use the market based method for Scope 2 for our Lotal emissions
to account for purchasing of low-carbon electricity. Our reporting boundary includes our operations in the UK and our directly run international businesses where we have
operational control, consistent with those inciuded in our consotidated financial statements. We engaged Corporate Citizenship to provide independent limited assurance of
the energy and emissions data in the tables above in accordance with assurance standards ISAE 3000 and 3410. Further data and full details of the scope and methodology for
reporting energy, fuel use and carbon emissions and Corparate Citizenship's full assurance staternent is available in our Sustainability report 2022,

* Values have been restated to include data from all US stores in line with the rest of our reporting.

Our total Scope 1 and 2 market based emissions increased slightly this year to 10,367 tonnes COge (2021 9,215%) The increase
was mainly a result of a larger number of stores re-opening this year following the Covid-19 pandemic. Emissions reductions
were made through investments in more efficient fighting, better gas control systems and changes to refrigeration units.

One hundred per cent of the efectricity that we purchased for our buiidings in the UK came from a certified renewable supply.
For directly sourced electricity, this was in the form of a renewable electricity supply contract. For some properties, we rely
on electricity provided by landlords, some of which comes from renewable sources and some from non-renewable electricity
supply contracts. For any landlord-supplied electricity which did not originate from renewable suppiies, we purchased
certificates under the Renewable Guarantees of Origin scherne. The certificates were retired on our behalf to avoid
double-counting.

Ernissions frorm our UK operations were 1,609 tonnes CO.e (2021 2,687). These residual ernissions arise from the combustion
of natural gas and to date, we have been unable to remove them completely as alternative technologies appropriate for

our buildings do not yet exist. As an interim measure, we have undertaken mitigation action to compensate for these
residual emissions, tyy purchasing carboen reduction certificates from a Verified Carbon Standard afforestation scheme.

The afforestation acts as a carbon sink for an eguivalent amount of emissions to the residual emissions from our gas supply.
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Global Scope 3 emissions (tonnes CO,e)

Scope 3 category

Financial statements

Additional information

2022 2021 2020

1. Purchased goodls and services anct capital goods and services

210,000 178,000 ** 404,000

2. Capital goods and services

Ermnissions from capital goods and
services have been included in our
purchased goods and services category.

3. Fueland energy-related activities** 3,700 3,300+ 4800 =
Upstrearn transport and distribution®* 23,000 14,500 16,800

5. Waste generated in operations 90* 200* 250"

& Rilsiness trave 1,440 G40 240

7. Employee commuting 16.800 14,500 10,600

Upstream leased assets

Included in Scope 1 and 2 emissions.

9. Downstream transport and distribution

Not relevant for our business.

10. Processing of sold products

Not relevant for our business.

1. Use of sold products 1,700 1000 1200

12 End of life treatment of sold product 30,600 19,300*** 22,300
13. Downstream leased assets Not relevant for our business.

4. Franchises 4,300* 3500 4,500
15 Investments Not relevant for our business.

Total Scope 3 emissions 202,000 235,000 465,000

Scope 3 gmissions have baen calculated in accordance with the Corporate Vakue Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard. Our reporting boundary includes our
operatiohs in the UK and our directly run international businesses where we have operational control, consistent with those included in ow consalidated financial statetments..

* We angaged Corparate Citizenship to provide independent limited assurance of the emissions data in the table above as marked with * in accordance with assurance
standards ISAE 3000 and 3410.

** Fuel-related emissions have been restated to include well to tank emissions.
*** Values have been restated follawing changes in calculation methadology. Full details are available in our Sustainabiiity report 2022,

Further data and full details of the scope and methodology fer reparting missions and Corporate Citizenship's full assurance staternent (s available in our Sustainability
report 2022,

The majority of our Scope 3 emissions are from Category 1: Purchased Goods and Services, Category 4: Upstreamn Transport
and Distribution and Category 12; End of Life Treatrnent of Sold Product. Emissions for Categories 1, 4 and 12 increased this
year as more of our stores re-opened following the Covid-19 pandemic and our product purchasing and sales returned to
pre-Covid levels.

Targets used by WHSmith to manage climate-~related risks and opportunities and performance
Following the publication of the SBTi Net-Zero Standard in October 2021, we reviewed our approach to climate change
mitigation and revised our greenhouse gas reduction commitments. Earlier this year, we announced our new overal! climate
target to become a net zero emissions business by 2050. Our definition of net zero means an intention to reduce Scope

1, 2 and 3 emissions by at least 90% by 2050 (from a 2020 baseline) before neutralising any residual emissions. Scope 3
emissions within this target include emissions from Purchased Goods and Services and Upstream Transport and Distribution
which represent the majority of our carbon footprint,

We recognise that we will be unable to reach our 2050 net zero target without the involvement of others, including
governments, suppliers, customer and landiord partners. We were a founding member of the British Retail Consortium'’s
Climate Action Roadmap which was established 1o bring together retailers, suppliers, government, and cther stakeholders,
and to support customers to deliver the UK retail industry’s ambition to be net zero by 2040.

As a first step to our long-term goal, we have set near term targets to help track our performance against our overall climate
targel over time. The following targets have been validated by the SBTi as follows:
* We will reduce absoiute Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 80% by 2030 from a 2020 base year; and

= 75% of our suppliers (by emissions) covering purchased goods and services and upstream transport and distribution
services will have science based targets in place by 2027

We have also set targets in relation to deforestation (page 39).
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Progress against targets

2020 baseline 2022 Progress
Readuce Scope T and 2 GHG emissions 33,072 tonnes COe 10,367 tonnes COze (69% reduction) .
by 80% by 2030
75% of suppliers by emissions to have Unknown Twenty of our largest suppliers now have .
sciance based targets in place by 2027 near-term targets validated by the SBTI.

We intend to estaplish the systems to
calculate the proportion of emissions from
these suppliers during the next financial year

All forestry materials will be from 99 per cent >997 per cent .
recycled or certitied sources in
WHSmith-branded products

. On-track to meet target

Non-financial reporting statement

The sustainability section of the Annual report on pages 37 to 56 and the WHSmith Sustainability report contain a wide range
of information about the environment, employees and social matters. The table below sets out where information on non-
financial reporting matters can be found within our Annual Report and Accounts. Qur full Sustainability report is available on
our website at whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability. The due diligence arrangements for each topic are included in the respective
policy documentation on our website. ’

Non-financial matter Policies and standards which govern our approach Pages
Business model Business model Ganc 7
Key market drivers 12
Cur strategy 14 and 15
Key Performance Indicators 16 andi 17
Principal risks and uncertainties 57 ta 63
Environmental ratters Section 172(1) staternent 301to 36
Sustainability - planet 39
Climate-related disclosures 44 16 56
Principal risks and uncertainties 57063
Colleagues Section 172(1) statement 301t 36
Sustainability - people 40 to 42
Directors' remuneration report 8310104
Social matters Section 172(1) statement 30t 36
Sustainability - communities 43
Principal risks and uncertainties 57t0 63
Respect for human rights Section 172(1) staterment I0to 36
Sustainability - people 42
Principal risks and uncertainties 57t0 B3
Anti-corruption and anti-bril>ery matters  Sustainability - Responsible business 38
Principal risks and uncertainties 57t063
Non-financial KPls Key Performance Indicators - Non-financial 17
Sustainability 37 to b6
Principal risks and uncertainties Climate-related disclosures 44 to 56
Principal risks and uncertainties 57t0 63
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Financial statements

Additional information

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management framework

Qur risk mmanagerment framework is designed so that
rnaterial business risks throughout the Group can be
identified, assessed and effectively managed. This framework
Incorporates the following core elements:

Identify - Risk registers compiled by each business function
- Risk rmapping to identify ermerging issues

Assess - Determining the likelihood of risk occurrence

- Evaluating the potential impact

Mitigate - Agreeing actions to ranage the identified risks
- Ensuring control measuras are in place

Monitor - Reviewing the effectiveness of controis
- Maintaining continued oversight and tracking

Risk monitoring responsibilities

Board and Audit Committee

Overall responsibility for risik management oversight rests
with the Board, exercised through the delegated monitoring
by the Audit Committee. Day to day management of risk is
embedded within the business through a layered approach,
as summarised below.

Business Risk Committees and

Executive Management

Formal Risk Committees are held on a quarterly basis

within each Business Operating Division, comprising
members of each Divisional Executive team and Senior
Management, the CFO/CO0 and Group Risk and Audit
Director. These Business Risk Comimittees act as a forum to
review the updated risk registers and reports on ongoing risk
monitoring activity undertaken by Internal Audit, and other
corporate oversight functions.

All principal business functions compile risk registers to
identify key risks, assess themn in terms of their likelihood
and potential impact, and determine appropriate control
strategies to mitigate the impact of these risks, taking
account of risk appetite.

Operational Audit, Loss Prevention and Second
Line Qversight Functions

These functions help to monitor compliance with internal
control procedures across stores, distribution centres and
other areas of the business, encompassing our ONgoiNg
programme of store audits and stocktaking results, and heip
to identify and monitor further areas of emerging risks.

internal Audit

The Audit function facilitates the ongoing update of
corporate and business function risk registers, and conducts
an independent programme of activity in order to evaluate
and test the working of internal controls in relation to the
Group's systems and processes. The results of this angoing
programme are shared with the Business Risk Committees
and the Group Audit Committee.

Annual review of the effectiveness

of internal control

During the year, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal controls systerns,
This review included the discussion and review of the

risk registers and the internal controls across all business
functions, as part of an annual exercise facilitated by the
Internal Audit team. During the year, the Board alsc received
presentations from management on specific risk areas such
as cyber risk, international expansion, and the ongoing risk
monitoring processes and appropriate mitigating controls.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued |

Board review of principal risks
and uncertainties

The Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, including
those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity. Those principal risks are
described on the following pages, along with explanations
of how they are managed and mitigated. The Group
recognises that the profile of risks constantly changes

and adclitional risks not presently known, or that may be
currently deemed immaterial, may also impact the Group’s
business objectives and perforrmance. Qur risk management
framework is therefore designed to manage rather than
aliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and, as such, can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against these principal uncertainties impacting on
busingss performance.

Changes in principal risks compared
to last year

The table on the following page sumrmarises the principal
risks and uncertainties agreed by the Board. The table
incorporates further information relating to the movement in
the level of these risk exposures during the year, to highlight
whether. in our view, exposure to each of the principal risks
15 INCreasing. decreasing or remains broadly the same.

Continuing risks of Covid-19

The Covid-19 pandemic has affected all aspects of the
business and the markets in which we operate. We believe
that the overall level of risk has decreased since last year
due to the roli-out of the Covid-12 vaccine and the easing

of restrictions in many of the countries in which we operate.
Whilst we believe that we are now well prepared for the
introduction of new restrictions, there remains a risk that the
Group could be negatively impacted by the emergence of
new variants of Covid-19 or other pandemics. As a result of
this reduction in risk, we have removed Covid-12 as a specific
principal risik and have chosen to reflect the potential impact
of it to the Group within our other principal risk headings to
the extent that these may generate further risk of business
interruption, disruption to our supply chain, and wider
economic and market uncertainty.
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Conflict in Ukraine

While we have been saddened by the ongoing conflict

in Ukraine, WHSmMIth has no direct operations in Ukraine,
Russia or Belarus, nor do we have any product suppliers
located in these countries. Like many businesses we
anticipate that the continuation and potential escalaticn of
this conflict will impact us through increasing inflationary
pressures from rising fuel and energy prices and disruption
to our supply chain caused by transport disruption.

These risks will continue to be monitored through cur
ongoing risk management framework and principal

risk reporting.

Emerging risks

Our risks will continue to evolve in response to future events
and new challenges, where further emerging risks may
develop that could materially impact the business in the
future. Our Risk Forums and Monitoring Framework seck

to iclentify such potential changes in cur risk landscape.
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The Lable below surnmarises our cther continuing principal risks and uncertainties.

Key: Change in risk level @ higher @ no change @ lower

Risk/description

Mitigation

Additional information

Change in risk leval

Economic, political, competitive and market risks

The Group operates in highly competitive
markets and in the event of failing to
compete effectively with travel, convenience
and other sirnilar product category retailers,
this may affect revenues abtained through
our stores, MNailure to keep abreast of

marlet developments, including the use

of new technology, could threaten our
competitive position.

Factors such as the economic climate,

levels of househoid disposable income,
seasonality of sales, changing demographics
and customer shopping patterns, and

raw maternial costs could impact on

profit performance.

The Group may also be impacted in the UK
and internationally, by any future pandemics,
escalation of global corflict, political
developrnents such as reguiatory and tax
changes, inCreasing scrutiny by competition
authorities, and other changes in the general
condition of retail and travel markets.

The Group's performance is dependent on fevels of
consumer confidence and upen effectively predicting
and quickly responding to changing consumer
demands, both in the UK and internationally. The
Group conducts customer research to understand
current demands and preferences in order to help
translate market trendls into sakeable merchandise and
store formats.

The Group has continued to monitor the economic
issues caused by the confiict in Ukraine and its impact
on the economy. We do this through our membership
of industry bodies who provide insight and updates in
relation to these issues.

The Group actively monitors the impact of inflation
on its cost base and supply chain and will incorporate
hedging strategies where appropriate and invest

to increase productivity and efficiency to mitigate
these affects.

®

Uncertainties relating
to the impacts

fror new Covid-19
variants; centinued
turbulence from
geopolitical tensions
as a result of the
conflict in Ukraine;
and increasing
inflation may continue
to impact our suppely
chain and cost base,
customer spending
and shopping

habits, and create
aconomic uncertainty.

Brand and reputation

The WHSmMIth brand is an important asset
and failure ta protect it from unfavourable
publicity could materially damage its
standing and the wider reputation of the
business, adversely affecting revenues.
As the Group continues to expand its
convenience food offer in travel locations,
associated risks inclucle compliance

with food hygiene and health and safety
procedures, product and service quality,
enviranmental and ethical sourcing and
associated legislative and regulatory
reguiremeants, including the latest allergen
and calorie labelling regulations.

The Group menitors the Company’s reputation, brand
standards and key service and compliance measures
to ensure the maintenance of operating standards
and regulatory compliance across all our operations.
We undertake regular customer engagement surveys
to understand and adapt cur product, offer and

store environment.

We operate a framework for monitoring compliance
with all regulatory, hygiene and safety standardls,
encampassing supplier and store audits and clearly
defined sourcing policies. We have a programme

in place to manage any ESG risks and ensure the
reputation of the brand is protected.

Key suppliers and supply chain management

The Group has agreements with key
suppiiers in the UK, Europe and the Far East
and other countries in which it operates.
The interruption or loss of supply of core
category products from these suppliers to
our stores may affect our ability to trade.

Quality of supply issues may also impact the
Group's reputation and Impact our ability
to trade.

Further escalation of geopolitical risks
may cause disruption to the supply chain
which may necessitate the diversification
of sourcing own brand products from the
Far East.

The Group conducts risk assessments of all its

key suppliers te identify alternatives and develop
contingency plans in the event that any of these key
suppliers fail.

Suppliers are required to comply with the conditions
laid out in our Supplier Code of Conduct that covers
areas such as production methods, employee working
conditions and guality contral,

The Group has contractual and cther arrangerments
with numerous third parties in support of its business
activities. None of these arrangements alone are
individuaily considered to be essential to the business
of the Group.

@

Uncertainties relating
to the impact

of Covid-19 and
geopolitical risks on
our product sourcing
and supply chain.
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Risk/description

Mitigation

Change in risk level

Store portfolio

The guality and location of the Group'’s store
portfolio are key contributors to the Group’s
strategy. Retailing from a portfolio of good
guality real estate in prime retail areas and
key travel hubs at cornmercially reasonable
rates remains critical to the performance of
the Group.

Ali of iHligh Streat's stores are held under
operating leases, and conseguently the
Group is exposad, to the extent that any
store becomes unviable as a result of rental
costs. Most Travel stores are held under
conceassion agreements, on average for five
to ten years, although there is no guarantee
that concessions will be renewed or that
Travel will be able to bid successfully for
new contracts.

The Group undertakes research of key markets and
demographics to ensure that we continue to occupy
prime sites and identify appropriate locations to acquire
new space.

We maintain regular dialegue and goed relationships
with all our key landlords. The Group also conducts
customer research and analysis to gather feedback

on changing consumer requirements, which is shared
with landiords as part of this ongoing relationship
management programme.

®

Business interruption

An act of terrortsm or war, or an outbreak
of a further pandemic disease, could reduce
the number of customers visiting WHSmith
outlels, causing a decline in revenue and
profit. In the past, our Travel business has
been mpacted by geopelitical events such
as major terrorist attacks, which have led

to reductions in customer traffic. Closure of
travel routes both planned and unplanned,
such as the disruption caused by naturat
disasters or weather-related events, may also
have a material effect on business.

The Group operates from a number of
distribution centres and the closure of
any one of them may cause disruption to
the business.

in common with most retail businesses, the
Group also relies on a number of important
IT systems, where any systern performance
problems, cyber risks or other breaches in
clata security could affect our ability to trade.

The Group has a framework of operational procedures
and business continuity plans that are regularly
reviewed, updated and tested. The Group alsc has a
comprehensive insurance programme covering our
global assets, providing cover ranging from property
damage and product and public liability, to business
interruption and terrorism. Back up facilities and
contingency plans are in place and are reviewed and
tested regularly to ensure that business interruptions
are minimised.

The Group's IT systems receive ongoing investment to
ansure that they are able to respond to the needs of
the business. Back-up facilities and contingency plans
are in place and are tested regularly to ensure that data
is protected from corruption or unauthorised use.

®

Risks of interruptions
accurring as a result
of new Covid-19
variants or escalation
of geopaolitical risks
could impact our
global operations
and supoly chain.

Reliance on key personnel

The performance of the Group depends on
its ability to continue to attract, motivate

and ratain key head office and store staff.
The retail sector is very competitive and the
Group's personnel are frequently targeted by
other companies for recruitment.

The Group reviews key roles and succession plans.
The Remuneration Committee monitors the levels
and structure of remuneration for directors and
senior management and seeks to ensure that they
are designed to attract, retain and motivate the key
personnel to run the Group successfully.

International expansion

The Group continues to expand
nternationally. in each country in which the
Group operates, the Group may be impacted
by political or regulatory developments,

or changes in the economic climate or the
general condition of the travel market.

The Group utilises three business models to manage
risk in our overseas locations: directly-run, joint venture
and franchise.

The Group uses external consultants to advise on
compliance with international legislative and regulatory
requirements, to monitor developments that may
impact our operations in overseas territories and to
conduct reputational due diligence on potential new
business partners. Qur geographical spread of activity
mitigates against the material concentration of risk in
any ane area.

®

Increasing risk arises
frorm the continuing
growth of our
nternational business
into new countries
and increasing
gecpalitical threats.
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Mitigation

Additional information

Change in risk level

Cyber risk and data security

The Group is subject to the risk of systems
breach or data loss from various sources
including external hackers or the infiltration of
computer viruses. Theft or loss of Company
or customer data or potential damage to

any systems from viruses, ransomware or
other malware, or non compliance with data
protection legislation, could result in fines and
reputational damage o the bosiness that
could negatively impact our sales.

The Group employs a framework of IT controls to
protect against unauthorised access to our systems
and data, including menitoring developments in

cyber security. This control framework encompasses
the maintenance of firewalls and intruder detection,
encryption of data, regular penetration testing
conducted by our appointed external quality assurance
providers and engagement with third party specialists,
where appropriate.

We have a Steering Group averseeing our approach
and response to cyber risk, and maonitoring our
pragrarmme of ongoing compliance with the Payrment
Card Industry Data Security Standard and GDPR.

®

Continuing increase
in number of external
reparted cyber-attacks.

Treasury, financial and credit risk management

The Group's exposure to and management
of capital, liquidity, credit, interest rate

and foreign currency risk are analysed
further in Nole 21 on page 156 of the
financial statements.

The Group also has credit risl in relation to
its trade, other receivables and sale or return
contracts with suppliers.

The Group is exposed to interest

rate changes and movernents in

foreign currencies.

The Group's Treasury function seeks to reduce
exposures to interest rates, foreign exchange and other
financial risks, to ensure sufficient ligquidity is available
to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets
safely and profitably.

The Group does not engage in speculative trading

in financial instruments and transacts only in relation
to underlying business reguirements. The value of
any deposit that can be placed with any approved
counterparty is based on short-term and long-term
credit ratings and, in accordance with the Group’s
treasury policy, it is limited to a maximurm of £75m for
each approved counterparty.

The Group's Treasury policies and procedures are
periodically reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee and are subject to Group Internal

Audit review.

The Group has a committed muiti-currency revolving
credit facility of £250m provided by a syndicate of five
lending banks, which is undrawn and due to mature in
Aprii 2025.

The Group aiso has a £327rm Convertible Bond at a
fixed coupon rate of 1625 per cent which expires in
May 2026,

Environment and sustainability

Qur investors, customers and colleagues
expect us to conduct our business in a
responsible and sustainable way. Ciimate
change is now recognised as a global
eimergency. Failure to deliver our stated
sustainability commitments could damage
our reputation and introduce higher

costs and impact our ability to meet
strategic olyectives,

Cur sustainability strategy, Cur Journey to a Betler
Business, sets out policies, ohjectives and action plans
to acldress our key issues. It is ovarseen by Board and
Executive level committees. We have set a target to

be net zero by 2050 and are taking action across the
business to increase our climate resilience, We continue
to focus on more envirenmentally-responsible sourcing
practices, reducing and redesigning packaging where
possible and ensuring traceability for forestry products.
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Assessing the impact of our principal risks on our strategic priorities
The table below maps our strategic priorities with our principal risks, to demonstrate which of these risks could have an

impact on the ongoing achievement of these strategic priorities.

Economic,
political, Key suppilers Treasury,
competitive and supply Reltance financlal ang  Cyberrisk  Environment
and market  Brand and chaln Store Buslness on key Intamational credit risk and data and
risks reputation management portfolio P p { p security sustainability

Travel
Space growh v | v]| vivivi iviv |v |v]Vv
ATV growth v v \/ ‘/ ‘/ v v
ategory v | v | v v v v | v
developrment
Cost and v V/ ‘/ ‘/ ‘/ \/

cash management

High Street

Maintain profitability
and cash generation
of our High Street
and digital businesses

<
<
<
<

AN
<

Focused capital v v ‘/ ‘/

allocation

Viability statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate Goavernance Code
2018, the directors are required to issue a “viability
statement” declaring whether the directors believe the
Cornpany able tc continue to operate and meet its liabilities
over a period greater than 12 months.

In assessing the Group’s viability, the Board has considered
current and historical performance, the Group's current
financial position, the business model and strategy, our
approach to risk management and our principal risks and
uncertainties and mitigating factors (see pages 57 to 62).

The Group's business model and strategy is presented in
the Strategic report on pages 2 to 29. The Strategic report
describes the Group's plans at both Group and operating
division level. These plans consider the Group's cash flows,
committed funding liguidity positions, forecast future
funding and key financial metrics.
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Current financing

The Group's financing arrangements comprise a £250m
multi-currency revolving credit facility ("RCF™) maturing in
April 2025, and a term loan of £133m, also maturing in April
2025. As at 31 August 2022 the Group had not drawn down
on the RCF, and had £10km cash on deposit. In April 2021 the
Group also issued £327m convertible bonds with a maturity
of April 2026.

The covenants on the above facilities are tested half-yeariy.
The covenant test at 31 August 2022 is based on minimum
liquidity. The covenant tests from 28 February 2023 onwards
are based on fixed charges cover and net borrowings.
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Assessment period

In determining the appropriate timeframe for assessing the
Group's viability the Board has considered the impact of
Covid-19 and challenges in the macroeconomic environment
including the cost of living impact and historically high
inflation rates. '

A three year period is considered the mast appropriate
timeframe for the Group's viability assessment for
several reasons;

= It is consistent with the Group’s financial planning cycle,
management incentive schemes and medium term
financing consideraticns.

* The Group updates its three year plan annually, taking into
consideration the identified principal and emerging risks
aver this timeframe. The three year plan was approved
by the Board in June 2022, and the Budget for 2023 was
approved by the Board in September 2022,

Assessment of viability

In making the viability assessment, the directors have
modelled a number of scenarics for the three year period

to 31 August 2025. As disclosed in the Strategic report

on pages 57 to 62, the Board has undertaken a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. The process
of mitigating and managing these risks is described on
pages 57 to 62 of the Strategic report.

Within the viahility scenario modelling we have applied an
assumption that we will be able to refinance external debt
and renew our revolving credit facilities as they become cue,

The base case scenario is consistent with the Board
approved 2023 Budget and the three year plan, which takes
inta consideration uncertainties regarding the impact of
Covid-19 and challenges in the macroeconomic envirenment.
Under this scenario the Group has significant liquidity and
comfortably complies with all covenant tests during the
three year assessment period.

The base case forecasts have been subject to stress-testing,
which models the impact of several "severe but plausible”
downside scenarios, based on the identified principal risks
covering & range of operaticnal and financial impacts.

The aim of this modeiling is to understand the circumstances
that could lead to the viability of the Group being
threatened, with particular focus given to those risks which
would fhave the most material and pervasive impacts.

« Economic downturn

Representing a fall in demand and cost inflation,
in the context of inherent uncertainties due to the
irnpact of Covid-19 and other challenges in the
macroeconormic environment.

Financlal statements Additional information

We have applied the same assumptions modelled as

part of the going concern assessment (refer to page 121)
extrapolated across the remainder of the three year

viability assessment period. This scenario assumes a

10 per cent reduction in revenue versus base case across all
our businesses (Travel UK, North America, Rest of the Worid
and High Street). Apart from an equal reduction in turnover
rents in our Travel businesses, we have not assumed any
decrease in other variable costs.

Further scenarios have been modelled taking into
consideration other key principal risks to the Group,
including the:

« Loss of a key contract in Travel

« Supply chain disruption

« Impact of a data breach and potential fines
+ Increases in interest rates

» Impact of increased carbon pricing

We consider likelihood of these scenarios occurring
concurrently to be improbable and are confident in the
Group’s ability to apply mitigating actions in such a scenario.

Mitigating actions that would be available to the Group in
the aove scenario include reduction or deferral of nan-
committed capital expenditure, reductions in discretionary
operating spend, reduction or susperision of dividends,
restructuring of operations and renegotiation of facilities.
The scenario analysis has not taken such mitigating actions
into account.

The anticipated costs of our net zero climate change
commitments have been incorporated within the base case
model within the next three years. As set out in our climate-
related disclosures on pages 44 to 56, the impact on the
Group's financial performance and position is not expected
to be material in the short term, however we have modellecd
a scenario related to the potential impact of increased
carbon pricing within the assessrment period.

Conclusion

Taking account all of the above matters, the Group’s current
financial performance and pesition, and the principal risks,
the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group
will be able te continue in operation and meet its liabilities as
they fall due over the viability assessment period.

This Strategic report was approved by the Board on
10 November 2022,
On behalf of the Board

Carl Cowling ( §
Group Chief Executive

10 November 2022
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1. Henry Staunton
Chairman

Date of appointment: 1 September 2010. Henry was
appointed as Chairman on 1 September 2013, Henry will
step down as Chainman on 30 November 2022,

Committee membership: Chair of the Nominations
Committee and a member of the ESG Committee and
Remuneration Committee.

Skills and experience: Henry brings a breadth of
experience and leadership in both executive and non-
executive roles. He has extensive finance, media and
retai expertise and is Chairman of Capital and Counties
Properties PLC. He was previously the Finance Director
of Granada and 1TV, Chairman of Ashtead Group,
Phoenix Group Haldings and Vice Chairman of Legal
and General PLC.

Z. Robert Moorhead
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Date of appointment: 1 December 2008.

Skills and experiehce: Robert has over 25 years of retail
and financial management experience, which has proved
invalualzle in his role as Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer. He has a deep understanding of the
Group's businesses and strategy and has a strong track
record of creating shareholder value. He is a Chartered
Accountant and joined WHSmith in 2004 as Retail
Finance Director He is a non-executive director and Chair
of the Audit Committee of The Watches of Switzerland
Group PLC. Previously, he was Group Finance Director at
Specsavers Optical Group and Finance and 1T Director of
World Duty Free Europe. He aiso held a number of roles
at B&Q and Kingfisher Group. He started his career at
Price Waterhcuse.

lan Houghton is Company Secretary and Legal Director
and was appointed in September 1998.
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2. Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Date of appeointment: 26 February 2019, Carl was
appointed as Group Chief Executive on 1 Novembear 2019

Committee membership: E5G Committee and
Nominations Committee.

Skills and experience: Carl has considerable retail
experience and has been instrurmental in the
development and execution of the Company’s strategy.
His strong leadership and strategic expertise enable
him to lead the Group and create shareholder value.
He joined WHSmith as Managing Director, Travel in
November 2014. In 2017, he was appointed Managing
Director, High Street. Prior to joining WHSmith, Carl was
Managing Director of Global partnerships at Carphone
Warehouse and previously spent over a decade at
Dixons where he held the roles of Ecornmerce Director,
Commercial Director and Managing Director of the
airport retailing business, Dixons Travel.

4, Annette Court
Non-executive director and Chair Designate

Date of appointment: 1 September 2022. Annette will
he appointed as Charr on | December 2022,

Committee membership: Member of the Nominations
Cammittee. Annette will also become Charr of the
Nominations Committee on 1 December 2022,

Skills and experience: Annette has a proven track record
as a Charr of & publicly guoted company and brings

a wealth of experience from her Board appointments
and has a strong background in financial services and
technology. She is currently chair of Admiral Group plc
and a non-executive director of Sage Group plc. She was
previously the CEO of Europe General Insurance for
Zurich Financial Services and the CEO of Direct Line
Group (formerly RBS Insurance). She has also been

a member of the Board of the Association of British
Insurers (ABI).
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5. Kal Atwal

Neor-executive director

Date of appointment; 1 February 2021

Committee membership: Chair of the ESG Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee, Nominations
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Skills and experience: iKal has substantial marketing

and digital expertise. She spent 16 years at BGL Group
and held several roles, including Founding Managing
Chirector of comparethernarket.com and Group Director
responsible for brand-led businesses, group strategy and
corporate communications. Kal was also Chair of Simply
Cook prior to its sale to Nestlé. Kal is a non-executive
director at Royal London Group. Admiral Financial
Services, a subsidiary of Admiral Group Pic, Whitbread
PLC and & board advisor for Simply Cogk Limited.

7. Simon Emeny
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 26 February 2019.

Committee membership: Senior Independent Director
and a memier of the Audit Committee, ESG Committee,
Marmmnations Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Skills and experience: Simon has a wealth of consumer-
facing experience, mcluding transport hub sites, and
brings this broad range of skills and commercial
expertise to the Board and its Committees. He 1s Group
Chief Executive of Fuller, Smith & Turner PLC, a role he
has held since 2013, Simon was previously the Senior
Independent Director of Dunelm Group PLC.

9. Maurice Thompson
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 26 February 2019,

Committee membership: Member of the Audit
Committee, ESG Committee, Nominations Committee
and Remuneration Committee.

Skilts and experience: Maurice has substantial Board
and financial expertise, with over 30 years of experience
in the international banking industry. He is able to draw
upon his extensive knowledge of financial and strategic
experience to assist the Board and its Committees.

He previously held the posttion of Chief Executive of
Citibank 10 the UK.

Additienal information

6. Nicky Dulieu
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 9 September 2020.

Committee membership: Chair of the Audit Committee
and a member of the ESG Committee, Nominations
Committee and Rernuneration Committee.

Skills and experience: Nicky has substantial financial
and retall expertise. She trained as an accountant and
held various strategic and financial roles within Marks
& Spencer Group plc over a 23-year period. In 2006,
Nicky joined the Board of Hebbs Limited as Chief
Operating Cfficer and Finance Director and was Chief
Executive from 2008 until 2014, With her finance and
retail expertise, she is a valuable member of the Board
and Chair of the Audit Committee. She is a non-executive
director at Regrow Plc, The Unite Group PLC and
Adnams Plc.

8. Marion Sears
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 1 February 2022,

Committee membership: Chair of the Remuneration
Comrmittee and a member of the Audit Committee,
ESG Committae and Nominations Cornmitiee.

Skills and experience: Marion has financiat and

retail expertise. Marion had a career in the City as an
analyst and subseguentiy in Investment baniang and
international M&A. Marion has extensive board and
remuneration committee experience as she has served
on a number of private and public company boards as
a non-executive director. Marion is currently a non-
executive director at Dunelm Group PLC, abrdn New
Dawn Investrnent Trust PLC and Keywords Studios PLC.
Marion is also a Member of Chapter Zero, the Directors’
Clirate Forum, and a regular attendee of its events.

Previous directors who served during the financial year
anded 31 August 2022; Annemarie Durbin stepped down
as a director of the Company on 12 January 2022,
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Corporate governance report

Corporate governance remains an important

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Board role and effectiveness

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving the
highest standards of corporate governance.

As Chairran, my role is to run the Board to ensure that
the Company operates effectively and ensure that the
Board worls collaboratively and has the right balance of
skills, knowledge, independence and experience 1o assess,
manage and mitigate risiks.

This report, which forms part of the Directors’ report,
provides details of how the Company has applied the
principles of, and complied with the provisions of, the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the "Code™). A copy
of the Code is availabla publicly from fre.org.uk.

Purpose, values and culture
Our purpose is to make every one of life's journeys better.

We hiave been serving customers Lhrough our presence

in town centres. travel hubs and hospitals for 230 years,
provicing a retail destination of choice and a sense of
community for thousands of customers every day. We have
a presence in 30 countries, employ over 12,000 employeas,
source products from thousands of suppliers and play

an important part in creating vibrant and sustainable

local economies.

We recognise we have an obligation to grow our business
sustainably, providing financial returns for our shareholders,
whilst maintaining high standards of environmental

stewardship and social equity. In deiivering these obligations,

it is important that our employees, business partners and
suppliers are able to make the right decisions. We support
them with a strong values-based culture, ongoing training
and development, and a solid foundation of responsible
Dusiness governance, policies and programmes. You can
read more about our purpose, values and culture on
pages 30 to 46.

Stakeholder engagement

As a Company, we have a long-standing commitment to
high standards of corporate responsibility, which includes
considering the interests of a broad stakeholder group in
rnaking business decisions. The Board remains focused on
all our stakeholders, including our workforce, custorners,
shareholders and the communities we are part of You can
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area of focus for the Board and underpins
the sustainability of our business and the
achievement of our strategy.”

read about our engagernent with investors on page 33,
with our customers on page 32, with cur employees on
page 31 and community invalvement on page 35 and our
approach to rewarding our workforce in the Remuneration
report on page 89.

There are a number of effective employee engagement
processes in place across the Group. including the employee
engagement survey and employee forums. Simon Emeny
is the designated non-executive director with respansibility
for workforce engagement. He attended a number of
employee forums throughout the year which enabled

him to engage directly with employees on a wide range

of subjects, including agile working, remuneration and
career development. Simon Emeny met the Group People
Director to review the outcomes from the engagement
survey. Marion Sears, Chair of the Rermuneration
Committee, also attended a number of forums to explain
and answer questions on the Company’s approach to
remuneration, including executive pay. Feedback relating
to workforce engagement has been reported to the Board
and Committees.

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “"Act™) requires
a director to have regard to stakehoider interests when
discharging their duty to promote the success of the
Company for the benefit of the shareholders as a whale.
You can read how the Board has had regard to the interests
of the Company's stakeholders in accordance with Section
172 of the Act on pages 30 to 36.

Board changes

The Board has continued to give extensive thought to the
rotation of long-serving directors this year. As part of the
succession plan, Annemarie Durbin, who was the Chair

of the Rernuneration Committee, stepped down from the
Board at the Company's AGM In January 2022. During the
vear, the Board appointed Maricn Sears as a nori-executive
director and Chair of the Remuneration Committee on

1 February 2022.

As announced on 8 June 2022, Annette Court was
appoeinted as a non-executive directar and Chair Designate.
Annette jeined the Board on 1 September 2022 and will
succeed me as Chair on 1 December 2022, | wish Annette
every success as she joins the Board at a very exciting time
for the Company as it continues to recover following the
Covid-19 pandemic.
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Thanks

I'would like to thank our shareholders and stakeholders for
their continued support and also the Board and all of our
colleagues across the Group for their tremendous efforts
and ongoing commitment in our 230th anniversary year.

| feel extremely privileged to have served as Chairman

of this very special Company and am confident of its

future success.
\%’7

Corporate governance statement

This report, which forms part of the Directors' report,
together with the Strategic report and Directors’ remuneration
report provides details of how the Company has applied the
principles of the Code.

Henry Staunton
Chairman

10 November 2022

Throughout the financial year ended 31 August 2022 and
up to the date of this report, the Board considers that it has
complied with the provisions of the Code except as follows:

1. Chatrman’s tenure (Provision 19): Henry Staunton's tenure
as Chairman of the Company. Henry Staunton was
appointed to the Board in September 2010 and became
Chairman in September 2013, The Company announced
on & June 2022 that Henry Staunton will retire from
the Board on 30 November 2022 and that Annette
Court will succeed him as Chair on 1 December 2022
As previously expiained, the Board believed that it was
important to the ongoing success of the Company that
Henry Staunton remained as Chairman as the Company
recovered from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic,
Further information on Annette Court’s appointment
can be found on page 79.

]

Pension Alignment (Provision 38): The pension
contribution rates for executive directors, Carl Cowling
and Robert Moorhead, reflect the historical retirement
benefits available to employees that joined the Company at
similar times, The Board recognises that the contribution
rates under these arrangernents are higher than the
majority of the current workforce and, as such, the pension
contribution rate for any new executive director is now
aligned with the majority of the workforce which is
approximately three per cent, The pension contributions
for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to
align with the wider workforce rate from 1 January 2023

Financial statements Additional information

The Company's disclosures on its application of the
principles of the Code can he found on the following pages:

Board leadership

and Company purpose

Chairman’s letter See pages 66 and 67
ESG Committee report See pages 8land 82
Purpose, values and culture See page 66
Strategy See pages 2to 63
Shareholder and stakeholder See pages 30 to 36
engagement

Division of responsibilities

Leadership, commitment See pages 67 and 68

and Board support

Composition, succession
and evaluation

Board evaluation

Nominations Committee report
Audit, risk and internal control
Risks, viability and going concern
Audit Cormittee report
Remuneration

Directors' remuneration report

See pages /0 and 71
See pages 79 and 80

See pages /5to 77
See pages /4 to 78

See pages 83 to 104

The information that is required by Disclosure Guidance

and Transparency Rule 7.2 to e contained in the Company’s
Corporate governance staterment is included in this Corporate
governance report, in the Directors’ remuneration report on
pages 83 to 104 and in the Directors’ report on pages 105
to 107,

Composition and operation of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised the
Chairman, two executive directors and six independent
non-executive directors (including the Chair Designate).
Short biographies of each of these directors, which illustrate
their range of experience, are set out on pages 64 and 65.
There is a clear division of responsibility at the head of the
Company: Henry Staunton (Chafrman) being responsible for
running the Board and Carl Cowling (Group Chief Executive)
being responsible for implementing strateqy, leadership

of the Company and managing it within the authorities
delegated by the Board. Simon Emeny is the Senior
Independent Director. The Board structure ensures that no
individuat or group dominates the decision-making process.
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Corporate governance report continued

All the directors, whose biographies are on pages 64 and 65,
served throughout the financial year ended 31 August 2022
and up to the date of this report with the exception of:

+ Marion Sears who was appeinted as a non-executive
director on 1 February 2022; and

- Annette Court who was appointed as a non-executive
ciractar on 1 September 2022,

All of the non-executive directors who served during the
year ancl up to the date of this report are considered by
the Board to be indepencdeant

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and may take independent profassional
advice at the Company's expense in the furtherance of

their duties. The Board receives appropriate and timely
information, with Board and Committee papers normally
being sent out a week before meetings take place. The need
for director training is regularly assessed by the Board.

The interests of the directors and their immediate families
irn the share capital of the Company, along with detsils of
directors’ share awards, are contained in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 83 to 104,

At no time during the year did any of the directors have
a material interest in any significant contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Attendance at Board meetings

The Board met nine times during the year. it is expected
that all directors attend Board meetings and Committee
meetings unless they are prevented from doing so by prior
commitments. The minimum time commitment expected
from the non-executive directors is one day per month
attendance at meetings, together with attendance at

the AGM, Board away-days and site visits, plus adequate
preparation time. Where directors are unable to attend
meetings, they receive the papers for that meeting giving
them the opportunity to raise any issues and give any
comments to the Chairman in advance of the meeting.
Following the meeting, the Chairman briefs any director
not present on the discussions and any decisions taken
at the meeting.

The following table shows the number of Board and
Committee meetings held during the financial year
ended 31 August 2022 and the attendance record of
individual directors:

Number of maeting ded
Board Audit ESG Nominations Remuneration

Directors and role Board skills and competencies 9 3 3 5 7
Henry Staunton Finance and retail expertise; strong 8of 9 - 3of 3 20of5 ocof 7
Chairnman board leadership and consicerable

governance experience,
al Atwal Marketing and digital expertise; 9of9 30f3 30of3 S5ofb 7of7
Non-executive director entrepreneurial approach to business,
Catl Cowling Strategic and retail expertise; strong 90of9 - Zof3 50f5 -
Group Chief Executive leadership of the Group and creation

of shareholder valua,
MNichky Dulieu Finance and retall expertise; extensive Sof 2 3of 3 2of3 S5of5 7of?7
Nor-executive director knowledge of retall and customer service.
Simon Emeny Commercial expertise and a wealth of 9of9 30f3 3o0f3 50f5 7of7
Nor-executive director consumer facing experience.
Robert Moorhead Retail and financial expertise; deep 9of 9 - - - -
Chief Financial Officer/ understanding of the Group and strategy.
Chief Operating Officer and creation of shareholder value.
("CFO/C00M)
Marion Sears Financial and retail expertise with S5of5 20f2 2cf2 Zof3 Sof 3
Maon-axaecutive director oxtensive board and remuneration

comrnittee experience.
Maurice Thompson Board and financial expertise; extensive Sof 9 Zof3 30f3 S5of5 7of 7

Non-executive director

strategic knowledge and experience.

ay Henr;y Staunton did not attend the Nominations or Baard meetings that related to the appointment of his successor, These meetings were chared by Simon Emeny,
the Seruor independent Director, Henry Staunton also chid not altend the meeting of the Remuneration Committee that related to the eppointment of his successor.

k) Marion Sears was appointed as a diector of the Company on 1 February 2022,

c) Henry Staunton, Carl Cowling and Robert Moaorhead were invited to and attended alt three meetings of the Audit Committee.

oy Carl Cowlmg was invited to and attended five meetings of the Remuneration Committee. Robert Moorhead was invited to and attended one meeting of the
Rermunerazion Commiltee.

e} Robert Moorhead was invited to and attended five meetings of the Nominations Committee.
f} Robert Moorhead was invited (o and attended three meetings of the ESG Cammittee.
) Anhemarie Durbin stepped down from the Board on 19 January 2022, Prior to leaving the Company she attended four meetings of the Board.

hy The lFlnard and the Remuneration Committee have met twice since 31 August 2022, The Audit Committee and the ESG Committee have met once since 31 August 2022,
Heniry Staunton was unable to sttend the Cctober 2022 Remuneration Committee meeting due to a prior commitment which had been arranged before the meeting was convened.
H‘%‘ received the papers in advance of the meeting and gave his comments to the Chair. Annette Court was unable to attend the November 2022 Board meeting due to a
prior commitment which had been arranged before the meeting was convenrad. She receved the papers in advance of the meeting and gave her commants to the Chairman.
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Board tenure and gender diversity

The table below shows a breakdown of the composition of
the Board as at 31 August 2022:

Tenure Male/Female

Q-1 year 1 Male 5 63%

1-3 years 2 Fermale 3 37%

36 years 3

5-9 years Q Executive/Non-executive

10+ years 2 Executive 2 20%
Nor-executive 6 75%

Matters reserved for the Board

The Board manages the Company through a formal schedule
of matters reserved for its decision, with its key focus
being on creating long-term sustainable sharehoider value.
The significant matters reserved for its decision include:
the overall management of the Company; approval of the
business model and strategic plans including acquisitions
and disposals; approval of the Company's commercial
strategy and operating and capital expenditure budgets;
approval of the Annual report and financial statements,
material agreements and non-recurring projects, treasury

Financial statements Additional information

and dividend policy; control, audlit and risk management;
executive remuneration; and environmental, social and
corperate governance matters.

The Board has a forward timetable to ensure that it allocates
sufficient time to key areas of the business. The timetable

is fiexible enough for items to be added to any agenda

as necessary. The Board’s annual business includes Chief
Executive’s reports, including business reports; financial
results; strategy and strategy updates, including in-clepth
sessions on specific areas of the business and strategic
initiatives: consideration of potential acquisitions and meeting
with new managernent teams; risk managernent; dividend
policy; investor relations; health and safety; whistleblowing;
sustainability strategy; Board evaluation; governance and
compliance: communications and the Annual report.

During the vear, the Board assessed the basis on which the
Company generates and preserves value over the long-term
and considered the opportunities and risks to the ongoing
future success of the business, the sustainability of the
Company's business model and how its governance contributes
to the delivery of its strategy. Further inforrnation on the rislks
and opportunities to the future success of the Cornpany can
be found in the Strategic report on pages 2 1o 63.

Beard activities in the financial year ended 31 August 2022

Strategy

commercial strategy of the Group

and budget

relating to Covid-19

» Approval of Company purpose, values and cuiture
« Approval of the Group’s long term objectives and

= Oversight of Group performance against strategy

= Approval of the sustainability strategy and report
» Updates on Group response to ongoing issues

* Reviewing the strategic plans for each cf the
businesses

+ Three-Year Plan
* Project approvals
« Corporate strategy updates

Financial and operational performance

tracling staternents and the Annual report
« Going concern and viability statements

« The Company's preliminary and interim resuits,

« Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

+ Dividend, treasury and tax strategies
+ Approval of the budget
« Approval of capital expenditure

Other stakeholider engagement

Custorers » Custorner initiatives and experience updates

+ Reviewing customer feedback and approving

» Updates on ensuring the safety of customers

» Extending our categories and ranges, including
a greater focus on food, health and beauty and
technology products

customer-facing strategies
« Investing in existing and new stores

« Continuing to reduce environmental footprints
where possible and improving product
environmental labelling

Other stakeholder engagement

Shareholders

« Annual General Meeting

» Consultation on remuneration and outcome of
AGM voting

* Investor relations updates
» Consultation on Board composition
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Corporate governance report continued

Other stakeholder engagement (continued)

Employees
ensure employee safety

+ Company purpose, values and culture

* Inclysion and diversity update

» People strategy

» Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Buy-in

+ Consicleration of workforce pay including
the annual pay review

» Annual health, safety and welibeing reviews to

» Modern slavery update and statement

« Talent, succession planning and leadership
« Employee engagement insights

« Gender pay gap reporting

Introduction of agile working

Governance and risk

« Risk framework and internal control review
« Reguiatory compliance updates

* Litigation and disputes updates

* Group delegation of authority review

* Succession planning and appointment of new Chair

+ Principal risks and uncertainties review

+ Review of cyber security

« Conflicts of Interest and new appointments
» Terms of Reference review

» Board evaluation process

TCFD and climate change

The Board received presentations and updates on the
reguirement this year to make disclosures that are consistent
with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(C"TCFD™) recommendations and recommended disclosures.
You can read more on our TCFD disclosures on pages

A4 Lo 56,

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Buy-In

The Company, like many other companies which have

been around for a long time, previously provided a defined
henefit pension scheme (“DB Scheme”) for employees,

The benefits of the OB Scheme are backed by the assets of
the WHSmith Pension Trust (the "Trust™), which have been
built up by investing money contributed by the Company.
These contributions reflect the Company's obligation to
stand behind the DB Scheme at times when it was assessed
as having insufficient assets to cover its commitments

to the members. In the early 2000s, the DB Scheme
developed a serious deficit, which peaked at approximately
£250m in 2004, In order to deal with the deficit, the
Company and Trustee took a number of actions that have
since proved successful. In particular, action was taken to
reduce the impact on funding from inflation and interest
rate moverments. Careful managerment of those factors,
together with significant contributions by the Company,

has removed the deficit over the past two decades. As a
resuit of this careful managernent, the Trustee was able to
buy an insurance policy from Standard Life to pay all future
benefits to the members of the DB Scheme. This means that
the Company is no longer required to make contributions to
the DB Scheme and has removed the risk of having to make
any future payments regarding defined benefit liabiiities.
The B3oard believes that the purchase of the insurance policy
is a goud outcome for the 12,950 pensioners and deferred
members of the DB Scheme as any risks associated with
the payment of their benefits have now very substantially
reduced. As a result, the Trust is no longer reliant on

earning nvestment returns, nor on the financial strength of
the Company.
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Board evaluation

The performance of the Board, its Cormmittees and its
individual directors is a fundamental component of the
Company's success. The Board regularly reviews its own
performance. A formal internally facilitated evaluation was
carried out in July 2022. The evaluation was co-ordinated
and directed by the Chairman with the support of the
Company Secretary. A questionnaire was prepared by the
Chairman and the Company Secretary and formed the basis
of in-depth interviews with each director. The main areas
considered during the evaluation were strategy, operations
and risk; succession planning; Board composition; Company
purpose, vaiues and culture; and Board Committees.

The results of the assessment confirmed the strength

of the management of the Company. a shared focus

and deep understanding of the business, a sound
governance framework and practices compliant with the
Code. Additionally, the culture of the Board remains very
good, being open and frank, whilst also supportive and
collabarative. As a result of the review, the Board agreed an
action plan that will be implemented in the financial year
ending 31 August 2023 and will include continued focus on
executive and non-executive succession planning and the
overall compasition of the Board; increasing focus on people
issues and ratention of key senior executives; and steps to
improve the Board's procedures and effectiveness, including
the effectiveness of the annual strategy session. The Board
reviewed the actions agreed following the externally
facilitated evaluation carried out in 2021 and agreed that
good progress had been made in respect of these actions,
including in respect of the Company's Board succession plan
(most notably, the appointment of two new non-executive
directors, including the appointment of Annette Court as
successor to the Chalrman) and improvements in the Board's
procedures - for example, how the Board is updated on the
key strategic initiatives which were identified at the Board
strategy session. In addition to the Beard and Committee
evaluation process, the Group Chief Executive reviews the
performance of the CFO/COO and other senior executives.
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The Chairman reviews the performance of the Group
Chief Executive.

The Chairman also undertook a rigorous review with each

of the non-executive directors to assess their effectiveness
and comrmitrnent to the role. During the vear, the Chairman
had regular meetings with the non-executive directors,
without the executive directors present, to discuss Board
issues and how to maintain the best possible team. The Board
is satisfied that each of the non-executive directors dedicates
sufficient time to the business of the Company and contributes
to its governance and operations. The Senicr (ndependent
Director met the other non-executive directors to undertake

a rigorous assessment of Henry Staunton's performance
given that he has served as Chairman for nine years and

has been on the Board for twelve years, The non-executive
directors confirmed that there are no relationships or
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to
affect, his judgement or independence. The non-executive
directors, taking into account the views of the executive
directors, concluded that Henry Staunten continues to act
and perforrn effectively as Chairman and demonstrates his
cornmitment to the role.

Succession planning

Under the Company’s Articles of Assoclation, directors are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election
every three years and new directors appeinted by the Board
offer themselves for efection at the next AGM following their
appointrment, However, in accordance with the Code, the
Beard has agreed that all directors wishing to be appointed
will stand for efection or re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
At the last AGM on 19 January 2022, all the directors at that
time (aside from Annemarie Durbin) stocd for election or
re-election and were duly elected by sharehalders.

A reported last year, Simon Emeny, the Senior Independent
Director, led a search for Henry Staunton’s replacement

as Chairman. Further infermation on Annette Court's
appointment can be found on page 79.

The Company’s Articles of Association give a power to
the Board to appoint directors and, where notice is given
and signed by all the other directors, to remaove a director
from office.

During the year ahead, the Board will continue to focus
on executive succession planning to ensure the readiness
of internal candidates for all key roles across the business.
The Board is committed to good governance, culture and
leadership, recognising that these are key considerations
for a strong, sustainable business and that the tone comes
from the top. The Company’s purpose, values and culture
will continue to form an important part of the Board's
discussions. The Nominations Committee will continue to
support the Board by ensuring that culture is built into
recruitment and succession considerations.
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Culture

The Board assesses and monitors the culture of the business
in a number of ways, including through: interaction with
execytives, members of the senior management team, and
other emiployees in Board meetings and on wisits to stores,
offices and other Company locations; regular Board agenda
iterns and supporting papers, covering risk management,
internal audit reports and follow-up actions, customer
engagement, health and safety, empioyee engagement and
retention, whistleblowing and regulatory breaches: assessing
the results of staff surveys, reviewing a range of employee
indicators, including engagement, retention, absence,
learning and development, gender pay. diversity, workforce
composition and demographics; and engaging with other
stakeholders, as described in the Section 172 Staternent

on pages 30 to 36 and the Corporate governance report
During the year, the Board was satisfied that the practices
and behaviour of the Board and employees were aligned
with the Company's purpose, valuas and strategy.

The Board recognises the importance of being visible and
accessible to customers and employees. During the year the
non-executive directors attended business risk committee
meetings, employee forums and accompanied managerment
on site visits to the High Street and Travel stores. The Board
also visited the head office and stores of the Company's

US subsidiaries, Marshall Retail Group and InMotion, to

gain a better understanding of the operation and culture of
the businesses. The Board believes that site visits provide
directors with valuable insights into the business, helping to
deepen their knowledge and understanding of the Cormpany.
When joining the Board, a new non-executive director
typically meets individualty with each Board member

and with senior management to give them insight into alt
aspects of the business, including cur strategy. culture,
values, sustainability, governance, and the cpportunities and
challenges facing the business. The Company Secretary
briefs them on policies, Board and Committee procedures,
and core governance practice. They visit a number of
business locations and meet key advisers. They also receive
induction materials including recent Board and Committee
papers and minutes, strategy papers, investor presentations,
Matters Reserved for the Board and the Board Cormmittees’
Terms of Reference.

During the year, Marion Sears participated in an induction
programme which included:

review of previous Board papers and minutes, a briefing
paper on the duties of directors, Terms of Reference

for the Board and Cornmittees, and Group policies anc
precedures including the Code of Dealing;

* meetings with senior management, including the
Managing Directors of the Group's businesses, Group
People Director. Group Risk Directar, Investor Relations
Director and Legal Director/Company Secretary;

meetings with advisers; and
* store visits.
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Corporate governance report continued

A similar induction programime has been designed for
Annette Court, details of which will be included in the
Annual Report next year.

The Board considered and appraved that Nicky Dulieu
could be appointed as a non-executive director of The Unite
Group PLC, with effect from 1 September 2022, The Board
concludead that there was no conflict in Nicky Dulieu being
appointed to the board of The Unite Group PLC and that
the dernands associated with a non-executive director
role would not affect her commitment to the Company.
The Board also considered and approved the proposed
appointment of Henry Staunton as Chairman of the Post
Office Limited following his departure from the Board on
30 Novemiber 2022,

Diversity policy

The Board values diversity in all its forms, both within its
own membership and at all levels of the Group. The Board is
highly supportive of the initiatives the Company has in place
to promote diversity throughout the business. The Board
believes that diversity in its widest sense is a key component
to the success of the Company and receives reports on the
Company's diversity profile to ensure that the workforce
reflects our commutment to diversity. The Beard aims to
ensure its membership, and that of the wider Groun, reflects
divarsity in its broadest sense so that it has a combination
of demagraphics, skills, experience, race, age, gender,

sexual orientation, education and professional background
thereby providing a wide range of perspectivas, insights
and challenge needed to support good decision-making.
The Board's diversity policy aims to ensure that the Board
nominations and appointments process is based on fairness,
respect and inclusion, and that the search for candidates will
be conducted with due regard to the benefits of diversity.
The Board also supports the recommendations of the
Parker Review on ethnic diversity and has met the target

for non-white directors. The Board recognises that there

is more to do to increase the ethnic representation across
the Cornpany.

Further infarmation on the Company’s commitment to
diversity can be found in the Nominations Committee report
on pages 79 and 80 and in the Employees section of the
Strategic report on pages 40 to 42,

Risk management

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's system
of risk management and internal control {including financial
controls, contrals in respect of the financial reporting
process and operational and compliance controls) and has
conducted a detaled review of its effectiveness during

the year 16 ensure that management has implemented its
policies on risk and control. This review included receiving
reports from rmanagement, discussion, challenge, and
assessment of the principal risks.
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No signiticant failings or weaknesses were identified from
this review. In addition, the Board received presentations
from management on higher risk areas, for example,

cyber security and international expansion. The Board has
established an crganisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility which identify matters requiring
approval by the Board, Steps continue to be taken to
embed internal control and risk management further into
the operations of the business and to deal with areas

that require improvement which come to the attention of
management and the Board. Such a system is, however,
designed tc manage rather than eliminate the rislc of
failure to achieve business objectives, and ¢an only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process

for identifying, evaluating and managing emerging and
principal tisks faced by the Group, including those risks
relating to social. environmental and ethical matlers.

This year these have included climate-related risks and
opportunities in readiness for reporting consistent with the
TCFD recommendations and recommended disclosures.
The Board undertakes a robust assessment of the Group's
emerging and principal risks. The Board confirms that the
processes have been in place for the year under review
and up tc the date of this report and that they accord with
the Financial Reporting Council ("FRC") Guidance an Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting (the "Risk Management and Internal
Control Guidance™). The processes are regularly reviewed
by the Board, The principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group together with the procedures and processes

for identifying, managing and the steps taken to mitigate
principal and emerging risks can be found in the Strategic
report on pages 57 tc 63.

Further information on internal controis and risk management
can be found in the Audit Cormmittee report on page 77.

Engagement with shareholders

The Board's primary role is to promote the success of the
Company and the interests of shareholders. The Board

is accountable to sharehalders for the performance and
activities of the Group. The Company recognises the
importance of communicating with its shareholders to
ensure that its strategy and performance are understood.
This is achieved principally through the Annual repert and
accounts and the AGM. In addition, a range of corporate
information, including all Company announcements and
presentations, is available to investors on the Company’s
website whsmithplc.co.uk. For more information on
shareholder engagement see page 33.

Formal presentations are made to institutional shareholders
following the anncuncement of the Company’s full year and
interim results. The Board recognises that the AGM is normally
the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholders.
All directors normally attend the AGM and are available to
answer questions that shareholders may wish to raise.
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The Board as a whole is kept fully informed of the views and
concerns of major shareholders,. The Group Chief &£xecutive
and CFO/COO update the Board following meetings with
major sharehoiders and analysts’ briefings are circulated

to the Board. The Head of Investor Relations also carries
out a regular programme of work and reports to the Board
the views and information needs of institutional and major
investors, This is part of the regular contact that the Group
maintains with its institutional shareholders. When requested
to de so, the Chairman ancl non-executive directors attend
meetings with major shareholders. The Chairman spoke to
some of the Company's largest shareholders to discuss the
compaosition of the Board.

Following the 2022 AGM, at which a significant mincrity of
shareholders voted against the approval of the remuneration
report, Marion Sears, the new Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, sought the views of the Company’s largest
shareholders and representatives in respect of the
Company's remuneration practices. The Remuneration
Committee understands that shareholders' primary concern
was the payment of bonuses to executive directors

The Chairman also engaged with the Company's largest
shareholders and representatives in respect of Maurice
Thompson's re-election as a director, in order to fully
understand their concerns.

Anti-corruption

The Company has continued to enhance its policies and
procedures in order to meet the requirements of the Bribery
Act 2010. These policies and procedures include training

for individuals to ensure awareness of acts that might be
construed as contravening the Bribery Act. The Group's
policy on anti-britbery and corruption is included in the
Cormpany's Code of Business Conduct at whsmithplc.co.uk/
sustainability.

Fair, balanced and understandable

The Board confirms that it considers the 2022 Annual
report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company's position and
performance, business model and strategy.

Discussion of the Board's assessment of the Annual report
and accounts is described in the Audit Committee report
on page /6.
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Board Committees

The Board delegates specific responsibilities to the Board
Committees, being the Audit, ESG, Nominations and
Remuneration Committees. Detalls of the role, composition,
responsibilities and activities of the Audit Committee can
be found on pages 74 to 78, the ESG Committee on pages
81 and 82, the Nominations Committee on pages 79 and
80 and the Rernuneration Cormmittee in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 83 to 104. The role and
responsibilities of each Cornmittee are set out in formal
Terms of Reference which are available on the Company’s
website whsmithplc.co.uk.

In addition, the following Committees support the Board in
fulfilling its responsibilities:

Approvals Committee

The Approvals Committee facilitates the internal approvais
process by approving matters as delegated by the Board.
The Approvals Committee comprises the Group Chief
Executive and the CFO/COQ.

Disclosure Committee

The Disclosure Committee is responsible for ensuring
compliance with the Company's obligations under the UK
Market Abuse Regulation and the maintenance of disclosure
controls and procedures. The Disclosure Committee
comprises all of the directors of the Company and the
Company Secretary.
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Audit Committee report

| am pleased to present my report on the

Nicky Dulieu

activities of the Audit Committee for the
financial year ended 31 August 2022

Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee report

Dear Shareholder
As Chair of the Audit Committee, | am pleased to present
my report on the activities of the Audit Committee for the

financial year ended 31 August 2022. Our principal objectives

are to oversee and assist the Board in its responsibility to
produce a set of Annual report and accounts which are
fair, balanced and understandable and to provide effective
financial governance in respect of the Group's financial
results, the performance of both the internal audit function
and the external auditors, and the management of the
Group's systems of internal control, business risks and
related compliance activities.

The other members of the Committee are Kal Atwal, Simaon

Emeny, Marion Sears and Maurice Thompson, who are all
Independent non-executive directors. The Board considers
that | have recent and relevant financial experience, as
required by the Code, and that the Committee, as a
whole, has competence relevant to the sector in which the
Companry operates. At the invitation of the Committee, the
Chair of the Board, the Group Chief Executive, the CFO/
COO, the Director of Audit and Risk, representatives of
the Group's senior managemeaint team and of the external
auditors attend meetings. The Committee has regular
private meetings with the external and internal auditors
during the vear.

During the financial year ending 31 August 2023, the
Committee will focus on undertaking a tender for external
audit services. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC™) has
provided external audit services to the Group since being
first appointed as the Company's external auditors at the
2015 AGM. In line with applicable law and regulation, the
Committee will hold a competitive tender process in the
noxt fmanaal vear, as sel oul on page 78.
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A summary of the activities undertaken by the Committee
during the year is as follows:

considering papers frormn management on the significant
financial reporting judgements made in the preparation of
the Interim report and the Annual report and accounts;

considering the Company’s going concern statement and
papers frorm management which consider the liquidity and
covenant compliance of the Group;

considering the Company’s viability statement anc! papers
frorm management which consider the long-term viability
of the Group;

considering presentations and updates on the
requirement to make disclosures consistent with the TCFD
recommendations and recommended disclosures;
considering the accounting implications of the Cormpany’s
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Buy-in;

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting, internat control policies and procedures for the
identification, assessment and reparting of risk, including
cyber security and tax;

reviewing the Company's approach to cyber security
following the cyber-attack on Funky Pigeon;

moenitoring the integrity of the Group's financial
statements and trading staternents;

assessing and recommending to the Board that the
Annual report is fair, halanced and understandable;

reviewing the Interim report and the Annual report and
accounts, including, where relevant, compliance with

the Listing Rules, Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules, Code and statutory reporting reguirements and
recormmending those documents for Board approval;
receiving updates and recommendations on the reforms
to Corporate Governance and internal controls proposed
by BEIS;

considering the Company's emerging and principal risks
and uncertainties and reviewing the mitigating actions
that management has taken to ensure that these risks
are appropriately monitored and controlied;

considering the Cormpany's systerms and framework
of controls designed ta detect and report fraud and
money laundering;
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receiving reports from Internal Audit in respect of calls ta
the Company's confidential Speak Up helpline and after
undertaking a review, appointing an external company,
Safecall, to provide the helpline service for the Group;

+ receiving reports and presentations from members of
the Company's senior management and its business risk
committees on areas of the Company’s contral and risk
managemeant processes,

raceiving and reviewing reports from the Internal
Audit and Risk teams and reviewing and agreeing their
annual plans;

holding private meetings with the external and
internal auditors;

agreeing the scope of PwC's annual audit plans, assessing
the effectiveness of the external audit process and
considering the accounting, financial contral and audit
issues reported by PwC that flowed from their worlg;

.

reviewing external auditor independence and approving
the policy on the engagement of PwC to supply non-
audit services;

negotiating and agreeing the audit feg;

undertaking a performance review of Internal Audit and
the external auditors;

reviewing the Company’s treasury policy;

approval of the Group Tax Strategy;

receiving updates on the policies and procedures for the
General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR");

« considering and approving the report on the Company's
payment practices;

» assessing new accounting standards; and
= reviewing the Committee's Terms of Reference.

Significant financial reporting issues and
areas of judgement

In preparing the financial statements, there are a number of
areas requiring the exercise by management of particular
judgement. The Committee’s role is to assess whether the
judgernents macdle by managerment are reasonable and
appropriate. In order to assist in this evaluation, the CFO/
COO presents an accounting paper to the Committee twice
a year, setting out the key financial reporting judgements,
and ofther papers as required. The main areas of judgement
that have been considered by the Committee in the
preparation of the financial statements are as follows:

Going concern and viability

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of
viability and going concern. The Committee considered

the Group's performance and financial position and the
forecast assumptions applied in the approved budget and
three-year plan. The Committee also considered the Group's
financing facilities and future funding plans. In making the
going concern and viability assessments, the Committee
gave consideration to the downside scenarios modelled
given the uncertainties surrounding the current challenging
macroeceonomic environment. Based on this, the Committee
concluded that the assumptions applied are appropriate

Financial statements Additlonal information

in both the viability and going concern assessments, and
confirmed that the application of the going concern basis for
the preparation of the financial statements continued to be
appropriate, with no material uncertainties. The Committee
received a report from PwC on the work undertaken to
assess going concern and viability and specifically discussed
the content of the disclosures made in the Strategic report
on page 62 and the basis of preparation within Note 1 of the
financial statements on page 121.

Impairment review of store assets

The Committee received and considered a paper from
ranagement covering the judgements made in respect of
the impairment testing of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use store assets. This paper detailed
managements’ judgements regarding the identification of
indicators of impairment, and where impairment indicators
were identified, the valuation methodology, basis of key
assumptions and the key drivers of the cash flow forecasts

The Committee challenged management on the
assumptions used within the impairrmment models and
received and discussed a paper from PwC on their work

in this area, which specifically considerad and reported on
their challenge and assessment of the key assumptions used
and that the resultant charges were allocated appropriately.
The Committee was satisfied that the approach adopted

by management was sufficiently robust to identify when an
impairment charge of store assets needs to be recognised
and how it should be assessed and reported.

Given that management has continued to report on the
performance of the business on a pre-IFRS 16 basis within its
Alternative Performance Measures alongside the statutory
measures derived under IFRS 16, the paper and discussions
considered impairment assessment of store assets on

baoth bases.

Inventory valuation

The Committee received a paper from management on I
accounting for and valuation of inventory. It discussed

the judgements made by management, with specific
consideration given to inventory provisioning (both on an
underlying and non-underlying basis), including provision
for cut-of-date, slow moving or cbsolete stock and the
classification and disclosure of related charges in the
income statement and financial statements. The Committee
also received a paper from PwC regarding the audit work
they performed over the valuation of inventory and the
presentation of inventory proavision charges in the income
statement split between underlying and non-underlying.
The Committee is satisfied that the process and judgement
adopted by management for the vatuation of inventory is
sufficiently robust to establish the value of inventory held
and is satisfied as to the appropriateness of the Company's
provisioning policy and presentation of inventory provisions.
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Non-underlying items

The Committee considered the presentation of the
financial statements and, in parbicular, the presentation

of non-underlying items In accordance with the Group
accounting policy. This policy states that adjustments are
anly made to reported profit before tax in determining
an alternative performance measure where charges are
not considered part of the normal operating costs of the
business, are non-recurring or are considered exceptional
because of their size, nature or incidence. The Committee
received detailed reports from management outlining the
judgements applied in relation to the non-undertying costs
incurred during the year,

These costs were attributable to the impairment charges

recognised in relation to stores where performance is not
expected Lo recover as a result of the impact of Covid-19;

cosls incurred in conhection with the Funky Pigeon cyber
ncident; and amortisation of acquired intangible assets.

This was a key area of focus for the Committee which was
cognisant of the need to ensure thal costs were appropriately
classified and that the disclosure of the non-underlying
items was sufficient for users of the financial statements

to understand the nature and reason for the costs.

The Committee challenged management on the nature

of costs classilied as non-underlying.

Pensions

The Committee considered the accounting treatment
and disclosure of the defined benefit scheme buy-in,

with particular regard to the application of 1AS 19 in the
recognition of asset remeasurement losses through other
comprehensive income. The Committee considered the
current guidance and requirements in respect of pensions
accounting, reviewed the judgements made in respect of
the assumptions used in the valuation of the Company's
obligations under the scheme and the non-recognition
of the JAS 19 surplus. A report on pensions accounting
and related disclosures was provided by PwC which set
out the work performed including their challenge on the
classification of the buy-in and related expenses through
other comprehensive income, as wel! as assessment of
key scheme valuation assumptions compared to their
independently observed ranges.

Viability statement

The Committee reviewed the process and assessment of
the Company's prospects made by management in support
of its longer-term viability statement, including:

the review period and alignment with the Company's
internal plans and forecasts and with its work to
support the going concern basis of presentation for the
financial statements;

* the assessment of the capacity of the Company to remain
viabie after consideration of future cash flows, borrowings
and mitigating factors; and
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the modeiling of the potential financial impact of
certain of the Company's principal risks matetialising
using severe but plausible scenarios on the Company’s
financial performance.

The Committee considered the viability statement and
related analyses alongside its work on going concern, as set
out in this report on page 75. It also discussed the clarity and
appropriateness of the disclosures made within the viability
statement and discussed these with PwC.

The viability statement is set out in the Strategic report on
page 63.

Fair, balanced and understandable
assessment

At the request of the Board, the Committee has considered
whether, in its opinion, the 2022 Annual report and accounts,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the inforrmation necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company’s position and performance, business
rmodel and strategy. The Committee was assisted in its
review by a number of processes, including the following:

« the Annual report and accounts is drafted by senior
management with overall co-ordination by a rmember of
the Group Finance team to ensure consistency across the
relevant sections;

an internal verification process is undertaken to ensure

factual accuracy;

« an independent review is undertaken by the Director
of Audit and Risk to assess whether the Annual report
and acecounts is fair, balanced and understandable
using a set of pre-defined indicators (such as
consistency with internally reported information and
investor communicationsy;

+ comprehensive reviews of drafts of the Annual report
and accounts are undertaken by the executive directors
and other senior management;

= an advanced draft is reviewed by the Board and the
Company's Legal Director and, in relation to certain
sections, by externai legal advisers; and

the final draft of the Annual report and accounts is
reviewed by the Committee prior to consideration by
the Board.

Following its review, the Commitiee advised the Beard

that the Annual report and accounts, taken as a whole,

was cansidered to be fair, balanced and understandable and
that it provided the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company's position and performance, business
model and strategy.



Strategic report Corporate governance

Risk management and internal controls

The Committee monitors and regularly reviews the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management processes and
internal financial and non-financial controls. The key features
of the risk management process that were in place during
the year are as follows:

+ each business conducts risk assessments based on
identified business objectives, which are reviewed and
agreed annually by the executive management of each
business. Risks are considered in respect of strategy,
reputation, operations, financial and compliance and
are evaluated in respect of their potential impact and
likelihood. These risk assessments are updated and
reviewed cuarterly and are reported to the Committee;

« a Group risk assessment is also undertaken by the Internal
Audit team, which considers all areas of potential risk
across all systems, functions and key business processes.
This risk assessment, together with the business risk
assessments, forms the basis for determining the Internal
Audit Plan. Audit reports in relation to areas reviewed are
discussed and agreed with the Committee;

« the Internal Audit team meets annually with all senior
executives, to undertake a formal review and certification
process in assessing the effectiveness of the internal
controls across the Group. The results of this review are
reported to the Committee;

» the Committee confirms to the Board that it has reviewed
the effectivenass of the systems of internal control,
including financial, operational, and compliance controls
and risk managerment for the period of this report, in
accordance with the Code and the Risk Management and
Internal Control Guidance;

the Board is responsible for approving the annual budget
and the three-year plan, for approving major acquisitions
and disposals and far determining the financial structure
of the Company. including treasury and dividend policy.
Manthly results, variances from plan and forecasts are
reperted to the Board;

the Committee assists the Board in the discharge of

its duties regarding the Group's financial statements,
accounting policies and the maintenance of

internal business, operational and financial controls.

The Committee invites input and attendance from
rnembers of the senior management team of the Group
at its meetings to discuss the design and operation of
key business and internal controls and the assessment of
risks that affect the Group. The Commitlee provides a link
between the Board and PwC through regular meetings;

Financlal statements Additional information

*

the Company has in place internal control and risk
management systems in relation to the process for
preparing consolidated financial statements. The key
features of these systems are that management regularly
monitors and considers developments in accounting
regulations and best practice in financial reporting

and, where appropriate, reflects developments in the
consolidated financial statements. PwC also keeps

the Committee appraised of these developments; the
Committee and the Board review the draft consolidated
financial staterments. The Committee receives reports from
management and PwC on significant judgements, changes
in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates
and other pertinent matters relating to the consolidated
financial statements, and provides robust and independent
challenge to management where appropriate; and the full
year financial staternents are subject to external audit and
the half-year financial statements are reviewed by PwC;

the Internal Audit team advises and assists management
in the establishment and maintenance of adequate
internal controls and repaorts to the Cornmittee on the
effectiveness of those controls;

there is a comprehensive systern for budgeting and planning
and for monitoring and reporting the performance of the
Company's business to the Board. Monthly results are
reported against budget and prior year, and forecasts for the
current financial year are regularly revised in light of actual
performance. These results and forecasts cover profits,
cash flows, capital expenditure and balance sheets; and

routine reports are prepared to cover treasury activities
and risks, for review by senior executtives, and annual
reports are prepared for the Board and Committee
covering tax, treasury policies, insurance and pensicns.

The Director of Audit and Risk attends the meetings of the
Committee to discuss the above matters.
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External auditor

During the year PwC reported to the Conmittee on their
inclependence from the Company, The Committee and
the Board are satisfied that PwC has adequate policies
and safeguards in place to ensure that auditor objectivity
ancl independence are maintained. The Committee has
recommended to the Board the re-appointment of PwC
as the external auditors for the 2023 financial year and the
directors will be proposing the re-appointment of PwC at
the forthcoming AGM,

PwC were first appointed as external auditors at the 2015
AGM, following a competitive tender process completed in
2014, Jonathan Lambert was appointed as the PwC audit
partner and Senior Statutory Auditor at the conclusion of
Lhe 2019 financial year.

In accordance with the Competition and Markets Authority
("CMA™ Statutory Audit Services Order 2014, the Company
15 reguired to conduct a competitive audit tender by
Jecember 2024. The Committee has discussed the most
appropriate time to carry out the external audit tender
process taking into account the recent appointment of
new directors, the continuing significant US expansion and
the Group’s extensive growth opportunities. As a result, at
its meeting on 8 November 2022, the Committee decided
to proceed with an audit tender during 2023, which will
comimence with issuing a Request for Proposal {"RFP™ in
February 2023, with a view {0 appointing the successful
audit firm for the financial year ending 31 August 2025.

In making this decision, the Cormmittee has had regard

to the timeline, selection criteria and the involvement of
Cormmittee members and audit and finance teams in the
various stages of the process. The Committee considers

that the proposed timeline achieves the optimal balance
between business priorities, as the Company continues to
recover from the impact of Covid-19, and internal capacity
which will ensure a rigorous and comprehensive audit tender
process. The Committee considers that & competitive tender
is in the best interests of our shareholders as it will aliow

the Company to appoint the audit firm that will provide the
highest quality, most effective and efficient audit.

The Committee will continue to monitor the appcintment,
effectiveness and independence of PwC as external auditors,
as well as considering whether this proposed timing remains
appropriate in light of business developments, applicable law
and regulation.

In ling with the Committee's Terms of Reference, the
Committee undertock a thorough assessment of the quality,
effectiveness, value and independence of the 2021 financial
year audit provided by PwC. The Director of Audit and Risk
prepared a guestionnaire seeking the views and feedback
of the Board, together with those of Group and divisional
management, and it formed the basis of further discussion
wilh respondents. Input was sought from Committee
meambers and from members of the management team

on areas including the auditor’'s expertise, professionalism,
independence and challenge; their planning and audit
approach: the quality and contant of reporting and the
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cutputs frorn the audit; and governance of the audit
inciuding assessment of team members’ performance and
independence. The findings of the survey were considered
by the Committee and concluded that PwC continued

to perform effectively and rernains independent. As a
result, PwC's re-appointment as external auditors at the
forthcoming AGM is recommended to shareholders.

The Committee has a formal policy on the Company’s
relationship with its external auditors in respect of non-audit
work to ensure that auditor objectivity and independence
are maintained. The policy is reviewed annually by the
Cormmittee. The only non-audit work undertaken by PwC

in the financial year ended 31 August 2022 related to

the interim review. The auditors may only provide such
services If such advice does not conflict with their statutory
responsibilities and ethical guidance. The Committee made
enquiries of PwC and management and were satisfied that
no such conflict existed.

On behalf of the Committee, my approval is required before
the Company uses PwC for non-audit services as specifically
set out in the policy, or if the fees exceed £25000 per
matter. The Committee is satisfied that the Company was
compliant during the year with both the Code and the

FRC's Ethical and Auditing Standards in respect of the
scope and maximum level of permitted fees incurred for
non-audit services provided by PwC. For the financial year
ended 31 August 2022 the non-audit fees paid to PwC were
£115,000, of which £113,800 related to the interim review, and
the audit fees payable to PwC were £1138,000.

The Company has complied during the financial year under
review, and up to the date of this report, with the provisions
of the CMA Statutory Audit Services Order 2014,

Nicky Dulieu
Chair of the Audit Committee

10 Novernber 2022
A}
\ L
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Nominations Committee report

Henry Staunton

Financial statements Additional information

The Committee will continue to focus on
succession planning and talent management
for key roles in the business.”

Chair of the Nominations Committee

Nominations Committee

Dear Shareholder

As Chair of the Nominations Committee, | am pleased to
present my report on the activities of the Nominations
Cornmittee for the financial year ended 31 August 2022,
The Committee's principal responsibility is to ensure that
the Board comprises individuals with the requisite skills,
knowledge, independence and experience to ensure that

it is effective in discharging its responsibilities and ensure
that appropriate procedures are in place for the nomination,
selection and succession of directors and senicr executives,

The Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors. The other members of the Committee
are Kal Atwal, Annette Court, Carl Cowling, Nicky Duliey,
Simon Emeny, Marion Sears and Maurice Thompson, In the
event of any matters arising concerning my membership
of the Board, | would absent myself from the meeting as
required by the Code and the Senior Independent Director
waould take the Chair,

The Commiittee met five times during the year, The principal
rnatters discussed at the meetings were succession planning
for Board and senior exacutives, the appointment of Marion
Sears as a non-executive director and Annette Court as a
non-executive director and Chair Designate, career planning
and identifying talent across the businesses and reviewing
the werk that has been undertaken in respect of improving
diversity in the Cormpany’s senior executive group.

As reported last year, Simon Emeny, the Senior Independent
Director, led a search for my replacement as Chairman. A role
description and person specification were prepared and the
Company appointed an external recruitment consultant,
Lygon Group, to assist in the process of identification of
potential candidates. Lygon have signed up to the voluntary
cede of conduct for executive search firms and had no other
connection to the Company or its Directors. The Committee
was regularly appraised by Simon Emeny on progress to
identify and appoint my successor. Following this search, a
number of candidates were shortlisted and initially met with
Simon Emeny and the Company Secretary of whom three
then met the Group Chief Executive and the CFO/COQ0 As a
result of these interviews, two candidates met the remaining
members of the Board. At the conclusion of the recruitment
process, the Committee recormmended the appointment of
Annette Court to the Board.

The Committee keeps itself updated on key developments
relevant to the Company, including on the subject of diversity
and inclusion. The Board believes in creating throughout the
Company a culture free from discrimination in any form and
is proud of its lang history of being regarded as a responsible
and respected employer. The Board believes that the benefits
of a diverse workforce will help the Company achieve its
strategic objectives,

The Committee is fully committed to supporting diversity
and inclusicn at Boardroom and senior executive level in
compliance with the Code and recognises the importance

of diversity in effective decision-making. The long-tertn

aim is to increase the diversity of our Board in all forms.

The impeortance of diversity extends beyond the Board

to senior management and throughout the Company.

The Committee monitors the progress made to increase
diversity at Board and senior management levels and
compliance with targets and best practice recommendations
set for gender diversity by the FTSE Wornen Leaders Review
and for ethnic diversity by the Parker Review.

During the year under review, the Company had 37 per cent
women on the Board, 30 per cent in the Group Executive
Team and 35 per cent in the senior leadership team.

The Board is committed to strengthening the pipeline of
women in senior roles across the business and an action
plan has been agreed to take further steps to improve
workplace diversity.

The Company requires gender balanced shortfists for all
internal and external recruitment at a senicr executive

level to ensure that we attract more women at senior level.
Further information on the gender balance of those in
senior management and their direct reports is set out in
the Strategic report on page 42. The Company continues
to work with "Everywornan” who provide a host of personal
development tools aimed at women and also provide our
employees with links to an external network of professional
women in other organisations.

The Board recognises that diversity is not limited to gender,
but includes skills, experience, ethnicity, disability and sexual
orientation. The Board is committed to having a diverse and
inclusive ieadership team and will monitor ethnic diversity
across the Graup. The Company has complied with the
recommendations of the Parker Review. Actions include the
provision of mentoring, as well as focused initiatives to better
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understand the challenges faced by under-represented
groups employed within the Company. The Company’s
recruitment policy reauires that for all senior rmanagement
roles there must be a shartlist which includes at least one
candidate from a non-white minority ethnic background.
We will continue to appoint on merit, whilst aiming to
broaden the diversity of the talent pipeline.

The Company has a Diversity and Inclusion committee
consisting of employees from across the Group together
with the Group Chief Executive and the Group People
Director. The committee met ten times during the financiat
year ended 31 August 2022 and made recommendations
on recruitment, and engaged with our customers and
employees to rark cultural and diversity related events
during the year. The work of the Diversity and inclusion
committes is reported to the ESG Committee.

Further information on diversity is set out in the Employees
section of the Strategic report on pages 40 to 42,

The Committee will continue to focus on succession planning
and talent management for key roles across the business,

to ensure the Company develops a pipeline of high-quality
internal candiclates for senicr management roles. Work is
being undertaken to ensure succession arrangements are in
place for Board members and key management.

The latest Board evaluation report confirmed that the culture
of the Board is excellent, being very open and collaborative.
The Board continues to have a broad mix of skilis, diversity,
experience and tatent, which enables the Beard and the
Commiliees to work effectively. Details of the Board
evaluation which tock place in July 2022 are set out on
pages 70 and /1.

This will be iy last letter to you as Chair of the Nominations
Commiliee. As previously announced, Annette Court
succeeds e as Chair of the Board and of the Nominations
Committee on 1 December 2022. | wish Annette every
success in the future.

Henry Staunton
Chair of the Nominations Committee

/
10 Novernber 2022
%ﬂ %‘\
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The Committee is providing the Board
with enhanced oversight of the Company’s

ESG activities.”

Kal Atwal

Chair of the ESG Committee

ESG Committee

Dear Shareholder

As Chair of the ESG Committee, | am pleased to present

my first report on the activities of the ESG Committee for
the financial year ended 31 August 2022, Sustainability is an
integral part of the Company's purpose and is embedded in
our values and the way in which we operate. The Committee
has been established to ocversee the Company's approach to
ESG and it has an important role to play in contributing to
the long-term success of the business.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
the Company’s strategy, policies and performance in relation
to ESG matters and ensuring they are integrated into the
core business strategy of the Group. The Committee is also
rasponsible for approving key performance indicators; short,
medium and long-term ESG targets and monitoring progress
towards targets on a regular basis, The Committee’s Terms
of Reference are available on the Company's website at
whisrmithplc.co.uk.

The Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors. The members of the Committee are
Carl Cowling, Nicky Dulieu, Simon Emeny, Marion Sears,
Henry Staunton and Maurice Thompson. The Committee
met three times during the year, receiving inputs from senior
managers across the business and regular updates from

the ESG Steering Committee which is chaired by the Group
Chief Executive.

Cne of the key considerations of the Committee is ensuring
the interests of stakeholders are included in any review of
the Company's approach to ESG and sustainability:

« Investors: strong, Board-level ESG governance is a key
requirement of an effective sustainability programme.

« Governments and palicy makers: local and international
legal and regulatory obligations on ESG topics continue
to Increase.

« Landlords and suppliers; upholding high ethical standards
throughout our value chain is critical for landlords,
business partners and suppliers when deciding whether
they should do business with WHSmith.

» Local communities and NGOs: ESG topics affect the fives
of the people in the communities that we serve and the
non-governmental organisations that we work with.

= Employees: employeeas take pride in working for a
purpose-driven organisation with high £5G standards.
In reviewing the Company's overall approach to ESG and
sustainakility, the Committee received an update from the
Group Sustainability Director on key external drivers and
the views of different stakeholder groups. The Committee
assessed the most materiat ESG risks and the mitigation
measures in place to ensure they are being appropriately
managed and reported. Following on from the materiality
assessment, the Committee reviewed the Company’s
sustainability strategy. assessing recent progress under the
three strategic pillars of Planet, Pecple and Communities
and approving an updated set of cbjectives and targets for
future activity. The Committee also approved updates for all
ESG-related policies during the financiat vear.

Under the Planet pillar of the strategy, the Committee
dedicated one of its meetings to climate change, including
the requirements for net zero and for reporting in line with
the recommendations and recornmended disclosures of
the Task Force on Climate-retated Financial Disclosures
(TCFD). The Committee received a briefing on the scope

of the TCFD recommencdations, and the Company's
approach to reporting in accordance with the UK's Financial
Conduct Authority Listing Rule on climate-related financial
disclosures. This formed a pre-cursor to the approval

of TCFD reporting disclosures by the Audit Committee.

The Committee also approved a revised target for the
business to reach net zero emissions by 2050, with near
term targets for a reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions and
for engaging with suppliers to ensure science based targets
are in place (see pages 53 to 56.)

In relation to People, the Committee reviewed the results
of the Employee Engagement survey and approved the
action plan to increase engagement across the Company.
The Committee received a presentation on the Company’s
approach to responsible sourcing and human rights,

and provided advice to management on mitigating risk.
The Committee reviewed the Company's approach to
Modern Slavery due diligence and recommended to the
Beoard approval of the Group Modern Slavery statement
for FY2022.

During the year, the Committee also discussed the
Company's approach te community engagement and
suppert for children's literacy through its worl with the
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Maticnal Literacy Trust. The Committes was informed about
the difference that WHSMmith's contributions are making

to the lives of children in socially disadvantaged parts of
the UK, and Lthe impact that it is having on children’s ability
lo read.

For the first time, ESG performance metrics will form

part of the Long Term Incentive Plan for awards in 2022,

in reviewing the ESG strategy and ensuring that objectives
ancl targets are appropriate for driving improvement, the
ESG Committee provided support to the Remuneration
Committee in chowvsing appropriate measures.

Over the next year, | look forward to the Committee's
continued oversight and scrutiny of the Group’s ESG agenda,
including further presentations from senior executives and
experts from acicss the Company. During 2023, the Committee
will review the Group's diversity and inclusion programme,
the plans for supplier engagemaeant on net zero and how

the ESG programme is being adopted by the Company's
internationai operations.

P
Kal Atwal A
Chair of the ESG Committee  ~  / -

10 November 2022
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Directors’ remuneration report

Marion Sears

Our Directors’ remuneration policy has worked
well supporting the Company’s long-term strategy
and providing alignment with stakeholders.”

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Annual statement from the Remuneration
Committee Chair

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee {the "Committee™),

I am pleased to present the Directors’ remuneration report
far the financial year ended 31 August 2022 which is in line
with the Company's approved Directors' remuneration policy.
The Directors’ remuneration policy was supported by 88 per
cent of our sharehalders at our AGM in 2022.

The Company's Directors’ remuneration pelicy can be
summarised as providing at or below the median of market
levels of fixed pay but with the opportunity to earn upper
quartile fevels of remuneration if the executives deliver
superior returns for shareholders.

Executive remuneration packages are structured so
that they:

+ are aligned to the Company's strategy tc deliver
shareholcer returns and promote its long-term success;

« are aligned with the interests of shareholders;

= are competitive and provide & very clear bias to variable
pay with stretching and rigorous performance measures
and conditions;

« do not promote unacceptable behaviours or encourage
unacceptable risk taking;

+ include robust malus/clawback provisions and holding
periods which permit the recoupment of variable pay
if the pay-out was based on misstated financial resuits
or an error or incorrect information, or if the Committee
concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus year
or vesting period which would have warranted summary
dismissal of the individual concerned or if there is an
insolvency having regard to the Committee’s assessment
of the involvement of the individual to such event; and

= take into account Company-wide pay and
employment conditions.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on
wage 173

The Company’s Directors' remnuneration policy has worked
well supporting the Company's long-term strategy to create
shareholder value. You can see how the Company has, over
the past ten years, generated shareholder value in the TSR
graph on page 95.

Executive pay outcome for the financial
yvear ended 31 August 2022

The Group returned to profitability this year with Headiine
Group profit before tax and nen-underlying items' of

£73m. This result was an increase in profitability of £128m
compared to a loss of £55m in the previous financial year.
This strong performance was achieved as a result of the
actions taken by management both to re-open closed
outlets following the pandemic, as well as to focus significant
effort on winning new business, especially in Travel, and
open newly-won outlets quickly to take advantage of the
resurgence of travel during the Easter and Summer periods.
The easing of Covid-19 related restrictions around the worid
led to a rebound in demand at Travel outlets in most parts
of the world and placed significant pressure on supply chain
logistics and staffing levels. As a result of key decisions
including an interim workforce pay award, management
achieved an excellent start to the post-Covid-19 recovery
and the Company is proposing to pay its first dividend since
January 2020. Further information regarding the Company’s
performance during the year can be found in the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 63.

As set out above, management were well prepared, and
we believe the strong start to our business recovery in

the year is fairly reflected in a fuil benus pay-out for the
executive directors, However, for the third consecutive year
LTIP vesting has been affected as a result of the impact

of Covid-19 on the Company. The 2019 LTIP awards which
were subject to the achievement of EPS and relative TSR
performance measures over the three years ended 31 August
2022 have not met threshold performance and the awards
have lapsed. Accordingly, the total remuneration earned by
Carl Cowling was £1,632,000 and the total remuneration
earned by Robert Moorhead was £1,293,000.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Salary

Faollowing the annual salary review in March 2022, the
majority of the Company’s employees (who are based in
stores and Distribution Centres) received a 6.6 per cent
pay increase, head office employees received a 4 per cent
pay increase and senior executives received a 3 per cent
pay increase with effect from 1 April 2022, As a result of
economic pressures and the impact upoen ait aspects of
recruitment, in order to support colleagues and ensure
the staffing capability needed for our business recovery,
the Company, as a responsible employer, decided to bring
forward the March 2023 pay review by nine months and
increased the pay of store colleagues in the UK High
Street and Travel businesses with effect from 1July 2022,
This decision further increased the pay of these employees
by approximately 5 per cent. The next salary review for all
ermployees will be in March 2023.

Robert Moorhead, in line with other senior executives,
received a pay inCrease of 3 per cent with effect from
1 April 2022

As explained in 2020 and 2021, and as previously discussed
with shareholders, Carl Cowling was appointed as Chief
Executive in November 2019 on a base salary of £525,000.
It was intended this should rise in staged increments,
according to best practice, to £600,000 by 1 April 2022,
However, as explained in 2021, due te the Covid-19 lockdown
much of the business was closed, directors ook a reduction
in salary/fees and Carl Cowling's planned increases were
delayed. Now that the business recovery is established, the
Cornmittee has fulfilled its commitment to Carl Cowling and
has brought his base salary to a level slightly below median
for FTSE 250 CEQs, Accordingly. during the period under
review, Carl Cowling's salary increased from £550,000

to £575000 with effect from 1 September 2021 (delayed
from | April 2021) and to £600,000 with effect from 1 April
2022, This increase was in line with the arrangements put

in place on his appointment as Group Chief Executive in
Novernber 2019.

Annual bonus

For the financial year ended 31 August 2022, the bonus target
reverted to Headling profit before tax and non-underlying
items’ as the primary metric rather than Headline EBITDA!
which was used in the previous financial year.

The Group's Headline profit before tax and non-underlying
itemns' for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 was £73m
compared to a loss of £55m for the financial year ended

31 August 2021 This exceptional performance resulted

in approximately 2,245 employees receiving a bonus

wnder the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended

31 August 2022,
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As a result of this performance, Carl Cowling will receive

a bonus payment of £960,000 of which £499,200 will

be deferred into shares and Robert Moorhead will receive
a bonus payment of £725,120 of which E377.062 will be
deferred into shares. The deferred shares must be held

for up to three years and then retained it the director

has not met the Company’s share ownership guidefines.
The executive directors’ personai objectives are set out on
page 97 The Committee determined that the formulaic
out-turn under the annual bonus plan was appropriate and
should be applied without discretionary adjustment.

LTIP

The 2019 LTIP vesting percentage was determined by

the growth in the Company's Headline EPS and relative
TSR gver the three year performance period which ended
on 31 August 2022, The Company did not meet the
performance targets for the 2019 LTIP and the awards
lapsed. The Committee determined that the formulaic out-
turn under the LTIP was appropriate and should be applied
without discretionary adjustment,

Pay for the financial year ending
31 August 2023

The Company will continue to apply the Directors’
remuneration policy during the financial year ending
31 August 2023 and in particular:

» as reported as part of the Directors’ remuneration policy
renewal, performance targets for the LTIP awards to be
granted in November 2022 will be based 20 per cent on
ESG metrics, 40 per cent on Headline EPS and 40 per cent
against relative TSR;

« the pension contributions for Carl Cowling and Robert
Moorhead will be reduced to align with the wider
workforce rate of 3 per cent from 1 January 2023; and

+ the fee paid to the Chair of the Company will increase
from £256,150 to £320,600 per annum from 1 December
2022. In assessing chair fees as part of cur chalr
succession process, we noted the increased fee levels for
this role generally and took into account the increasing
compiexity of the Group's international operations and
giobal strategic positioning together with reviewing
relevant benchmarking from FIT.

Salaries for the executive directors are reviewed with

effect from April each year and ne decision has been taken

regarding any potential increase from April 2023.
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Stakeholder alignment

Alter considering the experience of each of our stakeholder
groups during the financial year ended 31 August 2022, the
Committee believes that the rermuneration of the executive
directors is propoertionate and appropriate when taking into
account the experience of the Company’s stakeholders.

fn making this determination, the Committee considered
the following factors:

+ The financial performance of the Group has been strong.
As a result of managernent actions undertaken during
the financial year which enabled the Company to take
advantage of increased economic activity more generally
and in travel in particular, the Company returned to
profitability by making a Headline PBT' of £73m.

= Whilst the financial position has clearly been impacted
by Covid-19, the Committee considers that management
has made significant progress on the Group's strategic
abjectives. The Committee believes that the Group is now
well placed to generate high growth as restrictions ease
and the global travel market continues to recover.

« Ali eligible employees received at least one pay
increase during the vear. The majority of the Company's
employees (who are based in stores and Distribution
Centres) received a 6.6 per cent pay increase, head office
employees received a 4 per cent pay increase and senior
executives received a 3 per cent pay increase with effect
from T April 2022. The Company also brought forward the
March 2023 pay review by nine months and increased the
pay of store colleagues in the UK High Street and Travel
businesses with effect from 1 July 2022,

« Positive feedback was received following ernployee
engagement on remunearation,

= Continued support was given to local communities
and charitabe activity. You can read more about the
Company's work on page 35.

» The Company did not receive any UK furlough support in
the financial year despite the ongoing impact of Covid-19
on the business, particularly in the first half of the year.

» The Company is resuming the payment of dividends
to shareholders as the directors have proposed a final
dividend of 91 pence per share for the financial year ended
31 August 2022 (no dividends were paid in respect of the
2020 and 2021 financial years).

1 Alternative performance measure described and explained i the Glossary on
page 173

Financial statements Additional information

Shareholder engagement

During the year, the Committee consulted with our largest
shareholders and their representative bodies on the Company's
new Directors' remuneration policy. The feedback was
supportive of the introduction of ESG performance measures
in the Company's LTIP and was helpful for both the Board and
the Committee in finalising the Directors' rermuneration policy.
which was approved by shareholders at the 2022 AGM.

Foliowing the 2022 AGM, at which a significant minority

of shareholders voted against the Directors’ remuneration
report, |, as the new Committee Chair, engaged again with
the Company’s largest shareholders and representatives.

The feedback from those shareholders who engaged was
considered by the Committee. The Committee noted that
most of the concerns raised by shareholders related to issues
specific to the impact of Covid-12 on the Cornpany and that
these issues would not recur in the financial year ended

31 August 2022,

Conclusion

During the year the leadership team focused on the strategic
decisions needed to establish a strong recovery from the
Covid-19 pandemic. As a result of improving performance

of the Travel business, maintaining High Street performance,
securing new Travel outlets, and introducing further pay

and benefit suppart for workforce colleagues, management
has delivered a strong financial result for shareholders,
returning to profitability and recommending the payment of
a dividend. Accordingly, the total remuneration earned by
the CEC and CFO/COO reflects a full borus payment but, as
a result of the impact of Covid-19, does not include any LTIP
vesting as the LTIP award made in 2019 has lapsed.

In the current year we will continue to support workforce
colleagues with competitive pay and listen carefully

to feedback through continued engagement. We are
including £ESG climate and jpeople metrics in the LTIP for
the first time and we will work hard to ensure that we
deliver the continued business recovery for the benefit of
all stakehclders.

I hope that shareholders will support the Directors’
remuneration report and | look forward to meeting you
at the AGM.

Marion Sears

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

10 November 2022

Mo, Socn.

e ——
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

This Directors’ Remuneration Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Large and Medium-Sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, as
amendled in 2013, 2018 and 2013 (the "Regulations™), LR 9.8
of the UKLA Listing Rules and the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2018 (the "Code™).

1. Information subject to audit
The following information has been audited by PwC;

+ Section 210 - Summary of non-executive directors’
remuneration 2022,

Section 211 - Summary of executive directors’
remuneration 2022;

Section 212 - Payments made to former directors;

Section 213 - Payments for loss of office;
Section 218 - Annual bonus targets,
Section 219 - Share plans; and

*

* Section 2.22 - Directors’ interests in shares.

2.  Annual Directors’ remuneration report

The Committee presents the annual report on remuneration

which, together with the introductory tetter by the Chair of the
Cormmittee on pages 83 to 85, will be put to shareholders as
an advisory voie at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

2.1  Remuneration Committee

Marion Sears is Chair of the Committee. The other members
of the Commiltes are Kai Atwal, Nicky Dulieu, Simon Emeny,
Henry Staunton and Maurice Thompson. Annemarie Durbin
stepped down as Chair of the Committee on 19 January 2022
At the invitation of the Committee, the Group Chief Executive
and representatives of the Committee’s external independent
remuneration adviser regularly attend meetings.
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The Committee met seven times during the year.

All Committee members are expected to attend meetings,
The table on page 68 in the Corporate governance report
shows the number of meetings held during the year
ended 31 August 2022 and the attendance record of
individual directors.

In order to avoid any conflict of interest, remuneration is
managed through well-defined processes ensuring no
incividual is involved in the decision-making process related
to their own remuneration. In particular, the remuneration
of all executive directors 1s set and approved by Lhe
Comrittee; none of the executive directors are involved in
the determination of their own remuneration arrangements.
The Committee also receivas support from external advisers
and evaluates the support provided by those advisers
annually to ensure that advice is independent, appropriate
and cost-effective.

During the year, the Committee continued to receiva advice
from FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP (FIT), which is

a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group (the
professional body) and adheres to its code of conduct.

FIT was appointed by the Committee following a formal
review and has no other relationship with the Company or
any individual director. The Committee is satisfied that FIT
continues to provide objective and independent advice.
FIT's fees in respect of the year under review were £45943
(excluding VAT) and were charged on the basis of FiT's
standard terms of business.

Wendy Stroud, Group People Director, and lan Houghton,
Company Secretary, also materially assisted the Committee
in carrying out its duties, except in relation to their own
remuneration. No director or manager is involved in any
decisions as to their own remuneration. The Group Chief
Executive also attends Committee meetings but excludes
himself in relation to discussion of his own remuneration,

as does the Chairman,

The Committee maintains an ongoing dialogue with aur
major sharehalders and proxy agencies to understand their
views. Any major changes to the Directors’ remuneration
policy or its operation would be subject to prior consultation
as necessary,
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Key Committee activities during the year

Alignment to strategy
and wider workforce

Assessed the ongoing alignment of remuneration structures, measures and targets
to strategy.

Reviewed wider workforce remuneration.

Reviewed the gender pay gap report and recommended to the Board that the gender
pay gap report be published.

Engaged with the workforce about executive remuneration.

Shareholder engagement

Considered investor feedback on the Directors’ remuneration policy and the voting
outcomes at the 2022 AGM.

Pay for performance

Assessed performance against targets set for the financial year ended 31 August 2021
annual bonus and LTIP awards granted in the financial year ended 31 August 2019
and considered whether any discretion should be used to adjust formulaic cutcomes
if necessary.

Reviewed and approved targets for annual bonus and LTIR.

Reviewed the performance of the executive directors and senior leadership tearn against
personal objectives.

Considered remuneration to ensure that it retains and motivates an cutstanding
management team.

Governance Reviewed progress of the executive directors against shareholding requirernents.
Approved the 202] Directors' remuneration report.
Pay/fees Approved pay rises for Carl Cowling, Robert Moorhead and the senior leadership team.

Approved the Chairman’s fee increase.

Approved the fees of the new Chair, Annette Court, prior to her appointment. The fee
paid to the Chair of the Company will increase from £256,150 to £320,000 per
annum from 1 December 2022, In assessing chair feas as part of the chair succession
process, the Committee noted the increased fee levels for this role generally and
took into account the increasing complexity of the Group's internaticnal operations
and global strategic positioning together with reviewing relevant benchmarking from
FIT Annette Court will be paid £60,000 per annum as a non-executive director from
1 September 2022 which shall increase to £320,000 per annum from the date she
becomes Chair on 1 December 2022.
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The Committee also considered the factors set out in Provision 40 of the Code. The Committee believes that the Company's
current Directors’ remuneration policy addresses those factors as set out below:

Simplicity « the Directors' remuneration policy and our approach to its implermentation are simple,
appropriately designed and well understoad, reinforcing the Group's culture as well
as strategy;
+ the Committee reviews performance metrics and targets each year to ensure that they
continue to be clear and aligned to delivery of the strateay;

the performance measures used in the incentive plans are well aligned to the Group's
strategy and goals, with stretching and achievable targets: the maximum awards under
any award are clearly stated and, therefore, predictable;

-

Predictability

the balanced approach is proportionate and drives behaviours that promaote high
performance and sustainable growth to drive the long-term success of the Company for
the benefit of all stakeholders, without encouraging or rewarding excessive risk-taking;

+ the Committee retains sufficient discretion to adjust formulaic incentive outcomes

or require the repayment of previous awards to ensure that poor performance is

not rewarded;

Propoartionality

Risk + the Committee reviews and sets performance targets each year to ensure that they
drive the right behaviours and are appropriately stretching without encouraging
unnecessary risks;

« risk management is operated through annual bonus deferral, LTIP holding periods and
post-employment shareholding;

malus and clawback pravisions apply to the annual bonus, DBP and LTIF;

the Committee maintains a continual dialegue with shareholders and proxy agencies to

understand their views, We consulted with shareholders on remuneration arrangements,

listening to and taking into account the feedback we received when developing the

remuneration policy;

= our approach to disclosure is transparent with clear rationale provided on its
maintenance and any changes to policy;

= when considering remuneration for executive directors and senior management, the

Committee takes into account the pay and conditions of employees across the Group

and, where appropriate, exercises oversight of remuneration throughout the Compary;

Clarity

Alignment to culture + the Committee assesses performance under the annual bonus plan against a range of
objectives, including those refated to our values and strategy;

the introduction of ESG targets to the LTIP from the grant in 2022 will further help to
ensura incentive schemes drive behaviours consistent with Company purpose, values
and strategy.
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2.2 How our Directors’ remuneration policy is
linked to our strategy
Our Directors’ remuneration policy focuses on an approach
to pay which we believe is in our shareholders' best interests
and promotes the fong-term success of the Company.
Whiist it provides executive rernuneration packages which
are campetitive, there is a very clear bias to variable pay
with stretching and rigorous performance measures
and conditions designed to deliver superior returns for
shareholders. Our Directors’ rernuneration policy has worked
well supporting the Company's long-term strategy to
create shareholder value and recruit high calibre executives.
You can see how the Company has generated shareholder
returns in the TSR graph on page 95.

2.3 Engaging with our employees on pay
Employee engagement is supported through clear
communication of the Group's perfarmance and objectives.
This information is cascaded via team briefings, employee
avents, intranet sites and e-newsletters. We conduct regular
employee engagement surveys and the results are shared
with all staff and actions agreed to respond to specific points
of feedback, with employee focus groups used to help
ungerstand the staff feedback in more depth.

The Committee receives regular reports from the

Group Peaple Director and Seniar Managers on Group
remuneration. The reports cover changes to pay. benefits,
pensicns and share schemes, Additionally, Simon Emeny,
non-~executive director with responsibility for workforce
engagement, and Marion Sears, Chair of the Committee,
attended employee forums to discuss, amongst other
topics, the Company's approach to remuneration and,
more specifically, executive remuneration and how this
aligns to the wider Company pay policy. The Committee
considers the feedback from these sessions when making
decisions on executive remuneraticon, and the results of
employee engagement surveys which include questions
about pay and working environment are discussed by the
Committee and the Board.

The Company is proud of its tong history of being regarded
as a responsible and respected employer and regularly
reviews the overall structure of pay practices across the
Group and the wider retail sector to ensure it remains
competitive and is able to retain and attract employees.
During the year, management's specific targeted actions
have reduced the number of employee vacancies although
the employment market remains challenging both in the UK
and in many international locations.

Financlal statements Additional information

2.4 Statement of consideration of employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and
differences to executive director policy

Qur employees are 3 key component of the Company's

performance and our overall reward strategy aims to support

this. When considering remuneration arrangements for
executive directors and senior managernent, the Cornmittee
takes into account the pay and conditions of employees
across the Group. The Committee receives in-depth data
from the Group People Director on wider workforce pay and
conditions and, where appropriate, exercises oversight of
remuneration throughout the Group.

Our approach to reward for our employees is based on the

following principles:

» competitive: setting pay with reference to internal relativity
and external market practices;

+ simple: helping all employees to understand hiow they
are rewarded;

+ fair: achieving consistent outcomes through flexible and
transparent policies; and

sustainable: aligning reward to business strategy
and performance.

All employees are entitled to base salary and benefits,
including pension and staff discount. The Company operates
an HMRC Approved Save-As-You-Earn share option
scheme ("Sharesave Scherme™) which provides employees
with the opportunity to acquire shares in the Company.
Approximately 560 employees participate in the Sharesave
Scheme. Our Employee Assistance Programrme offers ali
ermployees access to free, 24/7 confidential telephone,
oniine and face-to-face advice for problems they may be
experiencing at home or wark. Employees also have access
to the Company's Benevalent Fund charity, which can
provide financial assistance in cases of significant hardship
and provide recuperative holidays and care breaks.

Participation in a pension plan is offered to all employees
on a centributory basis and we have approximately 5765
employees in our pension plans.

2.5 Gender pay disclosures

The Committee reviewed the gender pay gap report and
recommended tc the Board that the gender pay gap
report be published, You can find more information on the
Company's gender pay gap and the actions that are being
implemented to reduce it on pages 41 to 42.

2.6 Senior executive remuneration

The Committee approved the remuneration of the
Company’s senior executives during the financial year ended
31 August 2022,
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2.7 Performance measure selection and
approach to target setting
Annual bonus plan
The performance targets used under the annual bonus plan
are set annually to support the Company's strategic priorities
and reinforce financial performance. The performance
targets are typically set by the Cormmittee based on a range
of factors, principally the Company's budget as approved
by the Board. The Committee agreed that the performance
targets for the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended
31 August 2022 should revert to being based on Headline
profit before tax and non-undertying items'. The Committee.
in setting the bonus targets for the financial year ended
ST August 20227, was mindful of the impact of Covid-19 on
the Cornpany and the markets in which we operate and
took into consideration market consensus for the financial
year ended 31 August 2022, The Committee agreed that
the range used to determine the level of pay-out under the
annual bonus plan in respect of the financial targets should
ke widened given that the proposed target pay-out under
the annual bonus plan was stretching and uncertain due to
on-going and unpredictable Covid19 restrictions.

Participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement
of a financial target, for example, Headline profit before tax
and nen-underlying items’ and a personal rating measured
against one or more specific financial and/or non-financial
objectives, inciuding £SG targets. The maximuim level

of bonus paid to a participant in the plan is dependent

on the achievement of both the maxinwum target for the
financial target and the highest personal performance
rating. The Comimittee sets a threshold pay-out target

and a maaimum pay-cut target with straight-tine vesting
between the targets.

In exceptional circumnstances, up to 20 per cent of the
maximum Bonus cpportunity may be payable independent
of the financial out-turn. For on-target achievement of the
financial target and a good personal rating. an executive
would earn approximately 48 per cent of the maximum
bonus available under the annual bonus plan. Any bonus in
excess of the on-target level is deferred into shares under
the Deferred Bonus Plan ("DBP”). One third of the shares
are released on cach anniversary of the date of grant.

Different bonus measures and targets may apply in
subseguent years within the overall constraints of the plan.

1 Alternative performance measure described and explained in the Glossary on
page 173
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Long-term incentives .

The Committee regularly reviews the performance targets
applicable to the LTIP to ensure that they align with the
Company's strategy and reinforce; financial performance.
The performance targets are typically set by the Committee
bhased on a range of factors, inciuding the Company's three
year plan, sustainabiiity strategy and the market sectors

in which it operates. The Committee may change the
rmeasures and/or targets in respecit of subseguent awards.
The Committee believes that a combination of financial,
market-based conditians and corporate responsibility as the
basis for the performance targets for the LTIP is best suited
to the needs of the Company and its shareholders in order
to reward sustained long-term performance and the creation
of shareholder value. The performance targets for awards
madle under the LTIP in the financial year ended 31 August
2022 were 50 per cent growth in Headline pre-tax earnings
per share and 50 per cent based on relative TSR over three
financial years ending 31 August 2024 compared with the
FTSE All Share Retailers index.

The Committee is proposing that any awards made in the
financial year ending 31 August 2023 will be based on the
following targets each measured over the three financial
years ending 31 August 2025:

» 40 per cent based on Headline pre-tax earnings per
share (calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis). EPS has been
defined as fully diluted (including an assumption that the
convertible bonds issued in 2020 fully convert into shares)
before non-underlying items and excluding 1AS 19 pension
charges together with other adjustments as consiciered
appropriate by the Committee (although practice has
been to make limited adjustments);

« 40 per cent based on relative TSR over three financial
years caomparad with the FTSE All Share Retaiters Index.
I hreshold vesting will occur for TSR in line will rmedian
and rnaximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the
upper quartile of the comparator group; and

+ 20 per cent based on the ESG measures as set out in the
table on page 98.
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2.8 Implementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in the financial year ended 31 August 2022
This section sets out how the Directors’ remuneration policy has been implemented in the financial yvear ended

31 August 2022,

Element of pay

Implementation of policy

Executive directors

Base salary

As previously reported, Carl Cowling's salary increased from £55C,000 to £575,000
with effect from 1 September 2021 and to £600,000 with effect from 1 April 2022 in
accordance with the arrangements put in place on his appointment as Group Chief
Executive in November 2019, This reflects an effective increase of nine per cent,

Robert Moorhead, in line with other senior executives, received a pay increase of three
per cent with effect from 1 April 2022

The current salaries are: Carl Cowling - £600,000; and Rabert Moorhead - £453,200.

Benefits

No changes were rmade to these elements of remuneration within the financial year
ended 31 August 2022 (although the cost of providing benefits may change without any
action by the Company).

Executive directors received a car allowance, private medical insurance and life assurance,
in addition to other benefits, during the financial year ended 31 August 2022.

Pension

Carl Cowling received a total benefit equivalent to 12.5 per cent of base salary and Roberl
Moorhead received a total benefit equivalent to 25 per cent of base salary. During the
financial year ended 31 August 2022, Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead received all

of their pension contribution as a salary supplement after applying for fixed protection,
Part of the amount otherwise paid to the Company’s defined contribution scheme was
recluced ta reflect the requirement te pay emplovers' National Insurance.

Annual bonus

The bonus payable for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 in respect of Carl Cowling
and Robert Mocrhead was £960,000 and £725120 respectively.

The bonus was assessed against a sliding scale target of Headline profit before tax and
non-underlying items! and is then moderated (on a downwards only basis) by reference
to the achieverment of personal objectives.

The target range for the year ended 31 August 2022 and achievernent of personal
objectives is set out on page 97.

Long-term incentives

Annual LTIP awards were set at 335 per cent for Carl Cowling and 310 per cent for
Robert Moorhead.

The terms of and the performance measures applicable to the LTIP awards made in the
financial year ended 31 August 2022 are described on page 98.

Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following measures: 50 per cent is
based on EPS growth and 50 per cent is based on relative TSR, The performance pericd
is three years. There is a subseguent two-year holding period.

The Committee approved these performance measures as they are directly linked to the
objectives set out in the Group's strategy; there is a direct link with sharehclder value ang
there is a clear line of sight for participants between performance and reward,

The Committee retains a broad discretion to reduce vesting levels, including if it considers
that there would otherwise be a windfail gain or if management fail to deliver on the
Company's overall ESG expectations.

The award granted in November 2019 lapsed as the Company did not meet the
performance targets.

1 Alternmative performance measure described and explained in the Gilessary on

page 173
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Element of pay

implementation of palicy

Shareholding guidelines

Carl Cowling is required to held 300 per cent of salary in shares. Robert Moorhead is
required to hold 250 per cent of salary in shares. In accordance with the Company's
Directors’ remuneration poticy, Carl Cowling is expected to achieve cormpliance with the
shareholding requirernent within six years of him joining the Board on 26 February 2019.

As at 31 August 2022 Carl Cowling held 33,08 shares with a value of £473.279
(approximately 79 per cent of salary) and Robert Moorhead held 197,973 shares with a
value of £2,830,024 (approximately 624 per cent of safary).

Carl Cowling is required to retain shares worth 300 per cent of salary and Robert
Moorhead (or any other executive directors) to retain shares worth 250 per cent of salary
for two vears post-cessation of employment. This requirernent applies to new awards and
all unvested awards frorn the adoption of the policy in January 2022.

Malus/clawback

The annual bonus plan, DBP and LTIP rules include a provision for clawback (before or
within a period of three years following payment or vesting or earlier change of control)
of a bonus or award if (a) the Company materially misstated its financial results and as
a result the bonus or award was made, paid or vested to a greater extent than it should
have been (b) the extent to which any performance target or other condition was met
was based on an error or inaccurate or misleading information or assumptions and as

a result the bonus or award was made, paid or vested to a greater extent than it should
have been {c) the Cormmittee concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus
year or vesting period which would have warranted summary dismissal of the individual
concerned or (d) there is an event of insolvency having regard to the involvernent of the
individual executive in the circumstances which led to such insolvency.

Non-executive directors

Annual fees

The fees of the Chairman of the Board and non-executive directors were increased with
effect from 1 April 2022, The current fees are £256,150 for the Chairrnan of the Board and
£60,000 for the role of non-executive director with additional fees of:

(i) £15,000 payable for the role of Senior Independent Director ("SID"3; andl
(i) £15,000 payable for being the Chair of the Audit, ESG or Remuneration Committee.
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2.9 Implementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in the financial year ending 31 August 2023
This section sets oul how the Directors’ remuneration palicy will be implemented in the financial year ending 31 August 2023

Element of pay

Implementation of policy

Executive directors

Base salary Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be eligible, in line with other head office staff, for
any increase in salary from 1 April 2023 following the March 2023 review.

Benefits No changes are expected to be made to these elements of remuneration within the
financial year ending 31 August 2023,

Pension The pension contributions for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to align

with the wider workforce rate of 3 per cent from 1 January 2023,

Annual bonus

The bonus opportunity for Carl Cowiing and Robert Moorhead will be 160 per cent of |
annual salary. It is envisaged that the bonus metrics will be based on a matrix of financial

and personal performance. Any bonus in excess of the on-target level will be deferred

into shares.

Long-term incentives

Anrnual LTIP awards will be set at 335 per cent of salary for Carl Cowling and 310 per J
cent for Robert Moorhead. Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following .
measures' 40 per cent is based on EPS growth, 40 per cent is based on relative TSR '
and 20 per cent on ESG measures. The level of award vesting for threshold performance

is 25 per cent. The EPS performance targets will be based on the growth in Headline

pre-tax earnings per share. The TSR condition remains a median to upper guarlile scale

relative to the FTSE All Share Retailers Index constituents. The ESG measures are a

reduction in Scope 1and 2 carbon emission intensity; engagement with suppliers in

respect of Scope 3 carbon emissions; meeting gender diversity targets; and improved

empiloyee engagement.

Shareholding guidelines

Carl Cowling is required to hold 300 per cent of salary in shares and Robert Moorhead
is required to hold 250 per cent of salary in shares, The post-cessation share ownership
guidelines require Carl Cowling to retain shares worth 300 per cent of salary and Robert
Moorhead (or any other executive directors appointed) to retain shares worth 250 per
cent of salary for two years post-cessation of employment, This requirement applies to
new awards and all unvested awards from the adoption of the Directors’ remuneration
policy in January 2022,

Malus/clawback

No changes are expected to be made to the malus and ciawback provisicns set out in the
annual bonus plan, DBP and LTIP rules.

The Directors’ remuneration policy

Element of pay

in respect of the non-executive directors will be applied as follows:

Implementation of palicy

Non-executive directors

Annual fees

The fees of the new Chair, Annette Court, will be £320,000 per annum from 1 December
2022. The fee paid to the Chair of the Company will increase from E256,150 to £320,000
per annum from 1 December 2022. [n assessing chair fees as part of the chair succession
process, the Committee noted the increased fee levels for this role generally and ook
into account the increasing complexity of the Group's international operations and global
strategic positioning together with reviewing relevant benchmarking from FIT.

The fees of the Chair and non-executive directors will be subject to a review in
March 2023,
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210 Summary of non-executive directors’ remuneration 2022 (audited)

The table below summarises the total remuneration for non-executive directors as a single figure for the financial year ended
31 August 2022, Non-executive directors are not paid a pension and do not participate in any of the Company's variable
incentive schemes:

Base foe Committee/SID fae Benefitse Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
2022 2021 2022 202 2022 2021 2022 20
Henry Staunton 244 235 - - - - 244 235
Kal Atwal™ 57 32 13 - - - 70 32
Nicley Dulieu 57 54 13 7 1 1 n 62
Sirmon Emeny 57 55 13 2 - - 70 67
Marion Sears' 34 - [} - - - 42 -
Maurice Thomipson 57 55 - - 2 - 59 55

Directors who resigned cluring the year

Annemarie Durlin® 23 55 5 12 - - 28 67
Total £000s 529 486 52 31 3 1 584 518

a) Benefits primarily consist of travel and subsistence costs incurred in the normal course of business, in relation to meetings on Board and Committee matters and other
Compaiiy events which are considered taxabie.

by Kal Atwal was appointed as a non-executive director on 1 February 2021 and was appointed Chair of the ESG Committee with effect from 1 September 2021,
€} Marion Sears was appointed as & non-executive director and Chair of the Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2022.
d) Annemarnie Durbin stepped down as a director of the Company on 19 January 2022,

211  Summary of executive directors’ remuneration 2022 (audited)
The table below summarises the total remuneration for executive directors as a single figure for the financial year ended
31 August 2022;

Yotal fixed Annual Total variable Total
Salary Benefits'® Pansion™ remunaration bonus®© LTI r ation r ion

£000 £'000 £000Q E'QO0 £000 £000 EQQ0 £'000
2022 2021 2022 2020 2022 20 2022 202t 2022 2021 2022 202 2022 2021 2022 2021
Carl Cowling 585 550 14 14 73 60 672 633 960 550 - - 960 550 1,632 1183

Robert

Moorhead 445 440 14 14 109 107 568 561 725 358 - ~ 725 358 1,293 9
Total £000s 1,030 990 28 28 182 76 1,240 1)94 1,685 908 - - 1,685 908 2,925 2102

a) Benefits relate mainly to the provision of a car allowance, private medical insurance and life assurance.

1) The pension figures in the table above include hoth the pension contribution into the Company's defined contribution pension scherme and any salary supplement received
1 hey,

¢} The performance measures for the annual borus, and achievement against them, together with details of the leve! of deferral are set out on pages 87 and 98,

d) The performance measures for the LTIP, and achievemnent against them, are set out on pages 98 and 99. The performance conditions for the awards granted in November
2019 were not met and the awards lapsed,

The total aggregate emoluments (excluding LTI} paid to the Board in the financial year ended 31 August 2022 was
£3.509,000 and in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was £2,646,000.

2.12 Payments made to former directors (audited)

Stephen Clarke stepped down as Group Chief Executive on 31 Qctober 2018, Under the rules of the LTIP, Stephen Clarke
was treated as a good leaver and retained a reduced number of unvested awards. During the year, Stephen Clarke exercised
the balance of his 2016 LTIP award which vested in 2019 but was subject to a two year helding period. The 2018 LTIP

award lapsed.

Stephen Clarke also retained awards under the DBP. These awards vested in respect of 2,360 shares in the financial year
ended 31 August 2022,

No other payments were made in the financial year ended 31 August 2022 to farmer directors of the Campany.

213 Payments for loss of office (audited)
No payments were made in respect of any director’s loss of office in the financial vear ended 31 August 2022.
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214 Assessing pay and performance

You can see how the Company has generated shareholder value since 2012 in the TSR graph below. As can be seen from the
graph, the Company generated a return of (12) per cent over the financial year ended 31 August 2022 compared to the FTSE
All Share Retailers Index which generated a return of (32) per cent over the same period.

a) The graph illustrates the TSR performance on a cumulative basis (with dividends reinvested) as at the end of each of the last ten financial years campared with the FTSE All
Share Retalers Index {the “Index”) over the same period.

1> The Company is 8 member of the Index and, as such, this sector was considered to be the most appropriate comparator group upen which a broad equity market index is
calculated

The table below summarises the Group Chief Executive's remuneration and how the Company's variable pay plans have paid
out over the past ten years.

Single figure of total Anpual bonus (vesting versus Long-term Incentive (vesting

remuneration maximum opportunity) versus maximum gpportunity)
Financlal year ended 31 August CEC £000 % %
2022 Carl Cowling 1632 100 -
2021 Carl Cowling 1183 63 -
2020 - from 1 Novemper 2012 Carl Cowling 531 - 13
2020 - until 31 October 2019 Stephen Clarke 221 - 13
2019 Stephen Clarke 3416 100 69
2018 Stephen Clarke 2879 93 58
2017 Stephen Clarke 412 98 81
2016 Stephen Clarke 5179 100 a3
2015 Stephen Clarke 4148 100 100
2014 Stephen Clarke 2546 100 100
2013 - from 1 June Stephen Clarke 4,067 100 g7
2013 - until 31 May Kate Swann 9192 100 98
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215 Annual change in remuneration of each director compared to employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in the remuneration of each director (salary/fees, annual bonus and taxable
benefits) from financial year to subsequent financial year over the three financial years to 31 August 2022 compared with the
percentage changes in the average of those components of pay for UK employees employed by WH Smith Retail Hoidings
LirniLecl over that period. The Company has chosen to voluntarily disclose this information, given that WH Smith PLC is not an
ermploying company.

Salary/fee increase/(dacrease) Annual bonus increase/(decrease) Taxable benefits Incraase/(decraas::
%

Financial year ended %1 August 2022 2021 202: 2022 2021 2020 2022 202 2020
Carl Cowling 6 14 140 75 100 (100) 10 - 100
Robert Moorhead 1 5 5 10% 100 (100) - - -
Henry Staunton 4 5 {5) n/a r/a n/a - - -
Kal Atwai no - - n/a n/a n/a - - -
Nicky Dulieu 15 - - n/a n/a n/a - - -
Simon Emeny 4 14 m n/a n/a n/a - - -
Marion Sears - - - n/a n/a n/a - - -
Maurice Thompson 4 4 86 n/a n/a n/a 100 (1CCH -
UK employees 8 5 7 47 100 Qo) (16) 3 8

a) Maron Sears was appointed as a non-executive director and Chair of the Reruneration Committee on 1 February 2022,

b) Carl Cawling's salary increased from £550,000 to £575,000 with effect from 1 September 2021 and to E600,000 with effect from 1 April 2022,

<) Robert Moorhead's salary increased by 3 per cent with effect from 1 Apnil 2022,

o) Kal Atwal was appeinted as a non-executive director on 1 February 2021 and was appointed Chair of the ESG Committee with effect from 1 September 2021

&) The reduction in the taxable benefits for UK employees is as a result of employees ceasing to receive the Company’s private medical insurance and the move away from dieset
cars under the Company car scheme.

2.16 Group Chief Executive pay compared to pay of UK employees

The ratics comparing the total remuneration of the Group Chief Executive (as included in the single total figure of
remuneration tabie on page 95) to the remuneration of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile of our UK employees are set out
below. The disclosure wilt build up aver time to cover a roiling ten-year period.

We expect the pay ratio to vary from year to year, driven largely by the variable pay outcome for the Group Chief Executive,
which will significantly outweigh any other changes in pay at WH Smith,

Group Chief Executive pay ratios

Financial year endad 31 August Method 25th petcentile pay ratio Median pay ratic 75th percentile pay fatio
2022 Option A 871 86:1 65:1
2021 Option A 70:1 70:1 521
2020 Option A 431 411 331
2019 Option A 23091 2071 2011

WH Srnith has chosen to use Option A to calculate its Group Chief Executive pay ratio as it believes that it is the most robuist
way for it to caloulate the three ratios from the options available in the Regulations.

Total remuneration for all UK full-time equivalent employees of the Company on 31 August 2022 has been calculated in
line with the single figure methodelogy and reflects their actual earnings received in the financial year ended 31 August
2022 (excluding business expenses). Set out in the table below is the base salary and total pay and benefits for each of
the percentiles.

£ 25th percentile pay ratio Median pay ratio 75th percentlie pay ratio
Salary 18,850 18,850 23,505
Total pay and benefits 18,850 18,910 25,0m

The Company believes the median pay ratio for the year ended 31 August 2022 is consistent with the pay, reward and
progression policies for the Company's UK full-time equivalent employees. This group is the most appropriate comparator
for the Group Chisf Executive as he is a full-time employee based in the UK and approximately 77 per cent of all WH Smith
amployees are based in the UK, The increase in the pay ratios in 2022 as compared to 2021 is attributable to the increase in
base pay and the amount of variable reruneration received by the Group Chief Executive as a result of the Group returning
to profitability in the financial year ended 31 August 2022.
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2.17 Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the total cost of remuneration paid to or receivable by all emplayees in the Group as well as dividends
paid during the financial year ended 31 August 2022, There were not cansidered to be any other significant distributions and
payments or other uses of profit or cash flow deemed by the directors to assist in understanding the relative importance of
spend on pay for the purposes of the table below.

Total cost of remuneration D to st
200m 2022 % change 2021 2022 % change
Ern £m £m £Em
232 293 26 - - -

218 Annual bonus targets (audited)

The performance targets used under the annual bonus plan are normally set annually to support the Company's strategic
pricrities and reinforce financial performance. The performance targets are set by the Committee based on a range of factors,
principally the Company's budget as approved by the Board. The Committee agreed that the performance targets for the
annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 should be based on Headline profit before tax and non-
underlying items’.

The Cornmities, in setting the bonus targets for the financial vear ended 31 August 2022, was mindful of the impact of
Covid-19 on the Company and the markets in which we operate and took into consideration market consensus for the
financial year ended 31 August 2022. The Committee agreed that the range used to determine the fevel of pay-out under

the Bonus plan in respect of the financial targets should be widened given that the proposed target pay-out under the bonus
plan was stretching and uncertain due to on-going and unpredictable Covid-19 restrictions.

Under the annual bonus plan, participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement of a financial target and a personal
rating measured against one or more specific (financial and/or non-financial) objectives. The maximum level of bonus paid
to a participant in the plan is dependent on the achievement of both the maximum financial target and the highest personal
perforrnance rating. The Committee sets a threshold pay-out target and a maximum pay-out target with straight-fine vesting
between the targets.

For the financial year ended 31 August 2022, no bonus was payable unless both the threshold financial target and at least

an acceptable personal rating {i.e. "Developing™) were achieved. For on-target achievement of the profit target and a good
personal rating (i.e. "Strong™), an executive would earn approximately 48 per cent of the maximum bonus available under the
plan. Any bonus payable will be paid in cash and shares.

Bonuses for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 could be earned according to the following scale (as a percentage of
each executive's respective maximumy;

Financlal performance adainst Headline Group profit before tax

and non-underlying tems’ target Role modal Outstanding Strong Developi Unc

Max: £66m 00% 80% 60% 40% 0%
Target: £55m 80% 654% 48% 32% 0%
Threshold: £45m 40% 32% 24% 1G% 0%

Interpalation between paints in the matrix is permitted.

The Company's Headline profit before tax and non-underlying items' for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 was £73m.
This performance resulted in approximately 2,245 employees aiso receiving a bonus under the annual bonus plan for the
financial year ended 31 August 2022, For Car! Cowling, his personal rating is based on a range of objectives including driving
employee engagement to ensure that we remain a good place to work and retain our best people; continuing the Group's
progress towards Net Zero; developing the talent and succession pipeline of the senior tearn to ensure the business is
prepared for its increasingly global nature; delivering the InMotion international growth strategy; and building and developing
the US management team Following the successful achieverment of all of his key personal cbjectives, Carl Cowling will receive
a bonus payment of £960,000 of which £499,200 will be deferred intc shares. For Robert Moorhead, his personal rating is
based on a range of ohjectives including driving employee engagement to ensure that we remain a good place to work and
ratain our best people: continuing the Group's progress towards Net Zero; delivering the Group free cash flow target; working
with the Trustee of the Company's DB pension scheme to facilitate the buy-in; and accelerating the transformation in Finance
capahility in MRG. Following the successful achievement of all of his key personal objectives, Robert Moorhead will receive a
bonus payment of £725120 of which £377.062 will be deferred into shares.

1 Alternative performance measure described and explained in the Glossary on
page 173
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I-or the annual bonus plan tor the hinancial year ending 31 August 2023, the bonus metrics will also be based on a similar
ratrix of financial and personal performance with the financial performance measure being Headline profit before tax and

non-underlying itemns'. The financial benus metrics will apply acress the Group's bonus plans, so that the whole organisation

15 Tocused on dolivering financial performance via the metrics that are applicable to each business. The Cormittee wil

publish the Group targets for Lhat financial year in next year's report and, consistent with market practice, has elected not
to pre-disclose them (or give numerical personal objectives) on the basis of commercial sensitivity, Any bonus payable in
respect of the financial year ending 31 August 2023 will be paid in cash and shares. Any bonus payable over target will be

deferred into shares for a pericd of up to three years under the DBPR. The shares will be released one third on each anniversary
of the date of grant irrespective of whether the recipient is an employee of the Cornpany (other than in a case of termination

for misconduct),

2.19 Share plans (audited)
The Cornimittee regularly reviews the performance conditions applicable to the LTIP to ensure that they align with the

Company's strategy and reinforce financial performance. The Committee may change the conditions and/or targets in respect
of subsaquent awards. The Committee retains a broad discretion to reduce vesting levels, including if it consiclers that there

would otherwise be a windfall gain or if management fail to deliver on the Company’s ESG expectations.

The performance conditions for awards granted under the LTIP in the financial year ended 31 August 2022 were based on the
following Headline diluted earnings per share befare non-underlying items' and relative TSR targets each measured at the end

of the three financial years to 31 August 2024

+ 50 per cent based on Headline pre-tax earnings per share' (calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) of 75p to 110p with 25
percent of this component vesting at threshold increasing on a straight-line basis to 100 percent at maximum. EPS is
defined as fully diluted pre-exceptional items and excluding 1AS 19 pension charges together with other adjustments as
considered appropriate by the Committee (although practice has been to make limited adjustments); and

+ 50 per cent based cn relative TSR over three financial years compared with the FTSE All Share Retailers index.
Threshoic vesting will occur for TSR in line with median and maximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper
quartile of the comparator group consistent with prior awards. FIT independently carries out the relevant TSR growth
calculation for the Company.

The performance condition for awards aranted under the LTIP in the financial year ending 31 August 2023 will alsc include

ESG performance measures and will therefore be based on the following conditions each measured at the end of the three

financial years to 31 August 2025

« 40 per cent based on Meadline pre-tax garnings per share' (calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) of 100p to 125p with 25
percent of this component vesting at threshold increasing on a straight-line basis to 100 percent at maximurm. EPS is
definecl as fully diluted pre-exceptional items and excluding 1AS 19 pension charges together with other adjustments
as considered appropriale by the Carmmitice (allhough practice has been Lo make limiled adjustrnents);
40 per cent based on relative TSR over three financial years compared with the FTSE All Share Retailers Index.
Threshold vesting will occur for TSR in line with median and maximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper
guartile of the comparator group consistent with prior awards. FIT independently carries out the reievant TSR growth
calculation for the Company: and
= 20 per cent based on the Company's ESG strategy as set out in the table below:

Scope 3 emissions:

Target engagement of
Reduction in Scope suppliers by emissions Gender Diversity
1 and 2 emissions per who will have approved Increase in % Employee
square metre of floor space sclence-basad targets of women in Senicr Engagement Scare
Target tonnes per m? by 2025 Exacytive tean % Improvement
Mirimum - 25% vesting 5% 35% 5% Maintain
Maximum - 100% vesting 15% 45% 10% 5%

1 Aiternalive performance measure described and explained in the Glossary on
page 173 .
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Outstanding awards

The Company did not meet the performance conditions for the 2019 LTIP and the awards lapsed on 5 November 2022
The Committee determined that the formulaic out-turn under the LTIP was appropriate and should be applied without
discretionary adjustrment.

Details of the conditional awards (in the form of nil-cost aptions) to acquire ordinary shares of the Company granted to
executive directers are as follows:

of shares dlvldon.: of shares Number Number
Number of subject accrual subject of shares of shares
shares subject to awards shares to awards sublect subject to Share price Face value of
to awards at granted awarded exercised to awards awards at at date award at date
31 August during the during the during the lapsed during 31 August of grant of grant
2021 year year year the year 2022% (pence)” £'000 Exercise period
Carl Cowling
LTIP 2016® 17,345 - 281 17626 - = 1551.00 720 201019 - 201026
LTIP 2017 5104 - - - - 5104 203667 743 261020 - 261027
LTIP 2018< 40,515 - - - 40515 - 183267 74% Q123 -ommze
LTIP 2019® 79,557 - - - - 79,557 221067 1759 05124 - O511.29
DBP 2019 2703 - - 1,351 - 1,352 205867 90 241020 - 24102
LTIP 20209 126,257 - - - - 126,257 145933 1843 191125 - 1911.30
LTIP 2021 - 122,769 - - - 122,769 1569.00 1926 1911.26 - 191131
DBRF 20211 - 8132 - - - 8,132 156900 128 194122 - 19131
Total 271,481 130,901 281 18,977 40515 343,11
Rabert Moarhead )
LTIP 2016® 27873 - 453 28,426 - = 155100 1161 201019 - 2010.26
LTIP 2017 7982 - - - - 7982 203667 161 261020 - 261027
LTI 2018 63,354 - - - 63354 - 183267 1181 OlN.23 - 0111.28
LTIP 2019® 61,701 - - - - 61,701 221067 1364 0511.24 - O51.29
DBP 2019 2,685 - - 1342 - 1,343 225867 90 241020 - 2410.29
LTIP 20209 93,468 - - - - 93,468 145933 1364 191.25 -1911.30
LTiP 20219 - 86934 - - - 86,934 156900 1,364 190.26 - 1911.31
DBP 2021 - 5286 - - - 5,286 156900 83 1922 - 191131
Total 257163 92,220 453 29,768 63,354 256,714

a} The number of shares subject to awards is the maximum (100 per cent) number of shares that could e received by the executive if the performance targets are fully met
except that. in respect of awards granted from October 2016 onwards, consistent with market practice, any part of the awards which vest wili benefil from the accrual of
dividend roit-up.

b) In respect of the award granted on 20 October 2016 under the LTIP held by Carl Cowling, the remaining 50 per cent of the vested shares became exercisable an the fifth
annivarsary of the date of grant. The value of the 17,626 shares on the date of vesting was £285,870.77 (1621.8698p per ordinary share}. In respect of the award granted on
20 Oclober 2016 ynder the L1IP held by Roberl Moorhead, the remaruing G per cent of the vested shares becaine exercisable on the [ifth annrversary of the date of giant.
The vatue of the 28,426 shares on the date of vesting was £474,443.07 (1669.0462 per ordinary share).

©) In respect of the awards granted on 26 October 2017 under the LTIP held by €arf Cowling and Robert Moorhead, the vested shares were subject to a two year holding period,
and became exertisable on 26 October 2022, hewng the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

o) The perfermance conditions for awards granted on 1 November 2018 under the LTIP were:

(1) 40 per cent baged on the Company's TSR performance against the FTSE Al Share Retailers Index constituents. Vesting will occur on the following basis: below median -
Nil: rreclian - 25 per cent; upper guartiie - 100 per cent; and on a straight-line basis between 25 per cent and 100 per cent; and

(11)&0 per cent based on grewth in the adjusted diduted EPS of the Company. Vesting wiil occur on the following basis: below 5 per cent - Nil; 5 per cent - 25 per cent;

10 per cenl of Mote - 100 per cenl and on a straight-line basis between 25 per cent and 100 per cent. Foi these purposes, EPS will be determined by reference Lo fully
diluted EPS before exceptional items and will exclude IAS 19 pension charges from the caiculation, adjusted as considered appropriate by the Cornmittee to ensure
consistency. The Company did not meet the performance conditions and the awards lapsed on 1 Novernber 2021

e) The performance condstions far awards granted on 5 Novemnber 2019 under the LTIP were:

(i) 40 per cent based on the Company's TSR performance against the FTSE All Share Retailers Index constituents. Vesting will occur on the foliowing basis Delow median -
Ni; median - 25 per cent; upper quartile - 100 per cent; and on a straight-line basis between 25 per cent and 100 per cent; and

(il)60O per cent based on growth in the adjusted dituted EPS of the Company. Vesting will occur on the following basis: betow 5 per cent - Nil; 5 per cent - 25 per cent:

1) per cent or morg — 10 per cent; and on a straight-line basis between 25 per cent and 100 per cent. For these purposes, EPS wili be determined by reference to fully
diluted EPS befare exceptional items and will exclude I1AS 18 pension charges from the calculation, adjusted as considered appropriate by the Cornrmittee to ensure
congistency. The Company did not meet the performance conditions and the awards lapsed on 5 Novernber 2022,

1) Mo awards have been granted to directors between 1 September 2022 and 10 November 2022,

@) The awarcs granted in the financial years ended 3% August 2021 and 31 August 2022 under the LTIP will only vest to the extent that the performance targets as set out on
pages 28 and 99 are satisfied.

h) The awards granted in the financial years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2022 under the DBP will be released one third on each anniversary of the date of grant.
Details of the awards are set out on page 96. The awards accrue the benefit of any dividends paid by the Company and are not subject to performance conditions. In respect
of the award granted on 24 October 2019 held by Carl Cowling, 1,351 shares vested with a total value of £21,911.46 (1621.8698p per ordinary share). In respect of the award
granted an 24 October 2019 held by Robert Moorhead, 1,342 shares vested with a total value of £22,398.60 {1669.0462 per ordinary share).

1) The share price used for caiculating the awards at the date of grant is the average of the middle market guotations for the Company’s Ordinary Shares as derived from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the three business days prior to the date of grant.

MNone of the Board participate or hold shares in the Company's Sharesave Scheme.

=
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2.20 WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust

The WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”) is used to facilitate the acquisition of ordinary sharés in the Company

to satisfy awards granted undler the Company’s share plans. The Trust is a discretionary trust, the sole beneficiaries being
employees (including executive directors) and former employess of the Group and their close relations. The Trustee is
Computershare Trustees (C.1.) Limited, an independent professional trustee company based in Jersey. The Company intends
that the ordinary shares in the Trust will be used to satisfy all cutstanding awards and eptions made under the Company’s
share plans. The Trustee may exercise all rights attached to the shares held in the Trust in accordance with their fiduciary
duties and the relevant plan rules or other governing documents. The Trustee has agreed to waive its rights to all dividends
payabie on the ordinary shares held in the Trust.

Following purchases of 480,286 shares in the financial year ended 31 August 2022, the number of WH Smith PLC shares held
in the Irust at 81 August 2022 was 622,989 The Group's accounting policy with respect to the Trust 15 detalled within Note 1 to
the financial statements (see page 121) and movements are detailed in the Group statement of changes in equity on page 120,

2.21 Dilution limits

Awards under the LTIP are currently satisfied using market purchase shares which may be acquired by the Trust as described
in the paragraph above. WH Smith's share plans comply with recommended guicelines an dilution limits, and the Company
has always operated within these limits.

2.22 Directors’ interests in shares (audited)
The beneficial interests of the directors and their immediate families in the ordinary shares of the Company are set out below:

Number of shares subject to
Number of shares subject to holding periods performance conditions
QOrdinary shares DBp LTIP LTIP
3t August 2022 3t August 2021

(or date of {or date of 31 August 31 August 31 August Z1 August I August 31 August
leaving) appointment) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 200
Kal Atwal 3,608 2608 - - - - - -
Carl Cowling 33,108 23,051 9,484 2,703 5,104 22,449 328,583 246,329
Nicky Bulieu 2,500 - - - - - - -
Simon Emeny 4,427 4,427 - - - - - -
Robert Moorhead 197,973 197973 6,629 2,685 7,982 35955 242103 218523
Marton Sears™ 5,000 2500 - - - - - -
Henry Staunton 39,523 39,523 - - - - - -
Maurice Thompson 3,452 3,452 - - - - - -

Directars who resigned during the vear
Annemarie Durbin® 1,952 1,952 - - - - - -

) Marion Sears was appointed as a non-executive director an 1 February 2022,

£) The LTIP amount above is the maximum potential award that may vest subjact to the performance conditions described on pages 98 and 9.
¢} The performance conditions for the October 2019 LTIP were not met and the awards lapsed.

d) There has been no further change in the directors’ interests shown above between 1 September 2022 and 10 Noveimber 2022

g) The middle market price of an ardinary share at the close of business on 31 August 2022 was 1429.50p (31 August 2021 1632p).

) See Table of Outstanding awards on page 99 for details of awards exercised during the financial year ended 31 August 2022,

4y Annemarie Durbin stepped down as a director of the Company on 18 January 2022,

2.23 Voting at the Annual General Meeting

Statement of voting at 2022 AGM ,
The table below shows the veting outcome at the Annual General Meeting on 19 January 2022 for approval of the Directors’
remuneration policy:

Vates Total Vates
Resolution Votes for % for Inst % agalnst votes cast withheld
Approval of Directors’ rermuneration policy 99470149 88.36% 13,100,796 N64% 112,570,245 1690352
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Statement of voting at 2022 AGM
The table beiow shows the voting outcome at the Annual General Meeting on 19 January 2022 for approval of the annual
Directors’ remuneration report:

Votes Total Votes
Resolution Votes for % far agalnst % against votes cast withheld
Appraval of Directors’ remuneration report 52,332,420 54.40% 43861419 4560% 96193839 16546138

A vote withheld is not a vote in law and is not counted in the calculation of the proportion of votes 'for’ and "against’
a resolution.

As explained in the announcement of the voting outcore at the Annual General Meeting on 19 January 2022, the Company
understands that the primary reason for the significant percentage of votes against the resclution to approve the Directors’
remuneration report was the payment of bonuses to the executive directors. The Committee sought the views of the
Company's largest shareholders and representatives in respect of the Company's remuneration practices to ensure that
shareholder concerns are well understood. The Committee is committed to reqular engagement with shareholders and to
ensuring that executive director remuneration is fair and competitive and supports the long-term success of the Company.

3. The Directors’ remuneration policy: extract

The Directors’ remuneration policy was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 19 January 2022
and applies from that date. The Directors' remuneration policy table is set out below for information only. The full Directors
remuneration policy is set out on pages 61 to 72 of the 2021 Annual report and accounts which is available in the investor
relations section of the Company's website at whsrithplc.co.uk/investors.

B

The following table explains the different elements of remuneration we pay to our executive directors:

Element and purpose Policy and opportunity O tion and per

Base salary

This is the basic elernent of pay « While base salaries are reviewed each year, + Base salary is paid monthly in cash.

:22} ;?é'?ggsntr'?tmﬁ';;dug'r; role the Company’s policy is not autematically - Base salaries are reviewed typically

anawe siti dv_w A tet L%IID- ) to award an npf!at»ona.ry increase. annually with any changes normally
ome adjustment to renec When reviewing salaries, the Committee taking effect from  April.

their capability and contribution.
Base salary is used to attract and
retain executive directors who can
deliver our strategic objectives
and create shareholder value.

takes into account a range of factors
including the Group's performance, market
conditions, the prevalling market rates for
similar pesitions in comparable companies,
the responsibilities, individual performance
and experience of each executive director
and the level of safary increases awarded to
employees throughout the Group.

« Base salaries are benchmarked against both
FTSE 250 companies and other leading
retailers. While the Committee applies
judgement rather than setting salaries by
reference te a fixed percentile position, its
general approach is to constrain base salaries
to a median or lower level.

While the Cornmittee’s general approach is
to keep salaries at or below median, and. in
the normal course, would not expect salary
increases to be higher than the average for
other head office staff, given the need for a
formal cap, the Committee had limited the
maximum salary in the previous policy which
it may award to £680,000 (as increased
by RPI from January 2019, approximately
£732,000 at the year-end). No changes to
this cap are proposed.
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Element ang purpose

Policy and cpportunity

wion and perf measures

Benefits

T provide other benefits valued
by the recipient which assist
therm in carrying out their duties
effectively. Competilive benefits
assist in attracting and retaining
executive directors.

= Provide market competitive benefits in kind.

« The Cormpany may periodically amend the
benefits available to staff. The executive

directors would normally be eligible to

receive such amended benefits on similar

terms to all senior staff

The value of benefits (other than relocation
costs) paid to an executive director in any
year will not exceed £80,000. In addition,

the Committee reserves the right to

pay relocation costs in any year or any

ongoing costs incurred as a result of

such relocation to an executive director if
considerad appropriate to secure the better
performance by an executive director of their
duties. In the normal course, such benefits
would be limited to two years following

a relocation,

Benefits received by executive
directors comprise a car allowance,
staff discount, private medical
insurance and life assurance.

While the Cormmittee cloes not
consider it to form part of benefits

in the normal usage of that term,

it has been advised that corporate
hospitality (whether paid for by the
Company or another) and business
travel for directors may technically
came within the appticable rules and
so the Committee expressly reserves
the right to authorise such activities
within its agreed policies.

Pension

To aid retention and remain
competitive within the
marketplace, The pension provides
an incorne following retirernent.

Provide an employer-sponsored pension

plan or equivalent cash allowance.

Pension contributions (or cash in lieu) for
new executive directors will be aligned with
the average rate available to UK-based
colleagues more generally, approximately

3 per cent of salary but subject to pericdic

review. The pension contribution for

Car! Cowling is 12.5 per cent and Robert
Moorhead is 25 per cent of base salary until
21 December 2022, It will reduce to align
with the wider workforce rate, approximately
Z per cent of salary, from 1 January 2023,

All executive directors are eligible to
participate in the Company’s defined
contribution pension plan and/or
receive a salary supplement in lieu
(which is not taken into account as
salary for calculation of bonus, LTIHP
or other benetits).

Adthough the mix may change,
currently up to five per cent of salary
is paid into a registered pension and
up to 20 per cent by way of & salary
supplement. If the individual elects to
receive the five per cent direct (e.g.
to avoid breaching HMRC limits),
employers' NICs are deducted from
that element.
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O and per

Annual bonus

To motivate employees and
incentivise delivery of annual
performance targets.

+ During the policy period the bonus
potential is 160 per cent of base salary with
target levels at 48 per cent of maximum
and threshold bonus levels at 16 per cent
of maximum.

« Clawback provisions apply to the annual
beonus plan.

» Bonuses are paid in ¢cash and shares.
Any bonus payable over target is deferred
into shares for a period of up to three years
under the DBP. The shares are released one
third on each anniversary of assessment.

« The performance measures applied
may be financial or non-financial and
corporate, divisional or individual and
in such proportions as the Committee
considers appropriate. As set out on
page 79, currently, under the annual
bonus plan, participants can earn a
bonus based on the achievement
of a financial target and & personal
rating measured against ocne or
more specific (financial and/or non-
financial) objectives. The maximum
level of bonus paid to a participant
in the plan is dependent on the
achievement of both the maximum
target for the financial target and the
highest personal performance rating.

In exceptional ¢ircurmstances, up

to 20 per cent of the maximum
bonus apportunity may be payable
independent of the financial out-turn.

+ The appropriateness of performance
measures is reviewed annually to
ensure they continue to support the
Company's strategy.

Once set, performance measures
and targets will generally rermain
unaltered unless events occur which,
in the Committee’s opinicn, make it
appropriate to make adjustrments

to ensure they operate as originally
intended and to take account of
events which were nat foreseen
when the performance targets were
originally set.
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Element and purpose

Pgolicy and opportunity

Opetation and perormance measuras

Long-term incentives

To motivate and incentivise .
delivery of sustained performance
over the long-term, the Group will
operate the Long-Term Incentive
Plan ("LTIP™), Awards deliverad

in shares to provide further
alignrent with shareholders.

The normal policy is to award executive
directors with shares with an initial face value
of up to 350 per cent of base salary each
year under the LTIR In practice, awards of
335 per cent for the Group Chief Executive
and 310 per cent for any other executive

director are made annualiy.

= The LTIP will credit participants with the
benefit of accrual for dividends paid over
the performance and any holding penod.

+ Malus and clawback provisions (in respect
of both unvested and vested paid awards)
apply to the LTIR

+ Awards are subject to a combined vesting
and holding period of at least five years
preventing the delivery and sale of shares
until the end of the hoiding period.

The Comimittee may set such
performance conditions as it
considers appropriate (whether
financial or non-financial and whether
corporate, divisional or individual}
over a period of at least three
financial years.

Once set, performance conditions
and targets will generally remain
unaitered unless events occur which,
in the Cormmittee's opinion, make it
appropriate to make adjustments to
the performance conditions, provided
that any adjusted performance
condition is, in its opinion, neither
rmaterially more nor less difficult to
satisfy than the original condition.

Executive directors can earn up
to 25 per cent of the award for
threshoid performance.

The Campany will honaur the vesting
of all outstanding awards granted
prior to this remuneration policy
coming into force in accordance

with the terrmns of such awards.

Ali-employee share plans

To encourage share ownership

by employees, thereby allowing
thern to share in the long-term

success of the Group and atign

their inferests with those of

Lhe shareholclars.

» Executive directors are able to participate
n all-ernployee share plans on the same
terms as other Group employees.

Sharesave - individuals may save

up to such limit as permitted by the
relevant legisiation (currently £500
each month) for a fixed period of
three years. At the end of the savings
period, individuals may use their
savings to buy ordinary shares in the
Company at a discount of up to 20
per cent of the market price set at
the launch of each scheme.

In line with the governing legislation,
no performance conditions are
attached to options granted under
the Sharesave Scheme. In addition,
executive directors may participate
in other comparable all-employee
incentives on the same basis as
other employees.

On behaif of the Board
Marion Sears

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

10 Novernber 2022

4
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited
consclidated financial staternents for the financial year
ended 31 August 2022 The Company is the ultimate
parent company of the WHSmith group of companies
(the “"Group™). WH Smith PLC is registered in Engiand
and Wales (Number 5202036) and domiciled in the
United Kingdam.

The Company has chosen, in accordance with Section
414C (1D of the Companies Act 20086, to include certain
information in the Strategic report that would otherwise
be required to be disclosed in this Directors’ report,

as follows:

Information Page number
Likely future developments in the business 19to 29
Branches outside the LI 24
Disclosures concerning greenhouse gas 371056
emissions and energy consumption

Employment of disabled persons 42
smployee engagement 40to 42
Engagement with external stakeholders 30 to 36

Other information, which forms part of this Directors’ report,
can ke found in the following sections of the Annual report:

Section Page number
Corporate governance report 66 to 82
Oirectors’ biograpshies 64 and 65
Statement of directors’ responsibilities 108
Information on use of financial instruments 151 to 158

This Diractors’ report (including information specified
above as forming part of this report) fulfils the requirements
of the Corporate governance statement for the purposes

of DTR 7.2

The information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4R is disclosed
on the following pages of this Annua! report:

Subject matter Page nunber

1G4 Directors’ remuneration
report/Note 22 on page 159
of the financial statements

Allotment of shares for cash
pursuant to the WH Smith
ernployee share incentive plans

100 Directors’
remuneration report

Arrangement under which
the WH Srmith Employee
Benefit Trust has waived or
agreed to waive dividends,/
future dividends

1 Alternative performance maasure described and explained in the Glossary on
page 173

Financial statements Additional information

Dividends

The Headline Group profit before tax and non-underiying
iterns' for the financial year ended 31 August 2022 was
£73m (2021: Headline loss before tax and non-underlying
items' of £55m). The directors recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 August 2022
of 9ip per ordinary share on 26 January 2023 to members
on the Register at the close of business on & January 2023,
The total dividend for the financial year ended 31 August
2022 is 91p per ordinary share as no interim dividend was
declared at the half-year (2021; nil).

Share capital

WH Smith PLC is a public company limited by shares.
The issued share capital of the Company, together with
details of shares issued during the year, is shown in Note
22 to the financial statements on page 15S.

The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August
2022 was 130,910,434 ordinary shares of 22%p0 each.
These shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and
can be held in certificated or uncertificated form.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of securities and voting rights.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares
in the Company other than certain restrictions imgosed
by laws and regulations {such as insider trading laws and
market requirements relating to closed periods), including
the requirernents of the UK Market Abuse Regulation

and the Listing Rules, and also the Company's Share
Dealing Code whereby directors and certain employees
of the Company require Board approval to deal in the
Cormpany's securities.

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company's
ordinary shares, in addition to those conferred on their
holders by law, are set cut in the Company's Articles of
Association, a copy of which can be obtained from the
Company’s website whsmithplc.co.uk. The holders of
ordinary shares are entitled to receive the Company's report
and accounts, to attend and speak at general meetings of
the Company, to appoint proxies and to exercise voting
rights, and to receive a dividend, if declared, subject to the
deduction of any sums due from the holder of ordinary
shares to the Company on account of calls or otherwise.
Changes to the Company's Articles of Association must
be approved by special resolution of the Company.

The Trustee of the WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust

holds ordinary shares in the Company on behalf of the
beneficiaries of the Trust, who are the employees and former
employees of the Group. If any offer is made to the holders
of ordinary shares to acquire their shares, the Trustee will

not be obliged to accept or reject the offer in respect of any
shares which are at that time subject to subsisting opticns,
but will have regard to the interests of the option hoiders
and can consult them to obtain their views on the offer, and
subject to the foregoing, the Trustee will take the action with
respect to the offer it thinks fair.
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Purchase of own shares

At the 2022 AGM, authority was given for the Company to
purchase, in the market, up to 13,090,880 ordinary shares
of 22%p each, renewing the authority granted at the 2021
AGM. The Company did not purchase any of its own shares
curing the financial year. The Company intends to renew
the authority to purchase its own shares at the forthcoming
AGM as the directors believe that having the flexibility to
buy back shares is in the best interests of the Company.
The directors do not currently envisage utilising this
authority in the financial yéar ending 31 August 2023.

Issue of new ordinary shares

During the financial vear ended 37 August 2022, 1633
ordinary shares of the Company were issued under the
Sharesave Scheme at prices between 1400p and 1609.60p.
The Articles of Association of the Cormpany provide that the
Board may, subject to the prior approval of the members

of the Company, be granted authority to exercise all the
powers of the Company to allot shares or grant rights to
subscribe for or convert any security into shares, including
new ordinary shares.

Significant agreements/financing
agreements - change of control

A change of control of the Company following a takeover
bid may cause a number of agreements to which the
Cormpany or its trading subsidiaries is party, such as
commercial trading contracts, banking arrangemenits,
properly leases, licence and concession agreements, to
take effect, alter or terminate, In addition, the service
agreements of some senior executives and employee share
plans would be similarly affected on a change of control,
including, in the case of some employees, in relation to
compensation for loss of office.

The Cornpany has an unsecured £250m multi-currency
revolving credit facility with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank
PLC, JF Morgan Securities, Santander UK PLC and BNP
Paribas for general corporate and working capital purposes.
The Company aiso has an unsecured £133m term loan with
Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC, Santander UK PLC and
BNP Paribas. If there is a change of control of the Company,
and agreeable terms cannot be negotiated between the
parties, any lender may cancel the commitment under the
loan agreements and all outstanding amounts for that lender,
together with accrued interest, shall be immediately payable.

The Company has a £327m convertible bond. The Bond
holders have the right to early redemption in the event of
@ change of control of the Company.
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Directors’ conflicts

The Company's Articles of Association permit the Board

to consider and, if it sees fit, to authorise situations where

a director has an interest that conflicts, ar may possibly
conflict, with the interests of the Company ("Situationai
Confliicts™). The Board has a formal system in place for
directors to declare Situational Conflicts to be considered for
authorisation by those directors who have no interest in the
matter being considered. In deciding whether to authorise
a Situaticnal Conflict, the non-conflicted directors must act
in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely
to promote the success of the Company, and they may
impose limits or conditions when giving the authorisation,
or subsequently, if they think this 1s appropnate,

Any Situationa! Conflicts considered by the Board, and any
authorisations given, are recorded in the Board minutes
and in a register of conflicts which is reviewed regularly

by the Board,

Directors’ indemnities

The Company maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in the financial year ended 31 August 2022 and up
to the date of this report which gives appropriate cover far
any legal action brought against its directors. The Company
has provided and continues to provide an indemnity for

its directors, which is a qualifying third party indemnity
provision for the purposes of Section 234 of the Companies
Act 2006.

Company’s shareholders

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the
Financial Conduct Authority’s {(FCA) Disclosure Guidance
and Transparency Rules (DTRs) is puklished on a Regulatory
Information Service and on the Company's website, As at

31 August 2022, the following information had been received,
in accordance with DTRS, from holders of notifiable interests
in the Company's issued share capital. )t shouid be noted
that these holdings may have changed since nctified to

the Company.

% as at date Nature
Haider Number of notification of hoiding
Causeway Capital 10,635,624 812 Direct
Management LLC
BlackRock Inc. 9,473,306 72 Inclirect
M&G PLC 791971 6.92 indirect
The Capital Group 6,564,720 501 Indirect
Companies Inc.
Marathon Asset 6,539,399 499 Indirect
Managernent LLP
Royal L_London Asset 6,539,691 499 Direct

Management Ltd

The Company received no other notifications in the period
between 31 August 2022 and the date of this report.
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Political donations

It is the Company's policy not to make political donations
and no political clonations, contributions or political
axpenditure were made in the year (2027: £nil).

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors
that are likely to affect its future developments, performance
and position, are set out in the Strategic report on pages

2 to 63, The Financial review on pages 26 to 29 of the
Strategic report also describes the Group's financial position,
cash flows and borrowing facilities, further information

on which is detailed in Notes 18 to 21 of the financial
staterments on pages 153 to 158. As at 31 August 2022, the
Group is in & net current liability position. In addition, Note
21 of the financial statements on page 155 includes the
Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing

s carntal; its financal sk management abjectives; details
of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its
exposures to credit risk and liguidity risk. The Strategic
report on pages 57 to 63 also highlights the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group.

The directors are required to assess whether the Group
can continue to operate for a minimum of 12 months from
the date of approval of these financial statements, and
to prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis. The directors consider that the Group Company
has adequate resources to remain in operation for the
foreseeable future and have therefore continued to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements. The basis of preparation of the financial
statements and a more detailed explanation of the work
undertaken in respect of going concern are set out in
Naote 1 of the financial staternants on page 121,

The longer-term viability statement is in the Strategic report
on page 62.

Independent auditors

PwC has expressed its willingness to continue in office as
auditars of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint PwC
as auditors to the Company and a resolution to authorise
the Audit Committee to determine its remuneration will be
proposed at the AGM.

Financial statements Additional information

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Having made the requisite enguiries, as far as each of the
directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information

(as defined in Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006}

of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and each

of the directors has taken all steps he or she should have
taken as a directaor in order to make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Cormpany’s auditors are aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of
Herbert Smith Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrose
Street, London EC2A 2EG on 18 January 2023 at 11.30am.
The Notice of Annual General Meeting is given, together
with explanatory notes, in the booklet which accornpanies
this report.

10 November 2022,

This report was approve: the Board

10 November 2022
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report
and the financial staterments in accordance with applicable
taw and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, Under that law the
directors have prepared the Group financial statements
in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards and the Company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law).

Undler company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that
period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors
are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply
thermn consistently;

state whether applicable UK-adopted internaticnal
accounting standards have been followed for the Group
financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been followed

for the Company financial statements, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate te presume that the Group
and Cormpany will continue in business.

The directors are alse responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Group's and Company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the
financial staterments and the Directors’ remuneration report
comply with the Companies Act 20086.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissermination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Directors’ confirmations

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed
in the Directors’ biographies confirms that, to the best of
their knowledge:

+ the Group financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit of the Group;

+ the Company financial staterments, which have been
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting
Standards comprising FRS 101, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position of the Company; and
the Strategic report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that

it faces.

~

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Robert Moorhead
Chief Financial Offic

10 Novernbgr 2022
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Financial statements Additional information

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC

Report on the audit of the
financial statements
Opinion

Ir cur opinion:

* WH Smith PLC's Group financial statements and Company
financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the
Cornpany’s affairs as at 31 August 2022 and of the Group's
profit and the Grouw's cash Mows for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial staternents have been properly
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards;

+ the Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepled Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statemenits, included within
the Annual Report, which comprise: the Group and
Company balance sheets as at 31 August 2022; the Group
income statement and Group statement of comprahensive
income; the Group cash flow statement, and the Group and
Company staternents of changes in equity for the year then
ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which
include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Qur opinion i5 consistent with our reporting to the
Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) ("1SAs (UK)™) and applicable
law. Our responsibitities under 1SAs (UK) are further
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to cur audit
of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the
FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest
antities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements,

To the best of cur knowledge and belief, we declare that
non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard
were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 3, we have provided
no non-audit services to the company or its contrelled
undertakings in the period under audit.

Our audit approach

Context

During 2022, the Group continued its recovery from the
Covid-12 pandemic and continued its expansion in the travel
sector with the opening of a number of InMotion stores in
the UK and further store openings in the USA. 2022 saw a
return to profitability after the impact of the pandemic in
2020 and 2021 In planning our work, we were mindful of the
increased focus on the impacts of climate change risk on
the cornpanies and their financial reporting. As part of our
audit we made enquiries of management to understand Lhe
process adopted to assess the extent of the potential impact
of climate change on the Group's financial statements.

The Directors consider that the impact of climate change
does not give rise to a material financiai statement impact.
We used our knowledge of the Group to evaluate the
Directors' assessment. We particuiarly considered how
climate change risks could impact the assumptions made

in the forecasts prepared by management and used in

their impairment and going concern assessments. We also
considered the consistency of the disclosures in relation

to climate change made in the other information within

the Annual Report with the financial statements and our
knowledge from our audit.

Our audit approach

Overview

Audit scope

- For the purposes of scoping the Group audit we have
assessed the seven components of the business; High
Street, Travel UK, inMaoticn, MRG, Rest of World, Company
and Central,

» For the purposes of the Group audit, we performed a
fuli scope audit on the High Street, Travel UK, MRG and
inMotion components, whilst Rest of World, Central and
Company compenents based on their value relative to the
rest of the Group.

» The audits of the InMotion and MRG components were
performed by PwC Las Vegas.

= QOur audit scoping gave us coverage of approximately 97%
of absolute Group profit before tax, with approximately
97% coverage of revenue.

+ We performed a full scope audit for the Company.

Key audit matters

+ Impairment of store property, plant & equipment and
right-of-use (Group) and impairment of investrments
(Company).

+ Inventory valuation (Group)

» Pension buy-in disclosure and liability valuation (Group)
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Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

Materiality

» Overall Group materiality: £7000.000 (2021: £5,700,000)
based on professionai judgement of considering a number
of potential benchmarks (specifically revenue and certain
profit based benchmarks, both for the current year and
over a number of years), given that using 5% of a three
year average of profit before tax and exceptional items
(used in the prior year) would have resulted in a lower level
of materiality in 2022 than in 2021 despite the fact that the
Group's profit before tax has increased year-on-year.

Overall company materiality: £8,400,000

(2021 £8,400,000) based on 1% of total assets.

« Performance materiality: £5,250,000 (2021 £4,300,000)
(Group) and £6,300.000 (2021: £6,300,000) {company).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
prefessional judgement, were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period

Key audit matter

and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by
the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of rescurces

in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the
results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the
context of our audit of the fimancial staternents as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate oginion on these mallers.

This is not a complete list of afl risks identified by our audit.

The pension buy-in accounting is a new key audit matter this
vear. The Convertible bond and refinancing was a one off
transacticn in the prior year. One off transactions and egual
prominence of Alternative Performance Measures ‘APMs’
and Going concern, which were key audit matters last year,
are no longer included because of the reduced number

of non-underlying items. lack of new APMSs and improved
performance of the Group rmeaning that these items had a
lower impact on audit effort this financial year. Otherwise,
the key audit matters below are consistent with last year.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of store property, plant & equipment
and right-of-use (Group) and impairment of
investments (Company)

Refer to Note 1 (a), Basis of preparation, Non-underlying
iterns and Y(g) Criticat accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty and Notes 11 and 12
(Property, plant & eguipment and Right-of-use assets).

The Group has a material operational retail assat base which
may be vulnerable to impairment in the event of trading
parformance being below expectations. For the purposes
of impairment testing, each retail store is considered to be a
separate cash generating unit (CGU). A review of impairment
triggers was performed at the operating segment level.
Thes identified the need for a full impairment assessment
for High Street stores. Management performed a store level
value-in-use-model which resulted in the recognition of an
impainment charge. In Travel UK, North America and Rest
of World, impairment triggers were not identified at the
operating segment level. However, a store level impairment
trigger review identified outlying stores which resulted

in an impairment charge in Rest of World, Travel UK and
North America. we focused on this area because of the
inkerent judgement and estimation uncertainty involved in
determining key assumptions such as the future sales profile
and discount rates, and the magnitude of the assets under
consideration. Recoverability of investrnents in subsidiary
undertakings (Company). Refer to note 3 in the Company
financial staternents. The parent company had £835m of
investments in subsidiary undertakings. There is a risk that
the performance of the subsidiary undertakings is not
sufficient to support their carrying value and the assets
may be impared.

We cobtained management's impairment trigger assessment,
bath at the operational format and store level, and
considerad the conclusions reached to be appropriate.

We obtained an understanding of how managerment had
developed its forecast for the future trading for those stores
where an impairment trigger had been identified, including
obtaining a detailed understanding of the key assumptions
made in developing these forecasts, We satisfied curselves
that the forecasts were reasonable and had been prepared
with appropriate Board involvernent. In forming this
conclusion, we benchmarked projections to credible third
parties where available. With the assistance of our valuation
experts we tested the impairment models for the High
Street stores, including challenging management forecasts
at a store level, as well considering other assumptions

such as the sales profile and discount rate, and found

that these assumptions were reasonable. We assessed

the mathematical accuracy and integrity of the models

and determined that the impairment charge had been |
appropriately calculated. Given the estirnation uncertainty

inherent in the impairment process, we re-performed

the sensitivity analysis. We satisfied ourselves that any

reasonable possible change that results in a material

adjustment to the impairment charge had been considered.

We considered the disciosure of the non-underlying

impairment charge and were satisfied that this is in line

with management's policy. We evaluated management's

assessment of impairment indicators and considered

the consistency with other audit procedures performed.

We evaluated management's assessment of impairment

indicators for the investment in subsidiary undertaking and

considered the consistency with other audit procedures

performed. We found that management’s view that there

were no impatrment indicators was appropriate,
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

inventory valuation (Group)

Refer to Note 1(h) Inventories and Note 1(qg) Critical
accounting judgements and key sources of estimate
uncertainty. Inventory consists of a number of product
categories including books, news and magazines, impulse,
stationery, travel essentials and consumer electronics. A large
proportion of inventory is suppiied through sale or return
arrangements, including the majority of books, newspapers
and magazines and therefore the valuation of these items
are considered to be lower risk. However, a number of
inventory lines are perishable or nolt on a sale or return basis,
and items such as books, fashion, journey solutions and
consumer giectronics are at a greater risk of cbsolescence.
The Group's inventory provision is primarily based on ageing
profile, obsolescence risk and farecast sales performance.
The assumptions in the calculation are consistent with the
prior year. Judgement is required to estimate future sales

to clear this inventory and with respect to alternative exit

routes for inventory which attract different provisioning rates.

We focused on the valuation of the inventory provisions

due to the size of the balance and the estimates involved in
determining the future sales forecasts and the complexity of
the caiculation.

We gained an understanding of each provision category
and analysed the movement between current year and prior
year. We developed an independent expectation of the
provision required using a combination of ageing analysis
and historic inventory data. We performed testing over
the ageing data to ensure its accuracy. For the consumer
electronics inventory, we developed an independent
expectation using comparable external stock turn data.
The provisions are consistent with the Group's accounting
policy and also reflect changes in the ageing profile.

We satisfied ourselves that the inventory provisions were
materially accurate, Given the estimates involved we
reviewed a sensitivity analysis to satisfy ourselves that a
reasonable possible change would not resuit in a material
adjustment to the carrying value of the inventory.

Pension buy-in disclosure and liability

valuation (Group)

Refer to Note 5 to the financial statements. During the year
the WHSmith Pension Trust Final Salary Section scheme (the
Trust) was subject to a pension buy-in; whereby the liabilities
of the scheme are now coverad by a bulk annuity insurance
nolicy insuring al! fiabilities to pay all future defined benefit
pensions to the Trust's 12,950 members and any eligible
dependants. The bulk annuity policy matcheas the Trust's
cash flow benefit obligations to its members, removing
longevity and other demagraphic risks as well as investment,
interest rate and inflation risks. The value of this policy, which
sits within plan assets, has been set as equal to the liability

of the membership which it covers. The bulk annuity policy
and the remaining scheme assets have been restricted to the
present value of the defined benefit obligation, as the Group
does not recognise a surplus under FRIC 14, The value of the
assets which were used to purchase the policy were higher
than the buy-in asset value, with the resuiting asset loss
being taken to other comprehensive income alongside actual
asset losses experienced as a result of market movements.
We focusecl on this area due to it being a one off transaction
related to material balances and the judgement in respect
the treatment of the asset losses recorded through other
cemprehensive income. The valuation of the schemes’
liabilities requires judgerment and technical expertise in
choosing appropriate assumptions. The Group uses third
party actuaries to calculate the schemaes' fliabilities,

For the accounting treatment of the buy-in, we engaged

our actuarial experts to review the buy-in contract and are
comfortable that the contract does not abligate the Group
to convert the buy-in contract to a buy-out at a future date
and that the buy-in asset is equal to the scheme liability.

Our experts also reviewed the accounting entries posted

as part of the buy-in to ensure that these are appropriate
and in line with expectations for the asset losses, which

in accordance with 1AS19 have been recognised in other
comprehensive income. We reviewed the pension liability
assumptions, including discount rates, inflation and mortality
rates. We compared the discount and inflation rates used to
our internally developed benchmark ranges, finding them to
be within an acceptable range. Other assumptions were also
assessed and considered to be reasgnable. Based on the
procedures performed, we noted no material issues arising
from our work.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of cur audit to ensure that we
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the
structure of the Group and the company, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate.

For the purposes of scoping the Group audit we have
assessed the seven components of the business; High
Street, Travel UK, InMotion, MRG, Rest of World, Central and
Company. There are four significant components. High Street
and Trave! UK were audited by the UK Group team, and
inMotion and MRG were audited by PwC Las Vegas as
component auditors operating under our instruction.

Audit work was performed over the consolidation process,
tax, impairment, pensions and going concern at a UK Group
fevel. Where the work was performed by the component
auditor, we determined the level of invoivement we needed
to have in their audit work to be able to conclude whether
sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for
aur opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole.
We held detailed discussions with the InMotion and MRG
component audit tearn, including performing a pre-year

Financial statements ~ Group

end site visit, remote review of the work performed, update
calls on the progress of their fieldwork and by attending

the clearance meetings with management via video call.

The components where we performed audit work accounted
for approximately 7% of absolute Group loss before tax

and approximately 92% of revenue. We performed audlit
procedures over specific financial statement line items within
Rest of World, Central and Company components based on
their value relative to the rest of the Group. A full scope audit
was performed over the Company financial statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application
of materiality. We set certain guantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations,
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of cur audit procedures on the
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and
in evaluating the effect of misstaternents, both individually
and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined
materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Fi ial .

Overall £7,000,000 (2021: £5,700,000). £8.400,000 (2021 £8,400,000),
materiality
How we professional judgement of considering a number of 1% of total assets

determined it

potential bhenchmarks (specifically revenue and certain
profit based benchimarks. both for the current year

and over a number of years), given that using 5% of a
three year average of profit before tax and exceptional
items (used in the prior year) would have resulted in a
lower level of materiality in 2022 than in 2021 despite
the fact that the Group's profit before tax has increased
year-on-year

Rationale for
benchmark

applied

As noted above, we considered a range of benchmarks
for determining materiality. We selected a level of
materiality that was within the range of outcomes
suggested by these benchmarks and reflected an
approgriate increase on the prior year materiality level
given the improved performance of the Group in the
current year. The materiality selected is equivalent to
approximately 8% of current year profit before tax
(2020: approximately 5% of a three-year average of
profit before tax and non-underlying items).

As the parent entity, WH Smith PLC is a holding
Company for the Group and therefore the materiality
benchmark has been determined to be based

on total assets which is a generally accepted

auditing benchmark.

nz
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For each component in the scope of our Group audit,
we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall
Group materiality. The range of materiaiity allocated
across components was £4.0 millions and £6.0 million.
Certain components were audited to a local statutory
audit materiality that was also less than our overali
Group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate
of unicorrected and undelected misstatements exceeds
vvetdll halerialily. Specifically, we use performance
materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the
nature and extent of our testing of account balances,
classes ol transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Qur performance materiality
was 75% (2021 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to
£5,250,0Q0 (2021: £4,300,000) for the Group financial
statements and £6,300,000C (2021: £6,300.000) for the
Company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered
a number of factors - the history of misstaternents, risk
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of
controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end
of our normal range was appropriate,

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report
to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£350,000 (Group audit) (2021 £305,000) and £420,000
(Company audit) (2021 £420,000) as well as misstatements
below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Qur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s
and the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included;

+ critically assessed the assumptions within the
rmodels including: assessing the historical accuracy of
rmanagement’s forecasts and obtained corroborating
evidence for the assumptions used including forecast air
passenger numbers;

obtained and reviewed the Group's financing agreements;

considered the assumptions made regarding the extent
of an economic downturn in the severe but plausible
downsicle case to historical actuals and external sources;

performed independent sensitivity analyses to the severe
but plausible case to assess the impact on hguidity and
covenant headroom; and '

- confirmed that consistent approaches to going concern,
viability, impairment and other key areas of estimation
assumptions have been used.

Financial statements Additional information

Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events

or conditions that, individually or coliectively, may cast
significant doubt on the Group's and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a pericd of at least twelve
months from when the financial staterents are authorised
for issue.

In auditing the financial staterments, we have concluded that
the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can
be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to
the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern,

In relation to the directors’ reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Codle, we have
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to
the directors’ statement in the financial statements about
whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The ather information comprises ail of the information in the
Annual Report other than the financial statements and cur
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are respensible for
the other information, which includes repeorting based on the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
recommendations. Our opinion on the financiai staternents
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we
do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our respensibility is to read the other information and,

i doing 50, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge cbtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to
perform procedures to conclude whether there is a matetial
misstatement of the financial staternents or a malterial
misstatement of the other information. if, based on the worlc
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are reguired

to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on
these responsikilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report,
we also considered whether the disclosures reguired by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.
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Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit,
the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit, the inforrmation given in the Strategic report
and Directors’ report for the year ended 31 August 2022

15 consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group
anc Company and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements
in the Strategic report and Directors’ report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors' remuneration report
to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006,

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’
staternents in relation to going concern, longer-term viability
and that part of the corporate governance statement
relating to the Company's compliance with the provisions of
the UK Corpeorate Governance Code specified for our review.
Our additional responsibilities with respect to the corporate
governance staternent as other information are described in
the Repaorting on cther information section of this report.

Based on the worlc undertaken as part of our audit, we

have concluded that each of the following elements of the
corporate governance statement is materially consistent with
the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during
the audit, and we have nothing material to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

« The directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a
robust assessment of the emerging and principat risks;

= The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those
principal risks, what procedures are in place to iclentify
emerging risks and an explanation of how these are being
managed or mitigated;

+ The directors’ staternent in the financial statements about
whather they consiclered it appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their
identification of any material uncertainties to the group's
and company’s ability to continue to do sc over a period
of at feast twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements;

The directors’ explanation as to their assessment of

the Group's and Company's prospects, the period this
assessment covers and why the period is appropriate; and
+ The directors’ statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Company will be able

to continueg in operation and meet its liabilities as they

fall due over the period of its assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.
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Our review of the directors' statement regarding the
longer-term viahbility of the Group was substantially less in
scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries
and considering the directors' process supporting their
staternent; checking that the staterment is in alignment with
the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code; and considering whether the statement is consistent
with the financial staterments and our knowledge and
understanding of the Group and Company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of

our audit, we have concluded that each of the following
elements of the corporate governance statement is
rmaterially consistent with the financial statements and our
knowledge obtained during the audit:

= The directors’ statement that they consider the
Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable, and provides the information necessary
for the members to assess the Group's and Company’'s
position, performance, business model and strategy;

+ The section of the Annual Report that describes the review
of effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems; and

+ The section of the Annual Report describing the work of
the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility
to report when the directors’ statement relating to the
Company’s cormpliance with the Code does not properly
disclose a departure from a relevant provisicn of the Code
specified under the Listing Rules for review by the auditors

Responsibilities for the financial statements
and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the

financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’
responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
the applicable frarmework and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible
for such internal contro! as they determine Is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going cancern basis of accounting uniess the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the Cornpany or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Our chijectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that inciudes our opinion.
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Reasonable assuranice is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UKD will always detect a material misstatement
wihen it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or

error and are considered material if, inclividually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial staternents.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
cormpliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
N line with our responsibilities, outiined above, Lo detect
material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of
cletecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understancling of the Group and industry,

we iclentified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to health and safety, GDPR,
empioyment law, general feod law and the UK Listing Rules,
and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might
have a material effect on the financial statements. We also
considered those iaws and regulations that have a direct
impact on the financial staterments such as the Companies
Act 2006 and tax tegislation. We evaluated management’s
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the
financial statemdnts (including the risk of override of centrols),
and determined that the principal risks were related to
manipulation of fevenue and managerment bias in accounting
estimates, The G'roup engagement tearmn shared this risk
assessrnent with;the componant auditors so that they could
include appropriate audit procedures in response to such

risks in thair worlg. Audit procedures performed by the Group
engagement team and/or componeant auditors included:

. . f . .
» Reviewing Ieggl confirmations from external lawyers;

* Reviewing the‘r financial statement disclosures and
agreement tounderlying supporting docurmentation;

Challenging assumptions made by management in
determining their significant judgements and accounting
estimates (reﬂ?r key audit matters); and

* ldentifying angﬂ testing unusual journals posted to revenue.

\
There are inherent limitations in the audit pracedures

described above. We are less likely to become aware of
nstances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that
are not closely re‘;iated to events and transactions reflected
in the financial S.Fatements. Also, the risk of not detecting

a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the

risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve deliberate concealrment by, for example. forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion,

+

Our audit testin ; might include testing complete populations
of certain transaFtions and balances, possibly using data
guditing techniqpues. However, it typically involves selecting

a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing
complete populations. We will often seek to target particular
itemns for testing'based on their size or risk characteristics.

In other cases, we wili use audit sampling to enable us to
draw a conclusicn about the population from which the
sample is selected.
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A further description of our responsibilities for Uhe audit

of the financial staternents is located on the FRC's website
at; www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared

for and only for the Company’s membpers as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 and for na other purpose. We do not, in giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whorn this repart
is shown or into whase hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to
vou if, in our opinion:

+ we have not abtained all the information and explanations
we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by
law are not made,; or

« the company financial staternents and the part of the
Directors' remuneration report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from
this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee,

we were appointed by the members on 21 January 2015 to
audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 January
2015 and subsequent financial periods, The period of total
uninterrupted engagement is 8 years, covering the years
ended 31 January 20715 te 31 August 2022,

Other matter

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rule 4114R, these financial
staterments form part of the ESEF-prepared annual financial
report fited on the Nationat Storage Mechanism of the
Financial Conduct Authority in accordance with the ESEF
Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTSY). This auditors’
report provides no assurance over whether the annual
financial report has been prepared using the single electronic
format specified in the ESEF RTS.

(Sg¢niorStatutory Auditor)

Jonathan LAg::

for and on bel f PricéwaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

1C November 2022
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Financial statements

Group income statement
For the year ended 31 August 2022

2022 2021
Before nan- Nof- Before non- Non-
underlying underlying unclerlying undertying
£m Note items' Items? Total itemns' Items” Total
Revenue 2 1,400 - 1,400 886 - 886
Group operating profit/(loss) 23 n 2o o7 @7 (65> o2
Finance costs 7 (34) - (34) (24) - (245
Profit/(loss) before tax 83 (20) 63 (51 (65) (N6)
income tax (expense)/credit 8 (14) 4 (10) 24 12 36
Profit/(loss) for the year 69 (16) 53 27 (53) (80)
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 63 (16) 47 @29 (5% (82
Attributable te non-controlling interests 6 - 6 2 - 2
69 (16) 53 27 (63) (BO)
Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic 9 36.2p (626)p
Diluted 2 35.6p (626X

All results relate to continuing aperations of the Group.

1 Ajternative performance meaasure. The Group has defined and explained the purpese of its alternative performance measures in the Glossary on page 173,

2 See Nole 4 for an analysis of non-underlying iterns. See Glossary on page 173 for a definition of Alternative performance measures
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Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 August 2022

£m Note 2022 2020

Profit/(loss) for the year 53 (80)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes 5 - M

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Gains on cash flow hedges

~ Net fair value gains 21 3 -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations i (3)
74 3>

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 74 43
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the vear 127 (943
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 120 (96)
Attributable to non-controling interests 7 2
127 (34)
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Financial statements

Group balance sheet
As at 31 August 2022

£m Note 2022 201
Nonh=current assets
Goochwill 10 4 406
Other intangible assets 10 72 o7
Property, plant and eguipment n 219 174
Right-of-use assets 12 446 328
Investments in joint ventures 2 2
Deferred tax assets 7 55 57
Trade and other receivables 13 9 6
1,274 1040
Current assets
Inventories 198 135
Trade and other receivables 13 87 45
Derivative financial assets 21 1 ~
Cash and cash equivalents 18 132 130
418 20
Total assets 1,692 1350
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 (365) (265)
Bank overdrafts and other borrowings 18 (20) -
Retirement benefit obligations 5 - 4}
Lease liabilities 15 a3n (c8)
Current tax liability m -
Short-term provisions 16 - {(2)

(517) (376)

Non-current liabilities

Retirement benefit obiigations 5 - 2
RBanlc loans and other borrowings 18 (404) (415
Long-term provisions 16 (14) a2
L.ease liabilities 15 (446) (362)
(864) {790
Total liabilitles (1,381) (167
Total net assels m 183
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 22 29 29
Share premium 316 316
Capital redemption reserve 13 13
Translation reserve 43 27
Other reserves 25 (244) leelitey)
Retaned earnings 138 8z
TJotal equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 295 173
MNon-controlling interests 16 0
Total equity in 183

The consolidated financial staternents of WH Smith PLC, registered number 5202036, on pages 116 to 168 were appraved by
the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 10 Novermnber 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Carl Cowling Robert Moorhead

Group Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer Chief Operating Officer
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Stratedic report Cotporate governance

Group cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Financial statements Additional information

£m Note 2022 2021
Operating activities
Cash generaled from uperating activities 20 213 n3
Interest paic! (26) (13)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 187 100
tnvesting activities
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment (70) 37
Purchase of intangible assets (13) N
Acqguisition of subsicliaries, net of cash acquired - 1
Net cash outflow from investing activities (83) (43)
Financing activities
Distributions to non-controlling interests m -
Issue of new shares for employee share schemes 22 - 1
Purchase of own shares for employee share schernes N (2
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 8 - 327
Repayments of borrowings 18 - (267)
Financing arrangement fees - (8)
Capital repayments of obligations under leases 8 (96) (26)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (104) (35}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year - 22
Opening cash and cash equivalents 130 108
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 2 -
Closing cash and cash equivalents 18 132 130
1 Includes interest payments of £11m on lease liabihtes (2021: £5m)
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Financial statements

Group statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 August 2022

Total 2quity
Called up attributabie
share capita! Capital to the equity Non-

and share  redemption  Transiation Other Retained holders of  controliing Total
Em premieny raserve’ resarve raserves’ aarmings the pareit interests edqitity
Balance at 1 September 2021 345 13 (27) (240) 82 173 10 183
Profit for the year - - - - 47 47 6 53
Other comprehensive income:
Cash flow hedges - - - 3 - 3 - 3
Exchange differences on transiation - - 70 - - 70 1 n
of foreign operations
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 70 3 47 120 7 127
Employee share schemes - - - 7 g 2 - 2
Non-cash movement on - - - - - - m [¢))
non-controlling interests
Balance at 3T August 2022 345 13 43 (244) 138 295 16 n

Total equnty
Called up attributabste
share capitat Capital to the equity MNon-

andshare  redernption Translation Other Retained holders of controlling Totat
frn premium reserve’ reserve raserves' @arnings the parent nterests equity
Balance at 1 September 2020 344 13 (14) (279) 158 222 5 227
Loss for the year - - E - e2) (82 2 (80
Other comprehensive loss:
Actuarial losses on defined benefit - - - - M a3 - m
pension schemes (MNote 5)
Exchange differencaes on translation - - {13y - - 3> - a3y
of foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (13 - (83) (96) 2 (34)
Issue of new shares (Note 22) 1 - - - - 1 - 1
Issue of convertible bonds - value of - - - 40 - 40 - 40
conversion rights (Note 25)
Deferred tax on share-based payments - - - - 1 1 - ¥
Employee share schemes - - - M 6 5 - 5
Nen-cash movernent on - - - - - - 3 3
non-controlling interests
Balance at 31 August 2021 345 13 27) (240) 82 173 10 183

1 For further explanation and analyus of Capital redemption reserve and Other reserves, see Note 25.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation

On 31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by the European Union at that date was brought into UK law and became UK-
adopted International Accounting Standards, with future changes being subject to endarsement by the UK Endorsernent
Board. The Group transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting Standards in its consolidated company financial
statements on 1 September 2021, This change constitutes a change in accounting framework. However, there is no impact
or recoariLion, measurement or disclosure in the pericd reported as a result of the change in framework.

The financial staterments of the Group have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting
Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under
those standards

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors are required to assess
whether the Group can continue to operate for the 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, and to
prepare the financial stalements on a going concern basis.

The Strategic report describas the Group's financial position, cash flows and borrowing facilities and also highiights the
orincipal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. The Strategic report also sets out the Group's business activities together
with the factors that are likely to affect its future developments, performance and position. Note 22 oullines the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures.

The directors raport that they have undertaken a rigorous assessment of current performance and forecasts, including
expenditure commitments, capital expenditure and borrewing facilities, and have concluded that the Group is able to
adeciuately manage its financing and principal risks, and that the Group wili be able to operate within the level of its faciiities
and meet the required covenants for the period to February 2024, Based on this assessment, which is outlined below, itis
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these financial staterents.

In making the going concern assessment, the directors have modelled a number of scenarios for the period to February 2024,
The base case scenario is consistent with the Board approved 2023 Budget and the three year plan. Under this scenario the
Greup has significant liquidity and comfortably complies with all covenant tests to February 2024.

As a rasult of inherent uncertainties due to the impact of Covid-19 and challenges in the macroeconomic environment, a
severe but plausible scenario has also been modelled which assumes a 10 per cent reduction in revenue versus base case
across all our businesses (Travel UK, North Arnerica, Rest of the World and High Street). We have aiso assurmed a five per
cent increase in latzour costs against base case and a 50 per cent increase in enérgy costs against base case where energy
<0sts have not been fixed. Apart from an egual reduction in turnover rents in our Travel businesses, we have not assumed
any doegrease in other variable costs,

In both the base case and severe but plausible scenarios the Group would centinue to have sufficient fiquidity headroom on
its existing facitities, as described above.

The covenants on the above facilities are tested half-yearly. The covenant test at 31 August 2022 is based on minimum
liguidity, The covenant tests as at 28 February 2023, 31 August 2023 and 28 February 2024 are based on fixed charges
cover and net borrowings. Under both the base case and the severe but plausible scenarios, the Group wauld meet these
covenant Lests,

As a result of the above analysis, the directors believe that the Group has sufficient financial resources to continue in
operation and meet its obligations as they fall due for the 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.

New standards
The Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations which became mandatory for the year ended

31 August 2022
Amendment to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7 IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest rate benchmarl reform - Phase 2

The Group has considered the above new standards and amendments and has concluded that they are either not relevant
o the Greup or they do not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial staternents.

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated Group financial statements, the following standards and interpretations,
which have not been apphed in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective;

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before intended use
Amendmeants to IAS 37 Onerous contracts - cost of fulfilling a contract
Marrow scope amendments to IAS Tand 1AS 8
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

a) Basis of preparation (continued)
The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future years will have no material impact
an the Group's financial staterments.

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs?")
The Group has identified certain measures that it believes will assist the understanding of the performance of the business.
These APMs are not defined or specified under the requirements of IFRS.

The Group believes that these APMs, which are not considered to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures, provide
stakeholders with additional usefu! information on the underlying trends, performance and position of the Group and are
consistent with how busingss performance is measured internally. The APMs are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not
be directly comparable with other companies’ APMs.

The key APMs that the Group uses include: measures before non-underlying items, Headline profit before tax, Headline
earnings per share, trading profit, Headline trading profit, Headline Group profit from trading operations, like-for-like revenue,
gross margin, fixed charges cover, Headline EBITDA, Net debt/funds and Headline net debt/funds and free cash flow.

These APMs are set out in the Glossary on page 173 including explanations of how they are calculated and how they are
reconciled to a statutory measure where relevant.

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present a measure of profit and earnings per share which excludes certain items, that are
considered non-underlying and exceptional due to their size, nature or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures exclude the financial effect of non-underlying items which are considered
exceptional or occur infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed prograrmme, costs relating
to business combinations, impairment charges and other property costs, significant items relating to pension schemes, and
impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-underlying specificaily related to the Covid-19 pandemic, and
the related tax effect of these items. In addition, these measures exclude the incoeme statement impact of amortisation of
intangible assets acquired in business combinations, which are recognised separately from goodwill. This amortisation is not
considered to be part of the underlying operating costs of the business and has no associated cash flows,

The Group believes that the separate disclosure of these items provides additional useful information to users of the financial
statements to enable a better understanding of the Group's underlying financial performance

Further detaits of non-underlying items are provided in Note 4.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost basis of accounting, except for certain financial instruments.
share-based payments and pensions that have been measured at fair value. The financial information is rounded to the
nearest million, except where otherwise indicated. The principal accounting policies, which have been applied consistently
throughout both years except as noted above, are set out on the following pages.

Basis of consolidation
The cansclidated Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of WH Smith PLC and alt its subsidiaries.

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities over which the Group has control, The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to

the Group.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of
consideration transferred over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
llabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the fair value of consideration transferred, after taking into account recognised
goodwill, the excess is immediately recognised in the income statement. The separable net assets, both tangible and
intangible, of the newly acquired subsidiary undertakings are incorporated into the financial statements on the basis of the
fair value as at the effective date of contral, if appropriate. Non-controlling interests are stated at the non-controlling interests’
proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.
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1.  Accounting policies {(continued)

a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Results of subsidiary undertakings disposed of during the financial year are included in the financial staternents up to the
effective date of disposal. Where a business component representing a separate major line of business is disposed of, or
classified as held for sale, it is classified as a discontinued operation. The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operations
is shown as a single amount on the face of the income statement, separate from the other results of the Group.

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest on a long-term basis and which is jointly controlled by the
Group and one or more other venturers under a contractual agreement. Management has assessed whether it has_ joint
control of the arrangement. Joint control exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties that collectively control the arrangement. in assessing this joint control no significant judgements
have been necessary.

The Group's shara of results of joint ventures is included in the Group consolidated income statement using the equity
meathod of accounting. The results of joint ventures ir the current and pricr year are not material to disclose. Investments in
joint ventures ara carried in the Group consolidated balance sheet at cost plus post-acguisition changes in the Group's share
of net assets of the entity less any impairment in value,

If the Group's share of losses in the joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so, or made payments on behalf of the joint venture,

Al intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated,

b) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
the sale of goods and services to customers {which is the maost significant revenue stream), sale of wholesale goods to
franchisees, and commission and fee income on concession and franchise arrangements. Reveriue excludes discounts,
estimated returns, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when performance obligations have been met and control of the goods has transferred to the
customer, The majority of the Group's sales are for standalcne products made direct to customers at standard prices either
in-store, online or through franchisees, where there is a single performance obligation, Revenue generated from different
store formats are considered to be a single revenue strearm and are subject to the same underlying economic risks,

Revenue on in-store transactions is recognised at the point of sale when control of the goods is deemed to have transferred
to the customer. Revenue in respect of online and wholesale {including sales directly to franchisees) transactions is
recognised on the transfer of contral, which is on delivery of the goods to the customers, Revenue in respect of gift cards

sold by the Group is recognised on the redemption of the gift card either in-store at the point of sale or on delivery for online
redemptions, Franchise and concession fees and commission are recognised on the accruals basis in accordance with the
substance of the contracts in place, which is typically on the basis of fixed fees spread evenly over the contract period, and/or
variable amounts, earned based on revenue.

¢) Supplier arrangements

The Group receives income from its suppliers in the forrm of supplier incentives and discounts (collectively "Supplier
arrangements”). These incomes are recognised as a deduction from cost of sales on an accruals basis as they are earned for
each supplier contract, The level of complexity and judgement is low in relation to establishing the accounting entries and
estimates, and the timing of recognition.

Supplier incomes that have been invoiced but not received at the period end are recognised in Trade Receivables, or in
Trade Payables where wa have the right of offset. Incomes that have been earned but not yet invoiced are accrued and are
recorded in Accrued income.

The types of supplier arrangements recognised by the Group, and the recognition policies are detailed below.

Retrospective discounts
Income earned based on sales or purchase velume triggers set by the supplier for specific products over specific perods,

Income 15 calculated and invoiced based upon actual sales or purchases over the period set out in the supplier agreement,
and is recognised in the income statement as it is earned. Where the period of an agreement spans accourting periods,
incorne is recognised based on forecasts for expected sales or purchase volurnes, infarmed by current performance, trends,
and the terms of the supplier agreement. Income is invoiced throughout the year in accordance with the specific supplier
terms. The catrying value of inventories is adjusted to reflect unearned elements of supplier incame as the product has not
yot been sold. This income is subsequently recognised in cost of sales when the product has been sold.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

¢) Supplier arrangements (continued)

Promotional and marketing activity

Supplier income from promotional and marketing activity includes incorne in respect of in-store marketing and point of sale,
supplying dedicated promotional space or receiving margin support for products on prometion.

Income for promotional and marketing activity is agreed with suppliers for specific periods and products. Income is
recognised over the pericd of the agreement. Income is invoiced when the performance conditions in the supplier agreement
have been achisved.

d) Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the WHSmith Group definec contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the income
staternent as they fall due.

The cost of praviding benefits for the main defined benefit scheme, WHSmith Pension Trust, and the United News Shops
Retirement Benefits Scheme are determined by the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial calculations being carried
out at the balance sheet date,

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the periad in which they occur. They are recognised outside the income
staterment in the Group statement of comprehensive income.

The retirerment benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit
obligation, a3 recduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from the calculation is limited to the present
value of available refunds and recluctions in future contributions to the plan. Where the Group is considered to have a
contractual obligation to fund the pension scheme above the accounting value of the fiabilities, an onercus obligation

is recognised.

e) Intangible assets

Business combinations

The acquiisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assurned, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control, of the acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are
recognised iy the income statement in the period they are incurred. The cost of & business combination is allocated at the
acquisition date by recognising the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabllities and contingent liabilities that satisfy the recognition
criteria at their fair values at that date.

The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer effectively obtains control of the acquiree. Intangible assets are
recognised if they meet the definition of an intangible asset contained in IAS 38 and their fair value can be measured reliably.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of identifiable net assets acquired is recognised
as goodwill.

Whete less than the entire equity interest of a subsidiary is acquired, the non-controlling interest is recognised at the non-
controlling interest's share of the net assets of the subsidiary. Changes in the Group's ownership percentage of subsidiaries
are accounted for within equity.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the net fair value of identifialle assets and
liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset at cost and subseguently measured at cost less accumulated impairment. For the purposes
of impairment testing. goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (CGUs) that have benefited frorm the acquisition
Each store is considered to be a CGU. Goodwill is allocated to the group of CGUs making up the Group's operating segments,
as this is the lowest level at which management monitor goodwill. Where the Group's operating segments have changed,
goodwill is allocated to the new operating segments identified on & relative value basis.

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually or where there is an indication that goadwill
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units is less than its carrying amount, then
the wmpairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the units and then te the
other assets of the units on a pro-rata basis. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and 1s not
subsequently reversed.

On disposat of a subsichary, the attributable amount of goodwill s included in the deterrnination of the profit and loss
on disposal,
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Other intangible assets

The ¢asts of acquiring and developing software that Is not integral to the related hardware is capitalised separately as an
intangible asset. These intangibles are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, Amortisation is
charged so as to write off the costs of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. and is recorded
in Distribution costs. The amortisation period for capitalised software costs is over a maximum period of five years.

Cloud-based software arrangements are treated as service contracts and expensed in the Group income statermnent as the
service is received, except where the arrangement mests the requirements for recognition as an intengible asset of the Group
under 1AS 38, These criteria are met when the Group has both a contractuai right to take possession of the software without
significant penalty, and the ability to run the software independently of the software host. Configuration and customisation
costs in relation to a cloud-based software arrangements are expensed alongside the related service contract in the
consolidatad income statement, unless they create a separately identifiable resource controlled by the Group, in which case
they are capitalisec.

Other intangible assets are valued at cost and amortised over their useful life, and the amortisation is recorded in
administrative expenses, uniess the asset can be demonstrated to have an indefinite life. Other intangible assets, such as
brands, arising on business combinaticns are amortised over their usefu! lives. Amortisation of other intangible assets arising
on business cornbinations is included in non-underlying costs. The useful life and resicual value of all intangible assets are
determined at the time of acquisition and reviewed annually for appropriateness,

Allintangibile assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, when there are indications
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually.

f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
in value. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets previously revalued have been retained at their book amount.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the costs of assets, other than land, over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, with the annual rates applicable to the principal categories being:

Freehold properties - aver 20 yeoars

Leasahoid improvemnents - shorter of the lease period
and the estimated remaining
econocmic life

Fixtures and fittings - up to ten years

Equipment and vehicles - up to ten years

The residual values of property. plant and equipment are reassessed on an annual basis.

At each balance sheet date, property, plant and eguipment is reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circurnstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable
amaunt 1€ assessed by reference 1o the net present value of expected fulure pre-tax cash flows of the relevant cash-
generaling unit or fair value, less costs to sell, if higher, Any impairrment in value is charged to the incorme slatement in the
period in which it occurs.

g) Leasing

The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a correspanding lease liabiiity with respect to all lease arrangements in which it s the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, For these leases,
the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets

are consumed.

The lease libility is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease, If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee useas its
incremental borrowing rate.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

g) Leasing (continued)
Lease payrnents included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

* fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives receivable:

= variable lease payrnents that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

* the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

« payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lzase liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated balance sheet.

The lease liahility is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability {using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amcunt to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

« The lease payments change due to changes in an index, rent review or rate, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate.

+ Alease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
fability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
meazured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition reguired by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37 To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in
the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The right-of-use assels are presented as a separate line in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group applies |AS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the accounting policies in Note 1) Property, plant and equipment.

The |lease contracts that include variable rents based on sales, which is the case with many of our retail concession contracts,
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related rents payable are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payables occurs and are included in profit or
Ioss (see Note 3).

The Group has applied the Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in June 2020 and further extension granted in March 2021

This practical expedient allows the impact on the lease liability of temporary rent reductions/waivers affecting rent payments
due on or before June 2022, to be recognised in the income statement in the period they are received, rather than as lease
rnodifications, which would reguire the remeasurement of the lease liability using a revised discount rale with a corresponding
adjustrnent to the right-of-use asset.

For leases acquired as part of a business combination, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining
lease payments. The right-of-use asset is measured at the same amount as the lease liability adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfayourabie terms of the lease when compared to market terms.

The Group as a lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as an intermediate lessor with respect to some of its property leases. It accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as finance lease or operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head iease. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease, All other ieases are classified as
operating leases.

Rents receivable from operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

h) Inventories
Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Consigniment stocks are
nct Included within stocks held by the Group. Inventories are valued using a weighted average cost method.

Cost is calculated to include, where applicable, duties, handling, transport and directly attributable costs {including a
deduction for applicable supplier income) in bringing the inventories to their present locaticn and condition, Net realisable
value Is based on estirmnated normal selling prices less further costs expected to be incurred in seiling and distribution. Cost of
inventories includes the transfer from equity of any gains or fosses on qualifying cash flow hedages relating to purchases,

Provisions are made for obsolescence, markdown below cost and shrinkage.

i) Government grants and government assistance
Governiment grants are not recognised untit there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and that the Group
will comply with any conditions attached to them.

Government grants are recognised in the income statement over the same pericd as the costs for which the grants are
intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Government grant income is disclosed in Note 3.

Inaddition, the Group has benefited from government assistance in the form of business rates relief of £2m in the year
(2021: EA0m).

j» Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of

a past evenl and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.

Where the effect is material, the provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

k) Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statemerits are presented in pounds sterling (GBP), which is WH Smith PLC's functional and
presentation currency. Iterms included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the functional currency™).

On comsolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's overseas operations are translated into steriing at exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense itermns are translated into sterling at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group's translation reserve.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions.

At each balance sheet date, monetary items dencminated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of rmonetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
iterns, are included in the income staterment for the period.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the Group enters into forward contracts {see below for
details of the Group's accounting policies in respect of such derivative financial instruments).

1) Taxation
The tax expense included in the income statement comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable based on the taxable profit or loss for the period, using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrving amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax baseas used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability rmethod. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be avaiiable against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
frorm the initial recognition (other than in business combination) of other assets and liabilities i a transaction that affects
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

) Taxation (continued)

The carrving amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that itis no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to aliow all or part of the asset tc be recovered. Deferred tax is
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

Current and deferred tax is charged ar credited in the income staternent, except when it relatas to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the current or deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.

m) Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual

provisions of the instrumsnt,

i} Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

a) Financial assets

Trade and other receivables

Tracle receivables are measured at fair value at initial recognition, do not carry any interest and are subseguently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriste allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in the income statement.

Allowanceas for doubtful debts are recognised based on management's expectation of losses, without regard to whether an
impairment trigger has occurred or not (an "expected credit loss” model under IFRS 9).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original

maturity of three months or less.

k) Financial liabilities and equity

Financial fiabilities and equity instrurments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangerments entered
iNto. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all

of s habilibes.

Borrowings
Borrowings comprise interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts and compound financial instruments (convertible bonds).

Bank loans are initially measured at fair value (being proceeds received, net of direct issue costs), and are subsequently
measured at amaortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Transaction fees such as arrangement fees associated
with the securing of financing are capitalised and amartised through the income statement over the term of the relevant
facility. Finance charges, including prermiums payable on settlement or redemptions and direct issue costs are accounted
for on an accryals basis and taken to the income statement using the effective interest rate method and are added to the
carrying value of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible bonds. The convertible bonds are bifurcated into
a liability component and an equity component on initial recognition. The carrying value of the liability at initial recognition
s measured using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and recagnised in equity (Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to each component in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Any transaction costs apportioned to the liability is included in the carrying amount and
recognised over the contractual life of the liability using the effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate rethod.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)

m) Financial instruments (continued)

ii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group
also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified fiability are substantially
different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid
{including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

ili) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net position presented in the balance sheet when, and only when,
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability sirmultaneously.

iv) Impairment

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECLs") on financial assets measured at amortised cost.
These are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The maxirnum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maxirnum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL. the Group considers reasonable and supportabte information that is refevant and available without undue
cost ar effort.

This includes both qualitative and guantitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and forward-looking information.

L oss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have the assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for
recovery of arnounts due.

v} Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses certain derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange movements in accordance
with its risk management policies. The Group primarily uses forward foreign currency contracts to manage its exposure to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group does not hold or use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes,
Further details of the Groug's risk management policies are provided in Note 21. .

These instruments are initiaily recognised at fair value on the trade date and are subseguently measured at their fair value at
the end of the reporting pericd. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss is dependent on whether the derivative
is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the items being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows
are recognised directly in equity and any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

If the cash flow hedge of a highly probable forecasted transaction results in the recognition of an asset or liability, then, at the
time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previously been recognised

in equity are included in the initial measurernent of the asset or liability. For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an
asset or a liability, armounts deferred in equity are recognised in the incorne statement in the sarme period as the hedged itemn.

Faor an effective hedge of an exposure to changes in the fair value of & recognised asset or liability, changes in fair value of the
hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss at the same time that the recognised asset or liability that is being hedged
15 adjusted for movements in the hedged risk and that adjustment is also recognised in profit or loss n the same period.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the
income statement as they arise.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

m) Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or ne longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity i5
retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or 10ss recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss for the period.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the hast contracts are not carried at fair value
with unrealised gains or tosses reported in the income statement.

n) Share schemes

WHSmith Employee Benefit Trust

The shares held by the WHSmith Employee Benefit Trust are valued at the historical cost of the shares acquired. They are
deducted in arriving at shareholders’ funds and are presented as an Other reserve.

Share-based payments
Emplovees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
ermployees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity settled transactions).

Fquity settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value is calculated using an
appropriate option pricing model. The fair value is expensed to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised at the current fair value determined at each balance sheet
date, taking into account performance conditions and the extent toc which employees have rendered service to date, with any
changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss for the year.

o) Dividends
Final dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s
shareholders. Interim dividends are recorded in the period in which they are approved and paid.

p) Share capital, Share premium and Other reserves

Crdinary shares are classified as equity, Share premium arises on the excess between the fair value of the shares issued and
the par value of the shares issued. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, against share premium. The par value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Group's share buyback programme is reclassified from Share capital te the Capital redemption reserve.

For a description of Other reserves, see Note 25.

aq) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financiat statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles reguires management to
make Judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingant assets and fiabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates and any subsequent changes are accounted
for with an effect on income at the time such updated information becomes availabsle.

The most critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty in determining the financial condition

and results of the Group are those requiring the greatest degree of subjective or complex judgement. These relate to the
classification of items as non-underlying, assessment of lease substitution rights, determination of the lease term, impairment
reviews of non-current assets and inventory vaiuation.

Consideration of climate-related matters

In preparing the Financial statements, management has considered the potential impacts of climate change, in the context of
the Principal risks and TCFD disclosures included in the Strategic report on pages 44 to 56 in the following areas:

* going concern assessiment and viabiiity of the Group over the next three years;

+ cash flow forecasts used in the impairment assessments of non-current assets including goodwill;

» carrying value and useful economic tives of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets;

+ carrying value of inventories and vaiuation of other current assets;

= valuation of pension scherme assets,

130 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022




Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements Additional information

1. Accounting policies (continued)

q) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Consideration of climate-related matters (continued) _
Current assets, including inventories, are expected to be utilised within a short timeframe, and therefore no risks relating to
climate change have been identified.

Defined benefit pension scherne assets are primarily a single bulk annuity insurance policy, the valuationlof whfch moves n
tanden with the valuation of the defined benefit obligation. As such, no climate-related risks have been identified in refation
to valuation of pension scheme assets.

The costs expected to be incurred in connection with our et zero commitments (as described on pages 44 to 56) are
included within the Group’s budget and three year plan, which have been used to support the impairment reviews of non-
current assets, inciuding goodwill, and the going concern and viability assessments. Further disclosures in relation to the
impact of climate change on the impairment assessment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment are
included in Note 1, and on gocdwill in Note 10.

The Group's initial quantitative scenario analysis (as descrioed on pages 44 to 56) has determined that operaticnal impacts
are nol expected to be significant within the short-term forecast period. Beyond the forecast periods, the results of the
quantitative scenario analysis have been incorporated inta the sensitivity analyses of viability and goodwill impairment where
appropriate, however climate change is not considered to be a key driver in determining the outcomes of these exercises and
is therefore not currently classified as a key source of estimation uncertainty within our financial statements. This assessment
will be kept under review going forward.

Criticat accounting judgements

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present a measure of profit and earnings per share which excludes certain items that are
considered non-underlying and exceptional due to their size, nature or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures exclude the financial effect of non-underlying iterns which are considered
exceptional and occur infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed programme, amortisation
of acquired intangibles assets, costs relating to business combinations, impairment charges and other property costs,
significant items relating to pension schemes, and impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-undetiying
specifically related to the Covid-19 pandemic, and the related tax effect of these iterns. The Group believes that they provide
additional useful information to users of the financial statements to enable a better understanding of the Group's underlying
financial performance.

The classification of items as hon-underlying reguires management judgement. The definition of non-underlying items has
been applied consistently year on year. Further details of non-underlying items are provided in Note 4.

{FRS 16 Lease accounting

Substantive substitution rights

Judigemnent is required in determining whether a contract meets the definition of a lease under IFRS 16. Managernent has
determined that certain retail concession contracts give the landlord substantive substitution rights because the contract
gives the landlord rights to relocate the retail space occupied by the Group. In such cases, management has concluded

that there is not an identified asset and therefore such contracts are outside the scope of IFRS 16. For these conlracts,

the Group recognises the payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the tirme pattern in which economic benefits from the underlying contract
are consumed.

Determination of lease term

In determining the lease term for contracts that have options to extend or terminate early, managernent has applied
judgement in determining the likelihood of whether such options will be exercised. This is based on the length of time
remaining before the option is exercisable, performance of the individual store and the trading forecasts.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

g} Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset impairment reviews

Property, plant and equiprment, right-of-use assets and intangilzle assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations prepared on the
basis of management's assumptions and estimates.

The key assumptions in the value-in-use calculations include growth rates of revenue and the pre-tax discount rate. Due to
the effects of the Covid-19 global pandemic, there is an increased level of uncertainty in ali of the above assumptions such
that & reasonably possitle change in these assumptions could lead to a material change In the carrying value of assets.

Further information in respect of the Group's property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is included in Notes 1i
and 12 respectively.

Inventory valuation

Inventory is carried! at the lower of cost and net realisable value which requires the estimation of sell through rates, and the
eventyal sales price of goods to customers in the future. Any difference between the expected and the actual sales price
achieved will be accounted for in the period in which the sale is made. A description of the Group's accounting policy in
respect of inventories is included in Note 1¢h). A sensitivity analysis has been carried out on the calculation of inventory
provisions, ncluding consideration of the uncertainties arising from Covid-19. The key assurnption driving the stock provision
calculation is forecast revenue. A 10 per cent change in the revenue assumptions applied in the provision calculation,
representing a reasonably possible outcome, would reduce the net realisable value of inventories by £2m.
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2. Segmental analysis of results

IFRS 8 requires segment information to be presented on the same basis as that used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker
for assessing performance and allocating resources. The Group's operating segments are based on the repaorts reviewed by
the Board of Directors who are collectively considered to be the chief operating decision maker.

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Additional information

For management and financial reporting purposes, the Group is organised inte two operating divisions which comprise four
reportable segiments - Travel UK, North America, Rest of the World within the Travel division, and High Street.

The information presented to the Board is prepared in accordance with the Group’s IFRS accounting policies, with the
exceplion of IFRS 16, and is shown below as Headline infoermation in Section b). A reconciliation to statutory measures is

provided below in accordance with IFRS 8, and in the Glossary on page 173 (Note A2),

A) Revenue

Em 2022 202
Travel UK s 155
North Arerica 288 166
Rest of the World 118 40
Total Travel 927 401
High Street 473 485
Revenue 1,400 2386
Rest of the World revenue includes revenue from Australia of £40m (2021: £20m). No other country has individually
material revenue,
B) Group results
2022 2021
Headline Headline
befora non- Headline rnon- befora non- Heacline
underkying underlying underlying non-underlying
items' tems' items' items'
£m (pre-IFRS 16)  (pre-IFRS 16) IFRS 16 Total  (pre-IFRS16)  (pe-IFRS 16) IFRS 16 Total
Travel UK trading profit/(loss) 54 - 6 60 (22) - 3 (29)
North America trading profit/(loss) 31 - 2 33 6 - (4 2
Rest of the World trading 4 - m 3 0% - 4 a7
profit/(lass)
Total Travel trading profit/(loss) 89 - 7 96 (39 - (5) (44)
High Street trading profit 33 - 12 45 19 _ 17 36
Group profit/(loss) from trading 122 - 19 141 (20) - 12 (8)
operations
Unallocated central costs (24) - - (24) (9 - - [¢iS))
Group operating profit/(loss) 98 - 19 17 (39) - 12 (27
before non-underlying items
Non-underlying iterns (Note 43 - Q2 (8) (20) - (49) (16) (65)
Group operating profit/(loss) ag 12) 1" o7 (399 49) ) 92)
Finance costs (25} - {9) (34} (16) - (8 (24
Profit/(ioss) before tax 73 a2 2 63 (55) (49) 12} M)
Income tax (expense)/credit a2 3 () Q0) 26 9 1 36
Profit/(loss) for the year 61 (%) 1 53 29 (40) (1) (B8O
T Presentad on a pre-IFRS 16 basis Alternative performance measures are defined and explained in the Glossary on page 173
WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 133



Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Segmental analysis of results (continued)
C) Other segmental items

2022
Non-current assets’ Right of use assets

Dapreciation and
£m Capital additions amottisation tmpairment Depreciation impalrment
Travel UK 30 (16} - - -
North America 22 am - - -
Rast of the World 13 {2) - - -
Total Travel 65 {29) - - -
High Street 25 (15} ) - -
Unallocatect - (3 - - -
Headline, before non-underlying items (pre-IFRS 16) 90 47) {2) - -
Headline non-underlying items (pre-IFRS 16) - (3) (6) - -
Headline, after non-underlying items (pre-IFRS 16) 90 (50) (8) - -
Impact of IFRS 16 - - - (81) -
Mon-underlying items (IFRS 16) - - - - (8)
Group 90 {50) (8) (81 (8)

2021
Non-current assets’ Right of use assets

Depraciation and
£rm Capital aclchtions arnortisation Impanment Depreciation frapanment
Trave! UK n (14> - - -
Narth Armerica 15 o) - ~ -
Rest of the World 2 )] - - -
Total Travel 28 @27 - - -
High Street 6 Aa7n (2> - -
Unallocated - (&Y - - -
Headline, before non-underlying items (pre-1FRS 16) 44 (483 (2 - -
Headline non-underlying items (pre-IFRS 16) - 3 (8> - -
Headline, after non-underlying items (pre-tFRS 16) 44 D 20) - -
Impact of IFRS 16 - 1 - (84) -
MHon-underlying iteims (IFRS 18) ~ - 4 - (28)
Group 44 (50) (6) (84) (28)
1 Non-current assets including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, but excluding right-of-use assets.
D) Non-current assets by geographical location
Non-current assets include plant, property and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.
£m 2022 2021
UK 383 397
Usa 689 553
Australia 19 14
Other international nz n
Total 1,208 975
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3. Group operating profit

Additional information

2022 2021

Before non- Non- Before non- Fon-

underiying underlying underlying uriderlying
Em items items Total rems terns Tortal
Revenue 1,400 - 1,400 886 - 886
Cost of sales (538) - (538) (358) - {3568)
Gross profit 862 - 862 528 - 528
Distribution costs' (588) - (588) {419) - (419)
Adrninistrative expenses (161) - 161) 140> - (140)
Other income? 4 - 4 4 - 4
Non-underlying items (Note 4) - (20) (20) - (65) (65)
Group operating profit n7 (20) 97 27 (65) (92

1 During the year there was an underlying imparment charge of E2m (2021: £2my) for property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets included in distnbution costs,

Gther impairment charges related to Covid-19 are included in non-underlying items. See Note 4.
2 Otherincome relatas to remeasurernent of right-of-use assets, and profit attributable to property.

em 2022 2021
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 538 358

Write-down of inventories in the year® 2 7

Depreciation of property, plant and equiprment 37 36

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

- land and buildings 78 80
- other 3 4

Amottisation of intangilsle assets 13 4

Impairment of property, plant and eguipment 7 16

ropairment of right-of-use assets 8 28

Irpairment of intangibles 1 ’

(income)/expenses refating to leasing:

- expense relating to short-term leases 7 4

- expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the rmeasurement of the lease ligbility 29 27

- income relating to Covid-19 rent recluctions ) @3
Other occupancy costs 59 27
Staff costs (Note 6) 293 232

Governiment grant income - an
Auditors’ remuneration (see balow)

Audit services

Fees payable ta the Group's auditors, included in the income statement, relate to:

Fees payable ta the Group's auditors for the audit of the Group's financial statements 0.9 12

Fees payable to the Group's auditors for other services to the Group including the audit of the 0.2 03

Company's subsidiaries

Total audit and audit-related services 1 15

Non-audit services

Faes payable ta the Group's auditers for other services:

All other non-audit services o1 Ol

Non-audit fees including taxation and other services al G

Total auditors’ remuneration 1.2 16

Included in Administrative expenses is the auditors’ remuneration, including expenses, for audit and non-audit services,

payable to the Group's auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its assocfates as set out above. A description of the work
perfarmed by the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate governance section of the Directors’ report and includes an
explanation of how auditor chjectivity and independence are safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by auditors.

3 Write-down of Inventories in the year are included within the amounts disclosed as Cost of inventories recogrised as an expense, and recogrused in Cost of sales.
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4. Non-underlying items

iterns which are not considered part of the normal operations of the business, are non-recurring or are considered exceptional
Izecause of their size, nature or incidence, are treated as non-underlying items and disclosed separately. Further details of
non-undertying items are included in Note 1, Accounting pclicies and in the Strategic report on page 27.

Em 2022 20

Arnortisation of acquired intangible assets 3 3

Costs related to cyber incident 4 -

Store Impairments

- property, plant and eguipment 5 14

- right-of-use assets 8 28

Write-down of inventories - 5

Restructuring costs - 9

Costs associated with refinancing - 6

Costs relating to business combinations - 2

Other - (2)
Non-underlying items, before tax 20 65

Tax credit on non-underlying items 4) 12y
Non-underlying items, after tax 16 53

Non-underlying items recegnised in the year are as follows:

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets
Aimaortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the MRG and InMetion brands (see Note 10).

Costs related to cyber incident
Caosts of £4m incurred due to a cyber security incident in relation to one of the Group's websites include impairment of
saftware assets of £1m, third party consultancy support and legal and other costs.

iImpairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group has carried out an assessment for indicators of impairment across the store portfolio. This assessment has
identified a number of stores where experience and expectations of the longer-term impact of Covid-19 is more negative than
previously assumed, primarily driven by the impact of Covid-19 on consumer shopping patterns.

The impairment review compared the value-in-use of individual store cash-generating units, based on management’s
assumptions regarding likefy future trading performance, taking into account the latest view of the recovery from Covid-18, to
the carrying values at 31 August 2022. As a result of this exercise, a charge of £13m (2021 £42m) was recorded within non-
underlying items for impairment of retait store assets, of which £5m (2021; £14m) relates to property, plant and equipment
and £8m (2021 £28m) relates to right-of-use assets. Refer to Note 11 for details of impairment of store cash-generating units.

The impairment recognised on a pre-1IFRS 16 basis is provided in the Glossary on page 173.
A tax credit of £4rn (2021 £12m) has been recognised in relation to non-underlying items.

Other prior year non-underlying items

Other non-underlying items in the prior year included stock provisioning and impairment relating to the impact of Covid-19,
restructuring costs following a review of store operations across our High Streat business, costs associated with the
refinancing activity in April 2021 and further integration costs in relation to the acquisition of MRG which completed in

December 2019
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5. Retirement benefit obligations

WH Smith PLC has operated a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. The main pension
arrangements for ermployees are operated through a defined benefit scheme, WHSmith Pension Trust, and a defined contribution
scheme, WHSmith Retirement Savings Plan. The most significant scheme is WHSmith Pension Trust, which is described in
Note § a) i),

The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet for the respective schermes at the relevant reporting
dates were;

£m 2022 2021
WHSEmith Pension Trust - &
United News Sheops Retirement Benefits Scheme = O}
Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet - (3
Recognised as:

Current liabilities - M
Non-current liabilities - {2

A) Defined benefit pension schemes

i)  The WHSmith Pension Trust

The WHSmith Pension Trust Final Salary Section is a funded final salary defined benefit scheme; it was closed to defined
benefit service accrual on 2 April 2007 and has been closed to new members since 1996. Benefits are based on service and
safary at the date of closure or leaving service, with increases currently based on CPI inflation in deferment and RPI inflation
N payment.

The WHSmith Pension Trust is independent of the Group and is administered by a Trustee. The Trustee is responsible for the
admirustration and management of the scheme on behalf of the members in accordance with the Trust Deed and relevant
legislation. Responsibilities include the investment of funds, the triennial valuation and determining the deficit funding
schedule. Under the Articles of Association of WH Smith Pension Trustees Limited (the corporate trustee) there are four
directors nominated by the sponsor, two independent directors and folir member-nominated directors. Under the member-
nominated director arrangements, the term of office of a member-nominated director is four years.

In August 2022 the WH Smith Pension Trust purchased a bulk annuity insurance policy from Standard Life, part of
Phoenix Group, insuring all liabilities to pay ali future defined benefit pensions to the Trust's 12,950 members and any
eligible dependants.

The insurance policy was purchased using most of the existing assets held within the Trust, without the need for the Group
to make any additional cash contributions. The bulk annuity policy matches the Trust's cash flow benefit obligations to its
merrers, removing longevity and other demographic risks as well as investment, interest rate and inflation risks. As the
purchase price of the annuity of £1.1bn was greater than the IAS 19 accounting value of the corresponding liabilities, an asset
remeasurement loss of £508m has been recorded in other comprehensive income. This has been offset by actuarial gains on
the liabilities due to changes in financial assumptions and experience of £337m, and gains relating to changes in amounts not
recognised due to the effect of the asset ceiling of £169m.

AS a result of this comprehensive risk-removal, WH Smith will not be required to make any future cash contributions into the
Trust regarding defined benefit liabilities, therefore the previously recognised minimum funding liability (£2m as at 31 August
2021) has been derecognised. The prior vear liability of £2m relates to the recognition of the schedule of contributions as a
liability in accordance with the reguirements of IFRIC 14. During the year ended 31 August 2022, prior to the completion of
the buy-in transaction, the Group made a contribution of £2m to the scheme (2021: £3m) in accordance with the agreed
funding schedule.

The WhHSmith Pension Trust had assets valued at £933m, as at 31 August 2022 (2021; £1.456m),
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

A) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

i) The WHSmith Pension Trust (continued)

An Investment Committee of the Trustees to the scheme meets regularly to review the performance of the investment
managers and the scheme as a whele. The Group is represented on this Committee. Although investrent decisions are the
responsibility of the Trustee, the Group is an active participant of the investment sub-committee to ensure that pensicn plan
risks are managed efficiently.

The risk of failure of counterparties and of the investment manager is monitored regularly by the Committee. The Trustees
have the right to determine the level of contributions.

The welghted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 15 years.

Amounts recognised in the financial statements
Balance sheet
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet under 1AS 19 in refation to this plan are as follows:

£m 2022 2021
Present value of the obligations (813) (1172
Fair value of plan assels 933 1456

Surplus tefore consideration of asset celling 120 284

Amounts not recognised due ta effect of asset ceiling (120) (284>
Additiona! liability recognised due to minimum funding requirements - (2
Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet - (2

The defined benefit pension schemes are closed to further accrual. The Group does not have an unconditional right to derive
economic benefit from any surplus, as the Trustees retain the right to enhance benefits under the Trust deed, and therefore
the present value of the economic benefits of the IAS 19 surplus in the pension scheme of £120m (2021 £284m) available

on a reduction of future contributions is £nil {2021: £nil). As a result, the Group has not recognised this I1AS 19 surplus on the
balance sheet.

Income statement
The amounts recognised in the income statement were as follows:

Em 2022 2021

Net interest cost on the defined benefit liability - -
Past service cost

The net interest cost has been included in finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the statement of
cornprehensive income.

Statement of comprehensive income
Total (expense)/income recodnised in the statement of comprehensive income ("SOCI™);

£m 2022 2021
Asset remeasurement (Josses)/gains arising during the year ¢(508) 58
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligations arising from experience (13) 5
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligations arising from changes in financial assurmptions 350 (56)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit obligations arising from changes in demographic assumptions - 1
Total actuarial (foss)/gain before consideration of asset ceiling arn 8
Gain/(loss) resulting from changes in amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiling excluding 169 an
arnounts recognised in net interest cost

Gain resulting from changes in additional liability due to minimum funding reqguirements excluding 2 1
amounts recoanised in net interest cost

Total actuarial loss recognised In other comprehensive income relating to the WH Smith Pension Trust - )]
Actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income relating to the UNS scheme - 1
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

A) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

) The WHSmith Pension Trust (continued)

Moverments in the present value of the WHSmIth Pension Trust defined benefit scheme assets, obligations and minimurm
funding requirement in the current year were as follows:

2022 2021
Effect of asset Effect of asset
ceiling and celling and
racognition Net retirement recognition Net retirernent
of minimum benefit of rruninum benefit
funding obligation funcing obligaticn
Em Assets Liabilitias labiiity recoghlsed Assets Liabiities liaklity recognised
At 1September 1,456 a7 (286) (3] 1412 1144) @7 €)]
Current service cost - - - - - - - -
Past service cost - - - - - - - -
Interest income/{expense) 25 (20) (5) - 24 a9 (5) -
Actuarial gains/{losses) (508) 337 171 - 58 ¢10)] ao (&)
Contritzutions from the
SPSNSONNG COMPAanics 2 - - 2 3 - - 3
Benefits paid (42) 42 - - {4 4} - -
At 31 August 933 (813) (120) - 1456 (1372) (286) (2

The actual return on scheme assets was a loss of £483m (2021: gain of £82m). During the year, the full trust buy-in led to an
asset remeasurement loss of £508rn. Actuarial losses on scheme liabilities have also arisen due to: experience losses of £13rm,
as a result of the triennial valuation at 31 March 2020, which applied membership and other demographic moverments over
the last 3 years; offset by the increase in the discount rate resulting in a gain of £350m,

The decrease in scheme liabilities combined with a decrease in the scheme assets, resulted in a decrease of £164m in the
unrecognised IAS 19 surplus, to £120m.

An analysis of the defined benefit scherme assets at the balance sheet date is detailed below:

2022 202
Quoted Unguoted Total Quoted Unguoted Total
£m £m £m % £m Ern £m %

Bonds
- Government bonds - - - - 12N - 124 83
- Corporate bonds

LK - - - - 264 - 264 18

Non-LiiK - - - - 342 - 342 24
Insurance policy - 813 813 87 - - - -
Investrent funds' n 42 n3 12 43 186 229 16
Derivatives
- Interest rate swaps - - - - - (85) (85) (62
- Inflation swaps - - - - - (57) s7) 415]
- Other - [¢}] 4)] - - (503) (503) (35)
Cash ancdl cash equivaients 8 - 8 1 155 - 155 1
Total 79 854 933 100 2,015 (559) 1456 100

1 These actvely managed pooled funds sesk to proviia long-term positive returns through diversified assels and strategies.
2 Other dervatives include asset swap contracts and open repurchase agreements.

r\llo amount is includfed in the Market value of assets relating to ither financial instruments or property occupied by
the Group.
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S. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

A) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
i) The WHSmith Pension Trust (continued)
The principal long-term assumptions used in the {AS 19 valuation were;

% 2022 2031
Rate of increase in pension payments 3.30 3.35
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 3.30 255
Discount rate 4.20 175
RPI inflation assumption 3.70 345
CPlinflation assumption 3.30 255

The rmortality assumptions in years underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for 2022 and 2021 are:

2022 202
Yoars Male Female Male Female
Life expectancy at age 65
Mernber currently aged 65 228 24.0 227 239
Member currently aged 45 . 23.4 25.4 233 253

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The valuation of the retirement benefit obligation is considered a significant source of estimation uncertainty, see Note (g,
and therefare changes in assumptions can have a significant effect on the ameounts recognised in the financial statements.
Sensitivity information has been derived using scenario analysis from the actuarial assumptions as at 31 August 2022, while
keeping all other assumptians consistent; in practice, changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. As noted above,
the bulle annuity insurance policy has removed the Group's exposure to these risks.

Effact on Habllities
at 31 August 2022

Em

Discount rate +/- 01% per annum -12/412
inflation assumptions +/- 01% per annum +10/-10
Life expectancy +/- 1 year +48/-48

United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme ("UNSRBS™} is closed to new entrants. The scheme provides pension
benefits for pensioners and deferred members based on salary at the date of closure, with increases based on inflation. A full
actuarial valuation of the scheme is carried out every three years with interim reviews in the intervening years. The latest full
actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out at 5 April 2021 by independent actuaries. Following this valuation, the deficit
was less than £1m.

The valuation of the UNSRBS used for the IAS 19 disclosures is based on consistent assumptions to those used for valuing
the WHSmith Pension Trust, Scheme assets are stated at their market value at the relevant reporting date. The deficit funding
contributions are immaterial in the context of these financial statements.

The present value of obligations and fair value of assets are stated below.

£fm 2022 2020
Prasent value of the obligations (6} [¢5)]
Fair value of plan assets 6 7
Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet - D

All of the assets of the UNSRBS scheme have a guoted market price in an active market, in the pricr year there was a credit
of £1m recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in relation to actuarial gains in the year on the United News
Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme.

B) Defined contribution pension scheme

The pension cost charged to income for the Group's defined contribution schemes amounted to £5m for the vear ended
31 August 2022 (2021 £4m).

6. Staff costs and employees

A) Staff costs
The aggregate remuneration of employees was:
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m 2022 202
Wages and salaries 261 208
Social security costs 7 1
Other pansion costs 5 4
Share-based payments 10 6
Total Group 293 232
B) Employee numbers
The monthly average total number of employees (including executive directors) was:
HNo. of employees 2022 2021
Total retailing 12,459 1124
Support functions 2 =
Total Group 12,502 235
7. Finance costs
AL 2022 2021
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 2 10
Interest on convertible bonds b N
Interest on lease liabilities n 10
34 24
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8. Income tax

£m 2022 2021
Tax on profit/loss 6 -
Standard rate of UK corporation tax 19% (2021: 19%)

Adjustment in respect of prior years - )
Total current tax expense/(credit) 6 ay
Deferrec tax — current year (Note 17) 8 1)
Deferred tax - prior year (Note 17 - (4)
Deferred tax - adjustment in respect of change in tax rates - 8
Tax on profit/loss before non-underlying items 4 24)
Tax on non-underlying items - current tax - -

Tan 0N non-undertying items - deferred tax (Note 17) (4) az)
Total tax on profit/loss 10 (36)
Reconciliation of the taxation charge/(credit)

Em 2022 2021

Jax on profit/loss at standard rate of UK corporation tax 19% (2021: 19%) 12 (22}
Tax effect of iterns that are not deductible or not taxable in determining taxable loss - 1

Unrecognised tax losses (U] Q)]
Differences in overseas tax rates ()] D
Adjustrment in respect of prior years - 6))
Adjustment in respect of change in tax rates - (8
Total income tax charge/(credit) 10 (36

The effective tax rate, before non-underlying items, is 17 per cent (2021 47 per cent). The effective tax rate is lower than the
prior year rate and the UK corporation tax rate of 19 per cent primarily due to the recognition of brought forward previously
unrecognised tax losses and the prior year effective tax rate included a credit arising on the UK tax rate change which was
substantively enacted on the 24 May 2021 from 19 to 25 per cent.

The UK corporation tax rate is 19 per cent. In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that from 1 Aprit 2023
the corporation tax rate would increase to 25 per cent . This new law was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021, and the mam
impact of this change has been factored into 31 August 2021 year end financial statements.

The OECD has published a framework for the introduction of a global minimum effective tax rate of 15 per cent, applicable
to large multinational groups. On 20 July 2022, HM Treasury released draft legislation to implement these “Fillar 2" rules with
effect for accounting periods beginning on or after 31 Decernber 2023. The Group s reviewing these draft rules to determine
any potential impact,
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9. Earnings per share
A) Earnings/(loss)

Em 2022 202
Profit/(loss) for the vear, attributable to equity holders of the parent 47 (82)
Non-underlying jterns (Note 4) 16 53
Profit/(loss) for the year before non-underlying items, attributable to equity holders of the parent 63 {29
B) Weighted average share capital

Millions 2022 2021
Weighted average ordinary shares in issue 130 131
Less weighted average ordinary shares held in ESOP Trust = -
Weighted average shares in issue for earnings per share 130 131
Aad weighted average number of ordinary shares under option 2 -
Weighted average ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 132 131
C) Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Pence 2022 2021
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 36.2 (626)
Adjustment for non-underlying iterns 123 405
Basic earnings/(loss) per share before non-underlying items 48.5 (221)
Pence 2022 202
Diluted earnings/{loss) per share 35.6 (626)
Adjustrnent for non-underlying items 12.1 405
Diluted earnings/({loss} per share before non-underlying items 47.7 (220

Liluted earnings per share takes into account various share awards and share options including SAYE schemes, which are
expected to vest, and for which a sum below fair value will be paid. As the Group incurred a loss in the year ended 31 August
2021, the impact of its potential ditutive ordinary shares was excluded as they would have been anti-dilutive.

As at 31 August 2022 the convertible bond has no dilutive effect as the inclusion of these potentially dilutive shares would
improve earnings per share (31 August 2021 improve |oss per share).

The calculation of earnings per share on a pre-IFRS 16 basis is provided in the Glossary on page 173,
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10. Intangible assets

Brands and
franchise

£m cwlil y rights Software Total
Cost
At 1 September 2021 406 42 13 102 563
Additions - - - 13 . 13
Disposals - - - 2 @
Foreign exchange 65 8 - 1 74
At 31 August 2022 471 50 13 14 648
Accumulated amortisation
AL 1 September 2021 B 7 8 75 S0
Arnortisation charge - 5 - 10 13
Impairment charge - - - 1 1
Dispusals - - - 2 2y
Fareign exchange - 2 - 1 3
At 31 August 2022 - 12 8 85 105
Net book value at 31 August 2022 471 38 S 29 543
Cost
AL Septembber 2020 418 43 13 96 570
Acguisitions )] - - - m
Addilions - - - 7 7
Disposals - - - &) 4]
Foreign exchange an Q)] - - (2)
At 31 August 2021 406 42 13 302 563
Accumulated amortisation
AL 1 September 2020 - 4 8 65 77
Amortisation charge - 3 - n 14
Dispasals -~ - - [4)] )]
At 31 August 2021 - 7 8 75 aC
Net book value at 31 August 2021 406 35 5 27 473

Goadwill of USD $70m (£60m) relating to the acquisition of InMotion in 2018 is expected to be deductible for tax purposes in
the future,

The carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the segmental businesses as follows:

£m 2022 2021
Travel UK 295 253
North America 132 13
Rest of the World 29 25
Total Travel 456 391
High Street 15 15

an 406
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10. Intangible assets (continued)

Included within Tenancy rights are certain assets that are considered to have an indefinite life of £4m (2021 £4my, ‘
representing certain rights under tenancy agreements, which include the right to renew leases, therefore no armnortisation has
heen charged. Managerent has determined that the useful eccnornic life of these assets is indefinite because the Group can
cantinue to accupy and trade from certain premises for an indefinite period. These assets are reviewed annually for indicators
of impairment.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group tests geodwill for impairment annually or where there is an indication that goodwill might be impaired.

For impairment testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU, and goodwill is allocated to
groups of CGUS in a manner that is consistent with our operating segments, as this reflects the lowest level at which goodwill
is monitored. All goodwill has arisen on acquisitions of groups of retail stores. These acquisitions are then integrated into the
Group's operating segments as appropriate. Acguired brands are considered together with goodwill for impairment testing
purpeses, and are therefore considered annually for impairment.

Goodwill and acquired brands have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of each group of CGUSs, |
including goodwill and acguired brands, with the recoverable amount determined from value-in-use calculations. The value-in-
use of each group of CGUs has been calculated using cash flaws derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget and
three year plan, initially extrapolated to five years. The forecasts reflect knowledge of the current market, together with the
Group's expectations on the future achievable growth and committed store openings. Cash fiows beyond the inftial forecast
period are extrapolated using estimated long-term growth rates.

For certain groups of CGUs, additional adjustrments to cash flows have been made during the extrapolation process for an
extended period of up to 15 years before calculating a terminal value, This extended period of time is required to establish a
normalised cash flow base on which a terminal value calculation can be appropriately calculated. The main reasons for cash
flow adjustments include the need to forecast lease renewsls under IFRS 16, and the unwinding of certain cash flow benefits
arising from acguisitions in North America.

The key assumptions on which forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUs are based include revenue growth, product mix
and operating costs, long-term growth rates and the pre-tax discount rate:

+ The values assigned to each of the revenue, product mix and operating cost assumptions were determined based on the
extrapoiation of historical trends within the Group and external information on expected future trends in the travel and high
street retail seclors.

» The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, which has been calcule.sted using
the capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include a risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size premium and a
risk adjustment (beta). The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 1.9 per cent (2021: 10.4 per cent).

+ The long-term growth rate assumptions are between O per cent and 2 per cent.

The immediately quantifiabie impacts of climate change and costs expected to be incurred in connection with ogr ﬂe§ zero
comimitments, are included within the Group’s budget and three year plan which have been used to support the impairment
reviews, with no material impact on cash flows.

The value-in-use estimates indicated that the recoverable amount of goodwill éxceeded the carrying _vaiue for each group
of CGs. As a result, no impairment has been recognised in respect of the carrying value of goodwill in the year (2021 £nib).

As disclosed in Note 3, Accounting policies, the forecast cash flows used within the impairment mode! are based on
assumptions which are sources of estimation uncertainty and it is possible that significant changes to these assurnptions
could lead to an impairment of goodwill and acquired brands. Given the inherent uncertainties due to challenges in

the macroeconomic ewircnment and the continued recovery from Covid-13, management have considered a range of
sensitivities on each of the key assumptions, with other variables held constant. The sensitivities include applying increases
in the discount rate by 1 per cent and reductions in the fong-term growth rates to Q per cent. Under these severe scenarios,
the estimated recoverable amount of goodwili and acguired brands still exceeded the carrying value.

Furthermore, outpuls of the quantitative climate change scenario analysis as described on pages 44 and 56 have alse been
taken into consideration in the sensitivity analysis, and has shown that climate change is not considered to be a key driver in
determining the outcome.

The sensitivity analysis showed that no reasonably possible change in assumptions would fead to an impairment.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Land and bulldings

Fraehold

Leasehold

Fixtures

Equipment

£m o and fittings  and vebhicles Total

Cost or valuation:

At Septernber 2021 8 280 96 no o4

Additions - 32 29 16 77

Disposals - &) n m 5
Foreign exchange - 10 8 2 20

At 31 August 2022 18 329 232 127 706

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 Septernber 2021 10 206 140 84 440

Depreciation charge - 19 n 7 37

Impairment charge - 4 2 1 7

Disposals - (3 O] Q)] (5)
Foreign exchange - 4 3 1 8

At 31 August 2022 10 230 155 92 487

Net book value at 31 August 2022 8 99 77 35 219

Cost or valuation:

At 1 Septernber 2020 5 272 198 108 593

Additions 3 12 15 7 37

Acquisitions - m - - m

Disposals - (5) &) 2} 2>
Reclassifications - 14 m (3) -

Foreign exchange - @ m - (3
At 31 August 2021 18 290 196 110 614

Accumuiated depreciation:

AL Septermnber 2020 10 185 127 79 401

Depreciation charge - 17 12 7 36

Irmpairrment charge - 9 5 2 6

Disposals - 5 5 () a2y
Reclassifications - - 2 (&%) -

Foreign exchange - - (N ]
At 31 August 2021 10 206 140 84 440

Net book value at 31 August 2021 8 84 56 26 174

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
For impairment testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU. CGUs are tested for

impairment at the balance sheet date if any indicators of impairment have been identified. The identified indicators include
loss-making stores, stores earmarked for closure, and under-performance of individual stores versus forecast as a resuit of

slower than expected recovery from Covid-19.
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1. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (continued)

For those CGUs where an indicator of impairment has been identified, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU with its recoverable amount determined
from value-in-use calculations. It was determined that value-in-use was higher than fair value less costs to sell.

The value-in-use of CGUs is calculated using discounted cash flows derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget
and three-year plan, taking into account the projected recovery from Covid-19, and reflects historic performance and
knowledge of the current market, together with the Group's views on the future achievable growth for these specific stores,
Cash flows beyond the forecast period are extrapolated using growth rates and inflation rates appropriate to each store’s
location Cash flows have been included for the remaining lease life for the specific store. These growth rates do not exceed
the long-term growth rate for the Group's retall businesses in the relevant territory. Where stores have a relatively short
rermaining tease life, an extension to the {ease has been assumed where management consider it likely that an extension will
be granted. The immediately quantifiable impacts of climate change and costs expected to be incurred in connection with
our net zero commitments, are included within the Group's budget and three year plan which have been used to support the
impairment reviews, with no material impact on cash flows. The useful economic lives of store assets are short in the context
of climate change scenario maodels therefore no medium to long-term effects have been considered,

The key assumptions on which the forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUs are based include revenue and the pre-

tax discount rate. Other assumptions in the model relate to gross margin, cost inflation and longer-term growth rates.

The forecasts used in the impairment review are based on management's best estimate of revenue recovery versus a "pre-
Covid-19" base, and the recovery in revenue over the forecast period. In developing these forecasts, management have used
available inforrmation, including historical knowledge of the store level cash flows, and knowledge gained during the pandernic
up to the year end date.

The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group's weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using
the capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include the risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size premium and a
risk adjustment (beta). The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 1.9 per cent (2021: 10.4 per cent).

Where the value-in-use was less than the carrying value of the CGU, an impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets was recorded. These stores were impaired to their recoverable amount of £18m, which is their carrying
value at year end. The Group has recognised an impairmant charge of E7m (2021 £16m) to property, plant and equigment,
Elm (2021 £nil) to software and £8m (2021; £28m) to right-of-use assets. Impairments of £14m (2021: E42m) have been
presented as non-underlying items in the current year (see Note 4), and impairments of £2m (2021: £2m) have been included
in underlying results.

As disclosed in Note 1, Accounting policies, the farecast cash flows used within the impairment model are based on
assumptions which are sources of estimation uncertainty and changes to these assumptions could lead to further
impairments to assets. Given the significant uncertainty regarding the impact of continued recovery from Covid-19 on the
Group's operations and on the global economy, management have considered sensitivities to the impairment charge as a
result of changes to the estimate of future revenues achieved by the stores.

The Group has applied certain sensitivities in isolation to demonstrate the impact on the impairment charge of changes in key
assumptions. The most significant assumption is the revenue assumption. The impact of a 10 per cent reduction in revenue in
the relevant CGUs, with no change to subsequent forecast revenue growth rate assumptions. has been modelledl. This would
result in a £15m increase in the impairment charge of retail store assets in the year ended 31 August 2022.

Other changes in assumptions, including an increase or decrease of 1 per cent in the discount rate, have been modelled and
have shown that any reasonabily possible changes would not lead to a significant impact on the impairment charge.

The impairment assessment has also been performed on a pre-IFRS 16 basis. See Glossary on page 173.
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12. Right-of-use assets

Land and
£m buildings Equipment Total
At 1 September 2027 319 9 328
Additions 160 - 160
Maodifications and remeasurements 25 - 25
Disposals {2) - (2)
Depreciation charge (78) (3) ey
Impainment charge [¢:)] - [¢:))
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 24 - 24
Net book value at 31 August 2022 440 6 446
Land and

£m buildings Erjumprment Total
At 1 September 2020 400 13 413
Addhitions 45 - 45
Modifications and remeasurerments 3 - 3
Disposals M - n
Depreciation charge (80) 4) (84)
Impairment charge (28> - (28)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates @ - (4)
Net book value at 31 August 2021 319 9 328
Information on the Group's leasing activities is included in Note 15, L ease liabilities,
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets of £8m (2021: £28m) have been impaired in the year, as a result of the impact of Covid-19.
This impairment charge has been presented in non-underlying items (see Note 4). The approach to impairment testing is
clescribed in detail in Note 1, Property, plant and equipment.
13. Trade and other receivables
£m 2022 2021
Current receivables
Trade receivables 57 25
Other receivables 2 5
Prepayments 12 10
Accrued income 16 5

87 45
Non-current receivables
Other receivables 3 2
Prepayments 6 4
Total trade and other receivables 96 51

Included in accrued income is £10m (2027 £3m) of accrued supplier income relating to retrospective discounts and other

prormotional and marketing income that has been earned but not yet invoiced. Supplier income that has been invoiced
but not vet settled against trade payables balances is included in trade payables where the Group has a right to offset.

There were no government grants receivables included in other receivables this year (2021 nib).

148 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022




Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements Additional information

13. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The ageing of the Group's current trade and other receivables is as follows:

em 2022 200
Trade and other receivables gross 68 55
Expected credit losses (& (2
Trade and other receivables net 62 32
Of which;
Amounts neither impaired nor past due on the reporting date 46 25
Armounts past due but not impaired;
Less than one month old 8 3
Between one and thvee months old 4 2
Bolwoaon threo and six months old 3 1
Between six months and one year old 1 !
Trade and other receivables net carrying amount 62 32

The Group has limited exposure to expected credit losses due to the business madel. An allowance has been made for
lifetirne expected credit losses from receivables at 31 August 2022 of £6m (31 August 2021: £3m). The ageing analysis of
these receivables is given in the table below. This expected credit loss allowance reflects the application of the Group's
provisioning policy in respect of bad and doubtful debts and is based upon the difference between the receivable value and
the estimated net coliectible amount. The Group establishes its provision for bad and doubtful debts by reference to past
default experience.

Ageing analysis of bad and doubtful debt provisions:

£m 2022 202t

Less than one month old

Between one and three months old 2

Between three and six months ld 2 !
Between six maonths and one year old 2

6 3

No trade and other receivables that would have been past due or impaired were renegotiated during the year. No interest
is charged on the receivables balance. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not include impaired assets.
The Group does not hold collateral over these balances. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables approximates their fair value.

14. Trade and other payables

Em 2022 2020
Trade payables 130 70
Other tax and social security 30 24
Other payables 96 72
Accruals a5 83
Deferred ncome 14 16

365 265

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average
credit period taken for trade purchases is 65 days (2021: 56 days). The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade
and other payables approximates their fair value.

Trade payalbles is stated net of £7m (2021 E4m) arnaunts receivable from suppliers in relation to supplier income, that has
been invoiced, for which the Group has the right to set off against armounts payable at the balance sheet date.
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15. Lease liabilities

Land and
£m b Equlpment Total
AL September 2021 463 7 470
Additions 159 - 159
Modifications and remeasurements 18 - 18
Disposals “® - @
Interest n - n
Payments €103) (€] (107)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 30 - 30
At 31 August 2022 574 3 577
Land and
£Em buidings Equipment Total
AL 1 Septemter 2020 548 n 559
Additions 41 - 41
Modifications and remeasurements (37 - 37
Disposals 7 - 7
Interest 10 - 10
Payrments (87> 4 @n
Effect of mavements in foreign exchange rales (5 - (3
At 31 August 2021 463 7 470
£m 2022 2021

Analysis of total lease liabilities:

Nor-current 446 362
Current 131 1C8
Total 577 470

The Group leases land and huildings for its retail stores, distribution centres, storage locations and office property.

These leases have an average remaining lease term of 4 years. Some feases include an option to break before the end of the
contract terrn or an option to renew the iease for an additional term after the end of the term. Management assess the lease
term at inception based on the facts and circurstances applicable to each property.

Other leases are mainly forklift trucks for the retail stores and distribution centres, office equipment and vehicles. These leases
have an average remaining lease term of 3 years.

The Group reviews the retail lease portfolio on an ongoing basls, taking into account retail perforrmance and future trading
expectations. The Group may exercise extension options, negotiate lease extensions or madifications. In other instances, the
Group may exercise break options, negotiate lease reductions or decide not to negotiate a lease extension at the end of the
lease term. Certain property leases contain rent review terms that require rent to be adjusted on a periodic basis which may
e subject to market rent or increases in inflaticn measurements,

Marwy of the Group's property leases, particularly in Travel locations, also incur payments based on a percentage of revenue
(variable lease payments) achieved at the location. In line with IFRS 16, variable lease payments which are not based on an
index or rate are not inciuded in the lease liability. See Note 3 for the expense charged to the Income statement relating to
variable lease payrments not included in the measurement of the lease liability.
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15. Lease liabilities (continued)

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, an amendment was issued to IFRS 16 in June 2020 and further extended in March
2021. This amendmaent (practical expedient) allows the impact on the lease liability of temporary rent reductions/waivers
affecting rent paymentis due on or before June 2022, to be recognised in the Income statement in the period they are
received, rather than as lease modifications, which would reguire the remeasurernent of the lease liability using a revised
discount rate with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset. The Group has applied this practical expedient
to alt Covid-19 rent reductions/waivers that meet the requirements of the amendment. This has resulled in a credit Lo Lhe
Income stalement of Fom for the year ended 31 August 2022 (2021 £23m).

The Group’s accounting policy for leases is set out in Note 1. Details of Income statement charges and income for leases
ara set out in Nate 3. The right-of-use asset categories on which depreciation is incurred are preserted in Note 12.
Interest expense incurred on lease liabilities is presented in Note 7. The maturity of undiscounted future lease liabilities are
set out In Note 21

The total cash outflow for leases in the financial year was £150m (2021: £123m). This includes cash outflow for short-term
leases of £16m (2021 £14m) and variable lease payments (not included in the measurement of lease liability) of £28m
€2021: £18rn). The total future income from sub-leasing the right-of-use assets is £im (2021 £1m).

16. Provisions

Contingent

Property  conskderation
£m provision provislon Total
At 1 Septernber 2021 13 1 14
Charge in the year - - -
Utilised in vear - m M
Reclassifications from creditors 1 - 1
At 31 August 2022 14 - 14

Contingent

Property  consideration
£m Provision ProviIsion Toal
AL 1 September 2020 13 1 14
Charge in the year - - -
Utilised in year - - -
Unwinding of discount - - -
At 31 August 2021 13 1 14

Total provisions are split between current and non-current liabilities as follows:

£m 2022 2021
Included in current liabilities = 2
Inclucled in non-current liabilities 14 12
14 14

Property provisions relate to reinstaternent liabilities for stores where the long-term viability has been impacted primarily by

Covid-19, These expected costs of store closures are reviewed frequently and are based on information available as at the

reporting date as well as management's historical experience of similar transactions. Utilisations of the property provisions are

expected to be incurred in line with the profile of the leases to which they relate.
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17. Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the
current and prior years. .

(Credited) /
Atl charged to Credited to Forelgn

Em Rate chang: income aquity axchange AL 31 August
Accelerated tax depreciation 8 - (4) - )] 3
Leases 5 - - - - 5
Share-based payments 2 - 2 - - 4
Retirerment benefit obligation 1 - (1)) - - -
Intangible assets an - (4} - 2) 14)
Losses carried forward 45 - ) - 3 45
Unutilised interest expense 5 - - - 2 7
Provisions 2 - 3 - - 5
Year ended 31 August 2022 57 - (4) - 2 55
Accelerated tax depreciation 7 3 (2 - - 8
Leases 4 1 - - - 5
Share-based payments - - ] 1 - 2
Retirerment benefit obligation 1 - - - - 1
Intangible assets an - - - - n
Losses 17 4 24 - - 45
Unutilised interest expense 3 - 2 - - 5
Frovisions - - 2 - - 2
Year ended 31 August 2021 21 8 27 1 - 57
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following tax losses:
£m 2022 200
Capital losses 84 84
Trading losses 15 23

99 107

The majority of the deferred incorme tax assels are expected to be recovered after more than cne year.

The UK corporation tax rate is 19 per cent. In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that from | April 2023
the corporation tax rate would increase to 25 per cent . This new law was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021, and the main
irnpact of this change has been factored into 31 August 2027 year end financial statements.

At 31 August 2022, deferred tax assets have been recegnised in respect of tax losses, US unutilised interest expense and other
short term timing differences. The deferred tax assets on losses of £188m relate to carried forward tax losses which have
been recognised to the extent thal they will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on the approved
budgets for the Group. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets on losses amounting to £99m (20211 £107m)

and US unutilised interest expense amounting to £13m {2021 £8m) due to uncertainty over the timing and extent of their
utilisation. The losses and US unutilised intarest expense can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date.

All deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is considered to be a legally enforceable right to do so.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:
Em 2022 2021

Deforred tax liabilities (non-current liabilities) - -
Deferred tax assets 55 57
55 57
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Corporate governance

Moverments in net debt can be analysed as follows;

Financial statements

Additional information

Sub-tatal
Liabiiltles
Convertible Revolving from financing Cash and cash
Em Term loans bonds  credit facllity Leases activities  equivalents Met debr
At 1 September 2021 (132) (283) - (470) {885) 130 (755)
Other non-cash movements - 9 - (184) (193) - (193}
Other cash movements - - - 107 107 - 107
Currency translation - - - (30) (30) 2 (28)
At 31 August 2022 (132) (292) - (577> {1,001) 132 (869)
Sub-total
Liabilities froim
Convertible Revolving hriancing  Cash and cash
tm Term loans ponds  credit facility Leases actvibies aquivalents Net debt
At Septernber 2020 (400 - - (559 (959 08 (85D
Proceeds from borrowings ~ (327> - - (327) 327 -
Repayments of borrowings 267 - - - 267 {267 -
Bifurcation of convertible bonct - 4 - - 4 - 41
Other non-cash movernents - (2 - (73 62)] - €))]
Other cash movements 1 5 - 91 97 (38) 59
Currency franslation - - - 5 5 - 5
At 31 August 2021 32y (283) - (470) (885) 130 (755)

An explanation of Alternative Performance Measures, including Net debt on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, is provided in the Glossary on
page 173.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value.

Lease liabilities
Noh-cash rnoverments in lease liabilities mainly relate to new leases, modifications and remeasurements in the year.

Term loans and revolving credit facilities

In the prior year, the Group announced new financing arrangemenits, These included the issuance of £327m of convertible
bonds, the repayment of the existing £400m term loans and replacement with @ new £133m term loan, and an increased
revolving credit facility of £250m.

The Group has in place a four-year committed multi-currency revolving credit facility of £250m with Santander UK PLC, BNP
Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC, JP Morgan Securities PLC and Barclays Bank PLC. The revolving credit facility is due to mature
on 28 April 2025. The utilisation is interest bearing at a margin over SONIA. As at 31 August 2022, the Group has drawn down
£nil on Lhis facility (2021; £nil).

The Group has a four-year comritted £133m term loan with Banco Santander S.A., London Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP
Faribas and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in April 2021. This loan is interest bearing
at & rnargin over SONIA and is due to mature on 28 April 2025. Instalments due within the next 12 months are recorded in
current liabilities.

Transaction costs of £1m ¢2021: £irn) relating to the term loan are amortised to the Income statement through the effective
interest rate method. Transaction costs of £1m (2021 £1m) relating to the RCF were capitalised in the previous financial year
and are amortised to the Income statement on a straight-line basis.
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18. Analysis of net debt (continued)

Convertibie bonds

In the prior year, the Group issued £327m guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in 2026, The bond of £327m
covers a five-year terrn beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1625 per cent per annum coupon payabte serni-annually in arrears in
equal instaiments. The bonds are convertible into new and,/or existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The inilial conversion
price was set at £24.99 representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 (£17.85).

If not previously converted, redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

The convertible bond is a compound financial instrument, consisting of a financial liability component and an equity
component, representing the value of the conversion rights. The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible
bond was determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is
subseguently recognised on an amaortised cost basis using the effective interest rate method until extinguished on conversion
or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds was aliocated to the conversion option and recognised in equity
(Other reserves), and not subseguently remeasured. As a result, £286m was initially recognised as a liability in the balance
sheet on issue and the remainder of the proceeds of £41m, which represents the option component, was recognised in ecuity.

Transaction costs of £6m were allocated between the two components and the element relating to the debt component of
£5m is amortised through the effective interest rate method. The issue costs apportioned to the equity cornponent of £Im
have been deducted from equity.

Further information regarding the Group's borrowings and revolving credit facilities is provided in Note 21.

19. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments

£m 2022 2021

Bank guarantees and guarantees in respect of lease agreements 51 31

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure approved by the directors but not provided for in these financial statements
amount to £30m (2021 £26m),

Em 2022 202
Cornmitmerits in respect of property, plant and eguipment 28 25
Commitments in respect of other intangible assets 2 1

30 26
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£m 2022 2021
Group operating profit/(loss) 97 (92
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37 36
irnpairment of property, plant and equiprent - 7 16
Amartisation of intangible assets 13 14
Irnpairrnent of intangible assets 1 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 81 84
impairment of right-of-use assets 8 28
Non-cash change in lease liabilities (5) (23)
Share-based payments 9 6
Gain on remeasurement of leases ) (3
Other non-cash iterns (incl. foreign exchange) (12) 2
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (56) 14
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (42) 4
Increase in payables 88 24
Pension funding {2 &
income taxes paid (6) -
income taxes refunded - 10
Mavement on provisions (through Utilisation or incorme statement) M
Cash generated from operating activities 213 ns
21. Financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments

Carrying value
£m 2022 207
Financial assets
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships! - ~
Receivables at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents)? 210 167
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost? (1,352} (1134)

1 All derivatives are categorised as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value measurements retating to the instruments are derived from inputs other than guoted

prices that are obseivable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

2 Included within receivakles held at amortised cost are trade ang other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents.
3 Included within amortised cost are trade payables, other payables, accruals, borrowings, lease obligations and other non-current liabilities.

Comparison of carrying values and fair values

There wera no material differences between the carrying value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities and

their fair values as at the balance sheet date,

Risk management

The Group's treasury function seeks to reduce exposures to interest rate, foreign exchange and other financial risks, and
to ensure liquidity is available to meet the foreseeable needs of the Group and to invest cash assets safeiy and profitably.
The Group does not engage in speculative trading in financial instruments and transacts only in relation to underlying

business requirements. The Group's treasury policies and procedures are periodically reviewed and approved by the Group's
Audit Committee and are subject to regular Group Internal Audit review.

WH Smith PLC Anpual Report and Accounts 2022

155



Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

21. Financial instruments (continued)

Capital risk

The Group's objectives with respect te managing capital (defined as net debt/funds plus equity) are to safeguard the Group’'s
ahility to continue as a going concern, in order to optimise returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
through an appropriate palance of debt and equity funding. Refer to Note 19 for the value of the Group's net debt/funds and
refer to the Group statement of changes in equity for the value of the Group’s equity.

In managing the Group’s capital levelis, the Board regularly monitors the level of debt in the business, the working capital

requirernents, forecast financing and investing cash flows. Based on this analysis, the Board determines the appropriate .
retuin to investors while ensuring sufficient capital is retained in the business to meet its strategic abjectives. The Board has

a progressive dividend policy and expects that, over tirme, dividends wouild be broadly covered twice by earnings calculaled

on a normalised tax basis,

The Group has in place a £250m committed multi-currency revolving credit facility, and a syndicated £133m term Ioan.
The covenants, tested haif-yearly. are based on minimurm liquidity for the perioc ending 31 August 2022, and from

25 February 2023 are based on fixed charges cover and leverage (clefined as total borrowings excluding lease liabilities
that would have been treated as an operating lease prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, less cash and cash equivalents/
consolidated EBITDA).

In the prior year. the Group issued £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in 2026. Settlement and
delivery of the convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021, The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year term
beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments.

The bonds are convertiple into new and/or existing ordinary shares of the WH Smith PLC. The initial conversion price was set
at £24.99 representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 (£17.85), If not previously
converted, redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its exposure to liguidity risk by reviewing the cash resources reguired to meet its business objectives
through both short- and long-term cash flow forecasts. The Group has a committed multi-currency revolving credit facility
wilh a number of financial institutions which is available to be drawn for general corporate purposes including working
capital. The facility is due to mature on 28 April 2025,

The Group has a policy of pooling cash flows in order to optimise the return on surplus cash and also to utilise cash within
the Group Lo reduce the costs of external short-term funding.

Ihe table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows of the Group's
financial liabilities:

Due within  Due betwaen Due between Due over
2022 (£m) 1year Tland 2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts 29 37 424 - 490
Trade and other payables 51 - - - 351
Lease liabilities 146 100 235 177 658
Total cash flows 526 137 659 177 1,499
Duewithin  Due between  Dus between Due over
2021 (Em) 1year Tand 2 years  2and 5 years 5 years Total
Non-derivative financiai liabilities
Barlk loans and overdrafts 10 30 461 - 501
Trade andt other payables 249 - - - 249
Lease liahilities i5 92 159 148 514
Total cash flows 374 122 620 148 1264
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risl is the risk that a counterparty may default on their obligation to the Group in relation to tending, hedging,
settlement and other financial activities. The Group’s principal financial assets are trade and other receivables, and bank
balances and cash which are considered to have low credit risk on initial recognition.

The Group has credit risk attriputabile to its trade and other receivables, including a nurmber of sale or return cantracts with
suppliers. The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of aliowances for expected credit losses. The Group has adopted
the simplified approach to calculating expected credit losses allowed by IFRS 9. Historical credit loss rates are applied
consistently to groups of financial assets with similar risk characteristics. These are then adjusted for known changes in, or
any forward-looking impacts on, creditworthiness.

Trade receivables are written off when there is ne reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that credit risk might have
increased significantly include the failure of the debtor to engage in a payment plan and failure to make contractual payments
within 180 days past due, which is in line with historical experience of increased credit risk. Indicatars that an asset is credit-
impaired would include observable data in relation to the financial health of the debtor or if the debtor breaches contract.

The Group has low retail credit risk due to the transactions being principally high volume, low-value and of short maturity.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with the exposure spread over a large Pumber of counterparties
and customers,

The credit risk an liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is considered to be low, as the Board approved Group
treasury policy limits the value that can be placed with each approved counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. These limits
are based on a short-term credit rating of P-%.

The carrving amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group’s maximum axposure to
credit risk. The Group does not hold collateral over any of these financial assets,

interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on floating rate bank loans and overdrafts.

At 31 August 2022, the Group had drawn down £nif (2021 £nil) from its £250m committed revolving credit facility. If the
Group draws down on this facility, it does not view any draw down as long-term in nature and therefore cioes not enter into
interest rate darivatives to rnitigate this risk,

The Group has a four-year cammitted £123m term loan with Banco Santander S.A., London Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP
Paribas and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing (Aprit 2021). This loan is interest-bearing
at a margin over SONIA, The Group monitors the risk associated with the loan. At present, the Group has not entered into
interest rate derivatives in respect of the loan.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financlal instrurnent will fluctuate because
of the changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's foreign currency exposures are principalty to the US dollar, Euro and
Australian dollar. The Group's treasury function uses financial instrurments to mitigate forelgn exchange risk, in iine with
treasury policies approved by the Beard. Financial instruments include foreign exchange centracts, deposits and banik foans.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows denominated
in currencies other than pounds sterling. The hedging instruments have been usad to hedge purchases in US dallars and to
minimise foreign exchange risk in mavernents of the USD/GBP exchange rates. These are designated as cash flow hedges.
At 31 August 2022 the Group had no material unhedged currency exposures.

The Group's US dollar, Euro and Australian dollar exposure is principally operational and erises mainly through the operation
of retall stores in North America, France, Ireland, Spain, Germany, Netherlands, Italy and Australia. The Group does not use
derivatives to hedge balance sheet and profit anc loss translation exposure.

The fair value of cash flow hedges recognised on the balance sheet within derivative assets/liabilities is shown below:

£m 2022 2021
Fair value of derivative assets 1 -

At 31 August 2022, the totai notional amaunt of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has
committed is US$30m (2021 US$25m). These instruments will be used to hedge cash flows occurring up to one year from
the balance sheet date.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

Gains of £nif (2021 Enil) have been transferred to the income statement and gains of £3m (2021 £nil) have been transferred
to inventories in respect of contracts that rnatured during the year ended 37 August 2022, In the vear to 31 August 2022, the
fair value gain on the Group's currency derivatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges amounted to £3rn
(2021 £nil),

All the derivatives held by the Group at fair value are considered to have fair values determined by Level 2 inputs as definad
by the fair value hierarchy. There are no non-recurring fair value measurements nor have there been any transfers of assets or
liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 August 2022

Financial instruments affected by market risks include borrowings, deposits and clerivative financial instruments. The following
anatysis, required by IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments”: Disclosures, is intended te illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market
variables, being UK interest rates, and USD/GBP, EUR/GEP and AUD/GBP exchange rates,

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

« Exchange rale fluctuations on currency derivatives that form part of an effective cash flow hedge relationship affect the
hedging reserve in equity and the fair value of the hedging derivatives.

« ‘Year end exchange rates applied in the analysis are USD/GBP 11640/1 (2021: 1.3769/1), EUR/GBP 11607/1 (2021: 11652/1)

and AUD/GRPLEIES (2021 18821/,

Group debt and hedging activities reflect the positions at 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2021 respectively.

As a consequence. the analysis relates to the position at those dates and is not necessarily representative of the years

then ended.

The above assumptions are made when illustrating the effect on the Group's income statement and equity given reasonable
rnovements in foreign exchange and interest rates before the effect of tax. The Group considers a reasonable interest rate
movement in GBP SONIA/base rate to be ane par cent, based on interest rate history. Similarly, sensitivity to movements in
USD/GBP EUR/GBP and AUD/GBP exchange rates of ten per cent are shown, reflecting changes of reasonable proportion
in the context of movement in those currency pairs over time.

Using these assumptions, the following table shows the illustrative effect on the Group income statement and equity.

2022 2021

Income Equity ncome Eauity

£m gain/(loss) gain/(toss} loss)/gam (loss)/gan
GBP SONIA/base rate interest rates 1% increase - - - -
USD/GBP exchange rates 10% increase m (56) 1 47y
EUR/GBP exchange rates 10% increase - - 1 1
AUD/GBP exchange rates 10% increase - 2 - 1
GBP SONIA/base rate interest rates 1% decrease - - - -
USD/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease 2 63 m 57
FUR/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease 1 - n n
AUD/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease - (2) - (2
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22. Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid

2022 202
Number Nominal Nurnber Norminat
of shares value of shares value
£m {millions) £m (rnilions) Ermn
Equity:
Ordinary shares of 22%p 131 29 131 29
Totai 131 29 131 29

During the year, 1633 ardinary shares were allotted under the terms of the Company's Sharesave Scheme (2021 43.345).
There was no effect from this allotrnent on share premiurm (2021 increase of £1m).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitied to one vote per
share at the meetings of the Company.

The ESOP reserve of £9m (2021 £5m) represents the cost of shares in WH Smith PLC purchased in the market and held by
the WH Simith Fmployee Benefit Trust to satisfy awards and options under the Group's executive share schemes. The tolal
sharehoiding is 622,989 (2021; 304,64,

23. Share-based payments

Summary of movements in awards and options

Sharesave Cash-settied

Numbear of sharas Schames LTIPs PSP awards Total

Outstanding at 1 Septernber 2021 388,479 1,982,314 532,974 52,032 2,955,799

Options and awards granted = 1,150,443 180,368 62,213 1,393,024

Opticns and awards exercised (1,633) (124,721) (32,164} - (158,518)
Opticns and awardls lapsed / cancelled {68,231) (495,629) (219,901 (2,311) (786,072)
Qutstanding at 31 August 2022 318,615 2,512,407 461,277 m,034 3,404,233

Exercisable at 31 August 2022 95,906 39,251 27,561 - 162,718

Quistanding at 1 September 2020 307077 1179.064 512,695 17,041 2016877

Options and awards granted 272790 103,099 180,468 56,330 1.612,687

Options and awards exercised (43,345) (5,915) (10,833) (21,339) (81432
Options and awards lapsed / cancelled {148,043) (293934) (150.356) - (592333
Qutstanding at 31 August 2021 388,479 1,982,314 532,974 52,032 2,955,799

Exercisable at 31 August 2021 - - 4,839 - 4,839

Pence 2022 2021

Weighted average exercise price of awards:

- Qutstanding at the beginning of the vear 192.20 23288

- Granted m the year - 236.81

- Exercised in the year 15.71 76749

- Lapsed in the year 126.54 37306

- Qutstanding at the end of the year 136.94 192.20

- Exercisable at the end of the year 947.30 -
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23. Share-based payments (continued)

Detail of movements in options and awards

LTIPs

Under the terms of the LTIP, executive directors and key senior executives may be grantaed conditional awards to acquire
ordinary shares in the Company (in the form of nil cost options) which will only vest and become exercisable to the extent
that the related performance targets are met

Qutstanding awards granted under the LTIPs are as follows:

Number of shares
Exercise
Date of grant 2022 2021 pnce (pence) Exarcise penod
20 October 2016 1,892 136613 INit Oct 2019 - 201026
26 Cctober 2017 38,315 38,315 Nil  Oct 2020 - 261027
1 Novernber 2018 - 332766 Nil Nav 2023 - O111.28
S Novermnber 2019 365,640 371521 Nif Nov 2024 - 05129
12 Novernber 2020 1,015,635 1103099 Nil Nov 2025 - 1911.30
19 Novernber 2021 1,080,925 il Nov 2026 - 191131

2,512407 1582314

Awards will first becorne exercisable on the vesting date, which is the third anniversary of the date of grant. Awards made

on or after October 2016 are subject to holding pericds preventing the delivery and sale of shares untit the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant. For awards made in October 2016 and Cctober 2017, the holding period applies to 50 per cent of any
sharas which vest. For awards made in November 2018, and all subseguent awards, the holding peried applies to 100 per cent
of any shares that vest. The awards will accrue dividends paid over the performance and any holding period. LTIP awards are
equity-settled.

Sharesave Scheme

Under the terms of the Sharesave Schermne, the Board grants options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company to
employees with at least three months service who enter into an HM Revenue & Customs approved Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE)
savings contract for a term of three years. Options are granted at up to a 20 per cent discount to the market price of the
sharas on the date of offer and are normally exercisable for a period of six months after completion of the SAYE contract.
SAYE opticns are equity-settied.

Cutstanding options granted under the Sharesave Scheme at 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2021 are as follows:

Number of shayes
Exercise
Date of grant 2022 2027 price (pence) Exercise panod
5 June 2019 (3 year) 95,906 15,689 1B60%.60 G1LOR.22 - 310123
9 Junie 2021 (3 year) 222709 272790 140000 0108.24 - 310125

318,615 388479
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23. Share-based payments (continued)

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

Under the terms of the Perfermance Share Plan, the Board may grant conditional awards to executives. The exercise of
awards is conditionat on the achievernent of a performance target, which is determined by the Board at the time of grant.
The executive directors do not participate in this plan. PSP awards are equity-setiled.

Cutstanding awards granted under the PSP are as foilows:

Number of shares
Exercise
Date of grant 2022 2021 price (pence) Erercise pariod
23 Ocldber 2014 870 870 il Ocl 2017 - 231024
20 Qctober 2016 3,561 3969 Mit Oct 2019 - 2010.26
1 November 2018 - 137553 Nil Nov 2021 - 013128
7 Decermnber 2018 - 10,476 Nii Dec 2021 - 0712.28
5 November 2019 178,398 205170 Nil Nov 2022 - 51129
19 November 2020 121,289 174,936 Nil Nev 2021 - 191,30
19 Novernber 2021 157,159 - il Nov 2024 - 191131

461,277 532,974

Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP)

The Deferred Bonus Plan is applicable to executive directors only. Under the terms of the DEP, any bonus payable over target
is deferred into shares for a period of up to three years. One third of the deferred shares are released on each anniversary of
the bonus,

At 31 August 2022, 18,473 (2021:10,108) shares remain deferred in accordance with this plan.

Cash-settled schemes

Under the terms of the LTIP and PSP, the Board may grant cash-settled awards to executives. The exercise of options is
conditional on the achieverment of a performance target, which is determined by the Board at the time of grant. These awards
will b seltlcd in cash based on the share price al the date of exerciso, As al 31 Augusk 2022 Lthere were 11,254 oulslanding
nil-cost cash-settled awards (2021 52,032), which will be settled between November 2022 and November 2031 The carrying
amount of liakilities arising from share-based payment transactions is less than £1m (2021: less than £1m).

Fair value information

2022 2021
Weighted average share price at date of exercise of share options exercised during year - pence 1,573.69 1558060
Weighted average rernaining contractual life at end of year - years 8 8
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23, Share-based payments (continued)

Share options and awards granted
The aggregate of the estimated fair value of the options and awards granted in the year is:

£m 2022 2021
15 16

The fair values of the LTIP and PSP awards granted were measured using a Monte Carle simulation model. The input range
into tha Monte Carlo models was as follows:

2022 202)
Share price -~ pence 1,514 1,482
Exercise price -~ pence Nil Nil
Expectaed volatility - per cent 11 42
Expected life - years 30 28
Risk-free rate - per cent 0.44 (C03)
Cividend yield - per cent 0%=2% %6-2%
Weighted average fair value of options - pence 1,068.26 1,060.81

Expacted volatility was determinad by calculating the historical volatility of the Group's share price over the expectad life of
the option.

The fair values of the Sharesave options granted in the year ended 31 August 2021 were measured using a Black Scholes
model None were granted in the vear ended 31 August 2022, The input range into the Black Scholes medels was as follows
i the year anded 31 August 2021:

2021
Share price - pence 1,785
Exercise price ~ pence 1,400
Expected volatility - per cent 37
Expected life - years 34
Risk-free rate - per cent 0.16
Dividend yield - per cent Nil
Weighted average fair value of options - pence 616.43

Expectad volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group's share price over the expected life of
the option.

24. Related party transactions

Transactions between businesses within this Group which are related parties have been eliminated on consolidation and are
not disclosed in this Note.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the executive and non-executive directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set
out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in JAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors' remuneration report on pages
83 to 104,

£'000 2022 2021
Short-terrn employee benefits 3,327 2470
Post-employment benefits 182 s
Share-based payments 1,577 1042

5,086 3688

There are no other transactions with directors.
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25. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve

Revalustion ESOP Hedging Convertible
£m Other reserves reserve raserve raserve  bond reserve Total
Balance as at 1 September 2021 Q27N 2 (5) - 40 (240)
Cash flow hedges - - - 3 - 3
Ermployee share schemes (3 - (4 - - &
Balance at 31 August 2022 (280) 2 9 3 40 (244)
Revaluation ESOP Hedging Convertible
£m Other reserves réaserve reserve reserve  bohd reserve Totai
Balance as at 1 Septermiber 2020 (277 2 )] - (279)
Issue of corvertible bond - value of conversion rigihts - - - - 40 40
Employee share schemes - - M - -~ €]
Balance at 31 August 2021 277) 2 (5) - 40 (240)

The Other reserves includle reserves created in relation to historical capital reorganisation and proforma restatement, £(238)m
(2021: £(238)m), demerger from Smiths News PLC in 2006, £69m (2C21: £69m), and cumulative amounts relating to employee
share schernes of £108m (2021: £(108)m).

The convertible bond reserve is a reserve created to recognise the equity component of the convertible ond issued in
April 2027 (see Note 18) and represents the value of the conversion rights at intial recognition of E4lm, net of transaction
costs of £1m.

The Capital redermption reserve of £13m (2021: £13m) represents the par value of shares repurchased and cancelied under the
Group's share buyback programme and is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve,
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26. Subsidiary companies

The subsidiary companies included within the financial statements are disclosed below.

UK subsidiaries

Propottion of
Country of shares held
tion/ 1 | by Group
Name ragistration address Class of shares companies % Principal activity

Held directly by WH Smith PLC:

WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding company
Held indirectly:
Books & Stationers Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
Card Market Limited England & Wales 1 Qrdinary 100 Retailing
Dottty About Paper Limited England & Wales 1 Qrdinary 100 Dorrnant
funkypigeon corn Lirnited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
Modeizone Lirmited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
Sussex Stationers Lirniteg) England & Wales 1 Crdinary 100 Dormant
The Card Gallery (UK) Limited England & Wales 1 Crdinary 100 Retailing
The SQL. Workshop Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
The Websters Group Limited England & Wales 1 Crdinary 100 Dormant
Tree of Hearts Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith (Qatar) Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith 1955 Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited Englana & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith High Street Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Retailing
Preference
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Holding Cornpany
Preference
Wil Smith Hospitals Limited England & Wales 1 Crdinary 100 Retaiting
WH Srmith Prormotions Limited England & Wates 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Retirernent Savings Plan Limited . England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith Travel Holdings |Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Cormpany
WH Smith Travel Limitec England & Wates 1 Ordinary & 100 Retailing
Preference
Wi Smith US Group Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Srnith US Retail Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
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Additional information

The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 479A of the Companies Act

2006 for the year ended 31 August 2022.

The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the below UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in
accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probability of loss under the

guarantee as remote.

Namea Company number
Held indirectly:

Books & Stationers Limited Q7515820
Card Market Limited 8956574
WH Srmith 1955 Limited 549069
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited 6560371
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited 03896896
WH Smith Promotions Limited 2339902
The Card Gallery (UK} Limited 05157486
The 5QL Workshop Limited 02676287
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited 6560320

International joint ventures

The below entities zre joint ventures and per the Group's accounting policies on page 122, the Group's share of results of
these joint ventures is included in the Group consolidated income statement using the equity method of accounting.

Country of Proportion of
incorporationy’  Ragistered shares held by
Name raglstration address Class of shares Group companies % Principal activity
Held indirectly:
WH Smith - DFA Brasil Cafeteria, Livraria E Brazil 15 Ordinary 50 Retailing
Cornveniencia Eireli
WH Smith Malaysia SDN BHD Malaysia 1 Ordinary 50 Retailing
WH Srnith LLC Cman 10 Ordinary 50 Retailing
MSP Innovations, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 33 Retailing
Nash Nails MRG, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 39 Retailing

International subsidiaries

The below list of interests in overseas entities includes certain entities, particularly in the United States of America, in which
WH Smith PLC holds less than 100 per cent ownership. These entities primarily refate to airport operations in which the Group
is required to engage with a local partner in order to operate the stores. Per the accounting policy set out on page 122, the
Group has determined that it has control of these entities and has therefore consolidated their results.
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26. Subsidiary companies (continued)

Proportion of

Country of shares held

tion,/ Registerad by Group
Name raglstration address Class of shares companias % Principal activity

Held indirectly:

WH Srnith Asia Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary 100 Product sourcing for
Group companies
WH Smith Australia Pty Limited Australia 3 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Calais S AS France 4 Qrdinaty 100 Retailing
WH Smith Germany GmicH Germany 5 Qrdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smitth treland Limited Irefand [3 Crdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith ltalia S.R.L italy 7 Qrdinary 100 Retaling
WH Smith Jersey Limited Jersey 8 Crdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith LLC Qatar o] Ordinary 49 Retailing
WH Smith Nederiand BV, Netherlands 12 Crdinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith Belgium Belgium 8 Crdinary 100 Retalling
WH Srmith Norway Norway 19 Crdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Singapore Pte. Limited Singapore 13 Crdinary 00 Retailing
WH Srmith Spain S.L. Spain 4 Qrdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith USA Meldings tnc USA 6 QOrdinary 100 Holding Company
InMotion Entertainment Holdings LLC USA 6 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
InMotion Entertainment Personnel Leasing Corp USA 16 Qrdinary 100 Holding Cornpany
WH Smith USA Retail Ine USA 1[3) Ordinary 100 Holding Company
InMaotion SFO, LLC usaA 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
Witd Retail Group Pty Limited Australia 3 Ordinary 100 Retailing
InMotion Entertainment Group, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 100 Retailing
BTS - inMotion Atlanta, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 100 Retailing
InMotion AUS, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 88 Retalling
InMotion BNA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 84 Dormant
InMotion BNA-CLLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
Soundbatance BOS, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary &7 Dorrnant
InMotion BOS-A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Dormant
nMotion BOS, LLC USA 16 COrdinary 70 Dormant
inMotion BOS-BCE, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
inMation BwWI, LLC USA 16 Crdinary 60 Retailing
inMotion CLE, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
Soundbalance CLT, LEC usa 113 Ordinary &7 Retailing
InMetion - S8 DC, LLC UsA i3] Crdinary 75 Retailing
InMaolion DCA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion DEMN-B, LLC USA & Ordinary 75 Retailing
DFW-A Retait Partners, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 60 Retailing
DFW-E Retail Partners, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 65 Retailing
DFW-D/E Retail Partners, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailling
Soundhbalance DTW. LLC LISA 1) Ordinary &7 Retailing
InMotion OTW, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retaling
InMotion EWR, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotion EWR-B, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 85 Retailing
InMotion FLL, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 62 Retailing
InMotion FLLL-T4, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 62 Retailing
InMotion 1AD, LLC USA 6 Crdinary 75 Retaiiing
Soundbalance 1AH, LLC USA [ Ordirmary 67 Retailing
BR InMotion 1AH, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 65 Retailing
InMotion LAX, LLC USA I3 Crdinary 75 Retailing
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Proportien of

Country of shares heid

incorporation/  Registered by Group
Name i i address Class of shares compantes % Principal activity
InMotion LAX-ITLLC USA e Ordinary 80 Retailing
Seouncbalance MCQO, LLC USA 16 Ordinary o/ Retailing
InMotion MCO, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 73 Retailing
Soundbalance Miami, LLC USA |3 Ordinary &7 Retailing
InMotion Bright, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion MKE, LLC USA 16 Cidiniary 73 Daormant
inMotion MSY, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 64 Retailing
InMotion ORD, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
InMotion ORD T2, LILC USA 6 Ordinary 70 Retailing
Soundbaiance PDX, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
Soundbaiance PHL, 1LLC USA i3] Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMation PHL, LLC USA 6 Crdinary 70 Dorrnant
Soundbalance ATL-E, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMotion ATL-A, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 64 Retailing
InMotion ATL, LLC USA 6 QOrdinary 80 Retailing
InMotion PHX, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
inMotion PHX T3, LLC USA 16 Qrdinary 90 Retailing
Soundbalance SAN, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 55 Relziling
InMation SAT, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMaotion SEA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
InMotion SFO-T3, LLC JsA B Ordinary a5 Retailing
inMotion SFO-IT, LLC USA 16 Ordinary a0 Retailing
Soundbalance SJC, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 67 Dormant
[MMotion SLC.LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMation 1AH, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Dormant,
InMotion SLC-ALLC USA [3) Ordinary 85 Retailing
InMotion SLC-BLLC USA 16 Ordinary a0 Retailing
InMotion SMRLLC LISA 16 Ordinary a0 Retailing
inMotion CLT, LLC LSA (3} Ordinary 74 Retailing
SBIB LLC USA 16 Ordinary 50 Dormant
InMotion LGA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Dormant
Marshall Retail Group Holding Ce Inc USA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding company
MRG Holdings Corp LUSA [[3) Ordinary 100G Hofding cormpany
Marshall Retail Group LLC USA 16 Ordinary GO Retailing
The Marshall Retail Group Canadla inc Canacla 17 Ordinary 100 Retailing
MRG Baltimaore Concourse A, LLC USA 16 Qrdinary 70 Retailing
MRG Baitimore (BWI), LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Chicago, LLC USA 16, Ordinary 65 Retailing
MRG Denver, LLC USA, 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
MRG Dallas I, LL.C UsA 6 Ordinary 65 Retailing
MRG Kansas City, LLC usA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia Terminal A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retaiting
MRG Los Angeles, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Los Angeles T3 USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Nashwille, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
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Proporticn of

Country of shares heid

incorp lon/ R hy Group
Name reglstration addrass Class of shares companles % Principal activity
MRG Newark, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 74 Retailing
MRG Newark 2, LLC usA 6 Ordinary 74 Retailing
MRG Orlando, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Phoenix 1, LILC usa 6 Qrdinary 65 Retailing
MRG Phoenix 2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 65 Retailing
MRG Raleigh Terminal 1, LLC LsSA 6 QOrdinary 55 Retailing
MRG RDU T2, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Sacramento, LLC usA 6 Ordinary Q0 Retailing
MRG Salt Lake City, LILC usA 1% Ordinary 80 Retaling
MRG San Francisco, LILC USA 16 Orclinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terminal 1, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terminal 2, LLC LSA 6 Ordinary 8h Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terminal 3, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Savannah, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 55 Retailing
MR Seattle, LLC UsA 6 Orclinary 80 Retailing
MRG Washington (DCA), LLC USA 6 Ordinary 75 Retailing
MR Washington (JAD), LLC USA 6 Qrdinary 75 Retailing
Midway Fresh MRG, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 20 Retatting
WH Smith DEN, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
WH Srnith DCA, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 75 Retailing

Registered addresses

NN

Greentridge Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX
Suites 13A01-04, 13 Floor, South Tower, World Finance Centre, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Suite 401, 80 William Street, Woolloomooloo NSW 2011, Australia
4 38 Rue des Mathurins, 75008 Paris 8, France
5 Terminal Ring 1, Zentralgebaude Ost, Zi. 5. 035, 40474 Dusseldorf, Germany
6 oth Floor, Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, Ireland
7 Via Borgogna, Cap 20122, Milano, italy
8 72/74 King Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 4WE
9 27 Um Ghwalinah Road, 230 C-ring Road, Doha, Glatar
PO Box 3275, PC2, Ruwi, Oran

— —
- O

=

C2-6~1, Solaris Dutamas, 1, Jalan Dutamas 1, 50480, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Weleringschans 94, 1017 XS, Amsterdam, Netherlands

13 1 Keng Cheow Street #3-10 The Riversicle Piazza, Singapore 059608

4 Paseo de Recoletos, 27 72, 28004, Madrid, Spain
15 Avenida cas Americas, No. 3434, Barra da Tijuca, CEP 22640-102, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil

16 3755 W Sunset Road, Las Vegas, Nevada, NV 89118, USA
17 2200 HSBC Building, 885 Wast Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V8C 3E8, Canada

18 Posthofbrug 10 boite 4, 2600 Anvers, Belgigue

19 C/o CMS Kluge Aclvokatfirma AS, Bryggegata 6, 0250 Oslo, Norway
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 August 2022

£m Note 2022 202
Non-current assets
Investments 3 835 835
_ 835 835
Current assets
Receivables: amounts falling due within one year 4 287 298

287 298
Current liabilities
Payables: arnounts falling due within one year 5 (166) {1683
Borrowings 6 (20) -

{186) (68)
Net current assets 101 130
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 6 (404) (415)

(404) (415)
Tatal net assets 532 550
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 8 29 29
Share premium account 316 316
Other reserves 9 40 40
Capital redemption reserve 9 13 13
Prafit and loss account! 134 152
Total equity 532 550
1 The loss for the year attribulable to shareholders was £18m (2021 Ioss of £14m Note 2,
The financial statements of WH Smith PLC, registfre bér 5202036, on pages 169 to 172 were approved by the Board of
Directo/r‘;_\and ay d for issue on 10 Novégmber 2022 ¢ i
Carl Cowling Rob: r
Group Chief Executiv Chief Financial Officet and Chief Uperat! -
Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 August 2022
Capital Profit
Share Share redemption Other and loss

£m capital premium reserve raserves account Total
Balance at T September 2021 29 36 i3 40 152 550
Loss for the financial year - - - - (18) (8)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (8) (8)
Balance at 31 August 2022 29 I16 13 40 134 532
Balance at 1 Septermber 2020 29 215 13 - 166 523
Lass for the financial vear - - - - 14 (i4)
Total compretensive loss for the year - - - - 4 {14
Premiurm on issue of shares - 1 - - - 1
Issue of convertible bonds - value of conversion rights (Note 10) - - - 40 - 40
Balance at 31 August 2021 29 316 13 40 152 550
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

A) Basis of preparation
The Company's financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, as detailed in the Directors’ report on
page 105,

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101
The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Application of Financial Reporting Reguirernents)
issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosura exernption available under the standard in
refation to share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in
respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related
party transactions. Where reguired, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention,

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in Note 1to the consclidated financial statements
except as noted below. No new accounting standards, or amendments to accounting standards, or IFRIC interpretations that
are effective for the year ended 31 August 2022, have had a materiai impact on the Company.

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, the Directors do not consider that there are any further critical
accounting judgements or sources of estimation uncertainty that could lead to a material change in the carrying amounts of
assefs and liabilities.

B) Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at historical cost jess provision for impairment in value, Investrments in subsidiaries are
tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's net realisable vaiue and value-in-use.

C) Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid {or recovered) using
the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

D) Receivables

Receivables represent amounts due from other Group companies. Receivables are initially measured at fair value and
subseqguently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for the expected credit loss on receivables is established at inception. This is medified when there is a change in the credit
risk and hence evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the criginal terms

of receivables.

2. Profit/(loss) for the year

The Company has nat presented its own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

The loss for the year attributable to shareholders, which is stated on an historical cost basis, was £18m (2021: 14m) comprising
finance costs of £22rm (2021 £14m), non-underlying iterms of £nil {2021: £6m), offset by a tax credit of £4m (2021 £6m).
There ware no other recognised gains or losses.

The Company did not have any employees during the year ended 31 August 2022 (2021: nil). All directors were remunerated
by other Group companies

3. Investments

A full list of the Company's subsidiary undertakings is included in Note 26 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The registered office of WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited is Greenbridge Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX.

The investment in subsidiaries talance has been tested for impairment at the balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of
the investment is assumed to approximate the Greup's market capitalisation on the London Stock Exchange, adjusted for any
assets or liabilities on the Company's balance sheet. There was substantial headroom between the recoverable amount of the
investiment and its carrying value. Consequently, no impairment has been recognised in respect of the investrnent.
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4. Receivables: amounts falling due within one year

o 2022 2021
Amaunts owed by subsidiary undertakings 282 93
Prepayments ! !
Current tax receivable 4 -

287 298

Armounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Company has
undertaken a review of the liquidity position of the counterparty subsidiaries and noted that the subsidiaries continue to have
sufficient immediately available funds to settle the receivables at the balance sheet date. As a result, no expected credit losses
have been included In the profit and loss account in the current year in respect of these receivables.

5. Payables: amounts falling due within one year

£m 2022 2021
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 162 162
Bank cverdrafts 2 3
Accruals ancl deferred income 2 3

166 65

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

6. Borrowings

£m 2022 202
Current Terrn loans 20 -
~Non-current Term icans 12 132
Corvertible bonds 292 283

424 415

In the prior year, the Group announced new financing arrangements. These included the issuance of £327m of convertible
bonds, the repayment of the existing FA00m term loans and replacernent with a new £133m term loan, and an increased
revolving credit facility of £250m,

Term loans and revolving credit facilities

AL 31 August 2022, alongside other Group companies, the Company is a guaranter on a five-year committed multi-currency
revolving credit facility of £250m with Santander UK PLC, BNF Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC, 4P Morgan Securities PLC and
Barciays Bank PLC. The revolving credit facility is due to mature on 28 April 2025. The utilisation is interest bearing at a
margin over SORIA.

AL 31 August 2022, the Company has a four-year committed £133m term loan with Banco Santander S.A, London Branch,
Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in April 2021,
This loan is interest bearing at & margin over SONIA and is due to mature on 28 April 2025,

Transaction costs of £1m relating to the term loan are being amortised through the effective interest rate method.

Converfible bonds

In the prior year, the Company issued £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in 2026, Settlement and
delivery of convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021. The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year term beginning
on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in egual instalments. The bonds

are convertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The Inittal conversion price was set at £24.92
representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 (£17.85). If not previously converted,
redecmed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

6. Borrowings (continued)

The convertible bond is a compound financial instrument, consisting of a financial liability compenent and an ecuity
component, representing the value of the conversion rights. The initial fair value of the fiability portion of the convertible
boncd is determined using @ market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is
subsequently recognised on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest rate method until extinguished on conversion
or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and recognised in equity
(Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured, As a result, £286m was initially recognised as a liability in the balance
sheet on issue and the remainder of the proceeds of £41m, which represents the option component, was recognised in equity.

Transaction costs of £6m were allocated between the two components and the element reiating to the debt component of
£5m is amortised through the effective interest rate method. The issue costs apportioned o the equity component of £lm
have baen deductad from eguity.

7. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities of £1m (202% £1m) are in relation to insurance standby letters of credit.

The Company witl guarantee the dabts and liahilities of the betow UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in
accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Cornpany has assessed the probability of loss under the
guarartee as remote.

Name Company number
Held indirectly:

Books & Stationers Limited Q7515820
Card Market Lirnited 8956574
WH Smith 1955 Limited 549062
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited 6560371
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited 03896896
W1 | Smith Promctions Limited 2339902
The Card Gallery (UK Limited 05157486
The SQL Workshep Limited 02676287
WH Simith Travel 2008 Lirnited 6560390

8. Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid

2022 2021
Number of Nominal Nurnber of Norninat
shares vaite shares value
{millions) £m (mullions) fm
Ecurty:
Ordinary shares of 22%p 131 29 131 29
Total 13 29 13t 29

Ouring the year. 1,633 ordinary shares were allotted under the terms of the Company’s Sharesave Scherme. There was no
effect from this aflotment on share premium (2021 increase of £1m).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitied to one vote per
share at the meetings of the Company.

9. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve

Other reserves are reserves created to recognise the equity component of the convertible bond issued in April 2021 (see Mote
&) and represents the value of the conversion rights at initial recognition of £41m, net of transaction costs of £1m.

The Capital redemption reserve of £13m (2021 £13m) represents the par value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Company’s share buyback programme is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve.
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Glossary (unaudited)

Alternative performance measures
In reporting financial infarmation, the Group presents alternative performance measures, “APMs”, which are not defined or
specified under the requirements of IFRS,

The Group believes that these APMs, which are not considered to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, provide
stakeholders with additional useful information on the underlying trends, perfarmance and position af the Group and are
consistent with how business performance is measured internaily. The alternative performance measures are not defined by
IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ alternative perforrnance measures.

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present a measure of profit and earnings per share which excludes certain items, that are
cunsidered non-underlying and exceptional due to their size, nature or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures exclude the financial effect of non-underlying iterns which are considered
exceptional or occur infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed programme, costs relating
to business combinations, impairment charges and other property costs, significant items relating to pension schemes, and
impairment charges and ilems meeting the definition of non-underlying specifically related to the Covid-19 pandemic, and
the related tax effect of these items. In addition, these measures exclude the income statement impact of amortisation of
intangible assets acquired in business combinations, which are recognised separately from goodwill. This amortisation is not
consicered to be part of the underlying operating costs of the business and has ne associated cash flows.

The Group believes that the separate disclosure of these items provides additional useful information to users of the financial
staternents to enable a better understanding of the Group's underlying financial performance,

IFRS 16

The Group adopted IFRS 16 in the year ended 31 August 2020. IFRS 16 superseded the lease guidance under 1A 17 and the
related interpretations. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model as the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases, At the commencement date of a lease, @
lessee will recognise a lease liability for the future lease payments and an asset (right-of-use asset) representing the right to
use the Lnderlying asset during the lease term. Lessees are required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability ancl the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Managerment have chosen to exclude the effects of IFRS 16 for the purposes of narrative commentary an the Group's
performance and financial position in the Strategic report. The effect of IFRS 16 on the Group income statement is to front-
load total lease expenses, being higher at the beginning of a lease contract, and lower towards the end of a contract, and this
is further influenced by timing of renewals and contract wins, and lengths of contracts, As a result of these complexities, IFRS
16 measures of profit and EBITDA (used as a proxy for cash generation) do not provide meaningful KPls or measures for the
purposes of assessing performance, concession quality or for trend analysis, therefore mana